HEALTH TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT

VOLUME 17 ISSUE 30 JULY 2013 ISSN 1366-5278

Combined anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy for high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review

DA Lane, S Raichand, D Moore, M Connock, A Fry-Smith and DA Fitzmaurice on behalf of the Steering Committee



Combined anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy for high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review

DA Lane,^{1*} S Raichand,² D Moore,² M Connock,² A Fry-Smith² and DA Fitzmaurice³ on behalf of the Steering Committee

¹University of Birmingham Centre for Cardiovascular Sciences, City Hospital, Birmingham, UK ²Public Health, Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK ³Primary Care and General Practice, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

*Corresponding author

Declared competing interests of authors: DAL has received an investigator-initiated educational grant from Bayer Healthcare and honoraria from Boehringer Ingelheim, Bayer HealthCare, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Sanofi-aventis and Pfizer. In addition, DAL is a panellist on the ninth edition of the American College of Chest Physicians guidelines on antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation. DAF has received honoraria from Boehringer Ingelheim, Sanofi-aventis, and AstraZeneca.

Published July 2013 DOI: 10.3310/hta17300

This report should be referenced as follows:

Lane DA, Raichand S, Moore D, Connock M, Fry-Smith A, Fitzmaurice DA. Combined anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy for high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *Health Technol Assess* 2013;**17**(30).

Health Technology Assessment is indexed and abstracted in Index Medicus/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica/EMBASE, Science Citation Index Expanded (SciSearch®) and Current Contents®/ Clinical Medicine.

Health Technology Assessment

ISSN 1366-5278 (Print)

ISSN 2046-4924 (Online)

Five-year impact factor: 5.804

Health Technology Assessment is indexed in MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBASE, The Cochrane Library and the ISI Science Citation Index and is assessed for inclusion in the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: nihredit@southampton.ac.uk

The full HTA archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Criteria for inclusion in the Health Technology Assessment journal

Reports are published in *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HTA programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Health Technology Assessment* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

HTA programme

The HTA programme, part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), was set up in 1993. It produces high-quality research information on the effectiveness, costs and broader impact of health technologies for those who use, manage and provide care in the NHS. 'Health technologies' are broadly defined as all interventions used to promote health, prevent and treat disease, and improve rehabilitation and long-term care.

The journal is indexed in NHS Evidence via its abstracts included in MEDLINE and its Technology Assessment Reports inform National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. HTA research is also an important source of evidence for National Screening Committee (NSC) policy decisions.

For more information about the HTA programme please visit the website: www.hta.ac.uk/

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HTA programme as project number 09/11/02. The contractual start date was in June 2010. The draft report began editorial review in January 2012 and was accepted for publication in September 2012. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HTA editors and publisher have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HTA programme or the Department of Health.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Editor-in-Chief of *Health Technology Assessment* and NIHR Journals Library

Professor Tom Walley Director, NIHR Evaluation, Trials and Studies and Director of the HTA Programme, UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor Ken Stein Chair of HTA Editorial Board and Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Andree Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (EME, HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals)

Dr Martin Ashton-Key Consultant in Public Health Medicine/Consultant Advisor, NETSCC, UK

Professor Matthias Beck Chair in Public Sector Management and Subject Leader (Management Group), Queen's University Management School, Queen's University Belfast, UK

Professor Aileen Clarke Professor of Health Sciences, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Director of NETSCC, HTA, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Scientific Advisor, NETSCC, UK

Dr Tom Marshall Reader in Primary Care, School of Health and Population Sciences, University of Birmingham, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Honorary Professor, Business School, Winchester University and Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Professor Jane Norman Professor of Maternal and Fetal Health, University of Edinburgh, UK

Professor John Powell Consultant Clinical Adviser, NICE, UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professorial Research Associate, University College London, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Please visit the website for a list of members of the NIHR Journals Library Board: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: nihredit@southampton.ac.uk

Abstract

Combined anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy for high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review

DA Lane,^{1*} S Raichand,² D Moore,² M Connock,² A Fry-Smith² and DA Fitzmaurice³ on behalf of the Steering Committee

¹University of Birmingham Centre for Cardiovascular Sciences, City Hospital, Birmingham, UK ²Public Health, Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK ³Primary Care and General Practice, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

*Corresponding author

Background: Previous research suggests uncertainty whether or not there is any additional benefit in adding antiplatelet therapy (APT) to anticoagulation therapy (ACT) in patients with high-risk atrial fibrillation (AF) in terms of reduction in vascular events, including stroke. The existing guidelines acknowledge an increased risk of bleeding associated with such a strategy; however, there is no consensus on the treatment pathway.

Objectives: To determine, by undertaking a systematic review, if the addition of APT to ACT is beneficial compared with ACT alone in patients with AF who are considered to be at high risk of thromboembolic events (TEs).

Data sources: Data sources included bibliographic databases {the Cochrane Library [Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL)], MEDLINE, MEDLINE In-Process and Other Non-Indexed Citations, EMBASE, ClinicalTrials.gov, National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Clinical Research Network Portfolio, Current Controlled Trials (CCT) and the World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (WHO ICTRP)}, reference lists from identified systematic reviews and relevant studies, and contact with clinical experts. Searches were from inception to September 2010 and did not use language restrictions or study design filters.

Review methods: Studies of any design were included to evaluate clinical effectiveness, including randomised controlled trials (RCTs), non-randomised comparisons, cohort studies, case series or registries, longitudinal studies, systematic reviews and meta-analyses, and conference abstracts published after 2008. Inclusion criteria consisted of a population with AF, at high-risk of TEs, aged ≥18 years, on combined ACT and APT compared with others on ACT alone or ACT plus placebo. Inclusion decisions, assessment of study guality and data extraction were undertaken using methods to minimise bias.

Results: Fifty-three publications were included, reporting five RCTs (11 publications), 18 non-randomised comparisons (24 publications) and 18 publications that reported reviews, which added no further data. There was variation in the population, types and doses of ACT and APT, definitions of outcomes, and length of follow-up between the studies. There was a paucity of directly randomised high-quality RCTs, whereas non-randomised comparisons were found to have significant confounding factors. No studies looked at the effect of ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone on vascular events in patients with AF following acute coronary syndrome (ACS) or percutaneous coronary intervention. In most studies,

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

significant differences in event rates were not seen between the patients on combined therapy compared with those on ACT alone for outcomes such as stroke (including haemorrhagic and ischaemic strokes), rates of transient ischaemic attacks, composite end points of stroke and systemic embolism (SE), SE alone, acute myocardial infarction, mortality (vascular or all cause) or bleeding events. There was conflicting evidence regarding rates of major adverse events consisting of composite end points, although event rates were generally low.

Limitations: An attempt was made to identify all of the available evidence around the subject despite the dearth of directly randomised studies using a robust review methodology. There was a paucity of directly randomised evidence to undertake a meta-analysis for the merits of one technology over another. The selection criteria were kept necessarily broad with regard to the population, intervention and comparator in order to capture all relevant studies.

Conclusions: This systematic review suggests that there is still insufficient evidence to advocate a clear benefit of the addition of APT to ACT compared with ACT alone in reducing the risk of vascular events in a population of patients at high risk of TEs resulting from AF. It is recommended that a definitive prospective RCT needs to be undertaken in a population at high risk of atherosclerotic coronary artery and other vascular events in addition to being at high risk of AF-mediated TEs. From the UK context, at the time of writing, any future trial should compare adjusted-dose warfarin [international normalised ratio (INR) 2.0–3.0] plus aspirin (75–325 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0). However, given the emergence of newer anticoagulation agents (dabigatran, rivaroxaban and apixaban) this prioritisation may need to be revisited in the future to reflect current best clinical practice.

Funding: The National Institute for Health Research Health Technology Assessment programme.

Contents

Glossary	ix
List of abbreviations	xi
Scientific summary	xiii
Chapter 1 Background	1
Description of the underlying health problem	1
Incidence/prevalence	1
Impact of the health problem	1
RISK OT STROKE	2
Description of technology under assessment	2
Anticoagulation antiplatelet or combined therapy in high-risk patients with atrial	0
fibrillation	6
Chapter 2 Methods	9
Aim	9
Objective	9
Definitions	9
Relevant study designs	9
Review methods	9
Handling data and presentation of results	14
Sepritivity and subgroup analysis	14
Changes to protocol	14
Reporting findings	15
Chapter 3 Results	17
Quantity and quality of research available	17
Characteristics of included studies	17
Outcomes	32
Methodological issues	32
Primary outcomes of the review	32
Secondary outcomes	01
Other anticoagulants	86
Chapter 4 Discussion	07
Statement of principal findings	97 97
Clinical effectiveness	97
Methodology and issues	99
Strengths and limitations	101
Ongoing studies	102
Implications for future research	103
Conclusion	103

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Acknowledgements	105
References	107
Appendix 1 Final protocol	115
Appendix 2 Literature search strategies	133
Appendix 3 Publications not available after contacting authors	135
Appendix 4 List of excluded studies	137
Appendix 5 Summary of the systematic reviews and meta-analyses included in the review	169
Appendix 6 Quality assessment of randomised comparisons using the Cochrane Collaboration risk-of-bias tools	177
Appendix 7 Studies with data not included in the review and reasons	179
Appendix 8 Forest plots (without summary estimates) for all outcomes by intervention and comparator	185

viii

Glossary

Acute coronary syndrome Acute coronary artery disease, including unstable angina and non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction.

Antiplatelet agent Type of anticlotting agent that works by inhibiting blood platelets. Antiplatelet drugs include clopidogrel, dipyridamole and aspirin.

Aspirin A salicylate drug inhibitor of platelet aggregation.

Cerebrovascular Pertaining to the blood vessels of the brain.

Clopidogrel A thienopyridine – an inhibitor of platelet aggregation.

Coronary arteries The arteries that supply the heart muscle with blood.

Coronary artery disease Gradual blockage of the coronary arteries, usually by atherosclerosis.

Coronary heart disease Narrowing or blockage of the coronary arteries of the heart by atheroma; often leads to angina, coronary thrombosis or heart attack, heart failure and/or sudden death.

Dipyridamole Inhibitor of platelet aggregation, also available in combination with aspirin.

Electrocardiogram A recording of the electrical signals from the heart.

Haemorrhagic stroke Death of brain cells because of bleeding in the brain.

Heterogeneity Variability among studies, which could be clinical, methodological or statistical.

Infarction Death of tissue following interruption of the blood supply.

Intention-to-treat analysis A method of data analysis in which all patients are analysed in the group to which they were assigned at randomisation, regardless of any variation to this.

International normalised ratio A measure for reporting the results of blood coagulation (clotting) tests for individuals on vitamin K antagonists.

Ischaemia A low oxygen state, usually due to obstruction of the arterial blood supply or inadequate blood flow leading to hypoxia in the tissue.

Ischaemic stroke Death of brain cells caused by blockage in a cerebral blood vessel.

Meta-analysis A quantitative method for synthesising data by combining similar outcomes of many similar studies.

Myocardial infarction Damage to the heart muscle caused by obstruction of circulation to a region of the heart. Also called a heart attack.

Non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction A myocardial infarction that is not associated with elevation of the ST segment on an electrocardiogram.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Occlusive vascular event An event caused by the blockage of an artery, due to myocardial infarction, unstable angina, ischaemic stroke, transient ischaemic attack or peripheral arterial disease.

Peripheral arterial disease A condition in which the arteries that carry blood to the arms or legs become narrowed or clogged, slowing or stopping the flow of blood. Also known as peripheral vascular disease.

Plaque Atheromatous plaque is a swelling on the inner surface of an artery produced by lipid deposition.

Relative risk The proportion of people experiencing the event of interest among those exposed to the relevant (risk) factor (e.g. drug) divided by the proportion of people experiencing the event of interest among those not exposed to the risk factor.

ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction A myocardial infarction associated with elevation of the ST segment on the electrocardiogram.

Stroke The sudden death of brain cells because of a lack of oxygen when blood flow to the brain is impaired by a blockage or rupture of an artery to the brain, causing neurological dysfunction.

Thrombus An aggregation of blood factors, primarily platelets and fibrin with entrapment of cellular elements; frequently causes vascular obstruction at the point of its formation.

Transient ischaemic attack A brain disorder caused by temporary disturbance of blood supply to an area of the brain, resulting in a sudden, brief (< 24 hours, usually < 1 hour) decrease in brain function.

Unstable angina Angina pectoris (chest pain) in which the cardiac pain has changed in pattern or occurs at rest.

Vascular disease Any disease of the circulatory system.

List of abbreviations

ACC	American College of Cardiology	INR	international normalised ratio
ACS	acute coronary syndrome	IPD	individual participant data
ACT	anticoagulant therapy	ITT	intention to treat
AF	atrial fibrillation	LV	left ventricle/ventricular
AFASAK II	Second Copenhagen Atrial	LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction
	Fibrillation, Aspirin and Anticoagulation Study	MI	myocardial infarction
AHA	American Heart Association	NASPEAF	NAtional Study for Prevention of Embolism in Atrial Fibrillation
AMI	acute myocardial infarction	NICE	National Institute for Health and
APT	antiplatelet therapy		Care Excellence
ATT	antithrombotic therapy	NIHR	National Institute for
CAD	coronary artery disease		Health Research
CHADS,	Congestive heart	OAC	oral anticoagulant
2	failure, Hypertension,	ODTI	oral direct thrombin inhibitors
	Age \geq /5 years, Diabetes mellitus, and prior Stroke or TIA or thromboembolism	PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention
CI	confidence interval	PETRO	dabigatran with or without
CRD	Centre for Reviews and Dissemination		with warfarin alone in patients with non-valvular atrial
ESC	European Society of Cardiology		fibrillation study
FFAACS	Fluindione, Fibrillation	RCT	randomised controlled trial
	Auriculaire, Aspirin et Contraste	RR	relative risk
Spontane study		SE	systemic embolism
GI	gastrointestinai	SPAF III	Stroke Prevention in Atrial
HF	neart failure		Fibrillation III study
HTA	Health Technology Assessment	SPORTIF	Stroke Prevention using an ORal
ICH	intracranial haemorrhage		Fibrillation study

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

TE	thromboembolism/	TTR	time in therapeutic range
	thromboembolic event	VKA	vitamin K antagonist
TIA	transient ischaemic attack		

All abbreviations that have been used in this report are listed here unless the abbreviation is well known (e.g. NHS), or it has been used only once, or it is a non-standard abbreviation used only in figures/tables/appendices, in which case the abbreviation is defined in the figure legend or in the notes at the end of the table.

Scientific summary

Background

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common cardiac arrhythmia in clinical practice and is a major risk factor for stroke. The main risk factors for stroke among patients with AF include previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack (TIA), age \geq 75 years, heart failure (HF), hypertension and diabetes mellitus, which constitute the recommended and widely used stroke risk assessment tool, the CHADS₂ (Congestive heart failure, Hypertension, Age \geq 75 years, Diabetes mellitus, and prior Stroke or TIA or thromboembolism) score. There is evidence that thromboprophylaxis with warfarin reduces the risk of thromboembolism (TE) compared with placebo or aspirin, whereas aspirin reduces the risk of thromboembolism in patients with AF compared with placebo. However, it is currently unclear whether or not there is any additional benefit in adding antiplatelet therapy (APT) to anticoagulation therapy (ACT) in patients who are at high risk of thromboembolic events (TEs) resulting from AF in terms of a reduction in vascular events, including stroke. The existing guidelines acknowledge an increased risk of bleeding associated with such a strategy; however, there is no consensus on the treatment pathway.

Objectives

To determine, by undertaking a systematic review, if the addition of APT to ACT is beneficial compared with ACT alone in patients with AF who are considered to be at a high risk of TEs.

Methods

Data sources including bibliographic databases (e.g. The Cochrane Library, MEDLINE, MEDLINE In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations and EMBASE), reference lists from identified systematic reviews and relevant studies, and contact with clinical experts were used. Searches were from inception to September 2010 and did not use language restrictions or study design filters. Study selection process was undertaken in three stages on criteria decided a priori by two reviewers independently. Both randomised and non-randomised studies that reported data for patients on a combination of any anticoagulant plus any APT, as well as those on ACT alone, were included. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses that met the inclusion criteria were utilised to identify further articles. Data were extracted from the main and supporting publications (where relevant) of all included primary studies by one reviewer and checked by a second reviewer. Disagreements were resolved by consensus or by referral to a third reviewer. The methodological quality of the included studies was assessed. Pooling of results was not attempted for the assessment of effectiveness of individual technologies because of the substantial clinical and methodological heterogeneity between studies.

Results of the literature review

Fifty-three publications were included in the review. Of these, five were randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (11 publications), 18 (24 publications) reported non-randomised comparisons for the therapies of interest, and 18 publications were systematic reviews. Three RCTs and 14 other studies reporting non-randomised comparisons summarised data for warfarin plus an antiplatelet agent compared with warfarin. One RCT and one non-randomised study reported data on acenocoumarol (Sinthrome[®], Alliance) plus an APT compared with acenocoumarol alone. The remaining one RCT reported data on fluindione plus aspirin compared with fluindione plus placebo. One study reporting non-randomised comparisons used

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

idraparinux, and one used dabigatran (Pradaxa[®], Boehringer Ingelheim) as an anticoagulant agent, while two studies reported data on ximelagatran plus warfarin compared with ximelagatran alone. Doses of ACT and APT varied between studies. The included studies were not found to be of high quality. The studies reporting non-randomised comparisons were found to have significant confounding factors. There was paucity of directly randomised high-quality RCTs comparing ACT plus APT in recommended doses with ACT alone in a high-risk population. For this reason, non-randomised studies were sought. No studies compared the effect of ACT plus APT with ACT alone on vascular events in patients with AF following acute coronary syndromes or percutaneous coronary intervention.

Summary of benefits and harms

The primary outcome measures assessed in this review were stroke, TIA, systemic embolism (SE), composite end point of SE and stroke, myocardial infarction, vascular death and secondary outcome measures of all-cause mortality and bleeding events based on separate consideration of the individual studies; no metaanalyses were undertaken. Outcomes definitions varied between the studies.

The majority of the included studies did not report a significant difference in event rates between the patients on combined therapy and those on ACT alone. There was conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of combination therapy over anticoagulation alone in the reduction of all stroke events, with no RCT demonstrating a significant difference between the study arms and poor-quality non-randomised data reporting more events with the combination therapy. Very few studies reported haemorrhagic and ischaemic strokes separately. Of those that reported haemorrhagic strokes, the event rates were small and there was no evidence of an increased risk of haemorrhagic strokes on either combined therapy or ACT alone. Furthermore, there was conflicting evidence regarding the reduction of ischaemic stroke, with only one study demonstrating a significant increase in risk in patients on combination therapy. Very few TIA events were reported, with no significant benefit of either therapy in reducing the risk. No clear evidence was available for benefit of either therapy in the reduction of the combined end point of stroke and SE, with one RCT suggesting a significant increased risk with the combination therapy, and one larger non-randomised comparison reporting similar rates in both groups. No evidence was found to clearly signify a benefit of combined ACT plus APT or ACT alone for either SE or acute myocardial infarction (AMI). No evidence was found to suggest that combination therapy significantly reduced the risk of mortality (vascular or all-cause) compared with ACT alone. There was no clear consensus between studies for the risk of bleeding events. Combination therapy was observed to increase the risk of bleeding compared with ACT alone in one small RCT, whereas one large non-randomised study reported similar levels of bleeding in both groups. Rates of major adverse events consisting of composite end points were lower with combination therapy for the composite end points of severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death and also for non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death, whereas, in one study, combination therapy conferred a significantly increased risk of the composite end point of stroke, SE and vascular death compared with ACT alone.

Therefore, there appears to be insufficient evidence to suggest a clear benefit of the addition of APT to ACT compared with ACT alone in reducing the risk of vascular events in an AF population at high risk of TEs.

Discussion

The review included 23 primary studies, not all of which were necessarily of good quality. No study reported a robust, randomised comparison in a high-risk AF population of combined ACT targeting an international normalised ratio (INR) of 2.0–3.0 plus additional APT and ACT alone (target INR 2.0–3.0), which was considered the ideal study in the current context.

The five included RCTs investigated different doses of anticoagulant plus antiplatelet or anticoagulant alone in patients at variable (or unspecified) stroke risks. The type and dosage of both ACT and APT also differed in the studies.

The quality of the 18 studies that reported non-randomised comparisons was generally poor. The sample size and follow-up times in these studies varied greatly. Of note is the confounding of study results by indication for APT in these studies, which was used at physicians' discretion in most studies or clearly indicated for cardiovascular diseases in a few others. The time of antiplatelet administration also varied between the studies. Most studies were retrospective in nature, with patient data being identified from a register of records, with some information on various study quality features missing or unclear.

The population varied greatly between all included studies. None of the included studies reported data for a specified high-risk population with a CHADS₂ [congestive HF, hypertension, age \geq 75 years, diabetes mellitus (1 point for each risk factor), stroke/TIA (2 points)] score of \geq 2. The majority of non-randomised comparisons did not specify the stroke risk of the sample. Almost all non-randomised studies were conducted on hospital patients. Only two of the five included randomised studies investigated ACT with the recommended target INR range of 2.0–3.0 in both study arms. Data from many of the non-randomised comparisons did not add further information to the RCT data.

The heterogeneity between the studies warranted a narrative review and numerical pooling of study data was not possible.

Strengths and limitations

An attempt was made to identify all the available evidence around the subject despite the dearth of directly randomised studies using a robust review methodology. There was a paucity of directly randomised evidence to undertake a meta-analysis of the merits of one technology over another. The selection criteria were kept necessarily broad with regard to the population, intervention and comparator in order to capture all relevant studies.

Conclusions

There are not sufficient data from the five randomised comparisons and 18 non-randomised comparisons to conclude whether or not there are patients with AF who would benefit from combined ACT and APT compared with ACT alone.

Suggested research

It is recommended that a definitive prospective RCT needs to be undertaken with a sufficient duration of follow-up, preferably in a population at high risk of atherosclerotic coronary artery and other vascular events in addition to being at high risk of AF-mediated TEs. Any such trial should consider the issues of the population, which would need to be clearly defined taking into account the different risk stratification scores which would allow clinicians and policy-makers to interpret the findings. The intervention(s) would need to be clearly defined. The study would need to address the potential class effects of both anticoagulant and antiplatelet agents and should use standard current therapy. The comparator group should receive the same ACT as the intervention group with similarly achieved INRs reported for both groups. From the UK context, at the time of writing, any future trial should compare adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus aspirin (75–325 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0). However, given the emergence of newer anticoagulation agents [dabigatran, rivaroxaban (Xarelto[®], Bayer) and apixaban

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

(Eliquis[®], Bristol-Myers Squibb)] this prioritisation may need to be revisited in the future to reflect current best clinical practice. A health economic analysis would add value to findings. All outcomes would need to be clearly defined and validated.

Funding

Funding for this study was provided by the Health Technology Assessment programme of the National Institute for Health Research.

Chapter 1 Background

Description of the underlying health problem

Atrial fibrillation (AF), the most common abnormality of the heart's rhythm (cardiac arrhythmia) seen in clinical practice,¹ is characterised by unco-ordinated and rapid beating of the upper chambers of the heart (atria).²

Owing to the irregularity in the beating of the heart, the flow of blood is affected and there is an increased risk of formation of blood clots in the atria. If these clots are subsequently displaced, they can travel in the blood to other parts of the body and may block blood vessels, thereby disrupting blood flow, leading to an embolism. The most common site of embolism in patients with AF is the brain, resulting in a stroke. Patients with AF have an increased risk of stroke compared with individuals without AF.³ AF is responsible for 15% of all strokes and one-quarter of strokes in people aged >80 years.⁴ Furthermore, AF confers a 1.5- and 1.9-fold increased risk of mortality in men and women, respectively,⁵ and is associated with elevated risk of developing heart failure (HF)² and impairment of quality of life.^{6.7}

Incidence/prevalence

Atrial fibrillation is the most common cardiac arrhythmia in clinical practice^{1,8,9} and the prevalence increases markedly with older age, from 0.5% at 40–50 years to 5% in those aged \geq 65 years and almost 10% in people aged \geq 80 years.^{10,11} AF is slightly more prevalent in men than in women.^{8–10} The lifetime risk of developing AF aged \geq 40 years is approximately one in four.^{8,9}

The Screening for Atrial Fibrillation in the Elderly (SAFE) study,¹² a randomised controlled trial (RCT) of systematic screening (targeted and total population screening) compared with routine practice for the detection of AF in people aged \geq 65 years in the UK involving 15,000 patients, revealed that the prevalence of AF was 7.2%, with a higher prevalence evident in men (7.8%) and those aged \geq 75 years (10.3%). The incidence of AF ranged from 1.04% to 1.64% per year. The incidence and prevalence of AF are increasing and are projected to rise exponentially as the population ages and the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors increases.¹⁰

Impact of the health problem

The major complication of AF is stroke. AF is associated with a fivefold increased risk of stroke compared with age- and sex-matched patients in sinus rhythm,³ and doubles the risk of stroke after adjustment for other risk factors.¹ In addition, when a stroke occurs in a patient with AF it is more severe, more likely to recur, and more likely to result in death or disability than strokes in patients without AF.^{13–15} Further, stroke survivors with AF face persistent neurological deficits and permanent disability, having a significant negative impact on their quality of life and increasing the burden of care for their family and the health services.¹⁶

Information from The Office of Health Economics¹⁷ demonstrates the huge economic burden of AF to the NHS. In 2008, patients with AF accounted for 5.7 million bed-days, at a cost to the NHS of £1873M. In addition, other inpatient costs accounted for an extra £124M and outpatient costs (such as electrocardiography, monitoring anticoagulant treatment and post-discharge attendance) a further £205M. However, this figure does not take into account the significant societal costs, days of work lost, informal care, and the impact of AF on the patient and his or her family. The cost of AF appears to have

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

increased dramatically since the turn of the century, given that a previous study estimated that the direct cost of AF to the NHS in 2000 was £45M, equivalent to 0.97% of total NHS expenditure.¹⁸

Risk of stroke

The risk of stroke among patients with AF is heterogeneous, with risk dependent on associated comorbidities. The Stroke Risk in Atrial Fibrillation Working Group¹⁹ conducted a systematic review to identify independent predictors of stroke in patients with AF and found that a previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack (TIA) was consistently and independently associated with an augmented risk of a subsequent stroke, conferring a 2.5-fold increased risk. Increasing age also independently predicted stroke risk, with a 1.5-fold greater risk with each decade of life. In addition, a history of hypertension or elevated systolic blood pressure (>160 mmHg) and diabetes mellitus doubled the stroke risk. Half of the studies that examined sex as a risk factor for stroke demonstrated that women had a 1.6-fold greater risk than men.¹⁹ A history of HF and coronary artery disease (CAD) were not identified as independent risk factors for stroke by this systematic review, although systolic dysfunction (evidenced by echocardiography) was found to be a risk factor.¹⁹ The risk of stroke in patients with AF is significantly reduced with anticoagulation therapy,²⁰⁻²³ and antiplatelet treatment also decreases the risk of stroke compared with placebo.²⁰

Current service provision

Antithrombotic management of atrial fibrillation

The management of AF consists of a rate and/or rhythm control strategy in combination with antithrombotic therapy (ATT). The aim of the former is to control the heart rate without attempting to restore the heart's normal rhythm (sinus rhythm), whereas the latter attempts to re-establish and maintain sinus rhythm. Regardless of which strategy is implemented, all patients should be assessed for individual stroke risk and receive appropriate ATT. Clinical guidelines^{2,24} recommend oral anticoagulant for patients who are at high risk of stroke, and either oral anticoagulation or antiplatelet(s) for those deemed to be at intermediate risk, although the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines² prefer oral anticoagulation over antiplatelet(s) therapy in this group. Among those patients who are at low risk of stroke (those <65 years of age with no stroke risk factors), the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)²⁴ recommends antiplatelet therapy (APT), whereas the ESC guidelines² recommend APT or no treatment, with a preference for no therapy.^{2,24}

In order to determine the most appropriate ATT for each patient, his or her individual risk of stroke should be assessed. The main risk factors for stroke among patients with AF are described above (see *Risk of stroke*), but include previous stroke or TIA, age \geq 65 years, HF, hypertension and diabetes mellitus, which together constitute the widely used stroke risk assessment tool, the CHADS₂ (Congestive heart failure, Hypertension, Age \geq 75 years, Diabetes mellitus, and prior Stroke or TIA or thromboembolism) score,²⁵ although there are numerous other stroke risk stratification schemas available¹⁹ (*Table 1*).

In the UK, the NICE guidelines²⁴ currently recommend aspirin 75–300 mg daily (unless contraindicated) for patients aged <65 years with no moderate- or high-risk factors and who, thus, are deemed to be at low risk ($\leq 1\%$ annual risk) of stroke. For patients at moderate risk (4% annual risk), namely those aged <75 years with hypertension, diabetes mellitus or vascular disease (CAD or peripheral artery disease) and those ≥ 65 years without any high-risk factors, NICE²⁴ suggests anticoagulation or aspirin. Among patients at high risk (12% annual risk) of stroke, i.e. those with a previous stroke/TIA or thromboembolism (TE), clinical evidence of valve disease, HF, or impaired left ventricular (LV) function on echocardiography, or aged ≥ 75 years with hypertension, diabetes mellitus or vascular disease, NICE²⁴ recommends anticoagulation with warfarin. The ESC guidelines² have adopted a risk factor-based approach to determine appropriate thromboprophylaxis (*Figure 1* and *Table 1*) and these guidelines have superseded the NICE recommendations in clinical practice in the UK.²

Risk	Risk				
scheme, year	High	Moderate	Low		
AFI, 1994 ²⁶	Previous stroke/TIA, hypertension, diabetes mellitus	Aged ≥65 years with no other risk factors	Aged < 65 years		
SPAF Investigators, 1999 ²⁷	Previous stroke/TIA, women aged >75 years, men aged >75 years with hypertension	Hypertension, diabetes mellitus	No risk factors		
CHADS ₂ , 2001 (classic) ²⁸	Score of 3–6	Score of 1–2	Score of 0		
CHADS ₂ , 2001 (revised) ²⁵	Score of 2–6	Score of 1	Score of 0		
Framingham study, 2003 ²⁹	Score of 16–31	Score of 8–15	Score of 0–7		
NICE guidelines, 2006 ²⁴	Previous stroke/TIA/TE, aged \geq 75 years with hypertension, diabetes mellitus, or vascular disease, clinical evidence of valve disease, HF, of LV dysfunction on echocardiography	Aged <75 years with hypertension, diabetes mellitus, or vascular disease Aged ≥65 years with no high risk factors	Aged < 65 years with no moderate- or high-risk factors		
ACC/AHA/ESC guidelines, 2006 ¹	Previous stroke/TIA/TE, <i>or</i> : or ≥2 moderate risk factors: age ≥75 years, hypertension, HF, LVEF ≤35%, diabetes mellitus	Aged ≥75 years, or hypertension, or HF, or LVEF ≤35%, or diabetes mellitus	No risk factors		
Eighth ACCP guidelines, 2008 ³⁰	Previous stroke/TIA/TE, or: Two or more moderate risk factors: aged ≥75 years, hypertension, moderately or severely impaired LVEF and/or HF, or diabetes mellitus	Aged >75 years, or hypertension, or moderately or severely impaired LVEF and/or HF, or diabetes mellitus	No risk factors		
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc, 2010 ³¹	Score of ≥ 2	Score of 1	No risk factors		
ESC guidelines, 2010 ²	Previous stroke/TIA/SE or aged ≥75 years, or: Two or more 'clinically relevant non- major' risk factors: HF or LVEF ≤40%, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, vascular disease, ^a aged 65–74 years, female sex	Score of 1	No risk factors		

TABLE 1 Stroke risk stratification schemes in AF

ACC, American College of Cardiology; ACCP, American College of Chest Physicians; AFI, Atrial Fibrillation Investigators; AHA, American Heart Association; CHADS₂, congestive HF, hypertension, age \geq 75 years, diabetes mellitus (1 point for each risk factor), stroke/TIA (2 points); CHA₂DS₂-VASc: congestive HF, hypertension, age \geq 75 years, diabetes mellitus, stroke/TIA/TE; LV, left ventricular; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; SE, systemic embolism; SPAF, Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation.

a Vascular disease [(MI, peripheral vascular disease, aortic plaque), age 65–74 years, sex category (female) (2 points for stroke/TIA/TE and aged \geq 75 years, 1 point for presence of other risk factors].

In patients with AF who have no risk factors for stroke, the ESC guidelines² recommend either aspirin 75–325 mg daily or no ATT, with a preference for no treatment over aspirin.² For those with one 'clinically relevant non-major' risk factor [HF or left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) \leq 40%, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, vascular disease, age 65–74 years, female sex], the ESC advises that oral anticoagulation or aspirin (75–325 mg) should be administered, with an oral anticoagulant (OAC) preferred over aspirin. Among those patients with one 'major' (previous stroke/TIA/TE or aged \geq 75 years) or two or more 'clinically relevant non-major' risk factors, a OAC is recommended. Where a OAC is recommended, this

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 1 Clinical flow chart for the use of ATT in patients with AF. Redrawn from the ESC guidelines.² a, Congestive HF, hypertension, age \geq 75 years, diabetes mellitus (1 point for each), stroke/TIA/TE (2 points); b, other clinically relevant non-major risk factors: age 65–74 years, female sex, vascular disease.

includes adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) or one of the new anticoagulant drugs (see *Description of technology under assessment*).

In addition, CAD is also increasing in prevalence as a consequence of the improvements in survival due to advances in medical therapy and the ageing population.³⁰ Between 30% and 40% of patients with AF have concomitant CAD,¹¹ and some of these patients may also require percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) with stent implantation. Patients with AF and CAD are at increased risk of both stroke and further coronary events. An increasingly common management problem arises when faced with an anticoagulated patient with AF who presents with acute coronary syndrome (ACS) or those who require PCI with stent implantation.³²

Current guidelines for antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation patients with acute coronary syndrome or undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention or stenting

The joint American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA)/ESC 2006 guidelines on the management of AF recommend that following PCI or revascularisation surgery in patients with AF, lowdose aspirin (<100 mg/day) and/or clopidogrel (75 mg/day) may be given concurrently with anticoagulation to prevent myocardial ischaemic events,¹ although it is acknowledged that these strategies have not been thoroughly evaluated and are associated with an increased risk of bleeding. The 2006 ACC/AHA/ESC guidelines also suggest that clopidogrel should be given for a minimum of 1 month after implantation of a bare-metal stent, \geq 3 months for a sirolimus (CYPHERTM, Cordis)-eluting coronary stent-P020026, ≥6 months for a paclitaxel (ION[™], Boston Scientific)-eluting coronary stent system-P100023, and ≥12 months in selected patients, following which warfarin may be continued as monotherapy in the absence of a subsequent coronary event.¹ Broadly similar recommendations are made in the eighth ACCP guidelines,³³ which suggest that a low dose of aspirin (<100 mg per day) or clopidogrel (75 mg per day) may be given with anticoagulation, although the risk of bleeding may be increased, particularly in elderly patients. The UK NICE guidelines²⁴ do not address this topic, although acknowledging that adding aspirin to warfarin increases bleeding, and that it is a matter for individual assessment of the risk–benefit ratio in prescribing aspirin plus warfarin in patients with associated CAD.

Furthermore, all of the published guidelines do not address the issue of a presentation with ACS (where PCI is often performed) and bleeding risk. Given the need to balance stroke prevention, recurrent cardiac ischaemia and/or stent thrombosis, two more recent consensus documents,^{34,35} based on systematic reviews of patients on OAC undergoing PCI and stenting, advocate initial triple therapy (with OAC, aspirin and clopidogrel) in such patients, and the use of bare-metal stents (owing to the need for prolonged multiple-drug ATT with drug-eluting stents). However, triple ATT is associated with a higher risk of major bleeding and this risk must be considered before treatment initiation.^{34,36} Therefore, the ESC Working Group on Thrombosis consensus guidelines³⁵ recommend limiting triple ATT to 2–4 weeks in patients who are at high risk of haemorrhage (*Table 2*).

TABLE 2 Recomi	mended antithrombot	ic strategies followin	ig coronary arter	y stenting in p	patients with Al	F at moderate
to high thrombo	embolic risk ^a					

Haemorrhagic risk	Clinical setting	Stent implanted	Recommendations
Low or intermediate	Elective	Bare metal	 1 month: triple therapy of warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + aspirin ≤100 mg/day + clopidogrel 75 mg/day Lifelong warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
	Elective	Drug eluting	 3 (-olimus group) to 6 (paclitaxel) months: triple therapy of warfarin (INR 2.0-2.5) + aspirin ≤ 100 mg/day + clopidogrel 75 mg/day Up to 12 months: combination of warfarin (INR 2.0-2.5) + clopidogrel 75 mg/day (or aspirin 100 mg/day)^b Lifelong warfarin (INR 2.0-3.0) alone
	ACS	Bare metal/drug eluting	 6 months: triple therapy of warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + aspirin ≤100 mg/day + clopidogrel 75 mg/day Up to 12 months: combination of warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + clopidogrel 75 mg/day (or aspirin 100 mg/day)^b Lifelong warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
High	Elective	Bare metal ^c	 2-4 weeks: triple therapy of warfarin (INR 2.0-2.5) + aspirin ≤100 mg/day + clopidogrel 75 mg/day Lifelong warfarin (INR 2.0-3.0) alone
	ACS	Bare metal ^c	 4 weeks: triple therapy of warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + aspirin ≤100 mg/day + clopidogrel 75 mg/day Up to 12 months: combination of warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + clopidogrel 75 mg/day (or aspirin 100 mg/day)^b Lifelong warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
INR international	normalised	ratio	

a Redrawn from paper by Lip et al., 2010.³⁵

b Combination of warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + aspirin \leq 100 mg/day may be considered as an alternative.

c Drug-eluting stents should be avoided.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Description of technology under assessment

Anticoagulant therapy (ACT) is recommended for patients with AF who are at high risk of stroke. The main type of ACT used for patients with AF is a vitamin K antagonist (VKA), most commonly warfarin, to maintain a therapeutic international normalised ratio (INR) value of 2.0–3.0. Other classes of anticoagulants include heparins (low-molecular-weight heparins), hirudins, and, more recently, the novel anticoagulant drugs, direct oral thrombin inhibitors (ximelagatran and dabigatran), and factor Xa inhibitors [idraparinux, apixaban (Eliquis[®], Bristol-Myers Squibb), rivaroxaban (Xarelto[®], Bayer) and endoxaban] (*Table 3*). APT is also used for stroke thromboprophylaxis in patients with AF. Antiplatelet agents currently used include aspirin (non-proprietary; typically), clopidogrel (Plavix[®], Sanofi-aventis), ticlopidine, dipyridamole (Persantin[®], Boehringer Ingelheim) and triflusal (*Table 3*).

Anticoagulation, antiplatelet or combined therapy in high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation

Among patients with AF, there is evidence that thromboprophylaxis with warfarin reduces the risk of TE (by 64%) compared with placebo or aspirin (by 39%).²⁰ Aspirin reduces the risk of TE in patients with AF by 22% compared with placebo.²⁰

However, it is currently unclear whether or not there is any additional benefit in adding APT to ACT in high-risk patients with AF in terms of reduction in vascular events, including stroke.

The available data from individual studies are conflicting, apart from the consistent message that combining APT with oral anticoagulation increases the risk of major bleeding. There is currently no definitive answer to the question of whether or not combination anticoagulant and antiplatelet (monoand dual-antiplatelet) therapy is beneficial in patients with AF and concomitant CAD/vascular disease, and those undergoing PCI and stent implantation. The available evidence from observational cohort studies

Anticoagulants	Antiplatelet agents
VKAs	Aspirin
Warfarin sodium	 Clopidogrel
Acenocoumarol (Sinthrome [®] , Alliance)	 Ticlopidine
Phenindione (non-proprietary)	 Dipyridamole
• Fluindione	 Triflusal
Heparins	
 Low-molecular-weight heparin [bemiparin, dalteparin (Fragmin[®], Pfizer), enoxaparin (Clexane[®], Sanofi-aventis) and tinzaparin (Innohep[®], LEO Pharma)] 	
Hirudins	
Bivalirudin (Angio [®] , The Medicines Company)	
Direct oral thrombin inhibitors	
• Ximelagatran	
Dabigatran (Pradaxa®, Boehringer Ingelheim)	
Factor Xa inhibitors	
• Idraparinux	
• Apixaban	
• Rivaroxaban	
• Endoxaban	
• Betrixaban	
• Darexaban	

TABLE 3 Types of anticoagulant and antiplatelet agents used for thromboprophylaxis in atrial fibrillation

and registry analyses suggests a reduction in TEs with combination and triple therapy, given for a short duration, in patients with AF and concomitant CAD/vascular disease with stent implantation. However, the risk reduction in TEs is offset by an increased risk of major bleeding.³⁵

The aim of the current study is therefore to identify the benefits of adding APT in a subgroup of high-risk patients with AF who are receiving ACT, in whom this can be justified in terms of the balance of reducing vascular events without increasing bleeding.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Chapter 2 Methods

Aim

To determine if the addition of APT to ACT is beneficial compared with ACT alone in patients with AF who are considered to be at high risk of TEs.

Objective

To undertake a systematic review of studies comparing ACT alone with ACT in combination with APT in patients with AF.

Definitions

The *Background* chapter describes AF. For the purposes of this review, the definition of AF used was that determined by the authors of studies.

The *Background* chapter describes ACT and APT used to treat AF. For the purposes of this review, no limits were placed on the type of therapies that could be chosen as being anticoagulant or antiplatelet agents.

High-risk patients of special interest include patients with AF with previous myocardial infarction (MI) or ACS, those undergoing PCI and stent implantation, those with diabetes mellitus, and those with a $CHADS_2$ score of ≥ 2 . However, no restrictions were placed on the determinants of high risk.

Relevant study designs

Given the likely paucity of directly relevant RCTs, the steering group for this project was consulted at an early stage about whether or not evidence from a wider selection of study designs should be reviewed. The steering group decided that this should be the case.

Review methods

Standard systematic review methodology was used, consisting of searches to identify available literature, sifting and the application of specific criteria to identify relevant studies, assessment of the quality of these studies, and the extraction and synthesis of relevant data from them. The review was guided by a protocol that was prepared a priori (see *Appendix 1*) and externally reviewed prior to use.

Search strategies

The following resources were searched for relevant studies:

 Bibliographic databases: The Cochrane Library [Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL)] 2010 Issue 3; MEDLINE (Ovid) 1950 to September week 1 2010; MEDLINE In-Process and Other Non-Indexed Citations from inception to 27 September 2010; and EMBASE (Ovid) 1980 to September 2010. Searches were based on index and text words that encompassed the population: atrial fibrillation and the interventions; combined anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Ongoing trials were sought in ClinicalTrials.gov, National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Clinical Research Network Portfolio, Current Controlled Trials (CCT) and the WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP).
- Reference lists from identified systematic reviews were checked.
- Citations of relevant studies were examined.
- Further information was sought from clinical experts.

All study types were sought. Searches were not limited by language or date and were carried out during September 2010 by an information specialist.

Search strategies used in the bibliographic databases can be found in Appendix 2.

Scoping searches were undertaken to identify completed and ongoing systematic reviews from the following resources: The Cochrane Library [Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (CDSR), Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE), Health Technology Assessment (HTA) database, CENTRAL and NHS Economic Evaluation Database (NHS EED)], Aggressive Research Intelligence Facility (ARIF) database of reviews, HTAi portal, MEDLINE (Ovid) 1950 onwards and EMBASE (Ovid) 1980 onwards. The systematic reviews were used to check if there were additional relevant studies.

Study selection

All records identified in the searches were imported into a Reference Manager database (Reference Manager v.11, Thomson ResearchSoft, San Francisco, CA, USA). Duplicate entries were allowed to be removed by the inbuilt feature in Reference Manager and also removed when encountered by reviewers.

Owing to the number of retrieved records and the complexity of the publications, a three-stage process was used to select the studies for review.

Stage 1

The aim was to exclude obviously irrelevant records. The titles of all records were scanned by one reviewer and the record retained if it was about an article/study that met ANY of the following criteria:

- any AF study
- any stroke study
- any study with a group of patients on ACT, APT or both.

Study design or publication type was not an exclusion criterion for this stage.

Stage 2

Based on the title and abstract where available, records were retained if they were about an article/study that adhered to *all* of the following criteria:

- any AF population receiving ACT, APT, or both
- indicated effectiveness data were reported.

Study design or publication type was not an exclusion criterion for this stage.

In the first instance, this stage was undertaken by two reviewers independently; however, it became clear that complexity of the information in the records and particularly absence of detail were leading to far from ideal agreement between the two reviewers (Cohen's kappa coefficient = 0.51). For this reason all records for which discord occurred were screened independently by two further reviewers and any disagreements at this level were resolved by discussion.

All articles progressing through to this stage were obtained in hard copy.

Stage 3

The hard copies were assessed for inclusion in the review against the following criteria. All criteria had to be met to warrant inclusion.

- **Study design** RCTs, non-randomised comparisons, cohort studies, case series or registries, longitudinal studies, systematic reviews and meta-analyses, and conference abstracts published after 2008.
- **Population** Patients with AF, aged ≥18 years. Publications were included, even if a subgroup of patients in the study conformed to this criterion.
- Intervention Publications were included only if there was a subgroup of, or complete cohort of, patients on combined ACT and APT. Publications in which the INR of ACT was not specified were also included.
- **Comparator** ACT alone or ACT plus placebo.
- Outcomes All-cause mortality and/or at least one vascular event(s) [non-fatal and fatal ischaemic stroke, TIA, systemic embolism (SE)] SE (pulmonary/peripheral arterial embolism), MI, in-stent thrombosis, vascular death, bleeding (major, non-major, minor), reported for both intervention and comparator groups.

If any of the following criteria were met, then the article was excluded:

- **Study design:** All case studies, bridging therapy studies with heparin, rationale or study design papers, ecological studies, case–control studies, cross-sectional studies (surveys), conference abstracts published before 2008, commentaries, and letters or communications were excluded.
- Population: Articles that specified a population as having a CHADS₂ score of <2 or stroke patients with AF for whom outcomes were retrieved retrospectively, or a population with valve replacement or mechanical heart valves. If CHADS₂ scoring or any other stroke risk scoring was not specified, then this was not a reason to exclude an article.

Part-translation of articles not fully published in the English language was obtained to facilitate selection.

The criteria were applied by two reviewers independently and disagreements were resolved by discussion and with the involvement of a third reviewer if required. The reason(s) for the exclusion of articles were recorded.

Where there was more than one unique article from a single study the articles were grouped together for reviewing purposes.

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses that met the inclusion criteria were not reviewed but were utilised to identify further articles. Articles identified in this way were entered in to the Reference Manager database and subjected to the same selection process outlined above.

Data extraction

Data were extracted into a standard form in Microsoft Excel 2007 v.12 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA) from the main and supporting publications (where relevant) of all included primary studies by one reviewer. A second reviewer checked the accuracy of extracted information. Disagreements were resolved by consensus or by referral to a third reviewer if necessary.

Information regarding study design (including intervention/comparators) and characteristics of study participants was extracted. This included antithrombotic regimens used [anticoagulant \pm antiplatelet(s) or placebo], type of ATT used and dose, target INR values used, indication for ATT (e.g. AF \pm ACS or stent implantation), study setting (country), study design, sample size, patient inclusion and exclusion criteria, patient characteristics (e.g. age, sex, type and duration of AF, anticoagulant naive or experienced), comparability of patients between different arms (for RCTs and non-randomised trials), primary outcome

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

measures, secondary outcome measures, length of follow-up, statistical methods used, effect sizes and uncertainty.

Data on the following outcomes were sought from included studies.

Primary outcome measures

Vascular event – stroke (non-fatal and fatal ischaemic), TIA, SE (pulmonary embolism, peripheral arterial embolism), MI, in-stent thrombosis and vascular death (from any of the aforementioned vascular events).

Secondary outcome measures

All-cause mortality and bleeding (major bleeding events, clinically relevant non-major bleeding events, minor bleeding), health-related quality of life, major adverse events (composite of all-cause mortality, non-fatal MI and stroke), revascularisation procedures (e.g. PCI, coronary artery bypass graft surgery, embolectomy) and percentage of time in therapeutic INR range.

Definitions of these outcomes as used in each study were also extracted where reported.

Data for any outcomes other than those listed above were also extracted if it was considered relevant to this report.

Quality assessment

The quality of included studies was assessed by one reviewer. A second reviewer checked the accuracy of extracted information. Disagreements were resolved by consensus or by referral to a third reviewer if necessary.

The methodological quality of RCTs was assessed in terms of the randomisation process, allocation concealment (adequate, unclear, inadequate or not used), degree of blinding, particularly of the outcome assessors, and patient attrition rate, using the Cochrane Collaboration risk of bias assessment tool.³⁷

The quality assessment of studies undertaking non-randomised comparisons was undertaken using the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD)'s checklist for cohort studies.³⁸ Information on the following was captured: method of outcome measurement, blinding of assessors, whether or not outcome definitions were clearly explained, and which parts of the study were prospective. In addition, the following topic-specific data that were considered relevant to the quality of the studies were assessed: 'Were the indications for use of APT given?' and 'Was it clear whether patients were on APT at the start or commenced such therapy during the observation period?'

Data from randomised studies that were obtained from non-randomised comparisons were classed and treated as non-randomised data. For example, when data from a subset of patients in two or more arms of a RCT were combined to compare with data from another subset of patients obtained from these or other arms of the same study.

From non-randomised comparisons the potential for confounding by indication was ever present; whereby APT was added to ACT, based on clinical judgement of a potential risk of adverse outcomes in some patients if such therapy was not given. Conversely, in those without such perceived risk APT may not have been given. Thus, the patients receiving anticoagulation alone would differ from those receiving the combined therapy, and thus any comparison between the two would be confounded.

Data analysis/synthesis

Outcomes of interest

Selected outcomes of interest were specified in the review protocol, based, in part, on the briefing document produced by the NIHR. These were as shown below.

Primary outcome measures

- Vascular events:
 - non-fatal and fatal ischaemic stroke
 - TIA
 - SE (pulmonary embolism, peripheral arterial embolism)
 - o MI
 - in-stent thrombosis
 - vascular death (from any of the above mentioned vascular events).

Secondary outcome measures

- All-cause mortality.
- Bleeding:

- major bleeding events
- clinically relevant non-major bleeding events
- minor bleeding.
- Health-related quality of life.
- Major adverse events.
- Revascularisation procedures.
- Percentage of time within therapeutic INR range (where available).

Although definitions of these outcomes could have been described rigidly for this review (such as using the definitions of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis³⁹) it was decided to retain and record the definitions used in the original papers and to group data accordingly. Setting aside issues around non-reporting or poor reporting of definitions, for most outcomes this was fairly straightforward. However, there were instances for which judgement was required. For example, for the outcome of SE a few studies referred to TE and it was assumed from the definitions of outcomes provided by the studies that TE referred to arterial TE, not venous TE, and thus data from these studies were grouped with SE from similar studies.

For the outcomes of interest, data were not available for all.

Handling data and presentation of results

Owing to the paucity of evidence from randomised studies, data from non-randomised and/or observational designs were also included in this review. Evidence from different study designs was not combined.

The comparison of interest was between combined anticoagulation and APT and ACT alone.

For dichotomous outcomes, data from randomised studies are presented as proportions, percentages and relative risks (RRs) [\pm 95% confidence interval (CI)] for comparisons. RRs and 95% CIs were calculated using Review Manager (RevMan v.5.1: The Cochrane Collaboration, The Nordic Cochrane Centre, Copenhagen, Denmark). Dichotomous data from non-randomised comparisons are not presented as RRs, given the potential for confounding by indication within such studies. If continuous outcome data had been encountered, they would be represented as differences in means or means.

Where available, data were presented for the longest follow-up available in each study. Data for follow-up assessments less than this are also presented, where appropriate. In many cases only mean/median follow-up durations were reported by studies.

Studies were considered to directly compare anticoagulation plus APT with ACT alone if the anticoagulant was the same in both arms, and there were no other treatment-related differences between arms.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Different anticoagulation therapies were considered separately. Different APTs were also considered separately. As ACT can be a fixed or adjusted dose it was decided a priori on clinical advice to report these regimes separately. A priori it was decided that only the following groups could be considered as classes of intervention. VKAs were considered as a class of intervention and, thus, reported together and where possible pooling of data across the class was considered if there was sufficient methodological and clinical homogeneity between studies. Oral direct thrombin inhibitors (ODTIs) were also considered as a class of intervention. None of the APTs was considered as a class.

Although planned, pooling of results was not attempted for the assessment of effectiveness of individual technologies because of the substantial clinical and methodological heterogeneity between studies and the confounding by indication inherent in the observational studies.

Assessment of publication bias

The number of relevant studies for a given comparison was too small to allow formal assessment of publication bias.

Ongoing studies

A number of ongoing studies were identified in the searches. They were not included in the systematic review, but discussed in *Chapter 4* (see *Strengths and limitations*, *Ongoing studies*) to aid updating and extension of this review.

Sensitivity and subgroup analysis

Although the number of subgroups and/or sensitivity analyses might have been possible in this report, none was undertaken owing to lack of data.

Changes to protocol

The protocol specified that, where possible, the relevant target INR for the combined ACT-plus-APT treatment arm should be 2.0–3.0 as recommended by ESC guidelines.² However, it was felt that this criterion might be too restrictive or the range not reported. Therefore, this criterion was relaxed to allow inclusion of studies with either a different target range or an unspecified target INR range.

It was intended and specified in the protocol that an individual participant data (IPD) meta-analysis would be performed to specifically address the effect of APT added to ACT compared with ACT alone on (1) time to first vascular event; (2) time to first major haemorrhage or clinically relevant bleed; (3) death; and (4) time within therapeutic INR range. Predefined subgroup analyses were to be developed to possibly include the following: (1) stent type (bare metal vs drug eluting); (2) warfarin-naive subjects compared with warfarin-experienced subjects; (3) short- and long-term outcomes; (4) patients with diabetes mellitus; and (5) a CHADS₂ score of \geq 2 and <2. Data were to be requested either in electronic or paper from triallists and subjected to consistency checks.

However, there was a paucity of evidence from the included studies for many of these analyses, and where some data were available it was clear that the methodological heterogeneity between studies, and the clinical heterogeneity within and between studies, was against such analyses. It was therefore agreed with the NIHR not to perform the IPD analysis (for further explanation, see *Chapter 4*, *Strengths and limitations*).

An additional stage of study selection was added (Stage 2 is described above – see *Study Selection*) because of the high yield of relevant studies from the preceding stages. In this new stage, selection criteria

were based on those determined a priori for the whole review and thus unbiased. This new selection stage came before obtaining full copies of articles and the application of all of the inclusion/exclusion criteria for the review.

Reporting findings

In the following sections based on clinical input, the findings of the review are structured by outcome (and subcategories of outcome where relevant) and then for each outcome by intervention–comparison (including division by whether ACT was by adjusted or fixed dosing), with further subdivision by risk attributed to the populations where relevant. Data from randomised comparisons are the primary evidence presented with supplementary information given from pooled analyses and/or non-randomised comparisons where this information adds to that from the randomised comparisons (i.e. longer follow-up). However, caution is applied with the use of non-randomised data given that the findings are highly likely to be confounded by indication. A summary section is provided where the findings are presented by intervention and comparator, and then for each of these the data for the review outcomes are presented. Presenting the data in both ways allows access to information depending on whether the perspective required is that of the outcomes or the comparisons.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Chapter 3 Results

Quantity and quality of research available

Figure 2 illustrates the study selection stages. The combined bibliographic database search yielded 13,519 citations. After the removal of records for non-relevant articles and duplicate entries, full texts of 633 potentially relevant articles were sought. The authors of 12 studies were contacted, as copies of the study reports were difficult to obtain. Seven of these were still unobtainable after this procedure. Details of these studies are presented in *Appendix 3*. The 626 full articles were assessed against the criteria for inclusion in the review by two reviewers independently. A total of 53 publications met the criteria (see *Figure 2*). A list of excluded publications along with reason(s) for their exclusion can be found in *Appendix 4*.

No ongoing studies comparing combined ACT plus APT with ACT alone were identified in the searches. In the discussion chapter (see *Chapter 4*), there is a section on the pre-defined subgroup analysis of the ongoing or recently completed Phase III clinical trials identified by the steering committee.

Characteristics of included studies

Of the 53 included publications (*Figure 3*),^{20,39–90} 18 were reports of systematic reviews or metaanalyses^{20,74–90} which added no further data to the remaining 35 articles (see *Figure 2* and *Appendix 5*).^{39–73} Of the latter, five articles^{39–43} each reported randomised controlled studies between ACT plus APT and ACT alone. Three of these RCTs were supported by post hoc, subgroup or pooled analyses reported in a further six articles.^{44–49} The characteristics of these studies and their quality assessment are reported in *Tables 4* and *5*, respectively, and in *Appendix 6*.

The remaining 24 articles^{50–73} consisted of 18 primary studies reporting non-randomised comparisons for the therapies of interest. Of these, 14 studies^{50–63} (in 14 articles) reported data from observational designs, both prospective^{50–55} and retrospective^{56–63} in nature. The remaining four studies in 10 articles^{64–73} were originally designed to assess the effectiveness of an anticoagulant without additional APT. However, these were included because they reported data on a subgroup of patients treated with combined anticoagulant plus APT. The characteristics of these studies and their quality assessment are reported in *Tables 6* and *7*, respectively.

Of the included studies, three RCTs^{40,42,43} and 14 other studies reporting non-randomised comparisons summarised data for warfarin therapy in different regimes plus an APT compared with warfarin.^{50-53,55-57,59-65} One RCT³⁹ and one non-randomised study⁵⁴ reported data on acenocoumarol (Sinthrome[®], Alliance) plus an APT compared with acenocoumarol alone. The remaining one RCT⁴¹ reported data on fluindione plus aspirin compared with fluindione plus placebo.⁴¹ One study⁷² reporting non-randomised comparisons used idraparinux, and one used dabigatran (Pradaxa[®], Boehringer Ingelheim) as anticoagulant agent,⁷³ whereas two studies^{64,65} reported data on ximelagatran plus warfarin compared with ximelagatran alone. Doses of APT varied between studies.

Of the included RCTs, three^{39,42,43} used therapies in an open-label fashion, whereas this information was not clear in one.⁴⁰ Assessors were blinded in three^{39,41,42} out of five RCTs,³⁹⁻⁴³ and intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis was undertaken in three studies.^{40,42,43} However, two of these studies were terminated prematurely.^{41,42} The sample size varied from 43 to 1209 participants in the RCTs,^{39,40} with variable periods of follow-up (22 days⁴⁰ to 42 months⁴²).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 2 Study selection.


FIGURE 3 Included studies. AFASAK II, Second Copenhagen Atrial Fibrillation, ASpirin and Anticoagulation Study; AMADEUS, Comparison of fixed-dose idraparinux with conventional anticoagulation by dose-adjusted oral vitamin K antagonist therapy for prevention of thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation; FFAACS, Fluindione, Fibrillation Auriculaire, Aspirin et Contraste Spontané study; NASPEAF, NAtional Study for Prevention of Embolism in Atrial Fibrillation; PETRO, dabigatran with or without concomitant aspirin compared with warfarin alone in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation study; SPAF III, Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation III study; SPORTIF, Stroke Prevention using an ORal Thrombin Inhibitor in atrial Fibrillation.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Of the studies reporting non-randomised comparisons, six were retrospective,^{56–58,60–63} and the time of APT use varied between the studies. The majority of these studies consisted of a retrospective review of medical records where prior knowledge of allocation of therapy was not possible.^{50–53,56–61,63} However, all but five studies^{50,55,59,62,73} clearly reported the criteria by which APT was used in the study. Of note is the study by Ezekowitz *et al.*⁷³ [PETRO (Dabigatran with or without concomitant aspirin compared with warfarin alone in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation)], in which it was difficult to identify if APT was used at random or indicated in a subgroup. For this reason, the study is classified as a non-randomised comparison of ACT plus APT and ACT only.

Between-study differences

The subsequent sections will report the event rates for each outcome. Methodological heterogeneity exists between the included studies that may explain any differences in the event rates reported. Rather than repeat these methodological differences for each and every outcome of interest, the reader will be referred to the following discussion of these differences. Where specific differences in the methodology between the included studies are apparent, which are important to highlight and/or only pertinent to that particular outcome, these differences will be specified under that outcome.

The differences in the event rates reported by the included studies may reflect differences in the population risk profile, with some studies including high-risk AF populations (three RCTS^{39,41,43} and seven non-randomised comparisons^{50,55,58,64,65,72,73}) and/or intermediate-risk patients with AF (one RCT³⁹), whereas other studies did not report the risk profile of included patients (two RCTs^{40,42}) and 11 other non-randomised comparisons.^{51–54,56,57,59–63}

The sample size also varied considerably between included studies, from 43 participants in one RCT⁴⁰ to 118,606 in a large non-randomised comparison.⁶³ As a result of the overall sample size, the number of patients receiving combined ACT and APT and the comparator also varied considerably, with only 34 patients receiving the combination therapy in Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴ between 21 and 36 patients receiving the various permutations of ACT plus APT in the PETRO study,⁷³ and 76 patients receiving combination therapy and 81 receiving ACT alone in the FFAACS (Fluindione, Fibrillation Auriculaire, Aspirin et Contraste Spontané) trial,⁴¹ which will have influenced the reported event rates for each outcome.

Further, the included studies comprise both randomised and non-randomised data. Among nonrandomised comparisons there is the potential for confounding by indication with the use of APT, as this was often given at the discretion of the treating physician, with patients at high risk of a vascular event and/or those less likely to bleed receiving combination therapy. Indeed, Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported that the patients receiving combined therapy were at a higher risk of stroke than those who were administered adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. Moreover, the number of patients with previous experience of an anticoagulant agent or APT in each study may also affect the event rate, for example patients who can tolerate either ACT or APT will continue on such therapy and therefore may be less likely to bleed on treatment than those who experience a bleed and therefore discontinue such therapy – 'ATT survivor'.

The included studies also compared different types of anticoagulant and APT in various permutations, which makes comparison of event rates across studies using different interventions and comparators difficult. Studies compared a VKA, either warfarin,^{40,42,43,50–53,55–57,63–65,72} acenocoumarol,^{39,54} or fluindione⁴¹ in combination with either aspirin^{41–43,50,51,53–58,60–65,72,73} or other antiplatelet agents, such as triflusal,^{39,54} clopidogrel,^{40,63} or dual APT of aspirin plus clopidogrel.⁶³ Furthermore, two other studies compared an ODTI (anticoagulant) – either ximelagatran^{64,65} or dabigatran⁷³ – in combination with aspirin (in different doses) or alone.

Among those studies comparing VKAs plus aspirin to a VKA alone, ^{39–43,50–54,54–57,59–65,67,69,72} different VKA regimes were used in the combination therapy arm, either fixed dose (1.25 mg⁴²) or adjusted dose to maintain a target INR range [e.g. INR 1.2–1.5,⁴³ INR 2.0–3.0,^{40,64,65} INR 1.9–2.5,⁵⁴ INR 2.0–2.6,⁴¹ INR 1.4–2.4 (high risk) and INR 1.25–2.0 (intermediate risk)³⁹]. Of the included RCTs, therapies were administered

in either an open-label^{42,43} or in a double-blind fashion.⁴¹ In addition, the APT also varied (aspirin, triflusal, clopidogrel, and aspirin plus clopidogrel). In the studies reporting randomised comparisons, aspirin was utilised in different doses (300 mg,⁴² 325 mg⁴³ and 100 mg⁴¹), and also in non-randomised comparisons ($\leq 100 \text{ mg}$,^{64,65,72} 100 mg,⁶¹ 81 or 325 mg⁷³ and dose not specified in others^{51,53,56-58,62}). Similarly, other antiplatelets were used in different doses such as triflusal (600 mg,³⁹ 600 mg and 300 mg⁵⁴), clopidogrel (75 mg:⁴⁰ dose not specified⁶³) and dual APT of aspirin plus clopidogrel (dose not specified^{50,63}), which makes direct comparison between studies difficult.

In addition, some randomised studies used the same target INR range in both the intervention and comparator arm (RCTs^{40,41} besides non-randomised comparisons^{54,51,53, 56,57,59,61,62,64,65,72}), whereas others did not (RCTs^{39,42,43} and non-randomised comparisons^{54,55}), again making difficult the direct comparison between the intervention and comparator arms within the studies. However, the majority of studies did use the standard therapeutic INR target of 2.0–3.0 in the comparator arm^{40,41,51,53–55,57,59,61,62,64,65,72} whereas others did not, although only four studies^{39,40,43,54} reported time in therapeutic range (TTR).

There were also differences across studies in the definitions of the outcomes of interest used and these differences are discussed, where relevant, under each outcome.

Furthermore, the considerable variation in the length of follow-up (e.g. 22 days⁴⁰ to 4.92 years⁵⁴) in each of the included studies may have influenced event rates. The combination of a short duration of follow-up for outcomes that are not particularly common together with a small sample size may have resulted in studies being underpowered. Of note the AFASAK II study (Second Copenhagen Atrial Fibrillation, Aspirin and Anticoagulation Study)⁴² was prematurely terminated when results of the SAAF III (Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation) trial,⁴³ demonstrating the superiority of adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over combination of adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–2.5) and aspirin 325 mg in preventing stroke or SE, were published. Further, the FFAACS study⁴¹ was also terminated early due to poor recruitment. It should also be noted, that Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ was a non-randomised comparison that followed up of a proportion of the patients enrolled in the NASPEAF (National Study for Prevention of Embolism in Atrial Fibrillation) study³⁹ (although it is not clear how many patients from NASPEAF were included in Bover *et al.*, within each arm of the latter study), with addition of newly recruited participants, over a longer period of time.

Moreover, the temporal changes in the management of AF over the last 20 years may have influenced the event rate reported in studies enrolling patients in the early 1990s (AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³) compared with those from 2000 onwards.^{39,40,41,54,63,64,65,73}

TABLE 4 Characteristics of st	udies reporting randomised com	parisons			
Author, date (name of trial), location, no. of centres	Study duration (mean), randomisation design, no. of patients randomised	Intervention (ACT + APT), no. of patients	Comparator (ACT only or ACT + placebo), no. of patients	Inclusion criteria; stroke risk	Age (years): mean (SD, range), % male
ªPérez-Gómez <i>et al.,</i> 2004 (RCT – NASPEAF), multicentre ³⁹	33 months, parallel, open label, <i>n</i> = 1209	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 222 (intermediate risk) Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 223 (high risk)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 237	Age ≥ 18 years; high risk of stroke ^b or intermediate risk of stroke ^c	68.6; ^d 45.6
Lidell <i>et al.</i> , 2003, Sweden, four centres ⁴⁰	22 days, parallel, double blind, placebo controlled, $n = 43$	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR $2.0-3.0) + clopidogrel (75 mg);$ n = 20	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + placebo, n = 23	Age 35–75 years, NVAF, receiving warfarin for ≥2 months; no stroke risk factors reported	66.6; ^d 81.4
Lechat <i>et al.</i> , 2001, (RCT – FFAACS), France, multicentre ⁴¹	0.84 years, parallel, double blind, placebo controlled, $n = 157$	Fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 76$	Fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + placebo, $n = 81$	NVAF; high risk of stroke ^e	73.7; ^d 50
'Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998, (RCT – AFASAK II), Denmark, single centre ⁴²	42 months, parallel, open label, $n = 677$	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg); n = 171	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg/day), $n = 167$ Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 170$	Age ≥18 years with chronic NVAF; no stroke risk factors reported	76.5 (6.9, 44-89), 60
⁹ Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators, 1996 (RCT – SPAF III), USA and Canada, 20 sites ⁴³	1.1 years, parallel, open label, $n = 1044$	Fixed-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), n = 521	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	Age ≥ 18 years with NVAF, eligible 30 days from occurrence of stroke/ TIA; high risk of stroke ^h	72 (9); 61
NVAF, non-valvular atrial fibr. a Supported by three subgr b Either NVAF with prior em c NVAF with no embolism a d Standard deviation and rai e Presence of at least one of [systolic arterial pressure > (echocardiographic left ver	lation. up analyses ⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ of the same popu colism or those with mitral stenosi t baseline. nge for age not reported. the following: history of TE (TIA, r 160 mmHg or diastolic arterial pre- nticular shortening fraction <25%	lation (on same intervention and com s with and without prior embolism. non-disabling ischaemic stroke or peri ssure >90 mmHg); recent episode (<3	lparators). pharators). pheral embolism) or aged >6 3 months previously) of conge	5 years and at least one of history of hy	ypertension function

Presence of at least one of the following: impaired LV function manifested by: recent (≤ 100 days) congestive heart disease or fractional shortening of $\leq 25\%$ by M-mode echocardiography; systolic blood pressure of > 160 mmHg at study entry: prior ischaemic stroke, TIA or SE (i.e. prior TE), female and age > 75 years.

Supported by one analysis⁴⁷ of the same population (on same intervention and comparators). Supported by two analyses^{48,49} of the same population (on same intervention and comparators).

പെ

4

ABLE 5 Quality assessr	nent of studies reporting ra	andomised comp	arisons				
Author, date (name of the trial) duration (mean)	Truly random allocation and sequence generation, method	Adequate allocation concealment	Blinding	Use of ITT	Dropouts and withdrawals, <i>n</i> (%)	Percentage on ACT before study	Comments
^a Pérez-Gómez <i>et al.</i> , 2004 (RCT – NASPEAF), 33 months ³⁹	Yes, computer generated, centrally administered	No ^b	Yes ^c	No	Withdrawals, 18.3%; lost to follow-up, 50 (4.14)	R	Withdrawals resulted in switch over from combined treatment to ACT in 56 patients
Lidell e <i>t al.</i> , 2003, 22 days ⁴⁰	Not clear, NR	Unclear	Unclear	Yes	Withdrawals and lost to follow-up, 0	NR	Arbitrary sample size used
Lechat <i>et al.</i> , 2001 (RCT – FAACS), 0.84 years ⁴¹	Yes, centrally performed randomisation through fax transmission of the inclusion form	Yes	Yes	°N N	Withdrawals,30; deaths, 6; lost to follow-up, 0	85	Small sample size; premature termination of trial due to low event rate and recruitment rate
^d Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998, (RCT – AFASAK II), 42 months ⁴²	Yes, computerised randomisation	No ^b	Yes ^c	Yes	Withdrawals, 112 (16.5%); dropout, 58 (8.6)	0	Premature termination after publication of SPAF III ⁴³ results
©Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators, 1996 (RCT – SPAF III), 1.1 years⁴	Yes, stratified by study centre and sequence could not be previewed	° Z	Not clear ^f	Yes	Withdrawals, 72 (6.9%); lost to follow-up: 0	56	Multiple laboratories with reagents of varying sensitivities used for INR measurements; trial terminated in interim analysis (after mean follow-up of 1.1 years) as adjusted-dose warfarin was found superior to combined therapy; diabetes mellitus not considered as one of the stroke risk factors
NR, not reported. a Supported by two su d Supported by two an e Supported by two an b Open-label administr. c Assessors blinded. f Patients with events v events diagnosed (ine	bgroup analyses ⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ of the sealysis ⁴⁷ of the same populativalyses ^{48,49} of the same populativation of therapies.	ame population (on (on same inter ation (on same in sts affiliated to stu	on same inter vention and c itervention an udy but not er	vention and cc comparators). d comparators ngaged in follo	omparators).). w-up and unaware of a	assigned therapy, I	ut found out drug regimen in 27% of primary

Age (years): mean (SD, range), percentage males	73.7 (12.3); 52.4	68.6; 45.6	52–81	72.3; 55.72	70.1 (9.1); 66.5
Inclusion criteria; stroke risk	Age ≥ 30 years, surviving first-time hospitalisation for primary or secondary diagnosis of AF, discharge prescription of warfarin, aspirin, clopidogrel Stroke risk NR	Patients who had undergone at least 12 months of follow-up	Age ≥ 18 years Stroke risk high ^c	New NVAF patients referred by GP Stroke risks NR	NVAF and indication for long-term anticoagulation ≥1 stroke risk factor ^e
ACT only (INR or dose), no. of patients	Warfarin,ª <i>n</i> = 50,919	Acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 265	Warfarin,ª <i>n</i> = 59	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 394	ldraparinux (2.5 mg), n = 2283; adjusted-dose VKA ^d (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 2293
ACT (INR or dose) + APT (dose), no. of patients	Warfarin ^a + aspirin, ^a 18,345 Warfarin ^a + clopidogrel, ^a 1430 Warfarin ^a + aspirin ^a + clopidogrel, ^a n = 1261	Acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 155$ Acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal (300 mg), $n = 120$ Acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 34$	Warfarin ^a + aspirin ^a + clopidogrel, ^a n = 37	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0– 3.0) + aspirin,ª <i>n</i> = 8	Idraparinux or adjusted-dose VKA ^d (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 971
Study duration mean (SD, range); prospective/ retrospective, no. of patients	3.3 (2.6) years; retrospective; <i>n</i> = 118,606	4.92 years; prospective; n = 574	90 days; prospective; n = 276	19 (8.1, 1–31) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 402	311 days; prospective; n = 4576
Author, date; study source; location; no. of centres	Hansen e <i>t al.</i> , 2010; registry; Denmark; nationwide registries ⁶³	^b Bover <i>et al.</i> 2009 to <i>n</i> = 574; 4.2 years ⁵⁴	Lopes et al., 2009; cohort of RCT – APEX AMI; USA, Europe, Australia, NZ and Canada; 296 sites ^{so}	Abdelhafiz and Wheeldon, 2008; anticoagulation clinic referrals; UK; one hospital ⁵¹	Amadeus Investigators, 2008, cohort of RCT – AMADEUS; Australia, Canada, Denmark France, Italy, New Zealand, Poland, Netherlands, UK and the USA; 165 centres ⁷²

TABLE 6 Characteristics of studies reporting non-randomised comparisons

Author, date; study source; location; no. of centres	Study duration mean (SD, range); prospective/ retrospective; no. of patients	ACT (INR or dose) + APT (dose), no. of patients	ACT only (INR or dose), no. of patients	Inclusion criteria; stroke risk	Age (years): mean (SD, range), percentage males
Ezekowitz <i>et al.</i> , 2007; cohort of RCT – PETRO; Denmark, the Netherlands, Sweden, and the USA; 53 centres ⁷³	12 weeks, prospective; $n = 502$	Dabigatran (50 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (81 mg), $n = 21$ Dabigatran (50 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (325 mg), $n = 27$ Dabigatran (150 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (81 mg), $n = 36$ Dabigatran (150 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (325 mg), $n = 33$ Dabigatran (300 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (81 mg), $n = 34$ Dabigatran (300 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (325 mg), $n = 30$	Dabigatran (50 mg), $n = 105$ Dabigatran (150 mg), $n = 166$ Dabigatran (300 mg), $n = 161$	Documented AF + CAD ≥1 stroke risk criteria'	70 (8.3); 81.9
Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2007; database of cardiovascular clinic; Japan; one centre ^{s6}	1 year, retrospective; n = 667	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.6–2.6) + aspirin, ^a $n = 210$	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.6–2.6), <i>n</i> = 457	NVAF patients on warfarin Stroke risks NR	68.4 (10.6); 66.6
Burton <i>et al.</i> , 2006; patient records from GPs; Scotland; 27 practices ⁵⁷	42 months; retrospective; <i>n</i> = 601	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0– 3.0) + aspirin, ^a $n = 18$	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 309	Patients with persistent AF Stroke risks NR	77; 51.1
Stenestrand <i>et al.</i> , 2005; registry; Sweden; 72 hospitals ^{s8}	1–8 years; retrospective; n = 5616	$OAC^{a,g} + aspirin,^a n = 479$	OAC, ^{a,g} <i>n</i> = 1369	AF on the discharge ECG and AMI as final diagnosis; stroke risk high ^h	77.7; 62.43
SPORTIF V investigators, 2005; cohort of RCT – SPORTIF V; USA, Canada; 409 sites ⁶⁵	20 months (5.1, 0–31); prospective; <i>n</i> = 3992	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (<100 mg), unclear Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), unclear	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), <i>n</i> = 1960 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 1962	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF patients; high risk ^e	72 (9.1); 69
SPORTIF III Investigators, 2003; cohort of RCT – SPORTIF III cohort; Europe, Asia, Australasia; 259 hospitals ⁶⁴	17.4 (4.1) months; prospective; $n = 3407$	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (<100 mg), unclear Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0– 3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), unclear	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), n = 1704 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 1703	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF; high risk ^e	70 (9); 69.1
					continued

Author, date; study source; location; no. of centres	Study duration mean (SD, range); prospective/ retrospective; no. of patients	ACT (INR or dose) + APT (dose), no. of patients	ACT only (INR or dose), no. of patients	Inclusion criteria; stroke risk	Age (years): mean (SD, range), percentage males
Teitelbaum <i>et al.</i> , 2008; pooled SPORTIF III and V cohort on warfarin; Asia, EU, Australasia, Canada and the USA; 409 sites and 259 hospitals ⁶⁶	16.6 (6.3) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 7329	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (<100 mg), unclear Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), unclear	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), 3664 Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), 3665	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF; high risk ^e	
Akins <i>et al.</i> , 2007; pooled data RCTs – SPORTIF III and V; Asia, EU, Australasia, Canada and the USA; 409 sites and 259 hospitals ⁶⁷	16.6 (6.3) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 1539	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 157 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 186	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), n = 629 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 567	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF Patients with prior stroke	NR
White <i>et al.</i> , 2007; pooled SPORTIF III and V of cohort on Warfarin, Asia, EU, Australasia, Canada and the USA; 409 sites and 259 hospitals ⁶⁸	16.6 (6.3) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 3587	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 475	Adjusted-dose warfarin (2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 3112	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF high risk ^e	NR
Halperin, 2005; post hoc analysis RCT – SPORTIF III; Europe, Asia and Australasia; 259 hospitals ⁷¹	17.4 (4.1) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 3407	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (<100 mg), $n = 337$ Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0-3.0) + aspirin (≤ 100 mg), $n = 290$	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), n = 1367 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 1413	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF high risk ^e	70 (9); 69.1
Flaker <i>et al.</i> , 2006; pooled data RCT – SPORTIF III and V; Asia, EU, Australasia, Canada and the USA; 409 sites and 259 hospitals ⁶⁹	16.6 (6.3) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 7304 ⁱ	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin(≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 531 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 481	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), n = 3120 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 3172	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF high risk ^e	NR
Douketis <i>et al.</i> , 2006; pooled data RCT-SPORTIF III and V; Asia, EU, Australasia, Canada and the USA; 409 sites and 259 hospitals ⁷⁰	16.6 (6.3) months; prospective; <i>n</i> = 7329	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (<100 mg), unclear Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100 mg), unclear	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), n = 3664 Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 3665	Persistent or paroxysmal NVAF high risk ^e	NR

Author, date; study source; location; no. of centres	Study duration mean (SD, range); prospective/ retrospective; no. of patients	ACT (INR or dose) + APT (dose), no. of patients	ACT only (INR or dose), no. of patients	Inclusion criteria; stroke risk	Age (years): mean (SD, range), percentage males
Johnson <i>et al.,</i> 2005; hospital records; Australia; four hospitals ⁵⁹	28 months; retrospective; n = 228	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0– 3.0) + APT,ª,9 NR	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 228	Age ≥ 76 years, warfarin at admission and discharge diagnosis of AF Stroke risk NR	81.1 (76–94); 41.7
Blich <i>et al.</i> , 2004; primary physician clinics; Israel; 23 clinics ⁶¹	7.2 (5.2, 2–40) years; retrospective; <i>n</i> = 506	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg), NR	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), NR	Chronic or recurrent paroxysmal NVAF (> 48 hour duration) diagnosed ≥ 2 years Stroke risk NR	75.7 (8.08, 35– 100); 55.7
Shireman <i>et al.</i> , 2004, database of inpatients discharged from acute-care hospitals; USA; countrywide ⁶⁰	90 days or 180 days; retrospective; <i>n</i> = 10,093	Warfarin ^a + aspirin/clopidogrel/ ticlopidine/dual APT, ^a <i>n</i> = 1962	Warfarin,ª <i>n</i> = 8131	Age ≥ 65 years Warfarin on discharge; AF diagnosis on discharge Stroke risk NR	77.2; 49.6
Klein <i>et al.</i> , 2003; cohort of RCT – ACUTE; international sites; 70 ⁶²	8 weeks; prospective; n = 1222	Warfarin/heparin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin,ª n = 560	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 444 Heparin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 524 Warfarin + heparin adjusted dose (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 249	Age > 18 years, AF of > 2 days' duration, candidates for cardioversion, patients with atrial flutter who have a history of AF Stroke risk NR	65.1; 66.67
Hart et al., 2000; cohort of SPAF III; USA and Canada; 20 sites ⁵⁵	2 years; prospective; n = 2012	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg/day), n = 81	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 91	High risk of stroke ⁱ	69 (10); 72
Toda <i>et al.</i> ,1998; hospitalised patients; Japan; one hospital ⁵²	7.2 (5.1, 1–23) years; retrospective; <i>n</i> = 288	Warfarin ^a + APT, ^{a,9} $n = 30$	Warfarin alone, ^a $n = 10$	Chronic or paroxysmal NVAF; stroke risk NR	54.6 (13.3, 8–82); 59.0
					continued

1

ABLE 7 Quality assessm	nent of studies reporting n	on-randomisec	d comparisons				
Study, total no., mean follow-up (SD)	Method of outcome measurement	Blinding of assessors	Outcome definitions clearly explained?	Indications of APT in the study	Time of APT employment	Which parts of the study were prospective? ^a	Comments
Hansen <i>et al.</i> , 2010, <i>n</i> = 118,606, 3.3 (2.6) years ⁶³	Events identified from registry through ICD-10 coded diagnoses ^b	Yes	Yes	Physician's discretion	Unclear	All stages retrospective	Previous warfarin/aspirin/ clopidogrel treatment: 12.8%/16.7%/1.0%, respectively
Bover et al., 2009, n = 574, 4.2 years ⁵⁴	Hospital follow-up and INR measurement in laboratories	°N N	Yes	Physician's discretion or patient preference	During follow- up	All stages prospective	70% of patients recruited from NASPEAF cohort; patients on combined therapy reported at a higher risk of stroke ^c
Lopes <i>et al.</i> , 2009, <i>n</i> = 276, 90 days ⁵⁰	Telephone contact at 30 and 90 days	Unclear	Yes	NR	At discharge	All stages prospective	Analysis of patients enrolled in another trial ⁹¹ to compare outcomes in patients with new- onset AF vs those diagnosed with AF at discharge
Abdelhafiz and Wheeldon, 2008, $n = 402$, 19 months ⁵¹	Telephone interview every 4–6 weeks with medical notes review	Yes	Yes	Physician's discretion and presence of IHD	NR	All stages prospective	
Amadeus Investigators, 2008, <i>n</i> = 4576, 339 days ⁷²	Follow-up at week 1, 2, 6, 13 and every 3 months thereafter, or when event occurred	Yes	Yes	Physician's discretion	Unclear	All stages prospective	Trial stopped after randomisation because of excessive bleeding in patients on idraparinux; 76% of patients reported on VKA before entry into trial
Ezekowitz <i>et al.</i> , 2007 (RCT – PETRO), <i>n</i> = 502, 22 weeks ⁷³	Outpatient follow- up at 1, 2, 4, 8, and 12 weeks after randomisation (to dabigatran or warfarin)	Yes	Yes	NR	During the study	All stages prospective	After entry of approximately half of the patients, the requirement for CAD was removed to facilitate recruitment; all patients treated with VKA for ≥8 weeks prior to inclusion
							continued

S	ducted on Japanese AF tending a hospital for ular diseases		AC not specified in 18% on ACT before	baseline differences ceiving ACT + APT one; 73.4% received ation and 20.7% were rin prior to study entry	warfarin (<i>n</i> = 101/228) lengths of time before admission	patients receiving t diagnosis, 6.5% were iad no stroke risk factors	
Comment	Study conc patients at cardiovascu		Name of C the study, admission	Significant in those re and ACT al anticoagul. taking aspi	44.3% on for varying their index	26.9% of _f warfarin at young or h	
Which parts of the study were prospective? ^a	All stages retrospective	All stages retrospective	All stages retrospective	All stages prospective	All prospective	All stages retrospective	All stages retrospective
Time of APT employment	Unclear	Any time during follow- up	At discharge	Unclear	R	At diagnosis, during follow- up, or before TE event	After discharge
Indications of APT in the study	Other cardiovascular diseases	Physician's discretion	Physician's discretion	Age ≥65 years with CAD with or without diabetes mellitus	R	Physician's discretion	Presence of CHD
Outcome definitions clearly explained?	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	°Z	Yes
Blinding of assessors	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Method of outcome measurement	Database review	Record review and patient contact through letters	Review of hospital records	Stroke assessment every 6 months and after an event	Patient contacted on telephone and questionnaires when event occurred ^d	Review of patient records and interview with patient's GP	Review of Medicare
Study, total no., mean follow-up (SD)	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2007, <i>n</i> = 667, 1 year ⁵⁶	Burton <i>et al.</i> , 2006, <i>n</i> = 601, 42 month5 ⁵⁷	Stenestrand <i>et al.</i> , 2005, <i>n</i> = 5616, 1–8 years ^{sa}	Flaker <i>et al.,</i> 2006; <i>n = 7</i> 304, 16.6 months ⁶⁹	Johnson <i>et al.</i> , 2005, <i>n</i> = 228, 28 months ⁵⁹	Blich <i>et al.</i> , 2004, <i>n</i> = 506, 7.2 years ⁶¹	Shireman <i>et al.</i> , 2004, n = 10.093 180 dave ⁶⁰

TABLE 7 Quality assessment of studies reporting non-randomised comparisons (continued)

Study, total no., mean follow-up (SD)	Method of outcome measurement	Blinding of assessors	Outcome definitions clearly explained?	Indications of APT in the study	Time of APT employment	Which parts of the study were prospective? ^a	Comments
Klein <i>et al.</i> , 2003, RCT – ACUTE cohort, <i>n</i> = 1222, 8 weeks ⁵²	Weekly INR testing and TEE at 4 weeks	Unclear	Yes	R	At enrolment	All stages prospective	No. of patients on ACT or ACT + APT not reported No indication if patients took aspirin throughout the study period
Hart <i>et al.</i> , 2000, <i>n</i> = 2012, 2 years ⁵⁵	Clinic follow-up every 3–6 months	unclear	Yes	Randomised ^e	During follow- up	All stages prospective	Incomplete information on only a few patients on combined therapy and ACT alone reported from authors of the randomised study ⁴³
Toda <i>et al.</i> , 1998; n = 288, 7.2 years ^{s2}	Review of patient records, or patient questionnaires, supplemented with GP contact Cranial CT scan and/or angiography used to assess outcomes	Yes	Yes	Physician's discretion	At baseline and before event	Outcome assessment	Study conducted on hospitalised Japanese patients with AF aged 8–82 years
Albers <i>et al.</i> ,1996; <i>n</i> = 309 ⁵³	Chart reviews performed by HCPs in consultation with physician	Yes	° Z	Physician's discretion	Admission and discharge	Outcome assessment – prospective	18% had no risk factors for stroke and 44% had contraindications for ACT on admission 23.6% took warfarin before admission 77% white population
ACUTE, Assessment of Ca and nurses); ICD-9-CM, It disease; NR, not reported a Stages: identification c b Bleeding and stroke ev c Patients on acenocoun factors for stroke comp d Information supplied b e Non-randomised follov	ardioversion Uising Transest iternational Classification () OAC, oral anticoagulant; of participants, assessment ents identified through ICC narol plus aspirin had more bared with those on aceno by patients was corroborate w-up of patients from the r	ophageal Echocc Of Diseases, Nint SD, standard de of baseline and D-10 codes in th e risk factors for coumarol alone. ed by hospital m randomised SPA	ardiography; CT, compute hedition, Clinical Mod wiation; TEE, transoeso allocation to treatmen e registry, deaths regist embolism compared w edical records, GPs, spe	uterised tomography; G lification; ICD-10, Interr phageal echocardiogra t, outcome assessment. ter used for mortality ou ith all other groups, pa dith all other groups, pa ecialists, and pathology	, general practitic ational Classificat ohy. tcome. tients on acenoco services (and relat	oner; HCP, health-care ion Of Diseases, Tentl umarol plus triflusal (tives).	e professionals (pharmacists h Edition; IHD, ischaemic heart (300 mg or 600 mg) had more risk

Outcomes

Not all of the studies measured or reported information for the primary and secondary outcomes of the review.

Table 8 details the outcomes reported in each study. Not surprisingly, bleeding, stroke and/or mortalityrelated outcomes were the most frequently reported. The time in therapeutic INR range was infrequently measured. To some extent this might be due to the nature of the anticoagulant agents used in some studies and thus the absence of a need for this outcome. Patient quality of life, in-stent thrombosis and revascularisation procedures were not reported in any of the studies.

Methodological issues

Twenty-three studies in 35 articles³⁹⁻⁷³ reported the outcomes of interest for combined anticoagulant plus APT compared with ACT alone in patients with AF. Of these, 5 studies in 11 articles³⁹⁻⁴⁹ reported randomised comparisons, whereas 18 studies in 24 articles⁵⁰⁻⁷³ reported non-randomised comparisons. The characteristics of these studies have been reported previously in *Tables 4* and 6.

Not all of the included studies provided non-randomised data that added information to the robust randomised data. Data were extracted from these studies, but not reported in this review. Reasons for non-inclusion of study data from such studies have been reported in *Appendix 7*. A few studies did not report the number of events^{50,56,62,68,70,72} or did not clearly report the number of participants in each therapy group,^{57,58,61,64,65} whereas a few other publications reported duplicate data from included primary studies.^{44–47,49,71} A few studies reported non-randomised data that did not add any new information to the data available from other studies, either because of a very small sample size⁵¹ or because they did not specify the name of the APT in the combination anticoagulation plus antiplatelet arm.^{52,59} Other studies that furnished complete and tangible data were included.

An example of such studies are the Stroke Prevention using an ORal Thrombin Inhibitor in atrial Fibrillation (SPORTIF) studies.^{64–71} The original articles of SPORTIF III⁶⁴ and SPORTIF V⁶⁵ did not specify the number of events and number of participants in the interventions of interest (anticoagulant plus antiplatelet and anticoagulant alone). Six articles^{66–71} reported pooled post hoc analyses of these two studies.^{64,65} Of these, two pooled analyses, by White *et al.*,⁶⁸ and Douketis *et al.*,⁷⁰ did not report data on the number of events or the number of participants for either intervention group; however, this information was reported in pooled analyses by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ and Akins *et al.*⁶⁷ Two other publications^{66,71} reported data for stroke, or stroke and bleeding outcomes, which were also reported in pooled analyses.^{67,69} Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ reported data on bleeding, mortality, stroke, and combined stroke and SE events, with detailed information on the number of events and participants in the SPORTIF cohorts. Therefore, this pooled analysis was reported in the review. Akins *et al.*⁶⁷ furnished data for bleeding, stroke and SE events specifically for patients with previous embolic events in the SPORTIF trials. Therefore, this study consisting of a population who were at a high risk of stroke was reported in the review.

Primary outcomes of the review

Outcome 1: stroke

Thirteen articles yielded outcome data for stroke.^{42–45,47–50,54,55,63,66,69} Of these, three studies in seven articles^{42–45,47–49} reported randomised comparisons. The findings of these are reported in *Table 9*. The remaining five articles^{50,54,55,63,66,69} reported non-randomised comparisons, of which four were primary studies, ^{50,54,55,63} and two were secondary analyses^{66,69} of the SPORTIF III and SPORTIF V studies. *Table 10* presents the findings of these studies.

	Outcome	S											
	Primary	outcom	e measi	ures				Secondary	outcome n	neasures			
Author, year (name of study)	Stroke- any ^a	TIA	ĸ	Stroke + SEª	AMI	In-stent thrombosis	Death – vascular	Death – all cause	Bleeding	Quality of life	Adverse events ^b	Revascularisation procedures (e.g. PCI)	Percentage time in INR range
Randomised comparisc	ons ^c												
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2004 (RCT – NASPEAF) ³⁹	>	>	>	>	>		>		>				>
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2007 (RCT – NASPEAF) ⁴⁴	>		>				>		>				
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2006 (RCT – NASPEAF) ⁴⁵	>	>	>				>		>				
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2006 (RCT – NASPEAF)₄6									>				
Lidell <i>et al.</i> , 2003,40									>				>
Lechat <i>et al.</i> , 2001 (RCT – FFAACS) ⁴¹			>				>	>					
Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998, (RCT – AFASAK II) ⁴²	>	>	>	>	>		>	>	>				>
Gullov et al., 1999, (RCT – AFASAK II review) ⁴⁷	>	>	>	>	>		>	>	>				>
SPAF investigators, 1996, (RCT – SPAF III) ⁴³	>	>	>	>	>		>	>	>				>
Hart et al., 2000 (SPAF I, II, III pooled) ⁴⁸	>												
Blackshear et al., 1999 (RCT – SPAF-III) ⁴⁹													
													continued

DOI: 10.3310/hta17300

	Outcome	10											
	Primary o	utcome	e measu	res				Secondary	outcome m	easures			
Author, year (name of study)	Stroke- any ^a	TIA	SE	Stroke + SEª	AMI	In-stent thrombosis	Death – vascular	Death – all cause	Bleeding	Quality of life	Adverse events ^b	Revascularisation procedures (e.g. PCI)	Percentage time in INR range
Non-randomised comp	arisons												
^d Hansen <i>et al.</i> , 2010 ⁶³	>								>				
^{d,e} Bover <i>et al.</i> , 2009 ⁵⁴	>		>	>	>			>	>				>
Lopes <i>et al.</i> , 2009 ⁵⁰	>												
Abdelhafiz and Wheeldon, 2008 ⁵¹									>				
Amadeus Investigators, 2008 ⁷²									>				
dEzekowitz <i>et al.</i> , 2007 (RCT – PETRO) ⁷³			>						>				
Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2007 ⁵⁶									>				
Burton <i>et al.</i> , 2006 ⁵⁷									>				
Stenestrand <i>et al.</i> , 2005 ⁵⁸								>					
SPORTIF V investigators, 2005 ⁶⁵									>				
SPORTIF III Investigators, 2003 ⁶⁴									>				
Te <i>itelbaum</i> et al., 2008 ⁶⁶	>								>				
^d <i>Akins</i> et al., <i>2007</i> ⁶				>					>				

TABLE 8 Outcomes reported in the included studies (continued)

	Outcome	Ş											
	Primary e	outcom	e measu	ures				Secondary	outcome n	neasures			
Author, year (name of study)	Stroke- any ^a	TIA	R	Stroke + SE ^a	AMI	In-stent thrombosis	Death – vascular	Death – all cause	Bleeding	Quality of life	Adverse events ^b	Revascularisation procedures (e.g. PCI)	Percentage time in INR range
White HD et al., 200768				>	>			>	>				
Halperin, 2005 ⁷¹				>									
^d <i>Flaker</i> et al., 2006 ⁶⁹	>			>				>	>				
Douketis et al., 200670									>				
Johnson <i>et al.</i> , 2005 ⁵⁹									>				
Blich <i>et al.</i> , 2004 ⁶¹			>						>				
Shireman <i>et al.</i> , 2004 ⁶⁰									>				
Klein <i>et al</i> ., 2003 ⁶²									>				
^f Hart <i>et al.</i> , 2000 ⁵⁵	>												
Toda <i>et al.</i> , 1998 ⁵²			>										
Albers et <i>al.</i> , 1996 ⁵³									>				
a Non-fatal, fatal, ischae b Composite of all-cause c Original publication reg d Data from only these si e Longitudinal follow-up f Longitudinal follow-up f Note Italic text denotes subgrou	mic, haemc mortality, r oorting the udies repor of NASPEA of SPAF trià up analyses	orrhagic, non-fatal RCT used ted in th F trial, ³⁹ als. ⁴³ of prece	disabling MI and d for rep ne outcol with add ding orig	g or minor. stroke. orting data in mes section. ditional newly ginal papers.	n subseq v enrolle	d patients.	ections.						

The study by Hansen *et al.*⁶³ reported stroke outcomes for a large number of patients with AF (118,606) over a long follow-up (3.3 years); however, neither the number of stroke events nor the details of the antiplatelet and ACT were reported. Therefore, this study is not reported in this section. Of the studies that reported non-randomised comparisons, Lopes *et al.*,⁵⁰ Teitelbaum *et al.*⁶⁶ and Hart *et al.*⁵⁵ are not mentioned further in this section. The reasons for these have been reported in *Appendix 7*. The characteristics of these studies have been reported previously (see *Table 6*).

Stroke events were reported either on their own (stroke alone) or in conjunction with other events such as embolism or bleeding in the included studies. In those studies that reported stroke alone, strokes were frequently classified as non-fatal, fatal, haemorrhagic, ischaemic or disabling. A precise definition of these groupings or subclassifications of stroke was not always supplied in the study reports and/or the definitions may have varied between studies for the same subclassification.

The findings of the included studies for each of these composite and/or subclassifications of stroke are detailed below.

Stroke: all

One randomised comparison⁴² and two non-randomised comparisons^{54,69} compared a VKA plus aspirin, to a VKA alone. The pooled analysis of the SPORTIF III and V trials⁶⁹ and the longitudinal follow-up study by Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴ add data to the randomised comparisons on the risk of stroke for patients receiving VKA plus aspirin compared with VKA alone.

The AFASAK II study⁴² and the pooled analysis of SPORTIF trials by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ defined stroke as an acute onset of focal neurological deficit lasting \geq 24 hours. Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ did not report a precise a definition of stroke in their study.

The AFASAK II⁴² study compared combined fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg daily), with either adjusted-dose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone or with fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone. The findings of this study⁴² have been reported in *Table 9*. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. There were no significant differences in the rate of stroke between patients receiving the combination of fixed-dose warfarin and aspirin, and either those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone [11/171 (6.4%) vs 13/167 (7.8%), respectively] with a RR of 0.83 (95% CI 0.38 to 1.79), or those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone [11/171 (6.4%) vs 10/170 (5.9%), respectively], RR 1.09 (95% CI 0.48 to 2.51), over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years.⁴²

The pooled analysis of the SPORTIF studies by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months. The rate of stroke was similar in patients in the combined therapy group compared with those on adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0 alone) [11/481 (2.3%) vs 67/3172 (2.1%)], respectively. The rate of stroke was much higher in the AFASAK II study⁴² for patients receiving combination fixed-dose warfarin plus aspirin than for those with adjusted-dose warfarin plus aspirin in the SPORTIF studies;⁶⁹ 11 out of 171 (6.4%) compared with 11 out of 481 (2.3%), respectively. The stroke rate was also much higher in patients receiving either adjusted-dose, 10 out of 170 (5.9%) or fixed-dose, 13 out of 167 (7.8%) warfarin alone in the AFASAK II⁴² study than for those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone in the SPORTIF studies,⁶⁹ 67 out of 3172 (2.1%).

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR target 1.9–2.5) plus aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years. The combination of acenocoumarol with aspirin demonstrated fewer stroke events [1/34 (2.9%)] than with acenocoumarol alone [15/265 (5.7%)].

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ also compared combination adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus two different regimes of triflusal (600 and 300 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. Fewer strokes were observed with the combination of acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg than for

Author, year, study name	Stroke risk, follow-up (mean)	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
^a Pérez-Gómez <i>et al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NASPEAF	High risk, ^b 2.95 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (1.4-2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 223	Non-fatal: 6/223 (2.7)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	Non-fatal: 6/247 (2.4)	1.11 (0.36 to 3.38)
ň	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 years ^d	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 222	Non-fatal: 3/222 (1.4)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 232	Non-fatal: 3/232 (1.3)	1.05 (0.21 to 5.12)
•Gullov <i>et al.</i> ,	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin	All: 11/171 (6.4)	Adjusted-dose	All: 10/170 (5.9)	1.09 (0.48 to 2.51)
1998 kli – Afasak 1142		, (200 mg) + aspirin (300 mg), n = 171	Non-infarct: 3/171 (1.8)	wartarin (INK 2.0– 3.0), <i>n</i> = 170	Non-infarct: 3/170 (1.8)	0.99 (0.20 to 4.86)
			Disabling: 4/171 (2.3)		Minor: 0/170 (0)	8.95 (0.49 to 164.92)
			Fatal: 0/171 (0)		Disabling: 3/170 (1.8)	1.33 (0.30 to 5.83)
			паетног падіс. 0/1/1 (0) Ischaemic: 8/171 (4.7)		Fatal: 0/170 (0)	Not estimable
			Non disabling: 3/171 (1.8)		Haemorrhagic: 1/170 (0.6)	0.33 (0.01 to 8.08)
					lschaemic: 3/170 (1.8)	2.65 (0.72 to 9.82)
					Non-disabling: 4/170 (2.4)	0.75 (0.17 to 3.28)
				Fixed-dose warfarin	All: 13/167 (7.8)	0.83 (0.38 to 1.79)
				/01 = <i>u</i> ,(gmc2.1)	Non infarct: 6/167 (3.6)	0.49 (0.12 to 1.92)
					Minor: 3/167 (1.8)	1.30 (0.30 to 5.73)
					Disabling: 2/167 (1.2)	1.95 (0.36 to 10.52)
					Fatal: 2/167 (1.2)	0.20 (0.01 to 4.04)
					Haemorrhagic: 0/167 (0)	Not estimable
					lschaemic: 5/167 (2.9)	1.56 (0.52 to 4.68)
					Non-disabling: 4/167 (2.4)	0.73 (0.17 to 3.22)

TABLE 9 Stroke outcomes reported in studies with randomised comparisons

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

continued

5
ĕ
n n
ц.
g
ت م
Ë
<u>i</u>
a
Ĕ
<u></u>
ō
se
Ē
ဓ
č
2
÷
≥
es
ē
з
σ
æ
õ
ě
ŝ
Ĕ
<u></u>
Ŧ
0
Å
Ę
ò
ດ
믭
B
F.

RR (95% CI)	2.83 (1.44 to 5.57) 3.92 (2.05 to 7.52) 5.02 (0.59 to 42.81)
No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	Disabling: ^d 10/523 (1.9) Ischaemic: 11/523 (2.1) Ischaemic – fatal: 1/523 (0.2)
ACT (alone or ACT + placebo) <i>, n</i>	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0– 3.0), <i>n</i> = 523
No. of events/participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	Disabling: ^d 31/521 (5.9) Ischaemic: 43/521 (8.3) Ischaemic – fatal: 5/521 (0.9)
ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), n = 521
Stroke risk, follow-up (mean)	High risk,º 1.1 years
Author, year, study name	fSPAF investigators to 1996 RCT – SPAF ⁴³

I

NR, not reported; NVAF, non-valvular atrial fibrillation.

a Supported by n = 2 subgroup analyses^{44,45} that reported duplicate data and are not reported in this table.

b Either NVAF with prior embolism or those with mitral stenosis, with and without prior embolism.

c NVAF with no embolism at baseline.

d Includes all fatal strokes, ischaemic strokes and haemorrhagic strokes.

e Supported by an analysis⁴⁷ that reported duplicate data; not reported in this table.

f Supported by one subgroup analysis⁴⁸ that did not report additional data; not reported in this table.

Presence of at least one: impaired left ventricular function manifested by recent (≤100 days) congestive heart disease or fractional shortening ≤25% by M-mode echocardiography; systolic blood pressure of > 160 mmHg at study entry; prior ischaemic stroke, TIA or SE (i.e. prior TE); female sex; and aged > 75 years. σ

TABLE 10 Stroke	e outcome: studies ru	eporting non-randomised compa	irisons		
Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT group (%)	ACT (alone), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT group (%)
^a Bover et al.,	Risk NR,	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol	All: ^b 5/155 (3.2)	Adjusted-dose	All: ^b 15/265 (5.7)
200954	4.92 years	(1.9–2.5) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 155	Haemorrhagic:1/155 (0.6)	acenocoumarol (2.0– 3.0), <i>n</i> = 265	Haemorrhagic: 5/265 (1.9)
			Lethal: 2/155 (1.3)		Lethal: 4/200
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol	All: ^b 8/120 (6.7)		
		(1.9–2.5) + triflusal (300 mg), n = 121	Haemorrhagic: 0/120 (0)		
			Lethal: 3/120 (2.5)		
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol	All: ^b 1/34 (2.9)		
		(1.9–2.5) + aspirin (100 mg), n = 34	Haemorrhagic: 1/34 (2.9)		
			Lethal: 1/34 (2.9)		
⁺Flaker <i>et al.,</i> 2006 ⁶⁹	High risk, ^d 16.5 months	Adjusted-dose warfarin (2.0–3.0) + aspirin (≤100mg), n = 481	All: 11/481 (2.3)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (2.0–3.0), n = 3172	All: 67/3172 (2.1)
		Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin (≤100 mg), n = 531	All: 11/531 (2.1)	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.), <i>n</i> = 3120	All: 50/3120 (1.6)
 b.i.d., dose adm a Longitudinal b Includes ische c Pooled analys d Previous strok 	inistered twice daily; follow-up of random temic, fatal and haem is of SPORTIF III and 5 e/TIA/SE, hypertensio	NR, not reported. ised cohort of NASPEAF study ³⁹ wit norrhagic stroke. SPORTIF V trials with duplicate date on, left ventricular dysfunction (ejec	th additional participants. a on stroke reported in another po ction fraction <40% or symptomat	oled analysis ⁶⁶ not reportedic systolic or diastolic HF), i	d in this table. age ≥75 years or age ≥65 years with known coronary

acenocoumarol alone, 5 out of 155 (3.2%) compared with 15 out of 265 (5.7%), respectively. However, stroke rates were higher in those receiving acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg than in those receiving with acenocoumarol alone, 8 out of 120 (6.7%) and with 15 out of 265 (5.7%), respectively. However, there were population complexities in this non-randomised study (see *Between-study differences*, above).

The pooled analysis of the SPORTIF trials by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ also compared ximelagatran (36 mg twice daily) plus additional aspirin (100 mg) with ximelagatran (36 mg) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months. A higher rate of stroke was observed in patients on combined therapy group than in those on ximelagatran alone [11/531 (2.1%) vs 50/3120 (1.6%), respectively]. However, it is to be noted that aspirin use was based on clinical need and, thus, the comparison may be confounded by indication.^{65,68}

Summary

Overall, there were few stroke events reported and there is conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of anticoagulation plus APT over anticoagulation alone in the reduction of all stroke events, with two studies^{42,69} (one randomised⁴² and one non-randomised⁶⁹) reporting no differences, whereas another non-randomised study⁵⁴ reports equivocal data, demonstrating fewer strokes with two combination regimes of ACT plus APT over ACT alone [with acenocoumarol plus aspirin (although only 34 patients received this combination) and acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg] but more strokes with acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg.⁵⁴

Fatal stroke

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for the outcome of fatal stroke comparing different regimes of combined warfarin plus aspirin, with warfarin alone, whereas Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴ reported non-randomised data comparing acenocoumarol plus aspirin with acenocoumarol alone. The findings of these studies are reported in *Tables 9* and *10*, respectively.

In both studies reporting randomised comparisons (AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³), stroke was defined as a focal neurological deficit of presumed vascular genesis lasting more than 24 hours, where stroke assessment was undertaken using neuroimaging. However, Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ did not report a precise definition of stroke in their study.

The AFASAK II study⁴² compared fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg daily), with either adjusted-dose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone or with fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone (see *Table 9*). The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. No fatal strokes were reported among patients receiving either combined warfarin and aspirin or those receiving warfarin alone. However, two fatal strokes were reported in patients receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone [2/167 (1.2%) vs 0/171 (0%), respectively, RR 0.20 (95% CI 0.01 to 4.04)] over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years.⁴²

The SPAF III study⁴³ compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg) with adjusteddose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. A non-significant but higher incidence of fatal stroke was observed in the combined therapy arm than in those treated with warfarin alone [5/521 (0.9%) vs 1/523 (0.2%), respectively, RR 5.02 (95% CI 0.59 to 42.81)] over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.⁴³

Only eight fatal strokes occurred in these two RCTs. Among those receiving combined therapy, the rate of fatal stroke was 0.9% (5/521) in the SPAF III⁴³ study compared with 0% (0/171) in the AFASAK II study.⁴² The rate of fatal stroke was similar but numerically higher among those receiving adjusted-dose

warfarin alone in the SPAF III study,⁴³ 1/523 (0.2%), than 0/170 (0%) in the AFASAK II study,⁴² and higher among those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone in the AFASAK II⁴² study [2/167 (1.2%) vs 1/523 (0.2%), respectively].

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported a non-randomised comparison for the incidence of fatal stroke comparing adjusteddose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus an antiplatelet in three different regimes (triflusal 600 mg, triflusal 300 mg and aspirin 100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. The combination of acenocoumarol plus aspirin and acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg demonstrated a higher proportion of fatal strokes than acenocoumarol alone [1/34 (2.9%), 3/120 (2.5%) vs 4/265 (1.5%), respectively] during a mean follow-up of 4.92 years. Rates of fatal stroke were similar among those receiving combination acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg and acenocoumarol alone [2/155 (1.3%) vs 4/265 (1.5%), respectively].

Summary

Very few fatal stroke events were reported. Two randomised studies^{42,43} found no significant reduction in the risk of fatal stroke with ACT plus APT over ACT alone. One non-randomised study⁵⁴ also reported no benefit of combination therapy over anticoagulation alone in lowering the risk of fatal stroke.

Non-fatal stroke

One study (NASPEAF³⁹) reported a randomised comparison for non-fatal stroke comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in high-risk patients, and a combination of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus additional triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in intermediate-risk patients. *Table 9* presents the findings of this study. Stroke was defined as a focal neurological deficit lasting more than 24 hours, where neuroimaging was used to define the ischaemic or intracranial aetiology.³⁹

Similar rates of non-fatal stroke occurred with combination therapy and anticoagulation alone in the highrisk patients [6/223 (2.7%) vs 6/247 (2.4%), respectively], RR 1.11 (0.36–3.38), during a median follow-up of 2.95 years. Analogous rates were observed in the intermediate-risk group in both the combination therapy and anticoagulation alone group [3/222 (1.4%) vs 3/232 (1.3%), respectively], RR 1.05 (95% CI 0.21 to 5.12), after a median follow-up of 2.6 years.

There was no non-randomised evidence identified for non-fatal stroke.

Summary

Combination therapy did not decrease the risk of non-fatal stroke compared with anticoagulation alone in one randomised study.³⁹

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Haemorrhagic stroke

The AFASAK II study⁴² reported randomised data, and Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported a non-randomised comparison for the outcome of haemorrhagic stroke.

The AFASAK II study⁴² compared fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg) with fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) or adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. No haemorrhagic strokes were reported in either those patients on combination therapy or in those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone, over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years. One haemorrhagic stroke occurred in a patient receiving adjusted-dose warfarin [1/170 (0.6%); RR 0.33 (95% CI 0.01 to 8.08)⁴² compared with combination therapy] (see *Table 9*).

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus an antiplatelet in three different regimes (triflusal 600 mg, triflusal 300 mg, aspirin 100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years.

Fewer haemorrhagic strokes were observed in patients in all three combination therapy arms (triflusal 600 mg, triflusal 300 mg, aspirin 100 mg) than in those patients receiving acenocoumarol alone, 1/155 (0.6%), 0/120 (0%), 1/34 (2.9%) versus 5/265 (1.9%), respectively.⁵⁴

Summary

Only a few haemorrhagic strokes were reported and the available evidence suggests that there is not an increased risk of haemorrhagic stroke with combination ACT plus APT over ACT alone in one randomised study⁴² and one non-randomised study.⁵⁴

Ischaemic stroke

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for the outcome of ischaemic stroke. The findings of these studies have been reported in *Table 9*. There was no non-randomised evidence available for the outcome of ischaemic stroke.

The AFASAK II study,⁴² comparing fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg) with adjusted-dose (INR 2.0–3.0) or fixed-dose (1.25 mg) warfarin alone, reported a non-significant but higher incidence of ischaemic stroke in the combined therapy arm [8/171 (4.7%) compared with either adjusted dose 3/170 (1.8%), RR 2.65 (95% CI 0.72 to 9.82)] or fixed-dose [5/167 (2.9%); RR 1.56 (95% CI 0.52 to 4.68)] warfarin alone. The SPAF III study⁴³ reported significantly higher rates of ischaemic stroke in the combined therapy arm [adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin 325 mg) than in those with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [43/521 (8.3%) vs 11/523 (2.1%), respectively, RR 3.92 (95% CI 2.05 to 7.52)] in high-risk patients with AF over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.

The rate of ischaemic stroke varied between these two RCTs.^{42,43} In patients receiving combination therapy, the risk of ischaemic stroke was much higher in the SPAF III⁴³ study than in the AFASAK II⁴² study [43/521 (8.3%) vs 8/171 (4.7%), respectively]. Among those receiving dose-adjusted warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), the rate of ischaemic stroke was similar in both SPAF III⁴³ and AFASAK II studies⁴² [11/523 (2.1%) vs 3/170 (1.8%), respectively]. The rate of ischaemic stroke was higher in those receiving fixed-dose warfarin in the AFASAK II⁴² study than in those receiving dose-adjusted warfarin in either AFASAK II⁴² or SPAF III⁴³ study [5/167 (2.9%) vs 3/170 (1.8%), 11/523 (2.1%), respectively]. The differences in the rates may reflect the heterogeneity between the included studies (see *Between-study differences*).

Summary

There is conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone in the reduction of ischaemic stroke, with one randomised study⁴² demonstrating no significant difference, whereas another randomised study⁴³ suggests a significantly increased risk of ischaemic stroke with combination therapy.

Disabling stroke

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for the outcome of disabling stroke. The findings of these studies are reported in *Table 9*. There was no non-randomised evidence available for this outcome.

The SPAF III study⁴³ defined disabling stroke as stroke that was graded ≥ 2 on the modified Rankin scoring system, whereas the AFASAK II study⁴² did not specify a definition for disabling stroke.

The AFASAK II study⁴² reported a non-significant but higher incidence of disabling stroke in the combined therapy arm [fixed-dose (1.25 mg) warfarin plus aspirin 300 mg] than in either adjusted-dose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone [4/171 (2.3%) vs 3/170 (1.8%), respectively, RR 1.33 (95% CI 0.30 to 5.83)] or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) alone [4/171 (2.3%) vs 2/167 (1.2%), respectively] (see *Table 9*) over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study⁴² was not specified.

The SPAF III study⁴³ reported significantly higher rates of disabling stroke in the combined therapy arm [adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin 325 mg] than in the adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone group [31/521 (5.9%) vs 10/523 (1.9%) respectively, RR 2.83 (95% CI 1.44 to 5.57)] in high-risk patients with AF over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.⁴³

The rate of disabling strokes was much higher in patients receiving combination therapy in the SPAF III⁴³ study than in the AFASAK II⁴² study [31/521 (5.9%) vs 4/171 (2.3%), respectively]. Similar rates of disabling stroke were evident in patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone in both SPAF III⁴³ and AFASAK II⁴² studies [10/523 (1.9%) vs 3/170 (1.8%), respectively], and those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone in the AFASAK II⁴² study [2/167 (1.2%)]. Such differences reflect significant heterogeneity between the included studies (see *Between-study differences*, above).

Summary

There is conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone in the reduction of disabling stroke, with one randomised study⁴² demonstrating no significant difference, whereas another randomised study⁴³ suggests a significantly increased risk of disabling stroke with combination therapy.

Other stroke definitions

The AFASAK II study⁴² also reported the incidence of minor, non-disabling and non-infarct strokes. The findings of this study are reported in *Table 9*. The definitions of these subclassifications have not been reported in the study.⁴² Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg) demonstrated a non-significant but higher risk of minor stroke than with either adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [4/171 (2.3%) vs 0/170 (0%), respectively, RR 8.95 (95% CI 0.49 to 164.92)] or fixed-dose warfarin alone [4/171 (2.3%) vs 3/167 (1.8%), respectively, RR 1.30 (95% CI 0.30 to 5.73)].⁴²

This study also demonstrated similar rates of non-disabling stroke among those receiving combination therapy [3/171 (1.8%)], adjusted-dose warfarin alone [4/170 (2.4%)] and fixed-dose warfarin alone [4/167 (2.4%)].⁴² The rate of non-infarct stroke was the same among those receiving combination therapy and adjusted-dose warfarin alone [3/171 (1.8%) vs 3/170 (1.8%), respectively] but was twice as high in those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone [6/167 (3.6%)]⁴² (see *Table 6*).

There was no non-randomised evidence available for these three subclassifications of stroke.

The differences in stroke outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed above (see *Between-study differences*). In addition, although four studies^{39,42,43,69} used the same definition of stroke, one non-randomised study⁵⁴ did not provide a specific definition of stroke, and the stroke subtypes reported varied and were not always clearly defined by each study, which may account for variation in the reported event rates. The likelihood of stroke is increased when INR is <2.0 and, therefore, it is possible that studies using INR targets of <2.0 in the combination therapy arm may have experienced higher rates of stroke than those using standard INR targets (2.0–3.0), particularly in high-risk populations. Furthermore, only three studies (two randomised^{39,43} and one non-randomised⁵⁴) reported TTR for ACT plus APT and ACT alone. TTR is associated with the incidence of stroke events; when TTR is good (\geq 58%), the likelihood of adverse events (ischaemic and haemorrhagic strokes) is reduced.⁹² Therefore, differences in the TTR may help to explain differences in the event rates reported.

Outcome 2: transient ischaemic attack

Three studies, reported in five articles^{39,42,43,45,47} yielded outcome data for TIA (*Table 11*). Of these, all three reported randomised comparisons, ^{39,42,43} supported by two subgroup analyses.^{45,47} No non-randomised comparisons reported TIA separately as an outcome.

Transient ischaemic attack was similarly defined in the NASPEAF³⁹ and AFASAK II⁴² studies as an acute onset of focal neurological deficit of presumed vascular genesis lasting <24 hours, regardless of computerised tomography (CT)/magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings (AFASAK II) or confirmed by neurological imaging (NASPEAF). The SPAF III⁴³ study did not define TIA.

Both the AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies compared warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone, but the warfarin and aspirin regimes differed between the studies.

The AFASAK II⁴² study compared fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily). The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. The rate of TIA among patients receiving the combination of warfarin plus aspirin was twice that of patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [2/171 (1.2%) vs 1/170 (0.6%), respectively, RR 1.99 (95% CI 0.18 to 21.72)] and half that of patients receiving fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone [2/171 (1.2%) vs 4/167 (2.4%), respectively, RR 0.49 (95% CI 0.09 to 2.63)] over a mean 3.5-year follow-up period.

The SPAF III⁴³ study compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. A non-significant but numerically higher number of TIAs were observed in the combined therapy arm than in those receiving adjusted-dose

	No. of events/total No. of events/total participants in ACT (alone or participants in ACT APT arm (%) ACT + placebo), <i>n</i> arm (%) RR (95% CI)	iarol TIA: 2/223 (0.9) Adjusted-dose TIA: 3/247 (1.2) 0.74 (0.12 to 4.38) acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	larol TIA: 0/222 (0) Acenocoumarol (2.0–3.0), TIA: 0/232 (0) Not estimable $n = 232$	TIA: 2/171 (1.2) Adjusted-dose warfarin TIA: 1/170 (0.6) 1.99 (0.18 to 21.72) (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 170	Fixed-dose warfarin TIA: 4/167 (2.4) 0.49 (0.09 to 2.63) (1.25 mg), $n = 167$	JR TIA: 23/521 (4.4) Adjusted-dose warfarin TIA: 15/523 (2.9) 1.54 (0.81 to 2.92)), (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	are not presented in this table. ∙without prior embolism. not presented in this table. ction manifested by recent (≤ 100 days) congestive HF, or fractional shortening ≤25% by M-mode
	tal ACT (alone or %) ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	Acenocoumarol (2.0- $n = 232$	Adjusted-dose warfar (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 17$	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) , $n = 167$	Adjusted-dose warfar (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 52	ble. (≤100 days) congestive HF, or f
	No. of events/to participants in ACT + APT arm ("	TIA: 2/223 (0.9)	TIA: 0/222 (0)	TIA: 2/171 (1.2)		TIA: 23/521 (4.4)	not presented in this ta hout prior embolism. presented in this table.
ing TIA as an outcome	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 223$	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 222$	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25mg) + aspirin (300mg),	n = 171	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), n = 521	orovided duplicate data and are e with mitral stenosis with or wit ided duplicate data and are not impaired left ventricular functior
d comparisons report	Follow-up	High risk, ^b 2.95 year	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 years	Risk NR, 3.5 years		High risk,° 1.1 years	rial fibrillation. 1 subanalysis, ⁴⁵ which f prior embolism or those tolism at baseline. 1 analysis, ⁴⁷ which prov t one of the following:
TABLE 11 Randomise	Author, year, study name	ªPérez-Gómez <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NASPEAF ³⁹		^d Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998, RCT – AFASAK II ⁴²		SPAF investigators, 1996, RCT – SPAF III ⁴³	NVAF, non-valvular at a Supported by $n = ^{\circ}$ b Either NVAF with F c NVAF with no emb d Supported by $n = ^{\circ}$ e Presence of at least

DOI: 10.3310/hta17300

warfarin alone [23/251 (4.4%) vs 15/523 (2.9%), respectively, RR 1.54 (95% CI 0.81 to 2.92)] over a mean 1.1-year follow-up period.

The TIA event rate was different in these two randomised comparisons. In the combination of adjusteddose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg) arm of the SPAF III⁴³ study, the rate of TIA was 4.4% (23/521) compared with 1.2% (2/171) among those receiving combination fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg) in the AFASAK II⁴² study. The rate of TIA was also higher in those receiving adjusteddose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in the SPAF III⁴³ study [15/523 (2.9%)] than in those receiving either adjusted- (INR 2.0–3.0) or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) alone in the AFASAK II⁴² study [1/170 (0.6%) and 4/167 (2.4%), respectively].

The NASPEAF³⁹ randomised comparison compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal 600 mg with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) and triflusal 600 mg in combination compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in intermediate-risk patients.

In the high-risk population, a similar rate of TIA was observed with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal 600 mg compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [2/223 (0.9%) vs 3/247 (1.2%), respectively, RR 0.74 (95% CI 0.12, 4.38)] after a median follow-up of 2.95 years. No TIAs occurred during the median 2.6 years' follow-up in the intermediate-risk patients.³⁹

Two further articles (AFASAK II,⁴⁷ NASPEAF⁴⁵) provided subgroup analyses on the AFASAK II⁴² and NASPEAF³⁹ studies; however, these articles simply reported duplicate data from the original studies.

No studies of non-randomised comparisons provided further evidence on TIA.

The differences in TIA outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed in detail above (see *Between-study differences*).

Summary

The reported incidence of TIAs was low and three randomised studies^{39,42,43} found no significant benefit of combination therapy over anticoagulation alone to reduce the risk of TIAs.

Outcome 3: stroke and systemic embolism

Five studies, reported in 10 articles,^{39,42–45,47,67–69,71} yielded outcome data for the combination of stroke and SE. Of these, three studies in six articles,^{39,42–44,45,47} reported randomised comparisons (*Table 12*). Two studies in four articles^{67–69,71} reported pooled analyses of non-randomised comparisons using data from two randomised studies (SPORTIF III and V). The characteristics of the randomised and non-randomised comparison studies have been presented previously in *Tables 4* and *6*, respectively.

A precise definition of stroke was given in all the study reports, but the definitions of stroke that were used varied between the studies. Although the three randomised comparisons^{39,42,43} and two pooled analyses of the SPORTIF III and V trials^{67,69} defined stroke as an acute onset of focal neurological deficit lasting \geq 24 hours, NASPEAF³⁹ also included TIA, AFASAK II⁴² included fatal strokes, SPAF III⁴³ included only ischaemic strokes, whereas the SPORTIF III and V trials^{67,69} included both ischaemic strokes and intracranial haemorrhage (ICH) in their definition. Three studies, NASPEAF,³⁹ SPAF III⁴³ and SPORTIF,^{67,69} defined SE as an abrupt vascular insufficiency related to arterial occlusion, without previous clinical symptoms

TABLE 12 Randomise	d comparisons repo	rting the combined outcome of st	roke and systemic embolic e	events		
Author, year, study name	Follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT [alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
^a Pérez-Gómez <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NIACPEAE39	High risk, ^b 2.95 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 moi) 0 – 273	Stroke ^c /any embolism: 12/223 (5.4)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2 0 - 2 0 - 2 17	Stroke ^c /any embolism: 20/247 (8.1)	0.66 (0.33 to 1.33)
			Stroke ^c /fatal embolism: 4/223 (1.8)	747	Stroke ^c /fatal embolism: 8/247 (3.2)	0.55 (0.17 to 1.81)
	Intermediate risk, ^d 2.6 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal	Stroke ^c /any embolism: 3/222 (1.4)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR	Stroke ^c /any embolism: 7/232 (3.0)	0.45 (0.12 to 1.71)
		(e00 mg), $n = 222$	Stroke ^{c/} fatal embolism: 0/222 (0)	2.U-3.U), <i>N</i> = 232	Stroke ^c /fatal embolism: 3/232 (1.3)	0.15 (0.01 to 2.87)
^e Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998 RCT – AFASAK II⁴ ²	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg),	Stroke ^f + TE: ⁹ 12/171 (7.0)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 170$	Stroke ^f + TE: ⁹ 12/170 (7.1)	0.99 (0.46 to 2.15)
		N = 171		Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg), <i>n</i> = 167	Stroke ^f + TE: ⁹ 14/167 (8.4)	0.84 (0.40 to 1.76)
SPAF investigators, 1996, RCT – SPAF III ⁴³	High risk, ^h 1.1 years	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), n = 521	Stroke/SE: 44/521 (8.4)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	Stroke/SE: 11/523 (2.1)	4.02 (2.10 to 7.69)
NVAF, non-valvular at a Supported by $n = 3$ b Either NVAF with F c Includes TIAs. d NVAF with no emb e Supported by $n = 2$ f Includes fatal strok g For the purposes o h Presence of at leas echocardiography; i Ischaemic stroke ol	rial fibrillation. 2 subanalyses, ^{44,5} wh orior embolism or tho olism at baseline. 1 analysis, ⁴⁷ which pro e. f this review, SE and t one of the following systolic blood pressu oly.	ich provided duplicate data and are se with mitral stenosis with or withc ovided duplicate data and are not pr TE are classed as same because of br g: impaired left ventricular function r re of > 160 mmHg at study entry; pr	not presented in this table. out prior embolism. resented in this table. roadly similar definitions in th manifested by recent (≤100 d rior ischaemic stroke, TIA or SI	le included studies. lays) congestive HF, or fraction. E (i.e. prior TE); female sex or a	al shortening ≤25% by M-m aged >75 years.	od

(NASPEAF³⁹) or previous evidence of obstructive disease (SPAF III⁴³); SPORTIF III and V^{67,69} required clinical and radiological evidence of arterial occlusion in the absence of another possible mechanism, and in the presence of atherosclerotic peripheral vascular disease, diagnosis of embolism required angiographic demonstration of acute arterial occlusion. The AFASAK II⁴² study did not define SE, but specified the sites of the event and required verification using angiography, surgery, scintigraphy or autopsy. From a clinical perspective, it was assumed that these different definitions of embolism were broadly similar and considered the same for the purposes of this review.

For the purpose of this review we are considering SE and TE as the same. It is assumed from the definitions of outcomes provided by the studies that TE refers to arterial TE not venous TE. From this point onwards the term *systemic embolism* (SE) will be used, but the original terms reported by the studies will be retained in the tables.

Two randomised comparisons^{42,43} and the two pooled non-randomised comparisons^{67,69} (*Table 13*) compared warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone in different regimes. The AFASAK II⁴² study compared fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily). The risk profile of the patients enrolled in the AFASAK II study⁴² was not specified. The rate of stroke and systemic embolism (including fatal strokes) was the same among patients receiving the combination therapy and patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [12/171 (7.0%) vs 12/170 (7.1%), respectively, RR 0.99 (95% CI 0.46 to 2.15)] after a median follow-up period of 3.5 years.⁴² A non-significant but numerically lower number of people experienced a stroke and systemic embolism among those receiving combination therapy than in those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone [12/171 (7.0%) vs 14/167 (8.4%), respectively, RR 0.84 (95% CI 0.40 to 1.76)] during the median 3.5-year follow-up period.

The SPAF III⁴³ study compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. The study⁴³ reported significantly more ischaemic strokes and systemic emboli among those receiving combination therapy than in those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [44/521 (8.4%) vs 11/523 (2.1%), respectively; RR 4.02 (95% CI 2.10 to 7.69)] over a mean 1.1-year follow-up period.

The pooled analyses of the SPORTIF trials^{67,69} compared combination adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus aspirin \leq 100 mg with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, in a pooled analysis of SPORTIF III and V⁶⁹ and in a subgroup analysis of the pooled SPORTIF III and V⁶⁷ among those who had experienced an embolic event prior to enrolment. For the whole cohort, the rate of stroke and systemic embolism was very similar in patients receiving the combination therapy to those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, 11 out of 481 (2.3%) versus 69 out of 3172 (2.2%), respectively, during the mean 16.5-month follow-up period.⁶⁹

In the pooled analysis restricted to those patients with a previous embolic event prior to randomisation, the rate of stroke and systemic embolism was higher, but not significantly so, among those receiving combination therapy than in those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [13/186 (6.9%) vs 23/567 (4.1%)] during the mean 16.6-month follow-up period.⁶⁷

The rate of stroke and systemic embolism was much higher in the AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies than in the pooled analysis of the SPORTIF trials⁶⁹ for those receiving combination therapy compared with warfarin alone. In the AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies the rate of stroke and systemic embolism were 12 out of 171 (7.0%) and 44 out of 521 (8.4%), respectively, compared with 11 out of 481 (2.3%) in the pooled analysis of SPORTIF.⁶⁹

The rate of stroke and systemic embolism was very similar among those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone in the SPAF III⁴³ study and the pooled analysis of the SPORTIF⁶⁹ trial [11/523 (2.1%) and 69/3172 (2.2%), respectively]. However, the rate of stroke and systemic embolism was much higher in the

AFASAK II⁴² study for those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) alone [12/170 (7.1%) and 14/167 (8.4%), respectively] compared with SPAF III⁴³ and the pooled analysis of SPORTIF.⁶⁹

The rate of stroke and systemic embolism was very similar in AFASAK II⁴² but higher in SPAF III⁴³ when compared with the pooled subgroup analysis of SPORTIF III and V restricted to patients with a previous embolic event,⁶⁷ for those receiving combination warfarin plus aspirin [12/171 (7.0%), 44/521 (8.4%) and 13/186 (6.9%), respectively]. The rate of stroke and systemic embolism was much higher among patients receiving either fixed or adjusted-dose warfarin alone in AFASAK II,⁴² 14/167 (8.4%) and 12/170 (7.1%), respectively, during a median 3.5 year follow-up, and lower in SPAF III⁴³ for those receiving warfarin alone, 11/523 (2.1%) compared with those receiving warfarin alone in the pooled subgroup analysis of SPORTIF,⁶⁷ 23/567 (4.1%) during a mean/median 16.6 month follow-up. The variations in the rates may reflect the heterogeneity between included studies, as discussed above (see *Between-study differences*, above).

One randomised comparison (NASPEAF³⁹) compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal (600 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients, and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) and triflusal (600 mg) in combination compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in intermediate-risk patients.³⁹

In the high-risk population, adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal 600 mg was associated with a non-significant but numerically lower number of stroke and systemic embolism than adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [12/223 (5.4%) vs 20/247 (8.1%), respectively, RR 0.66 (95% CI 0.33 to 1.33)], after a median follow-up of 2.95 years.³⁹ Similarly, when analyses involved only stroke and fatal systemic embolism, adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal 600 mg was associated with a non-significant but numerically lower number of stroke and systemic emboli than adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [4/223 (1.8%) vs 8/247 (3.2%), respectively, RR 0.55 (95% CI 0.17 to 1.81)].³⁹

In the intermediate-risk population, adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) in combination with triflusal 600 mg was also associated with a non-significant but numerically lower number of stroke and systemic embolism than adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [3/222 (1.4%) vs 7/232 (3.0%), respectively, RR 0.45 (95% CI 0.12 to 1.71)] after a median follow-up of 2.6 years.³⁹ Similarly, when analyses involved only stroke and fatal systemic embolism, adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) in combination with triflusal 600 mg was associated with a non-significant but numerically lower number of stroke and systemic emboli than adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [0/222 (0%) vs 3/232 (1.3%), respectively, RR 0.15 (95% CI 0.01 to 2.87)].³⁹

Three further articles provided post hoc analyses on the NASPEAF^{44,45} and AFASAK II⁴⁷studies; however, these papers simply reported duplicate data from the original studies.

In addition to the data on warfarin plus aspirin compared with warfarin alone, the pooled analyses of the SPORTIF III and V studies^{67,69} also provide data on the risk of stroke and systemic embolism for patients receiving ximelagatran 36 mg given twice daily plus aspirin \leq 100 mg compared with ximelagatran 36 mg alone.^{67,69}

In the pooled analyses including all SPORTIF patients,⁶⁹ combination therapy yielded a slightly higher, but non-significant, rate of stroke and systemic embolism than in those receiving ximelagatran alone, 12/531 (2.3%) versus 58/3120 (1.9%), respectively, during the 16.5-month follow-up period.⁶⁹

In just those patients with a previous embolic event, combination therapy yielded a rate of stroke and systemic embolism that was twice that of those receiving ximelagatran alone [11/157 (7.0%) vs 22/629 (3.5%), respectively], during a median 16.6-month follow-up, although this difference was not significant (RR 2.00, 95% Cl 0.99 to 4.04).⁶⁷

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/ total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/ total participants in ACT arm (%)
Flaker <i>et al</i> ., 2006, pooled analysis of SPORTIF III	High risk,ª 16.5 months	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (\leq 100 mg), n = 481	Stroke ^b /SE: 11/481 (2.3)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 3172	Stroke ^b /SE: 69/3172 (2.2)
		Ximelagatran (36 mg) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 531	Stroke ^b /SE: 12/531 (2.3)	Ximelagatran (36 mg), <i>n</i> = 3120	Stroke ^b /SE: 58/3120 (1.9)
Akins <i>et al</i> ., 2006, pooled analysis of SPORTIF III	High risk, ^c 16.6 months	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0-3.0) + aspirin (\leq 100 mg), $n = 156$	Stroke ^d /SE: 13/186 (6.9)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 567$	Stroke ^d /SE: 23/567 (4.1)
with previous embolic event ⁶⁷		Ximelagatran (36 mg) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 157	Stroke ^d /SE: 11/157 (7.0)	Ximelagatran (36 mg), <i>n</i> = 629	Stroke ^d /SE: 22/629 (3.5)

TABLE 13 Non-randomised comparisons for combined stroke and embolic events as outcome

a At least one of the following: previous stroke/TIA/SE, hypertension, left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <40% or symptomatic systolic or diastolic HF), age ≥75 years or age ≥65 years with known coronary disease/ diabetes mellitus.

b Also includes stroke due to ICH.

c Previous embolism.

d Ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke.

Other pooled analyses of the SPORTIF III and V^{68,71} trials are not presented in the table to avoid duplication of data.

The differences in stroke and systemic embolism outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed in detail above (see *Between-study differences*).

Summary

There is no evidence, from two randomised^{39,42} and two non-randomised^{67,69} studies, of any benefit for combination therapy over anticoagulation alone in the reduction of the combined end point of stroke and SE. One randomised study suggests a significant increased risk of stroke and SE with the combination of ACT and APT compared with ACT alone.⁴³

Outcome 4: systemic embolism

Eight studies, reported in 11 articles^{39-45,47,52,54,61,73} yielded outcome data for SE alone. Of these, four studies³⁹⁻⁴³ reported randomised comparisons (*Table 14*), supported by three subgroup analyses.^{44,45,47} However, these subgroup analyses did not provide additional data for this outcome and, thus, are not considered further in this section (see *Appendix 7*).

Four studies^{52,54,61,73} reported non-randomised comparisons; however, data from Blich *et al.*⁶¹ and Toda *et al.*⁵² are not reported further in this section (*Table 15*). The reasons for this can be found in *Appendix 7*.

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/ total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
ªPérez-Gómez <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NASPEAF³9	High risk, ^b 2.95 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), <i>n</i> = 223	SE – non-fatal: 0/223 (0)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	SE non-fatal: 3/247 (1.2)	0.16 (0.01 to 3.05)
	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 year	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 222$	SE – non-fatal: 0/222 (0)	Acenocoumarol I adjusted dose (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 232	SE non-fatal: 1/232 (0.4)	0.35 (0.01 to 8.50)
Lechat <i>et al.</i> , 2001, RCT – FFAACS ⁴¹	High risk, ^d 0.84 years	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR $2.0-2.6$) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 76$	TE ^{e.} 2/76 (2.6)	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0-2.6) + placebo, n = 81	TE:º 1/81 (1.2)	2.13 (0.20 to 23.03)
^f Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998, RCT – AFASAK II ⁴²	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg), n = 171	TE°- all: 1/171 (0.6)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0– 3.0), <i>n</i> = 170	TE:º all: 2/170 (1.2)	0.50 (0.05 to 5.43)
					TE:e fatal: 0/170 (0)	2.98 (0.12 to 72.70)
			TE ^e – fatal: 1/171 (0.6)	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg), <i>n</i> = 167	TE:e all: 1/167 (0.6)	0.98 (0.06 to 15.49)
					$TE^{e} - fatal: 1/167 (0.6)$	0.98 (0.06 to 15.49)
SPAF investigators, 1996 RCT – SPAF III ⁴³	High risk,∮ 1.1 years	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), n = 521	SE: 1/521 (0.2)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	SE: 0/523 (0)	3.01 (0.12 to 73.75)
NVAF, non-valvular at a Supported by <i>n</i> = 2 b Either NVAF with p c NVAF with no emb	rial fibrillation. 2 subanalyses,44,45 whicl rior embolism or those olism at baseline.	h provided duplicate data and are r e with mitral stenosis with or withou	not presented in this table. ut prior embolism.			
 d Presence of at leasing pressure of >160 m left ventricular should be an an	t one: history of TE (TI/ mHg or diastolic arter tening fraction <25%	 A, non-disabling ischaemic stroke or ial pressure > 90 mmHg); recent epi or LVEF < 40% within 3 months bef 	r peripheral embolism) or aged sode (<3 months previously) o fore study inclusion).	> 65 years and at least or congestive HF or alterat	ne of: history of hypertensic ion in left ventricular functi	n (systolic arterial on (echocardiographic
e For the purposes o	f this review, the terms	: SE and TE are classed as same bec	ause of broadly similar definitic	ns in the included studie	S.	
f Supported by $i = 1$	analysis 47, which pro	wided duplicate data and are not pr	resented in this table.			
g Presence of at least echocardiography;	t one of the following: systolic blood pressure	impaired left ventricular function m = >160 mmHg at study entry; prior i	nanifested by recent (≤100 day ischaemic stroke, TIA or SE (i.e.	s) congestive HF, or fracti prior TE); female sex or a	onal shortening ≤25% by N aged > 75 years.	1-mode

TABLE 14 Randomised comparisons reporting the outcome of SE

A precise definition of SE was not always given in the study reports and/or the definitions vary between studies. The NASPEAF,³⁹ FFAACS⁴¹ and SPAF III⁴³ studies defined SE as an abrupt vascular insufficiency related to arterial occlusion, without previous clinical symptoms³⁹ or previous evidence of obstructive disease,⁴³ with one specifying the site of occlusion as affecting the mesenteric, renal, splenic or limb arteries.⁴¹ The AFASAK II⁴² study did not define a systemic embolic event, but specified the sites of the event and required verification using angiography, surgery, scintigraphy or autopsy. Of the two non-randomised comparisons, PETRO⁷³ defined a SE as an acute non-intracerebral or non-coronary vascular event, whereas Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ did not define SE.

Four studies,^{41–43,54} three randomised comparisons^{41,42,43} and one non-randomised comparison⁵⁴ compared a VKA plus aspirin with a VKA alone. The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies both compared warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone, although the warfarin and aspirin regimes differed between the studies. The FFAACS⁴¹ study compared fluindione plus aspirin to fluindione alone, whereas one non-randomised comparison⁵⁴ compared acenocoumarol plus aspirin with acenocoumarol alone.

The AFASAK II⁴² study compared fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily). The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. The rates of SE were very small and there were no differences between groups during the median 3.5 years of follow-up; combination therapy compared with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [1/171 (0.6%) vs 2/170 (1.2%), respectively, RR 0.50 (95% CI 0.05 to

Author, year, study name	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)
Bover <i>et al</i> ., 2009 ⁵⁴	Risk NR, 4.92 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 155	SE: 0/155 (0)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 265$	SE: 7/265 (2.6)
		Acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal (300 mg), n = 120	SE: 2/120 (1.7)		
		Acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + aspirin (100 mg), n = 34	SE: 0/34 (0)		
^a Ezekowitz <i>et al.</i> , 2007,	High risk,⁵ 22 weeks	Dabigatran (50 mg) + aspirin (81 mg), <i>n</i> = 21	TE: ^c 1/21 (4.8)	Dabigatran 50 mg (b.i.d.), <i>n</i> = 59	TE: ^c 1/59 (1.7)
PETRO ⁷³		Dabigatran (50 mg) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 27	TE: ^c 0/27 (0)		
		Dabigatran (150 mg) + aspirin (81 mg), <i>n</i> = 36	TE: ^c 0/36 (0	Dabigatran 150 mg (b.i.d.), <i>n</i> = 100	TE: ^c 0/100 (0)
		Dabigatran (150 mg) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 33	TE: ^c 0/33 (0)		
		Dabigatran (300 mg) + aspirin (81 mg), <i>n</i> = 34	TE: ^c 0/34 (0)	Dabigatran 300 mg (b.i.d.), <i>n</i> = 105	TE: ^c 0/105 (0)
		Dabigatran (300 mg) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 30	TE: ^c 0/30 (0)		

TABLE 15 Non-randomised comparisons reporting SE

b.i.d., dose administered twice daily; NR, not reported.

a Longitudinal study consisting of participants from the NASPEAF trial³⁹ in addition to new participants. Not all participants from the RCT were administered the therapies to which they were originally randomised.

b All patients with ST-segment elevation MI and undergoing PCI.

c For the purposes of this review, SE and TE are classed as same because of broadly similar definitions in the included studies.

5.43)] and compared with fixed-dose (1.25 mg) warfarin alone [1/171 (0.6%) vs 1/167 (0.6%), RR 0.98 (95% CI 0.06 to 15.49)]. The rates of fatal SE were also presented, but given the very low rates of all SE these do not add anything meaningful.⁴²

The SPAF III⁴³ study compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. One patient receiving combination therapy experienced a SE compared with no patients who received warfarin alone [(1/521 (0.2%) vs 0/523 (0%), respectively, RR 3.01 (95% CI 0.12 to 73.75)] during the mean 1.1-year follow-up period.⁴³

The FFAACS⁴¹ study compared adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin 100 mg with adjusteddose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) alone. The rate of SE among patients receiving combination therapy was twice that of patients receiving fluindione alone [2/76 (2.6%) vs 1/81 (1.2%), respectively, RR 2.13 (95% CI 0.20 to 23.03)] during a mean 0.84-year follow-up, although this difference was not significant.

The non-randomised study by Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ provided additional data on the effect of a VKA plus aspirin compared with a VKA alone. This study compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) in combination with aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0). There were fewer systemic emboli during a mean 4.92-year follow-up in those receiving combination therapy than in those receiving acenocoumarol alone [0/34 (0%) vs 7/265 (2.6%), respectively; RR 0.51 (95% CI 0.03 to 8.68)], but the difference was not significant.⁵⁴

In each study there were very few systemic embolic events. The rate was similar between the four studies^{41–43,54} and between those receiving combination VKA plus aspirin and those receiving VKA therapy alone,^{41–43,54} despite methodological and clinical differences between these studies (see *Between-study differences*).

The NASPEAF³⁹ randomised comparison compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal 600 mg with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients, and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) and triflusal 600 mg in combination compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in intermediate-risk patients.

In both comparisons, no systemic embolic events occurred in patients receiving acenocoumarol in combination with triflusal, but a small number of patients in both the high- and intermediate-risk groups experienced a systemic embolic event with acenocoumarol alone [3/247 (1.2%) vs 1/232 (0.4%), respectively]. There were no statistically significant differences between combination therapy and anticoagulation treatment alone in either the high-risk (RR 0.16; 95% CI 0.01 to 3.05) or intermediate-risk (RR 0.35; 95% CI 0.01 to 8.50) populations after a median of 2.95 and 2.6 years of follow-up, respectively.³⁹

One non-randomised study⁵⁴ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) in combination with triflusal (600 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) and triflusal (300 mg) in combination compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. This study adds data to the randomised comparison in the NASPEAF³⁹ trial above.

Combination acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) with either triflusal 600 mg or triflusal 300 mg was associated with lower rates of SE, 0 out of 155 (0%) and 2 out of 120 (1.7%), respectively, than acenocoumarol alone, 7 out of 265 (2.6%), after a mean 4.92-year follow-up.⁵⁴

One additional study, PETRO,⁷³ reported non-randomised comparisons for the outcome of SE.

The PETRO study⁷³ contained three comparisons: (1) dabigatran 50 mg (twice daily) plus aspirin (either 81 mg or 325 mg daily) compared with dabigatran 50 mg twice daily; (2) dabigatran 150 mg (twice daily) plus aspirin (either 81 mg or 325 mg daily) compared with dabigatran 150 mg twice daily; and (3)

dabigatran 300 mg (twice daily) plus aspirin (either 81 mg or 325 mg daily) compared with dabigatran 300 mg twice daily.

Systemic emboli occurred only in patients receiving combination dabigatran 50 mg (once/twice daily) plus aspirin 81 mg and dabigatran 50 mg twice daily alone. The proportion experiencing a SE was higher in patients receiving the combination therapy than in those receiving dabigatran alone [1/21 (4.8) vs 1/59 (1.7), respectively] after a 22-week follow-up period.⁷³

The differences in SE outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed in detail above (see *Between-study differences*).

Summary

Very few systemic emboli were reported. There is no evidence that combination ACT plus APT is associated with a significant reduction in systemic embolic events compared with ACT alone in six studies^{39,41–43,54,73} (four randomised^{39,41–43} and two non-randomised^{54,73}).

Outcome 5: acute myocardial infarction

Five studies reported in nine articles^{39,42–45,47,54,68,69} yielded outcome data for acute myocardial infarction (AMI) (or ACS). Of these, three studies in six articles^{39,42–45,47} reported randomised comparisons. The key characteristics of these studies have been previously reported previously in *Table 4*.

The remaining three articles^{54,68,69} reported non-randomised comparisons; one a primary study by Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ and two secondary analyses of the SPORTIF III and SPORTIF V studies by White *et al.*⁶⁸ and Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ The characteristics of the studies reporting non-randomised comparisons have been reported previously in *Table 6*.

Only data from five of the included studies^{39,42,43,54,69} have been reported in this section. Reasons for non-inclusion of data from other studies have been reported in *Appendix 7*.

The findings of the studies that report randomised comparisons are shown in *Table 16* and non-randomised comparisons in *Table 17*.

A precise definition of AMI and its subclassification was not always supplied in the study reports and/or the definitions varied between the studies. Among the included studies the AFASAK II trial⁴² and the analysis of the SPORTIF III and SPORTIF V studies by Flaker *et al.*,⁶⁹ defined AMI by presence of any two assessment criteria, i.e. history of typical chest pain, serial creatine kinase MB isozyme changes typical of AMI, or electrocardiogram changes typical of AMI. The NASPEAF trial³⁹ reported data for non-fatal AMI. Definition of AMI was not specified in the SPAF III trial,⁴³ NASPEAF study³⁹ or in the study by Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for different regimes of combined warfarin plus additional aspirin compared with warfarin alone. The findings of these studies have been reported in *Table 16*.

The AFASAK II⁴² study reported no AMI events among patients receiving the combination of fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg). The AMI event rate was lower but not significantly so among those receiving combination therapy than in those receiving either fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) alone [0/171 (0%) vs 6/167 (3.6%), RR 0.08 (95% CI 0.00 to 1.32)] or adjusted-dose warfarin alone
TABLE 16 Randomised c	omparisons reporti	ng AMI outcome				
Author, year, study name	Risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
ªPěrez-Gómez <i>et al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NASPEAF³	High risk, ^b 2.95 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 223	AMI: ^d 0/223 (0)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 247$	AMI: ^d 0/247 (0)	Not estimable
	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 222	AMI: ^d 0/222 (0)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 232$	AMI: ^d 0/232 (0)	Not estimable
°Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998, RCT – AFASAK II⁴²	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg),	AMI: 0/171 (0)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 170$	AMI: 4/170 (2.4)	0.11 (0.01 to 2.04)
		N = 171		Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg), $n = 167$	AMI: 6/167 (3.6)	0.08 (0.00 to 1.32)
SPAF investigators, 1996, RCT – SPAF III43	High risk, ^f 1.1 years	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 521	AMI: 10/521 (1.9)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	AMI: 5/523 (1.0)	2.01 (0.69 to 5.83)
NR, not reported; NVAF, n a Supported by $n = 2$ su b Either NVAF with prio c NVAF with no embolis d AMI specified non-fat e Supported by $n = 1$ ar f Presence of at one of systolic blood pressure	on-valvular atrial fibril ubanalyses, ^{44,45} which r embolism or those sm at baseline. al. nalysis 47, which pro the following: impail e of > 160 mmHg at s	lation. I provided duplicate data and are not pre with mitral stenosis with or without pric vided duplicate data and are not presen red left ventricular function manifested b study entry; prior ischaemic stroke; TIA o	esented in this table. or embolism. ted in this table. by recent (≤ 100 days) con r SE (i.e. prior TE); femal	igestive HF, or fractional shortenin : sex or aged > 75 years.	g ≤25% by M-mode ec	nocardiography;

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/ total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), n	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)
^a Bover et al., 2009 ⁵⁴	Risk NR, 4.92 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 155$	AMI: 0/155 (0)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 265	AMI: 5/265 (1.9)
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal (300 mg), $n = 120$	AMI: 1/120 (0.8)		
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9-2.5) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 34$	AMI: 0/34 (0)		
Flaker <i>et al.</i> , 2006 ⁶⁹	High risk,⁵ 16.5 months	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (\leq 100 mg), $n = 481$	AMI: 4/481 (0.8)	Adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 3172	AMI: 46/3172 (1.5)
		Ximelagatran (36 mg) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 531	AMI: 10/531 (1.9)	Ximelagatran (36 mg), n = 3120	AMI: 40/3120 (1.3)

TABLE 17 Non-randomised comparisons reporting AMI outcome

NR, not reported.

a Longitudinal study consisting of participants from the NASPEAF trial ³⁹ in addition to new participants. Not all participants from the RCT were administered the therapies to which they were originally randomised.

b At least one of these risk factors: previous stroke/TIA/SE, hypertension, left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <40% or symptomatic systolic or diastolic HF), aged ≥75 years or aged ≥65 years with known coronary disease/ diabetes mellitus.

(INR 2.0–3.0) [0/171 (0%) vs 4/170 (2.4%), RR 0.11 (95% CI 0.01 to 2.04)] over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study⁴² was not specified.

The SPAF III⁴³ study reported a non-significant but higher incidence of AMI events in the combined therapy group than in those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [10/521 (1.9%) vs 5/523 (1.0%), respectively], RR 2.01 (95% CI 0.69 to 5.83), in high-risk patients over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.⁴³

The AMI rate was different in these two RCTs. Rates of AMI were higher in the combined therapy arm of the SPAF III study than those receiving combination therapy in the AFASAK II⁴² study [1.9% (10/521) vs 0% (0/171), respectively]. However, the AMI rates were lower in those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in the SPAF III study⁴³ [5/523 (1.0%)] than in those receiving either adjusted-dose warfarin alone or fixed-dose warfarin alone [(4/170 (2.4%) and 6/167 (3.6%), respectively] in the AFASAK II study.⁴²

Flaker *et al.*,⁶⁹ in their post hoc analysis of non-randomised comparisons from the SPORTIF III and V studies, reported fewer AMI events in the combined therapy than in those on adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [4/481 (0.8%) vs 46/3172 (1.5%), respectively] over a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months. However, aspirin was indicated in patients with previous CAD in the SPORTIF studies.^{64,65}

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years. This study also

compared combination acenocoumarol and two different regimes of triflusal, which will be discussed in a subsequent section. The findings of this study for the outcome of AMI are reported in *Table 17*.

No AMIs occurred in the 34 patients receiving combination acenocoumarol and aspirin compared with 5 out of 265 (1.9%) AMIs in those receiving acenocoumarol alone.⁵⁴ The rate of AMIs was lower in all three combination therapy arms than in the arm with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone. No AMIs occurred in those receiving acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg or acenocoumarol plus aspirin 100 mg, and one patient receiving acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg experienced an AMI [1/120 (0.8%)] compared with 5 out of 265 (1.9%) patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone.

Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ also reported non-randomised comparisons for ximelagatran (36 mg) plus aspirin (100 mg) with ximelagatran (36 mg) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months. A slightly higher rate of AMIs was observed in patients on combined therapy than in those on ximelagatran alone [10/531 (1.9%) vs 40/3120 (1.3%), respectively]. However, it is to be noted that aspirin use was indicated in patients with previous CAD in the original SPORTIF studies.^{65,68}

No studies were identified that reported randomised comparisons for AMI outcome comparing ximelagatran in combination with aspirin with ximelagatran alone.

The NASPEAF study³⁹ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in high-risk patients during a median follow-up of 2.95 years, and combination adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus triflusal (600 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in intermediate-risk patients during a median follow-up of 2.6 years. This study specified outcomes for non-fatal AMIs. No non-fatal AMIs occurred in the NASPEAF study.³⁹

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported non-randomised AMI outcome data comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus triflusal in two different regimes (600 mg or 300 mg) or aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years.

The rate of AMI was lower in all three combination therapy arms than for adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone. No AMIs occurred in those receiving acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg or acenocoumarol plus aspirin 100 mg, and one patient receiving acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg experienced an AMI [1/120 (0.8%)] compared with 5 out of 265 (1.9%) patients receiving adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone.

The combination of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (target INR 1.9–2.5) with either triflusal 600 mg or triflusal 300 mg or aspirin (100 mg) demonstrated fewer events of AMI [1/155 (0%), 1/120 (0.8%) and 0/34 (0%), respectively] than acenocoumarol given alone in adjusted dose alone with target INR of 2.0–3.0 [5/265 (1.9%)].

The differences in AMI outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed in detail above (see *Between-study differences*). In addition, only two studies,^{42,69} one randomised⁴² and one non-randomised⁶⁹ provided a specific definition for AMI, whereas three others^{39,43,54} (two randomised^{39,43} and one non-randomised⁵⁴) did not. Both the AFASAK II⁴² and SPORTIF III and V⁶⁹ studies used the same standard definition of AMI. Four studies^{42,43,54,69} (two randomised^{54,69}) reported all AMIs, whereas one randomised study³⁹ reported only non-fatal AMI events. Of note here for the non-randomised comparisons^{54,69} is the potential confounding of the addition of APT to ACT at physicians' discretion, which may have resulted in patients at risk of an AMI being given APT, which may account for variation in the reported event rates.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Summary

Very few AMIs were reported. Although the rate of AMI was numerically lower with combined ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone in four^{42,43,54,69} (two randomised^{42,43} and two non-randomised^{54,69}) of five⁴³ studies reporting this outcome, there was no evidence of a significant benefit of combination therapy in the reduction of AMIs. However, in the non-randomised comparisons the addition of APT is confounded by indication.^{54,69}

Outcome 6: in-stent thrombosis

No studies were identified that reported in-stent thrombosis outcome data comparing ACT plus APT with anticoagulant alone in an AF population.

Outcome 7: vascular death

Four studies, reported in seven articles^{39,41–45,47} yielded outcome data for vascular death. Of these, all four studies reported randomised comparisons^{39,41–43} (*Table 18*) supported by three subgroup analyses.^{44,45,47} No non-randomised comparisons reported vascular death as an outcome.

Vascular death was defined as sudden or any other death occurring within 30 days after a vascular event or progressive HF in the NASPEAF study.³⁹ The FFAACS study⁴¹ reported vascular death as one due to any of the following reasons: ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke (Rankin score between 4 and 5 followed by death), an AMI, sudden, fatal SE, fatal haemorrhage, arterial aneurysm rupture, gangrene secondary to severe ischaemia and/or pulmonary embolism.⁴¹ Vascular death was not defined separately in the AFASAK II study⁴² or the SPAF III study.⁴³ The definitions were considered broadly similar for the purposes of this review.

Three randomised comparisons^{41–43} compared a VKA plus aspirin with a VKA alone. The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies both compared warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone, although the warfarin and aspirin regimes differed between the studies. The FFAACS⁴¹ study compared fluindione plus aspirin with fluindione alone.

The AFASAK II⁴² study compared fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily). The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. The rates of vascular death were low and there were no significant differences in the rate of vascular death between the treatment groups during the median 3.5 years of follow-up: combination therapy compared with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [3/171 (1.8%) vs 5/170 (2.9%), respectively, RR 0.60 (95% CI 0.14 to 2.46)] and compared with fixed-dose (1.25 mg) warfarin alone [3/171 (1.8%) vs 2/167 (1.2%), respectively, RR 1.46 (95% CI 0.25 to 8.66)].⁴²

The SPAF III⁴³ study compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. The rate of vascular death was the same in both the combination therapy and warfarin-alone arms [27/521 (5.2%) vs 27/523 (5.2%), respectively, RR 1.00 (95% Cl 0.6 to 1.69)] during the mean 1.1-year follow-up period.⁴³

The FFAACS⁴¹ study compared adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin 100 mg with adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) alone. The number of vascular deaths in both groups was small and the difference was not significant [3/76 (3.9%) vs 2/81 (2.5%), respectively, RR 1.60 (95% CI 0.27 to 9.31)] during a mean 0.84-year follow-up.

The rate of vascular death differed between the studies. Among those patients receiving combination therapy, the rate of vascular death was highest in the SPAF III⁴³ study: 27 out of 521 patients (5.2%) compared with 3 out of 171 patients (1.8%) in the AFASAK II⁴² study and 3 out of 76 patients (3.9%) in the FFAACS study.⁴¹ Among those receiving anticoagulation alone, again the rate of vascular death was

3.32 (0.14 to 81.12) 0.39 (0.16 to 0.97)

Vascular (bleed): 0/247 (0)

•

acenocoumarol (INR

Adjusted-dose

2.0-3.0), *n* = 247

Vascular (bleed): 1/223 (0.4)

•

acenocoumarol (INR

Adjusted-dose ACT + APT, n

High risk,^b 2.95 years

Gómez et al., 2004, RCT -NASPEAF³⁹

^aPérez-

1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 223

Vascular all: 6/223 (2.7)

ACT + APT arm (%)

Vascular (SE): 0/223 (0)

•

Vascular all: 17/247 (6.9)

ACT arm

ACT + placebo),

RR (95% CI)

•	Vascular (SE): 2/247 (0.8)	0.22 (0.01 to 4.59)
•	Vascular (stroke): 6/247 (2.4)	0.74 (0.21 to 2.58)
•	Vascular (AMI): 1/247 (0.4)	0.37 (0.02 to 9.01)
•	Vascular (HF): 2/247 (0.8)	0.22 (0.01 to 4.59)
•	Vascular (HF- avascular): 2/247 (0.8)	0.22 (0.01 to 4.59)
•	Vascular (sudden): 4/247 (1.6)	0.28 (0.03 to 2.46)
Sa	scular all: 11/232 (4.7)	0.19 (0.04 to 0.85)
•	Vascular (bleed): 0/232 (0)	3.13 (0.13 to 76.54)
•	Vascular (SE): 0/232 (0)	Not estimable
•	Vascular (stroke): 3/232 (1.3)	0.15 (0.01 to 2.87)
•	Vascular (AMI): 0/232 (0)	Not estimable
•	Vascular (HF): 3/232 (1.3)	0.15 (0.01 to 2.87)
•	Vascular (HF- avascular): 1/232 (0.4)	0.35 (0.01 to 8.50)
•	Vascular (sudden): 4/232 (1.7)	0.26 (0.03 to 2.32)
		continued

acenocoumarol (INR

Vascular (HF-avascular): 0/223 (0) Vascular (sudden): 1/223 (0.4)

•

Vascular (stroke): 4/223 (1.8)

•

Vascular (AMI): 0/223 (0)

•

Vascular (HF): 0/223 (0)

2.0-3.0), n = 232Adjusted-dose

Vascular (bleed): 1/222 (0.5)

•

acenocoumarol (INR 1.25-2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), n = 222

Adjusted-dose

Intermediate

2.6 years risk,°

Vascular all: 2/222 (0.9)

•

Vascular (stroke): 0/222 (0)

•

Vascular (SE): 0/222 (0)

•

Vascular (AMI): 0/222 (0)

•

Vascular (HF): 0/222 (0)

•

h as an outcome
deat
vascular
reporting
comparison
Randomised
TABLE 18

stroke risk

Author, yea

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Vascular (HF- avascular): 0/222 (0)

•

Vascular (sudden): 1/222 (0.5)

•

ABLE 18 Rando	omised compari:	son reporting vascular	death as an outcome			
Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo) <i>, n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
Lechat <i>et al.,</i> 2001 RCT – FFAACS ⁴¹	High risk, ^d 0.84 years	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR $2.0-2.6)$ + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 76$	Vascular: 3/76 (3.9)	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + placebo, <i>n</i> = 81	Vascular: 2/81 (2.5)	1.60 (0.27 to 9.31)
€Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998 RCT – AFASAK II ⁴²	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg), <i>n</i> = 171	Vascular: 3/171 (1.8)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 170	Vascular: 5/170 (2.9)	0.60 (0.14 to 2.46)
				Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg), $n = 167$	Vascular: 2/167 (1.2)	1.46 (0.25 to 8.66)
SPAF investigators, 1996 RCT – SPAF III ⁴³	High risk, ^f 1.1 years	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 521	Vascular: 27/521 (5.2)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	Vascular: 27/523 (5.2)	1.00 (0.60 to 1.69)
NR, not reporte a Supported by b Either NVAF c NVAF with n	d; NVAF, non-val ¹ / <i>n</i> = 2 subanalys with prior embol o embolism at bi	vular atrial fibrillation. .es, ⁴⁴⁵ which provided d lism or those with mitral aseline.	Juplicate data and are not presented in this I stenosis with and without prior embolism	s table.		
d Presence of a arterial press. (echocardiog	tt least one of his ure of >160 mmh raphic left ventrid	story of TE (TIA, non-dise Hg or diastolic arterial pr cular shortening fraction	abling ischaemic stroke or peripheral embol ressure of >90 mmHg); recent episode (<3 to of <25% or LVEF<40% within 3 months b	lism) or aged > 65 years, months previously) of co before study inclusion).	and at least one of history of hypertension ongestive HF or alteration in left ventricular	ı (systolic function
e Supported by	n = 1 analysis, ⁴	which provided duplica	ite data and are not presented in this table.			

Presence of at least one of the following: impaired LV function manifested by recent (≤100 days) congestive heart disease, or fractional shortening ≤25% by M-mode echocardiography; systolic blood pressure of >160 mmHg at study entry; prior ischaemic stroke, TIA or SE (i.e. prior TE); female sex or aged >75 years.

4

highest in the SPAF III study,⁴³ 27 out of 523 (5.2%) patients, with rates of 1.2% (2/167) and 2.9% (5/170) among those fixed- and adjusted-dose warfarin in the AFASAK II study, respectively, and 2.5% (2/81) in those patients receiving fluindione in the FFAACSs.⁴¹ The NASPEAF³⁹ randomised comparison compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) in combination with triflusal 600 mg with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) and triflusal 600 mg in combination compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in intermediate-risk patients.

Fewer vascular deaths occurred in patients receiving combination therapy than in those receiving acenocoumarol alone in both the high-risk [6/223 (2.7%) vs 17/247 (6.9%), respectively] and intermediate-risk [2/222 (0.9%) vs 11/232 (4.7%), respectively] groups, but these differences were not significant: RR 0.39 (95% CI 0.16 to 0.97) and RR 0.19 (95% CI 0.04 to 0.85), respectively.

No studies reported non-randomised comparisons of ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone for the outcome of vascular death.

The differences in vascular mortality reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed in detail above (see *Between-study differences*). Of the four randomised studies,^{39,41–43} only two provided a specific definition of vascular death,^{39,41} which may reflect the variation in vascular mortality reported between the included studies.

Summary

Very few vascular deaths occurred and the available evidence from four randomised studies suggests that combination ACT and APT does not significantly reduce the risk of vascular death compared with ACT alone.^{39,41-43}

Secondary outcomes

Outcome 8: all-cause mortality

Ten articles^{39,41–43,47,50,54,58,68,69} yielded outcome data for all-cause mortality. Of these, four studies in five articles^{39,41–43,47} reported randomised comparisons. The remaining five articles^{50,54,58,68,69} reported non-randomised comparisons, of which three were primary studies, ^{54,54,58} and two were secondary analyses of the SPORTIF III and SPORTIF V studies by White *et al.*⁶⁸ and Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹

Of the studies that reported non-randomised comparisons, those by Lopes *et al.*,⁵⁰ Stenestrand *et al.*⁵⁸ and White *et al.*⁶⁸ are not mentioned further in this section because two of these^{50,68} did not furnish details of number of patients (denominator) in either therapy group and one did not report the number of events.⁵⁸ The reasons for non-inclusion of their data have been reported in *Appendix 7*. The characteristics of these studies have been reported previously (see *Table 6*).

All-cause mortality was frequently classified as death from non-vascular, indeterminant, unknown or sudden causes. A precise definition of these groupings or subclassifications of mortality was not always supplied in the study reports and/or the definitions may vary between studies for the same subclassification.

The findings of the included studies for each of these composites and/or subclassifications of all-cause mortality are detailed in *Tables 19* and *20*.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

All-cause mortality

Two randomised comparisons (AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³) and one non-randomised comparison⁶⁹ compared the combination of warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone.

The AFASAK II⁴² randomised comparison compared combined fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) with either adjusted-dose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone or with fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified. The rate of all-cause mortality was lower among those patients receiving combined therapy than in those receiving fixed-dose warfarin [9/171 (5.3%) vs 17/170 (10%), respectively, RR 0.53 (95% CI 0.24 to 1.15)] and higher than those patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin [9/171 (5.3%) vs 6/167 (3.6%), respectively, RR 1.46 (95% CI 0.53 to 4.03)] over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years, although these differences were not significant.⁴² The SPAF III study⁴³ compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. The study⁴³ demonstrated similar rates of all-cause mortality for patients treated with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR1.2–1.5) in combination with aspirin (325 mg) compared with those treated with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [42/521 (8.1%) vs 35/523 (6.7%), respectively, RR 1.20 (95% CI 0.78 to 1.86)] over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.

There were small differences in the rate of all-cause mortality in these two RCTs.^{42,43} In the combination therapy arm of the SPAF III study⁴³ the mortality rate was slightly higher at 8.1% (42/521) than 5.3% (9/171) in the combined therapy arm in the AFASAK II study.⁴² Among those patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone, the rate of all-cause mortality was also higher in the SPAF III⁴³ study [35/523 (6.7%)] than in the AFASAK II⁴² study [6/167 (3.6%)], but lower than those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone in the AFASAK II study⁴² [35/523 (6.7%) vs 17/170 (10%), respectively].

The pooled analysis of the SPORTIF studies by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ compared adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months. The rate of all-cause mortality was the same in patients receiving combined therapy or warfarin alone [17/481 (3.5%) vs 112/3172 (3.5%), respectively].

The mortality rate was much higher in the combined therapy arm of the AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies than in the combined therapy arm in the SPORTIF III and V⁶⁹ studies [9/171 (5.3%), 42/521 (8.1%) and 17/481 (3.5%), respectively]. The mortality rate was also much higher in patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone in the SPAF III⁴³ study [35/523(6.7%)] and fixed-dose warfarin alone in the AFASAK II⁴² study [17/170 (10%)], but similar among those patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone in the AFASAK II⁴² and SPORTIF III and V studies [6/167 (3.6%) and 112/3172 (3.5%), respectively].

One study (NASPEAF³⁹) reported randomised comparisons on all-cause mortality comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in high-risk patients, and the combination of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in intermediate-risk patients. The findings of this study are presented in *Table 19*.

The study demonstrated lower rates of all-cause mortality with combined therapy than acenocoumarol alone in the high-risk group [12/223 (5.4%) vs 23/247 (9.3%), respectively; RR 0.58 (95% CI 0.29 to 1.13)] over a median 2.95 year follow-up period, as well as in the intermediate-risk group [6/222 (2.7%) vs 20/232(8.6%), respectively; RR 0.31 (95% CI 0.13 to 0.77), over a median follow-up of 2.6 years, although these differences were not significant.

There was no non-randomised evidence available for all-cause mortality for this comparison.

The FFAACS⁴¹ study demonstrated very similar rates of all-cause mortality for patients treated with adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) in combination with aspirin (100 mg) to those with adjusted-dose

		א ובליטו נוווט נווב טמורטוווב טו מוו-נמנ					
Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)	
Pérez-Gómez <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NASPEAF ³⁹	High risk,ª 2.95 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 223$	Total: ^b 12/223 (5.4) Non-vascular: 6/223 (2.7)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	Total: ^b 23/247 (9.3) Non-vascular: 6/247 (2.4)	0.58 (0.29 to 1.13) 1.11 (0.36 to 3.38)	
	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 222$	Total: ^b 6/222 (2.7) Non-vascular: 4/222 (1.8)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 232	Total: ^b 20/232 (8.6) Non-vascular: 9/232 (3.9)	0.31 (0.13 to 0.77) 0.46 (0.15 to 1.49)	
Lechat <i>et al.</i> , 2001 RCT – FFAACS ⁴¹	High risk, ^d 0.84 years	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + aspirin (100 mg), n = 76	All cause: 3/76 (3.9)	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + placebo, $n = 81$	All cause: 3/81 (3.7)	1.07 (0.22 to 5.12)	
€Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998 RCT – AFASAK II ⁴²	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg),	Total: ^f 9/171 (5.3) Non-vascular: 1/171 (0.6)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0 -3.0), $n = 170$	Total: ^f 6/167 (3.6)	1.46 (0.53 to 4.03)	
		n = 171	Unknown cause: 2/171 (1.2)		Non-vascular: 0/167 (0) Unknown cause: 2/167 (1.2)	2.93 (0.12 to 71.42) 0.98 (0.14 to 6.85)	
				Fixed-dose warfarin	Total: ^f 17/170 (10.0)	0.53 (0.24 to 1.15)	
				(1.25 mg), <i>n</i> = 167	Non-vascular: 2/170 (1.2)	0.50 (0.05 to 5.43)	
					Unknown cause: 3/170 (1.8)	0.66 (0.11 to 3.92)	
SPAF investigators,	High risk, ^f	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR	Total: ⁴ 42/521 (8.1)	Adjusted-dose warfarin	Total: ^f 35/523 (6.7)	1.20 (0.78 to 1.86)	
1940 RUI - SPAF	I.I years	, (20 c 25) nijidsb + (c. i – 2. i n = 521	Non-vascular: 12/521 (2.3)	225 = <i>u</i> '(0.2–0.7 NII)	Non-vascular: 8/523 (1.5)	1.51 (0.62 to 3.65)	
			Indeterminant: 3/521 (0.6)		Indeterminant: 0/523 (0)	7.00 (0.36 to 135.18)	
NR, not reported; NN a Either NVAF with b Includes vascular, c NVAF with no em d Presence of at leas pressure > 160 mn ventricular shorter e Supported by <i>n</i> =	/AF, non-valvulat prior embolism c non-vascular. bolism at baselir st one of history nHg or diastolic ning fraction <2! 1 analysis, 47 whii	r atrial fibrillation. or those with mitral stenosis with a ne. of TE (TIA, non-disabling ischaemic arterial pressure >90 mmHg); recen 5% or LVEF of <40% within 3 mon ich provided duplicate data and are	nd without prior embolism. c stroke or peripheral embolism) it episode (<3 months previously ths before study inclusion).	or aged > 65 years, and at le	east one of history of hypertensic ion in left ventricular function (e	on (systolic arterial chocardiographic left	
ווינימלה עמרלימין	IIOII vascatai, iii						

cause mortality outcome of allreporting the Randomised comparisons **TABLE 19**

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Presence of at least one of impaired LV function manifested by recent (< 100 days); congestive heart disease, or fractional shortening <25% by M-mode echocardiography; systolic blood pressure of > 160 mmHg at study entry; prior ischaemic stroke, transient ischaemic attack or systemic embolism (i.e., prior TE); female sex or aged > 75 years.

σ

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), n	No. of events/ total participants in ACT arm (%)
Bover <i>et al.</i> , 2009 ⁵⁴	Risk NR, 4.92 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR	Non-cardiac: 6/155 (3.9)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol	_
		(600 mg), n = 155	Sudden: 4/155 (2.6)	n = 265	
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9-2.5) + triflusal (300 mg), $n = 120$	Non-cardiac: 3/120 (2.5)		Non-cardiac: 3/265 (1.1)
			Sudden: 0/120 (0)		Sudden: 3/265 (1.1)
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9-2.5) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 34$	Non-cardiac: 1/34 (2.9)		
			Sudden: 1/34 (2.9)		
Flaker <i>et al.</i> , 2006 ⁶⁹	High risk,ª 16.5 months	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (\leq 100 mg), $n = 481$	All: 17/481 (3.5)	Adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 3172	All: 112/3172 (3.5)
		Ximelagatran (36 mg) + aspirin (≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 531	All: 3/531 (0.6)	Ximelagatran (36 mg), <i>n</i> = 3120	All: 95/3120 (3.0)

TABLE 20 Non-randomised comparisons reporting the outcome of all-cause mortality

NR, not reported.

a At least one of the risk factors: previous stroke/TIA/SE, hypertension, left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <40% or symptomatic systolic or diastolic HF), aged ≥75 years or aged ≥65 years with known coronary disease/ diabetes mellitus.

fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus placebo [3/76 (3.9%) vs 3/81 (3.7%), respectively; RR 1.07 (95% CI 0.22 to 5.12], over a mean follow-up period of 0.84 years.

There was no non-randomised evidence available for all-cause mortality for this comparison.

The pooled analysis of SPORTIF trials by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ reported non-randomised comparisons for all-cause mortality comparing ximelagatran (36 mg) plus aspirin (100 mg) with ximelagatran (36 mg) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months. Fewer deaths were observed in patients on combined therapy than in those on ximelagatran alone [3/531 (0.6%) vs 95/3120 (3.0%), respectively]. However, it is to be noted that aspirin use was based on clinical need and thus the comparison may be confounded by indication.^{65,68}

There was no randomised evidence available for all-cause mortality for this comparison.

Summary

Five studies demonstrated that combination therapy with ACT and APT did not confer a reduction in allcause mortality over ACT alone (three randomised^{39,41,42} and two non-randomised^{54,69}).

Mortality due to non-vascular causes

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for mortality due to non-vascular causes comparing combinations of different regimes of warfarin plus aspirin to warfarin alone. There were no non-randomised comparisons identified for this outcome.

The AFASAK II⁴² RCT demonstrated similar rates of mortality due to non-vascular causes in patients receiving the combination of fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) and aspirin (300 mg) compared with those receiving fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) alone [1/171 (0.6%) vs 2/170 (1.2%), respectively); RR 0.50 (95% CI 0.05 to 5.43)] over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years. No non-vascular deaths occurred in patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [1/171 (0.6%) vs 0/167 (0%), respectively); RR 2.93 (95% CI 0.12 to 71.42)]. The stroke risk of this population was not specified.⁴²

The SPAF III⁴³ study demonstrated similar rates of mortality due to non-vascular causes in high-risk patients treated with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg) compared with those treated with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [12/521 (2.3%) vs 8/523(1.5%), respectively); RR 1.51 (95% CI 0.62 to 3.65)] over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.⁴³

There were very few non-vascular deaths in these two RCTs.^{42,43} In the combination therapy arms, the event rate was higher in the SPAF III⁴³ study at 2.3% (12/521) compared with 0.6% (1/171) in the AFASAK II study.⁴² Rates of non-vascular mortality were similar in those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone in the SPAF III⁴³ study [8/523 (1.5%)] and fixed-dose warfarin in the AFASAK II study [2/170 (1.2%)]. No non-vascular deaths occurred in the AFASAK II⁴² study among patients receiving adjusted-dose warfarin. The differences might reflect the methodological heterogeneity between studies as explained previously (see *Between-study differences*).

The NASPEAF³⁹ study reported randomised comparisons on non-vascular cause mortality comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in high-risk patients, and the combination of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in intermediate-risk patients. The findings of this study are presented in *Table 19*.

The study demonstrated similar rates of non-vascular death when combined therapy was compared with acenocoumarol alone in the high-risk group [6/223 (2.7%) vs 6/247(2.4%), respectively; RR 1.11 (95% CI 0.36 to 3.38)] and lower but non-significant non-vascular mortality rates in the intermediate-risk group on combined therapy compared with those on acenocoumarol alone [4/222 (1.8%) vs 9/232 (0.48%), respectively; RR 0.46 (95% CI 0.15 to 10.49].

There were no non-randomised comparisons identified for this outcome.

Summary

Combination therapy with ACT and APT did not confer a reduction in non-vascular mortality over ACT alone in two randomised studies.^{39,42}

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Mortality due to indeterminant or unknown cause

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for mortality due to unknown causes comparing combinations of different regimes of warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone. There were no non-randomised comparisons identified for this outcome.

The AFASAK II study⁴² demonstrated similar rates of mortality from unknown causes across all arms (see *Table 19*). The event rate was 1.2% in patients receiving combination therapy (2/171) and those receiving adjusted-dose warfarin alone [2/167); RR 0.98 (95% CI 0.14 to 6.85)] and similar in those receiving fixed-dose warfarin alone [3/170 (1.8%); RR 0.66 (95% CI 0.11 to 3.92)] over a mean follow-up period of 3.5 years. The stroke risk of this population was not specified.⁴²

The SPAF III⁴³ study demonstrated a higher but statistically non-significant rate of mortality owing to indeterminant causes in high-risk patients treated with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg) than in those treated with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [3/521 (0.6%) vs 0/523 (0%), respectively; RR 7.00 (95% Cl 0.36 to 135.18)] over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.⁴³

The rates of indeterminate mortality were slightly lower in the SPAF III study⁴³ than in the AFASAK II study⁴² in both the combined therapy group as well as those receiving warfarin alone, despite the methodological differences between these two randomised comparisons.^{42,43}

Summary

Combination therapy with ACT and APT did not confer a reduction in mortality from unknown or indeterminant causes over ACT alone in two randomised studies.^{42,43}

Other definitions

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported non-randomised comparisons for non-cardiac and sudden mortality comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus three different antiplatelet regimes (triflusal 600 mg, triflusal 300 mg or aspirin 100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years. A specific definition for either outcome was not specified. There were no randomised comparisons identified for this outcome.

More non-cardiac deaths were observed in patients receiving any of the combined therapy regimes (triflusal 600 mg, triflusal 300 mg or aspirin 100 mg) [6/155 (3.9%, 3/120 (2.5%) and 1/34 (2.9%), respectively] than those receiving adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone [3/265 (1.1%)].⁵⁴

The study reported a higher proportion of sudden deaths in patients receiving a combination of either acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg or acenocoumarol plus aspirin 100 mg than with acenocoumarol alone [4/155 (2.6%), 1/34 (2.9%) vs 3/265 (1.1%), respectively] and a lower rate in those receiving combined acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg than in those receiving acenocoumarol alone [0/120 (0%) vs 3/265 (1.1%), respectively].

Summary

There is no evidence from one non-randomised study for the benefit of combination ACT and APT over ACT alone in the reduction of either non-cardiac or sudden death.⁵⁴

The differences in all-cause mortality reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed above (see *Between-study differences*). In addition, although all-cause mortality was frequently classified as death from non-vascular, indeterminant, unknown or sudden causes, a precise definition of these groupings or subclassifications of mortality was not always supplied in the study reports and/or the definitions may vary between studies for the same subclassification, which may account for some variation in the reported event rates.

Overall summary for mortality (excluding vascular death)

Five studies (three randomised^{39,41,42} and two non-randomised^{54,69}) demonstrated that there is no evidence that combination therapy with ACT plus APT significantly reduces the risk of all-cause^{39,41,42,54,69}, non-vascular,^{39,42} or non-cardiac⁵⁴ mortality, mortality from unknown causes,^{42,43} and sudden death⁵⁴ compared with ACT alone.

Outcome 9: bleeding

Twenty-seven articles yielded outcome data for bleeding.^{39–45,47,51,53,54,56,57,59–65,72,73} Five of these studies in eight articles reported randomised comparisons.^{39–45,47} The remaining 19 articles reported non-randomised comparisons of which 14 were primary studies^{51,53,54,56,57,59–65,72,73} and five were secondary analyses of the SPORTIF III and SPORTIF V studies.^{66–70} Of those that reported non-randomised comparisons, data from four articles are reported in this section,^{54,63,69,73} as the others do not report any further relevant data. These other studies are reported in *Appendix 7* except for the study by Akins *et al.*,⁶⁷ which has been reported elsewhere in the results section of the report; however, for the outcome of bleeding it does not report the number of bleeding events by therapy group.

Bleeding events were reported either on their own or in conjunction with other events such as embolism and mortality. In those studies that reported bleeding alone, bleeding was classified as major, minor or non-severe, and intracranial. A precise definition of these subclassifications was not always supplied in the study reports and/or the definitions may vary between studies for the same subclassification. The findings of the included studies for each of these subclassifications of bleeding are detailed in *Tables 21* and *22*.

All bleeding outcomes

Three studies^{36,41,73} reported all bleeding outcomes, one randomised⁴¹ and two non-randomised^{36,73} comparisons.

One randomised comparison⁴¹ in high-risk patients compared adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin 100 mg with adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus placebo. There were significantly more bleeding events in patients receiving combined therapy than in those on fluindione plus placebo [13/76 (17.1%) vs 2/81 (2.5%), respectively; RR 6.93 (95% CI 1.62 to 29.69] during the mean 0.84-year follow-up.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

	_	~			-	~
к	н	~				~
•	_		U	_		_

ar, Ie	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo) <i>, n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
nez et	High risk, ^b	Adjusted-dose	ICH: 2/223 (0.9)	Adjusted-dose	ICH: 5/247 (2.0)	0.44 (0.09 to 2.26)
BCT –	2.95 years	acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg),	Severe ^c :12/223 (5.4)	acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	Severe: ^c 13/247 (5.3)	1.02 (0.47 to 2.19)
		n = 223	Severe – other: ^d 2/223 (0.9)		Severe – other. ^d 5/247 (2.0)	0.44 (0.09 to 2.26)
			Non-severe: 20/223 (8.9)		Non-severe: 18/247 (7.3)	1.23 (0.67 to 2.27)
	Intermediate risk, e	Adjusted-dose	ICH: 1/222 (0.5)	Adjusted-dose	ICH: 4/232 (1.7)	0.48 (0.05 to 4.21)
	2.6 years	acenocoumarol (INK 1.25–2.0) + triflusal (600 mg),	Severe: ^c 5/222 (2.3)	acenocoumarol (INK 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 232	Severe: 610/232 (4.3)	0.52 (0.18 to 1.50)
		n = 222	Severe – other: ^d 1/222 (0.5)		Severe – other: ^d 5/232 (2.2)	0.21 (0.02 to 1.77)
			Non-severe: 16/222 (7.2)		Non-severe: 15/232 (6.5)	1.11 (0.56 to 2.20)
<i>t.</i> ,	Risk NR, 22 days	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + clopidogrel (75 mg), $n = 20$	Minor: 0/20 (0)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + placebo, n = 23	Minor: 5/23 (21.8)	0.10 (0.01,1.77)
al.,	High risk, ^f	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR	Severe: 3/76 (3.9)	Adjusted-dose	Severe: 1/81 (1.2)	3.19 (0.34 to 30.07)
I	0.84 years	2.0–2.6) + aspirin (100 mg), n = 76	Non-severe: 10/76 (13.2)	Tluindione (INK 2.0–2.6) + placebo,	Non-severe: 1/81 (1.2)	10.66 (1.39 to 81.28)
			All: 13/76 (17.1)	n = 81	All: 2/81 (2.5)	6.93 (1.62 to 29.69)

TABLE 21 Randomised comparisons reporting bleeding outcomes

Author, year, study name	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
^g Gullov <i>et al.</i> , 1998 RCT –	Risk NR, 3.5 years	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25mg) + aspirin (300 mg).	ICH: 0/171 (0)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 170$	ICH: 2/170 (1.2)	0.19 (0.01 to 4.11)
AFASAK 11 ⁴²		n=171	Major: ^h 1/171 (0.6)		Major:' ^h 4/170 (2.4) Minor:42/170 (24.7)	0.25 (0.03 to 2.20) 0.66 (0.43 to 1.02)
				Fixed-dose warfarin	ICH: 1/167 (0.6)	0.33 (0.13 to 7.94)
			Minor: 28/171 (16.4)	(1.25 mg), <i>n</i> = 16/	Major:h 3/167 (1.8)	0.33 (0.03 to 3.09)
					Minor: 21/167 (12.6)	1.30 (0.77 to 2.19)
SPAF 	High risk, ⁱ 1.1 years	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR	ICH: 5/521 (0.9)	Adjusted-dose warfarin	ICH: 3/523 (0.6)	1.67 (0.40 to 6.96)
investigators, 1996 RCT – SPAF		, (221 - 1.2) + aspirin (32) mg/, n= 521	Major:h 13/521 (2.5)	(INK 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 223	Major:h 12/523 (2.3)	1.08 (0.50 to 2.36)
III ⁴³			Minor: 6/521 (1.2)		Minor: 4/523 (0.8)	1.5 (0.43 to 5.30)
 Gl, gastrointestina a Supported by <i>n</i> b Either NVAF wit c Includes fatal bl d Does not includ, e NVAF with no ei f Presence of at le pressure of >16 left ventricular s g Supported by ar h Includes intracer i Presence of at le 	; NR, not reported; NN = 2 subgroup analyse: h prior embolism or th eed, GI bleed and ICH. e GI bleed or ICH. mbolism at baseline. ast one of history of T 0 mmHg or diastolic al nortening fraction< 25 i a nalysis ⁴⁷ that report ebral haemorrhagic ei ast one of the followin iy; systolic blood press	VAF, non-valvular atrial fibrillation. VAF, non-valvular atrial fibrillation. s ^{44,45} that reported duplicate data nose with mitral stenosis with or w FE (TIA, non-disabling ischaemic s rterial pressure > 90 mmHg); recer s% or LVEF<40% within 3 months is duplicate data, not reported ir vents. ng: impaired left ventricular funct sure > 160 mmHg at study entry; p	and are not reported in this tab vithout prior embolism. troke or peripheral embolism) o troke or peripheral embolism) o the study inclusion). this table. this table.	le. r aged > 65 years, and at le ly) of congestive HF or alte days) congestive HF, or fra days) congestive HF, or fra	aast one of history of hypertensi ration in left ventricular functior sctional shortening ≤25% by M- or aged > 75 years.	on (systolic arterial i (echocardiographic mode

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. One non-randomised comparison (PETRO⁷³) compared combinations of different doses of dabigatran (50, 150 and 300 mg) plus different regimes of aspirin (81 and 325 mg) with dabigatran alone (50 mg, 150 mg, 300 mg). Higher proportions of bleeding were found in patients receiving combination therapy at all doses of dabigatran plus aspirin than in those receiving dabigatran alone (see *Table 22*). A higher proportion of bleeding events were observed in patients on the combination therapy of dabigatran 50 mg plus either aspirin 81 mg or 325 mg [2/21 (9.5%) and 3/27 (11.1%), respectively] than in those receiving dabigatran 50 mg alone [2/59 (3.4%)]. A higher proportion of events were observed in patients on the combined therapy of dabigatran 150 mg plus either aspirin 81 or 325 mg [8/36 (22.2%), 7/33 (21.2%), respectively] than in those receiving dabigatran 300 mg plus either aspirin 81 or 325 mg [11/34 (32.4%), 14/30 (46.7%), respectively] suffered a bleeding event than in those receiving dabigatran 300 mg alone [14/105 (13.3%)] during a mean follow-up period of 22 weeks. Randomised comparisons for dabigatran plus an antiplatelet agent compared with dabigatran alone were not identified.

Hansen *et al.*⁶³ reported registry data comparing warfarin (INR target not stated) in combination with either aspirin (dose not stated) or clopidogrel (dose not stated) or both clopidogrel and aspirin (dose not stated), with warfarin alone (dose not stated). The rate of bleeding was similar among patients receiving warfarin plus aspirin or warfarin alone [1209/18,345 (6.6%) vs 3642/50,919 (7.2%], respectively), although the rate of bleeding was slightly lower in patients receiving either warfarin plus clopidogrel (69/1430 (4.8%)] or triple therapy [64/1261 (5.1%)] than in those receiving warfarin alone [3642/50,919 (7.2%)]. However, the use of an antiplatelet agent is confounded by indication and given that bleeding is a contraindication to ATT-only patients felt to be at low risk of bleeding may have been given combination therapy in this non-randomised comparison.

Summary

There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone on the risk of all bleeding. Two studies (one randomised⁴¹ and one non-randomised⁷³) demonstrated higher rates of overall bleeding with some combination therapy (fluindione plus aspirin⁴¹ and dabigatran plus aspirin⁷³) over ACT alone, whereas one other non-randomised study⁶³ found similar levels of bleeding with combination therapy (warfarin plus aspirin or clopidogrel) compared with ACT alone.⁵⁴

Major (or severe) haemorrhage

Four randomised comparisons³⁹⁻⁴³ and three non-randomised comparisons^{54,69,73} reported data on major (or severe) haemorrhage.

The AFASAK II⁴² study defined major haemorrhage as fatal, life-threatening, or potentially life-threatening, requiring surgical treatment or blood transfusion. All life-threatening bleeds were confirmed from hospital records. The SPAF III⁴³ study defined major haemorrhage according to the Landfeld criteria, i.e. overt bleeding that was fatal, life-threatening, potentially life-threatening, or acute or subacute leading to reoperation or moderate or severe blood loss.⁹³ The NASPEAF³⁹ study defined severe haemorrhage as requiring hospital admission, blood transfusion, or surgery. The FFAACS study defined severe haemorrhage as needing treatment (including transfusion) or hospitalisation.⁴¹ These definitions are broadly comparable and are considered equivalent for the purposes of this review.

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for major haemorrhage comparing different regimes of combined warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone. The findings of these studies are reported in *Table 21*.

The AFASAK II⁴² study reported very low event rates with a non-significant difference in rates of major bleeding between combined fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) and adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [1/171 (0.6%) vs 4/170 (2.4%), respectively, RR 0.25, 95% CI 0.03 to 2.20] or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone [1/171 (0.6%) vs 3/167 (1.8%), respectively, RR 0.33, 95% CI 0.03 to 3.09] during the mean 3.5 years of follow-up. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study⁴² was not specified.

The SPAF III⁴³ study reported very similar rates of major bleeding in patients on either adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) or adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF [13/521 (2.5%) vs 12/523 (2.3%), respectively, RR 1.08, 95% CI 0.5 to 2.36] during the mean 1.1-year follow-up period.⁴³

Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ reported non-randomised data on a pooled analysis of the SPORTIF III and V studies comparing combined adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus aspirin (100 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin alone (INR 2.0–3.0) (*Table 22*). Higher rates of major bleeding were reported in the combined therapy group than in the warfarin alone group [25/481 (5.2%) vs 100/3172 (3.2%), respectively] during the mean 16.5-month follow-up.

There were small differences in the event rates of major bleeding in the two RCTs. In the combination therapy arms of the randomised comparisons, the rate of major bleeding was higher in the SPAF III⁴³ study than in the AFASAK II⁴² study [13/521 (2.5%) vs 1/171 (0.6%), respectively], and much lower than the rate of major bleeding with combination warfarin and aspirin therapy in the SPORTIF III and V⁶⁹ studies [25/481 (5.2%)]. However, rates were similar in those receiving warfarin alone in the SPAF III study,⁴³ 12 out of 523 patients (2.3%) to those on either adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone or those receiving fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) alone [4/170 (2.4%) and 3/167 (1.8%), respectively] in the AFASAK II study,⁴² and adjusted-dose warfarin alone in SPORTIF III and V⁶⁹ studies [100/3172 (3.2%)]. Of note is the fact that the SPAF III⁴³ and AFASAK II⁴² studies included intracerebral haemorrhage events in their definitions of major bleeding; however, the SPORTIF studies⁶⁹ include both ICH as well as fatal bleed in the total rate of major haemorrhage. This might also explain the differences in the event rates between these studies in addition to the methodological heterogeneity discussed in detail above (see *Between-study differences*).

The NASPEAF trial³⁹ reported very similar major bleeding event rates in patients on combined adjusteddose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) and those on adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients during the median 2.6-year follow-up [12/223 (5.4%) vs 13/247 (5.3%), respectively, RR 1.02 95% CI 0.47 to 2.19]. The rate of major bleeding was lower, but not significantly so, among intermediate-risk patients receiving combined adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) and triflusal (600 mg) than in those receiving adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone during a median 2.9-year follow-up [5/222 (2.3%) vs 10/232 (4.3%), respectively, RR 0.52, 95% CI 0.18 to 1.50].³⁹

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported data comparing combined adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) in combination with three antiplatelet regimes (triflusal 600 mg and 300 mg, aspirin 100 mg) to adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. Higher rates of bleeding were observed in patients on combined acenocoumarol plus aspirin [7/34 (20.6%)] and lower rates in those on combined acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg [10/155 (6.5%)] or combined acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg [6/120 (5.0%)] than in those on acenocoumarol alone [35/265 (12.1%)] during the mean 4.92 years of follow-up.⁵⁴ However, the population in this study was derived from a cohort of another RCT (see *Between-study differences*).

The FFAACS study⁴¹ reported higher, but not significantly different, rates of major bleeding with combined adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin (100 mg) than with adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus placebo in high-risk patients during the mean 0.84-year follow-up [3/76 (3.9%) vs 1/81 (1.2%), respectively, RR 3.19, 95% CI 0.34 to 30.07].⁴¹

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

There was no non-randomised evidence for this comparison identified for major bleeding.

Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ reported data on a pooled analysis of the SPORTIF III and V studies comparing combined ximelagatran (36 mg twice daily) and aspirin (\leq 100 mg) with ximelagatran (36 mg twice daily) alone. Lower rates of major haemorrhage were reported in patients on combination therapy than in those on ximelagatran alone [2/531 (0.4%) vs 78/3120 (2.5%), respectively] during the 16.5-month follow-up.

The PETRO study⁷³ reported no major bleeding events in patients on dabigatran 50 mg or 150 mg (in combination with aspirin or given alone). However, a higher proportion of patients on combined therapy of dabigatran 300 mg plus either aspirin 81 mg or 325 mg [1/34 (2.9%), 3/30 (10%) respectively] suffered a major bleeding event than those on dabigatran 300 mg alone [0/105 (0%)] during a mean follow-up period of 22 weeks.

Summary

There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone on the risk of major bleeding. Four randomised studies reported relatively low event rates and demonstrated no significant increase in the risk of major bleeding with combination therapy compared with ACT alone.^{39,41-43} Three non-randomised studies reported inconsistent data, with two demonstrating higher rates of major bleeding with some combination therapy (VKAs plus aspirin)^{54,69} over ACT alone, and lower bleeding rates with other combined therapy (VKA plus triflusal⁵⁴ or ximelagatran plus aspirin⁶⁹), whereas the other study reported an increased risk of major bleeding only with the highest dose of ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone.⁷³

Intracranial haemorrhage

Three randomised comparisons^{39,42,43} and no non-randomised comparisons reported data on ICH. None of the studies included a definition of ICH.

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for ICH comparing different regimes of combined warfarin plus aspirin to warfarin alone. The findings of these studies are reported in *Table 21*.

The AFASAK II⁴² study reported very low event rates with a non-significant difference in rates of intracranial bleeding between combined fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) and adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [0/171 (0%) vs 2/170 (1.2%), respectively, RR 0.19, 95% CI 0.01 to 4.11] or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone [0/171, (0%) vs 1/167 (0.6%), respectively, RR 0.33, 95% CI 0.13 to 7.94] during the median 3.5 years of follow-up. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study was not specified.⁴²

The SPAF III⁴³ study reported very similar rates of ICH in patients on either adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) or adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF [5/521 (0.9%) vs 3/523 (0.6%), respectively, RR 1.67, 95% CI 0.4 to 6.96] during the mean 1.1-year follow-up period.⁴³

The rate of ICH was very low and similar in both of these RCTs. In the combined therapy arm, the rate of ICH was 0.9% (5/521) in the SPAF III⁴³ study compared with 0% in the AFASAK II study.⁴² Rates of ICH were similar in those receiving either fixed- or adjusted-dose warfarin in the AFASAK II⁴² study [2/170 (1.2%) and 1/167 (0.6%), respectively] and adjusted-dose warfarin in the SPAF III study [3/523 (0.6%)]. The difference in the rates may be explained by methodological heterogeneity between the included studies (see *Between-study differences*).

The NASPEAF trial³⁹ reported low event rates with non-significant differences in rates of ICH between combined adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg), and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [2/223 (0.9%) vs 5/247 (2.0%), respectively, RR 0.44, 95% CI 0.09 to 2.26] in high-risk patients during the median 2.6-year follow-up, or combined adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus triflusal (600 mg) compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [1/222 (0.5%) vs 4/232 (1.7%), respectively, RR 0.48, 95% CI 0.05 to 4.21] in intermediate-risk patients during a median 2.9-year follow-up.³⁹

Summary

The rate of ICH reported in three randomised studies^{39,42,43} was very low and there was no evidence of a significantly increased risk of ICH with combination therapy over ACT alone.

Minor (or non-severe) bleeding

Five randomised comparisons³⁹⁻⁴³ and no non-randomised comparisons reported data on minor or non-severe bleeding. Definitions for minor bleeding were not clearly specified in these studies.

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies reported randomised comparisons for minor bleeding comparing different regimes of combined warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone. The findings of these studies are reported in *Table 21*.

The AFASAK II⁴² study reported a non-significant difference in rates of minor bleeding when combined fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) plus aspirin (300 mg daily) was compared with either adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [28/171 (16.4%) vs 42/170 (24.7%), respectively, RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.43 to 1.02] or fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg daily) alone [28/171 (16.4%) vs 21/167 (12.6%), respectively, RR 1.30, 95% CI 0.77 to 2.19] during the median 3.5 years of follow-up. The risk profile of the patients enrolled in this study⁴² was not specified.

The SPAF III⁴³ study also reported similar rates of minor haemorrhage in patients on either adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg daily) or adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF [6/521 (1.2%) vs 4/523 (0.8%), respectively, RR 1.5 95% CI 0.43 to 5.30] during the mean 1.1-year follow-up period.⁴³

The rates of minor bleeding were much higher in the AFASAK II⁴² study than in the SPAF III⁴³ study for both the combination therapy [28/171 (16.4%) vs 6/521 (1.2%), respectively] and warfarin-alone arms [adjusted-dose warfarin alone 42/170 (24.7%) vs 4/523 (0.8%), respectively] and 21/167 (12.6%) for fixed-dose warfarin alone in the AFASAK II⁴² study arms.

There was no non-randomised evidence reported for this comparison/outcome combination.

Lidell *et al.*⁴⁰ reported a non-significant difference in rates of minor bleeding between patients on either combined adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus clopidogrel (75 mg), or adjusted-dose warfarin (2.0–3.0) plus placebo [0/20 (0%) vs 5/23 (21.8%), respectively, RR 0.10, 95% CI 0.01 to 1.17] during the mean follow-up of 22 days.

There was no non-randomised evidence for this comparison identified for minor bleeding.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Author, year, study name	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)
^a Hansen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2010 ⁶³	Risk NR, 3.3 years	Warfarin + aspirin, n = 18,345	All: 1209/18,345 (6.6)	Warfarin, <i>n</i> = 50,919	All: 3642/50,919 (7.2)
		Warfarin + clopidogrel, n = 1430	All: 69/1430 (4.8)		
		Warfarin + aspirin + clopidogrel, <i>n</i> = 1261	All: 64/1261 (5.1)		
^b Bover et al.,	Risk NR,	Adjusted-dose	Severe: 10/155 (6.5)	Adjusted-dose	Severe: 32/265
200954	4.92 years	acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal	Fatal: 0/155 (0)	acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0),	(12.1) Fatal: 7/265 (2.6)
		(600 mg), <i>n</i> = 155	GI: 8/155 (5.2)	n = 265	GI: 6/265 (2.3)
		Adjusted-dose	Severe: 6/120 (5.0)		
		acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + triflusal	Fatal: 1/120 (0.8)		
		(300 mg), <i>n</i> = 120	GI: 5/120 (4.2)		
		Adjusted-dose	Severe: ^c 7/34 (20.6)		
		acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) + aspirin	Fatal: 2/34 (5.9)		
		(100 mg), <i>n</i> = 34	GI: 0/34 (0)		
Ezekowitz	≥1 stroke risk criteria,d 22 weeks	Dabigatran (50 mg) + aspirin	Major: 0/21 (0)	Dabigatran	Major: 0/59 (0)
et al., 2007, RCT – PETRO ⁷³		(50 mg) + aspirin (81 mg), <i>n</i> = 21	Clinical relevant + major: 1/21 (4.8)	(50 mg), <i>n</i> = 59	Clinical relevant + major: 0/59(0)
			All: ^e 2/21 (9.5)		All: ^e 2/59 (3.4)
		Dabigatran (50 mg) + aspirin	Major: 0/27 (0)		All: ^e 2/59 (3.4)
		(50 mg) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 27	Clinical relevant + major: 1/27 (3.7)		
			All: ^e 3/27 (11.1)		
		Dabigatran (150 mg) + aspirin (81 mg) $p = 36$	Major: 0/36 (0)	Dabigatran	Major: 0/100 (0) Clinical relevant + major: 9/100 (9.0) All:e 15/100
		(150 mg) + aspirin (81 mg), <i>n</i> = 36	Clinical relevant + major: 2/36 (5.6)	(150 mg), n = 100	Clinical relevant + major: 9/100 (9.0) All: ^e 15/100 (15.0)
			All: ^e 8/36 (22.2)		
		Dabigatran (150 mg) + aspirin (325 mg), $n = 33$	Major: 0/33 (0)		
			Clinical relevant + major: 2/33 (6.1)		
			All: ^e 7/33 (21.2)		
		Dabigatran	Major: 1/34 (2.9)	Dabigatran	Major: 0/105 (0)
		(300 mg) + aspirin (81 mg), <i>n</i> = 34	Clinical relevant + major: 5/34 (14.7)	$(300 \mathrm{mg}), n = 105$	Clinical relevant + major: 6/105 (5 7)
			All: ^e 11/34 (32.4)		All: ^e 14/105
		Dabigatran	Major: 3/30 (10.0)		(13.3)
		(300 mg) + aspirin (325 mg), $n = 30$	Clinical relevant + major: 6/30 (20.0)		
			All: ^e 14/30 (46.7)		

TABLE 22 Non-randomised comparisons reporting bleeding outcomes

Author, year, study name	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo) <i>, n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)
^f Flaker <i>et al</i> ., 2006 ⁶⁹	High risk, ^g 16.5 months	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (\leq 100 mg), $n = 481$	Major: ^h 25/481 (5.2)	Adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 3172	Major: ^h 100/3172 (3.2)
			Major/minor: 251/481 (52.2)		Major/minor: 1199/3172 (37.8)
		Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.) + aspirin	Major: ^h 2/531 (0.4)	Ximelagatran (36 mg b.i.d.),	Major: ^h 78/3120 (2.5)
		(≤100 mg), <i>n</i> = 531	Major/minor: 202/531 (38.0)	n = 3120	Major/minor: 1013/3120 (32.5)

TABLE 22 Non-randomised comparisons reporting bleeding outcomes (continued)

b.i.d., dose administered twice daily; GI, gastrointestinal; NR, not reported.

a Study does not report doses of antithrombotic therapies used.

- b Longitudinal follow-up of randomised cohort of NASPEAF study³⁹ with additional participants.
- c Includes fatal bleed, GI bleed and ICH.
- d All patients with ST-segment elevation MI and undergoing PCI.
- e Also includes clinically relevant, fatal and major bleed.
- f Also reports bleeding outcomes according to individual sites for warfarin or ximelagatran + aspirin vs warfarin or ximelagatran (alone).
- g At least one of the following risk factors: previous stroke/TIA/SE, hypertension, left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <40% or symptomatic systolic or diastolic HF), aged ≥75 years or aged ≥65 years with known coronary disease/diabetes mellitus.
- h Also includes ICH and fatal bleed.

The NASPEAF study³⁹ reported non-significant differences in rates of non-severe haemorrhage between combined adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients during the median 2.6-year follow-up [20/223 (8.9%) vs 18/247 (7.3%), respectively, RR 1.23, 95% CI 0.67 to 2.27] or combined adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus triflusal (600 mg) compared with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone [16/222 (7.2%) vs 15/232 (6.5%), respectively, RR 1.11, 95% CI 0.56 to 2.20] in intermediate-risk patients during a median follow-up of 2.9 years.

There was no non-randomised evidence for this comparison identified for minor bleeding.

The FFAACS trial⁴¹ reported a significant difference in rates of non-severe bleeding, with more events in patients on combined adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin (100 mg), than in those on adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus placebo in high-risk patients during the mean 0.84-year follow-up [10/76 (13.2%) vs 1/81 (1.2%), respectively, RR 10.66, 95% CI 1.39 to 81.28].

There was no non-randomised evidence for this comparison identified for minor bleeding.

The differences in bleeding outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies, which are discussed in detail above (*Between-study differences*). Various definitions of major bleeding were used across included studies (although these were considered broadly comparable for the purposes of this review), and subclassifications of bleeding varied between studies and were not always clearly defined. In addition, the likelihood of bleeding is reduced when the INR is <3.0 and, therefore, studies using INR targets <3.0^{39,42,43,54} in either the intervention and/ or comparator arms may have resulted in few bleeding events. Furthermore, only four studies^{39,40,43,54} (three randomised^{39,40,43} and one non-randomised⁵⁴) reported TTR for ACT plus APT and ACT alone. TTR

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

is associated with the incidence of bleeding events; when TTR is better (\geq 70%) the likelihood of adverse bleeding events is significantly reduced.⁹⁴ Therefore, differences in the TTR may help to explain differences in the bleeding event rates reported. Moreover, in the combined therapy group in the non-randomised studies, those patients with a high risk of bleeding may not have received additional APT and, therefore, potential confounding by indication may also account for differences in the bleeding rates reported.

Summary

Four randomised studies^{39,40,42,43} demonstrated no significant increased risk in minor or non-severe bleeding with combination therapy compared with anticoagulation alone, whereas another small randomised study⁴¹ reported a significant increase in the risk of minor/non-severe bleeding with combined therapy.

Outcome 10: patient quality of life

Of the included studies, no study was identified that reported quality-of-life outcome for the comparisons of interest.

Outcome 11: major adverse events (all-cause mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction and stroke) and other composite outcomes

No study was identified that reported major adverse events comprising all-cause mortality, non-fatal MI and stroke. Six articles^{39,41,43-45,54} reported other composite events, which included combined end points consisting of two or more previously reported outcomes. Three studies (in five articles^{39,41,43-45}) reported randomised comparisons, and one study⁵⁴ reported non-randomised comparisons for various composite end points. The findings of these studies are reported in *Table 23* and *24*, respectively.

Severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, transient ischaemic attack, systemic embolism and vascular death

The NASPEAF study reported a randomised comparison on the composite outcome of severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in high-risk patients, and the combination of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.2–2.0) plus triflusal (600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) in intermediate-risk patients. A lower but statistically non-significant rate of the composite end point occurred in the combined therapy group than in those receiving anticoagulant alone in the high-risk patients [22/223 (9.9%) vs 34/247 (13.8%), respectively, RR 0.72 (95% CI 0.43 to 1.19)] during a median follow-up of 2.95 years. A similar trend was observed in the intermediate-risk group, for which the combination therapy arm demonstrated a lower composite event rate than the acenocoumarol-alone arm [8/222 (3.6%) vs 21/232 (9.1%) respectively, RR 0.40 (95% CI 0.18 to 0.88)] after a median follow-up of 2.6 years (see *Table 23*).

No other study was identified that evaluated this composite outcome.

Embolism, stroke, acute myocardial infarction and vascular death

The NASPEAF study³⁹ reported a randomised comparison on the composite outcome of embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death.

A lower but statistically non-significant rate of the composite end point was observed in patients receiving combined therapy than in those on anticoagulant alone, in both the high-risk patients [13/223 (5.8%) vs 25/247 (10.1%), respectively, RR 0.58 (95% CI 0.30 to 1.10)] during a median follow-up of 2.95 years, as well as the intermediate-risk patients [4/222 (1.8%) vs 8/232 (3.4%), respectively, RR 0.52

TABLE 23 Randomised	d comparisons rep	orting composite events as	outcomes			
Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	No. of events/participants in ACT + APT arm (%)	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT arm (%)	RR (95% CI)
ªPérez-Gómez <i>et</i> al., 2004, RCT – NASPEAF ³⁹	High risk, ^b 2.95 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal	Severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death: 22/223 (9.9)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 247	Severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death: 34/247 (13.8)	0.72 (0.43 to 1.19)
		(600 mg), <i>n</i> = 223	Embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death: 13/223 (5.8)		Embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death: 25/247 (10.1)	0.58 (0.30 to 1.10)
			Non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death: 14/223 (6.3)		Non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death: 29/247 (11.7)	0.53 (0.29 to 0.99)
	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 years	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25–2.0) + triflusal	Severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death: 8/222 (3.6)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 232	Severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death: 21/232 (9.1)	0.40 (0.18 to 0.88)
		(600 mg), <i>n</i> = 222	Embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death: 4/222 (1.8)		Embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death: 8/232 (3.4)	0.52 (0.16 to 1.71)
			Non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death: 5/222 (2.3)		Non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death: 15/232 (16.5)	0.35 (0.13 to 0.94)
Lechat <i>et al.</i> , 2001, RCT – FFAACS ⁴¹	High risk, ^d 0.82 years	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 76$	SE, death: 5/76 (6.6)	Adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) + placebo, $n = 81$	SE and death: 2/81 (2.5)	2.66 (0.53 to 13.33)
SPAF investigators, 1996 RCT – SPAF III ⁴³	High risk, ^e 1.1 years	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), <i>n</i> = 521	Stroke, SE, vascular death: 66/521 (12.7)	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), <i>n</i> = 523	Stroke, SE and vascular death: 37/523 (7.1)	1.79 (1.22 to 2.63)
NVAF, non-valvular atr a Supported by $n = 2$ b Either NVAF with pl c NVAF with no embc	ial fibrillation. subgroup analyses rior embolism or th blism at baseline.	s ⁴⁴⁵ that reported duplicate d nose with mitral stenosis with	lata and were not reported in this and without prior embolism.	table.		
d Presence of at least arterial pressure of (echocardiographic	one of history of T >160 mmHg or dia left ventricular sho	E (TIA, non-disabling ischaem astolic arterial pressure of >90 ortening fraction of <25% or 1	iic stroke or peripheral embolism) mmHg); recent episode (<3 mon VEF of <40% within 3 months be	or aged > 65 years, and at le ths previously) of congestive efore study inclusion).	ast one of history of hypertension HF or alteration in left ventricular f	(systolic function
e Presence of at least echocardiography;	one of the followin systolic blood press	ng: impaired left ventricular fusion of >160mmHg at study (unction manifested by recent (≤10 entry: prior ischaemic stroke, TIA o	00 days) congestive heart dise or SE (i.e. prior TE); female se	ease or fractional shortening of ≤2 :× or aged >75 years.	25% by M-mode

-

(95% CI 0.16 to 1.71)] after a median follow-up of 2.6 years (see *Table 23*). No other study reporting a composite end point of embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death was identified.

Non-fatal stroke, transient ischaemic attack, systemic embolism and vascular death

The NASPEAF study³⁹ reported a lower rate of non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death as a composite end point in patients receiving combined therapy than in those on anticoagulant alone, in both the high-risk patients [14/223 (6.3%) vs 29/247 (11.7%), respectively, RR 0.53 (95% CI 0.29, 0.99)] during a median follow-up of 2.95 years, as well as the intermediate-risk patients [5/222 (2.3%) vs 15/232 (16.5%), respectively, RR 0.35 (95% CI 0.13 to 0.94)] after a median follow-up of 2.6 years (see *Table 23*).

No other study reporting a composite end point of embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death was identified.

Systemic embolism and death

The FFAACS⁴¹ study reported randomised data comparing adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin 100 mg to adjusted-dose fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) alone. Although not significantly different, composite events of SE and death were reported among patients receiving combination therapy compared with patients receiving fluindione alone [5/76 (6.6%) vs 2/81 (2.5%), respectively, RR 2.66 (95% CI 0.53 to 13.33)] during a mean 0.84-year follow-up (see *Table 23*).

No other study reporting the composite end point of SE and death was identified.

Stroke, systemic embolism and vascular death

The SPAF III study⁴³ reported a randomised comparison for rates of the composite outcome of stroke, SE and vascular death comparing adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) plus aspirin (325 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0) alone in high-risk patients with AF. A significantly higher incidence of the composite end point was observed in the combined therapy arm than in those receiving warfarin alone [66/521 (12.7%) vs 37/523 (7.1%), respectively, RR 1.79 (95% CI 1.22 to 2.63)] over a mean follow-up period of 1.1 years.⁴³

No other studies reporting data on this composite end point were identified.

Ischaemic events (all)

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported non-randomised data on the composite outcome of all ischaemic events comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) plus three different regimes of APT (triflusal 600 mg or 300 mg, aspirin 100 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone (INR 2.0–3.0) over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years (see *Table 24*).

A combination of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (target INR 1.9–2.5) with triflusal 600 mg or aspirin 100 mg demonstrated fewer ischaemic events [4/155 (2.6%) and 0/34 (0%), respectively] than acenocoumarol alone [22/265 (8.3%)]. However, patients receiving acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg demonstrated more ischaemic events than those on acenocoumarol alone [11/120 (9.2%) vs 22/265 (8.3%), respectively] (see *Table 23*).

There were no randomised comparisons identified that reported a composite end point of all ischaemic events.

Stroke, systemic/coronary ischaemic events, acute myocardial infarction and mortality

Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported lower rates of the composite end point of stroke, systemic/coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality in patients on combined therapy of acenocoumarol with either triflusal 600 mg, triflusal 300 mg or aspirin 100 mg [9/155 (5.8%), 12/120 (10%) and 3/34 (8.8%), respectively]

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up	ACT + APT, n	No. of events/total participants in ACT + APT group (%)	ACT (alone), <i>n</i>	No. of events/total participants in ACT group (%)
Bover <i>et</i> al., 2009 ⁵⁴	Stroke risk NR,	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR	lschaemic events (all): 4/155 (2.6)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol	
	4.92 years	1.9–2.5) + triflusal (600 mg), <i>n</i> = 155	Stroke, ^a systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 9/155 (5.8)	(INR 2.0–3.0), n = 265	
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR	Ischaemic events (all): 11/120 (9.2)		lschaemic events – all: 22/265 (8.3)
		(300 mg), <i>n</i> = 120	Stroke, ^a systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 12/120 (10)		Stroke, ^a systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 37/265 (13.9)
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9-2.5) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 34$	lschaemic events (all): 0/34 (0)		
			Stroke, ^a systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 3/34 (8.8)		

TABLE 24 Non-randomised comparisons reporting composite events as outcomes

NR, not reported.

a Ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke.

than those on acenocoumarol alone [37/265 (13.9%)] over a mean follow-up period of 4.92 years. Of note is the fact that this study consisted of the majority of patients enrolled from another RCT (see *Between-study differences*).

There were no randomised comparisons identified that reported the composite end point of stroke, systemic/coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality.

The differences in major adverse event outcomes reported in the included studies may reflect the methodological differences between these studies discussed in detail above (*Between-study differences*). Different combinations of major adverse events were examined in composite events in each of the included studies and, therefore, it is not possible to compare across studies.

Summary

Although lower major adverse event rates were observed in three studies^{39,41,54} (two randomised^{39,41} and one non-randomised⁵⁴) with combination therapy for the composite end points of severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death,³⁹ embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death,³⁹ SE and death,⁴¹ and stroke, systemic/coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality,⁵⁴ and all ischaemic events⁵⁴ than anticoagulation alone, the reduction was not significantly different between the ACT and APT vs ACT alone in the two randomised studies.^{39,41} Combination therapy conferred a significantly increased risk of the composite end point of stroke, SE and vascular death compared with ACT alone in one randomised study.⁴³

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Outcome 12: revascularisation procedures

No studies were identified that reported the outcome of revascularisation procedures comparing combined anticoagulant plus APT with ACT alone.

Outcome 13: percentage time in therapeutic international normalised ratio range

Four studies^{39,40,42,54} reported in four articles provided outcome data on percentage time in therapeutic INR range (TTR) for ACT in both the intervention (combined anticoagulation plus APT) and comparator (ACT-alone) arms. Of these, three studies^{39,40,42} reported randomised comparisons and one study⁵⁴ reported non-randomised comparisons. The characteristics of these studies have been reported previously in *Tables* 4 and 6, respectively, and the findings of these studies are reported in *Tables 25* and 26, respectively.

Lidell *et al.*⁴⁰ and the SPAF III study⁴³ reported TTR for warfarin plus clopidogrel⁴⁰ or warfarin plus aspirin⁴³ and warfarin alone.^{40,43} In the study by Lidell *et al.*,⁴⁰ TTR was reported to be 100% in both therapy arms,⁴⁰ whereas the SPAF III⁴³ study reported TTR to be 54% in the combined therapy arm and 61% in the warfarin-alone arm.⁴³ It should be noted that the SPAF III study⁴³ consisted of a longer follow-up period of a mean of 1.1 years, whereas Lidell *et al.*⁴⁰ followed up only 43 patients over a mean follow-up period of 22 days. Furthermore, the SPAF III⁴³ study used multiple centres utilising testing reagents with multiple sensitivities, whereas Lidell *et al.*⁴⁰ report a central assessment laboratory for all samples.

The NASPEAF study³⁹ reported TTR for acenocoumarol plus triflusal and acenocoumarol alone in high- and intermediate-risk groups. A TTR of 73% was reported in patients receiving combination therapy and 67% in those receiving acenocoumarol alone in the high-risk category. TTR was similar in both therapy arms in the intermediate-risk group (66% in combination therapy arm and 65% in acenocoumarol alone).

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up, no. of centresª	ACT + APT, n	TTR [% (SD)] in ACT + APT arm	ACT (alone or ACT + placebo), <i>n</i>	TTR [% (SD)] in ACT-alone arm
Pérez-Gómez <i>et al.</i> , 2004, RCT – NASPEAF ³⁹	High risk, ^ь 2.95 years, NR	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4-2.4) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 223$	73 (22)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 247	67 (22)
	Intermediate risk, ^c 2.6 years, NR	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.25-2.0) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 222$	66 (25)	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0), n = 232	65 (22)
Lidell <i>et al</i> . ⁴⁰	Stroke risk NR, 22 days, 1	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0-3.0) + clopidogrel (75 mg), $n = 20$	100	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 23$	100
SPAF investigators, 1996 RCT – SPAF ⁴³	High risk, ^d 1.1 years, multiple ^e	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg), $n = 521$	54	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0), $n = 170$	61

TABLE 25 Randomised comparisons reporting TTR of ACT

NR, not reported; SD, standard deviation; NVAF, non-valvular atrial fibrillation; TTR, % time in therapeutic INR range.

a No. of centres involved in conducting INR tests for anticoagulation control.

b Either NVAF with prior embolism or those with mitral stenosis with and without prior embolism.

c NVAF with no embolism at baseline.

d Presence of at least one of the following: impaired left ventricular function manifested by recent (≤ 100 days) congestive heart disease, or fractional shortening $\leq 25\%$ by M-mode echocardiography; systolic blood pressure >160 mmHg at study entry; prior ischaemic stroke, TIA or SE (i.e. prior TE); female sex or aged >75 years.

e Multiple clinical laboratories using thromboplastin reagents of varying sensitivities.

Author, year	Stroke risk, follow-up, no. of centres ^a	ACT + APT, <i>n</i>	TTR % in ACT + APT arm	ACT (alone), <i>n</i>	TTR % in ACT-alone arm
Bover <i>et</i> al., 2009 ⁵⁴	Risk NR. 4.92 years, 2	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR $1.9-2.5$) + triflusal (600 mg), $n = 155$	54.2	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol	62
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR $1.9-2.5$) + triflusal (300 mg), $n = 121$	59.1	(INR 2.0-3.0), n = 265	
		Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR $1.9-2.5$) + aspirin (100 mg), $n = 34$	53		
NR, not repo	orted; TTR, % time in th	nerapeutic range.			

TABLE 26 Non-randomised comparisons reporting TTR of the ACT

a No. of centres involved in conducting INR tests for anticoagulation control.

The non-randomised comparison by Bover et al.⁵⁴ reported a lower TTR in the patients receiving combination acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg (54.2%) and those receiving combination acenocoumarol plus aspirin 100 mg (53%) than in those receiving adjusted-dose acenocoumarol alone (62%). TTR was similar in patients receiving combination acenocoumarol plus triflusal 300 mg to those receiving acenocoumarol alone (59.1% vs 62%, respectively).

The TTR varied markedly between the studies. The study by Lidell et al.40 achieved 100% TTR in both treatment groups, probably as a result of the small sample size and the relatively short follow-up period. In the combined therapy arms of the other two randomised comparisons, TTR was higher in NASPEAF³⁹ in both the high- and intermediate-risk groups than in the SPAF III⁴³ study (73% and 66% vs 54%, respectively). TTR was lower in all three combined therapy arms of the non-randomised comparison⁵⁴ than in the combined therapy arms in two of the RCTs, ^{39,40} which may be a reflection of the tighter INR control undertaken in RCTs than in non-RCTs settings but similar to TTR in the SPAF III study.43 TTR was similar in the anticoagulation-alone arms of NASPEAF³⁹ (67% and 65% in high- and intermediate-risk patients, respectively), the SPAF III⁴³ study (61%) and Bover et al.⁵⁴ (62%).

Summary

Of the four studies^{39,40,43,54} that reported percentage TTR, TTR was higher in those receiving combination ACT plus APT in one randomised study,³⁹ the same (100% TTR) in another randomised study⁴⁰, and lower in two other studies^{43,54} (one randomised⁴³ and one non-randomised⁵⁴) than in those receiving ACT alone. INR control, evidenced by TTR, may have impacted on the event rates for each of the outcomes reported.

Summary of results according to interventions and comparator

Vitamin K antagonist plus antiplatelet therapy compared with vitamin K antagonist alone

Warfarin, acenocoumarol and fluindione were the VKAs investigated in the included studies. A summary of their findings according to the intervention and comparator are detailed as follows, and Forrest plots (without summary estimates) are available in Appendix 8.

Warfarin plus aspirin compared with warfarin alone

This comparison was investigated in five articles.^{42,43,63,68,69} Of these, two studies reported randomised comparisons^{42,43} and the remaining three were non-randomised comparisons.^{63,68,69} Table 27 presents the

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

outcomes of these studies. Warfarin and aspirin dosage differed across the studies, along with significant population heterogeneity.

In both RCTs, AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III,⁴³ event rates for all categories of stroke were low and similar in patients on combined warfarin [fixed dose⁴² or adjusted dose (INR 1.2–1.5)⁴³] plus aspirin (300⁴² or 325 mg⁴³) to those on warfarin [fixed dose⁴² or adjusted dose (INR 1.2–1.5)^{42,43}] alone, except for ischaemic strokes, for which both studies rates were higher with combination therapy than ACT alone, but not significantly so.

Of the non-randomised comparisons, only Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ reported outcome data for stroke comparing adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus \leq 100 mg aspirin with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, indicating a similar rate of strokes across the two arms.

Differences in the rates of TIA and SE outcomes between the study arms was not significantly different in both the AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III studies.⁴³ No non-randomised study was identified that reported TIA and SE outcome for warfarin plus aspirin compared with warfarin alone.

The rate of the combined end point of stroke and SE was similar across the study arms in the AFASAK II study,⁴² whereas the SPAF III⁴³ study reported higher rates in patients on combined warfarin plus aspirin than in those with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. The non-randomised comparison by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ demonstrated similar rates across the study arms. A subgroup of patients from this cohort with a history of previous embolism was analysed by Akins *et al.*⁶⁸ demonstrating a higher proportion of patients in the combined therapy arm suffering the end point of stroke or SE than in those on warfarin alone.

The SPAF III⁴³ and AFASAK II⁴² RCTs did not demonstrate a significant difference in the event rates of AMI between combination therapy and warfarin alone. Flaker *et al.*,⁶⁹ in their non-randomised comparison also demonstrated similar events of AMI in patients on combined therapy compared with those on warfarin alone.

Similar rates of vascular mortality were observed across the study arms in the two RCTs.^{42,43} No non-randomised comparisons were identified that reported vascular mortality comparing combined warfarin plus aspirin with warfarin alone.

The AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies demonstrated no significant difference in the rates of all-cause mortality in the combined therapy arms compared with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ reported a similar proportion of all-cause mortality across arms in a non-randomised comparison.

Similar rates of haemorrhage (intracranial, major and minor) were reported in the combined therapy group compared with warfarin alone in both the AFASAK II⁴² and SPAF III⁴³ studies. Of the non-randomised comparisons, Hansen *et al.*⁶³ reported a smaller proportion of patients suffering a haemorrhagic event in patients on combined therapy than in those on warfarin alone, in a large non-randomised cohort of patients with AF (n = 118,606), followed up over a period of 3.3 years. The study by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ however, demonstrated a higher proportion of patients experiencing haemorrhage in the combined therapy group than in those on warfarin alone over a period of 16.5 months.

Significantly higher rates of the composite end point of stroke, SE and vascular death were reported in patients on combined warfarin plus aspirin than in those on warfarin alone in the SPAF III study.⁴³ No other study reported outcomes for this comparison.

The SPAF III⁴³ RCT reported TTRs that were within the therapeutic range (in this case between INR 1.5–2.5) for patients on combined therapy for 54% of the time and those on warfarin alone were reported to be within therapeutic range (INR 2.0–3.0) for 61% of the time.

Of the studies that reported randomised comparisons, the AFASAK II study⁴² was prematurely terminated when results of the SPAF-III trial⁴² were published, demonstrating the superiority of adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, over the combination of adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–2.5) and aspirin 325 mg, in preventing stroke or SE.⁴² Both of these comparisons used different open-label warfarin regimes in the combination and comparator arm, and different doses of aspirin (300 mg AFASAK II⁴² and 325 mg SPAF III⁴³), and had varying lengths of follow-up (mean 3.5 years in the AFASAK II⁴² study and mean 1.1 years in the SPAF III⁴³ study). The SPAF III⁴³ study did not consider diabetes mellitus a stroke risk factor, which could have introduced patients at lower risk of stroke into the study, whereas the AFASAK II⁴² study did not specify stroke risk. Of the non-randomised studies, aspirin was administered at the physician's discretion.^{63,69} One study was conducted on hospitalised patients in whom the dosage of warfarin and aspirin was not reported.⁶³ These factors make it potentially difficult to infer a clear effect of combined therapy on vascular events in a high-risk AF population.

Warfarin plus clopidogrel compared with warfarin alone

This comparison was investigated in two studies, of which one was a randomised comparison⁴⁰ (the other reported a non-randomised comparison⁶³). *Table 27* presents the outcomes of these studies. Of note is the dearth of studies conducted on a group of patients with AF at a specified high risk of stroke randomised to combined therapy of adjusted-dose warfarin (INR of 2.0–3.0) plus clopidogrel and adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone.

Data were available only for rates of haemorrhage in these two studies. Lidell *et al.*⁴⁰ reported very low event rates for minor haemorrhage in a randomised comparison of a small, predominantly male, sample size (n = 43), followed up over a very short period of time (22 days). Furthermore, Hansen *et al.*⁶³ reported a higher proportion of patients suffering from haemorrhage in the warfarin group than in the combined therapy group in a large sample size (n = 118,606) of hospitalised patients followed up over a period of 3.3 years. Clopidogrel was administered according to physician's discretion in this study. Furthermore, the dosage of both warfarin or clopidogrel was unknown in this study.⁶³ Therefore, from the available evidence, it is difficult to determine the effect of combined therapy on vascular events.

Warfarin plus aspirin plus clopidogrel (triple therapy) compared with warfarin alone

One non-randomised study⁶³ investigated this comparison.⁶³

Data were available only for rates of haemorrhage for this comparison. Hansen *et al.*⁶³ reported a higher proportion of patients suffering from haemorrhage in the warfarin-only group than in the triple therapy group. Although the study was conducted on a large sample size (n = 118,606) over a mean of 3.3 years of follow-up, the dosage of warfarin, aspirin or clopidogrel was not reported. Furthermore, APT was administered at physician's discretion. The evidence is, therefore, insufficient to determine the benefit of combined therapy over warfarin alone for vascular events.

Fluindione plus aspirin compared with fluindione alone

This comparison was investigated in one randomised study⁴¹ comparing fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus aspirin (100 mg) with fluindione (INR 2.0–2.6) plus placebo in high-risk patients with AF over a mean follow-up period of 0.84 years. Non-randomised evidence was not identified for this comparison.

The study⁴¹ reported very low event rates of SE, vascular death, all-cause mortality, and the composite end point of non-fatal SE and vascular death, with non-significant differences between combined therapy and fluindione plus placebo. However, a significantly higher rate of haemorrhage was observed in patients on combination therapy than in those on fluindione plus placebo. The study was conducted on a small sample size (n = 157) over a mean follow-up period of 0.84 years on a high-risk AF population, 85% of whom were anticoagulant experienced at entry. Of note is the low event rate and premature termination of the trial because of a low enrolment rate. All of these factors render it difficult to meaningfully evaluate the benefit of combination therapy over anticoagulant alone for this combination.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Acenocoumarol plus aspirin compared with acenocoumarol alone

This comparison was investigated in one non-randomised comparison by Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴ comparing adjusted-dose acenocoumarol targeting an INR range of 1.9–2.5 plus aspirin 100 mg with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone. The study⁵⁴ also compared the combination of acenocoumarol plus different regimes of triflusal (300 and 600 mg) with acenocoumarol alone. These comparisons have been reported in previous sections. Many of the patients in the study had been participants in the NASPEAF RCT;³⁹ however, it was difficult to identify which patients these were, what – if any –subsequent treatment they received and, thus, their influence on the findings of this non-randomised comparison.⁵⁴

The study⁵⁴ reported a very small number of outcome events, with fewer events of strokes (total), SE and AMI in the combined therapy group than in the acenocoumarol-alone group. The study⁵⁴ also reported the composite end points of ischaemic events, stroke, AMI and mortality with no significant differences in events in patients on combined therapy compared with those on acenocoumarol alone. However, patients on combination therapy demonstrated more non-cardiac and sudden deaths, along with a greater prevalence of severe, fatal, and non-GI bleeding than those on acenocoumarol alone.

Of note is, the considerably greater prevalence of stroke risk factors in the patients on acenocoumarol plus aspirin (embolism or age >75 years, males, HF, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidaemia, coronary disease, smokers) than in those on acenocoumarol alone.⁵⁴ There were very few patients in the combined therapy group (n = 34) compared with those on acenocoumarol alone (n = 265). Therefore, it is difficult to conclude the benefit of combined therapy over acenocoumarol alone.

Acenocoumarol plus triflusal compared with acenocoumarol alone

This comparison was investigated in two studies: one reporting a randomised comparison³⁹ and one a non-randomised comparison.⁵⁴ No study was identified with a clearly specified group of patients with AF, at a high-risk of stroke, randomised to combination therapy of adjusted-dose acenocoumarol targeting an INR of 2.0–3.0 plus triflusal and adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone.

Acenocoumarol and triflusal dosage differed between the studies. The NASPEAF study³⁹ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol in different regimes (INR 1.4–2.4 and INR 1.25–2.0) plus triflusal 600 mg, with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone in patients at a high risk and intermediate risk of stroke. Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ compared adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.9–2.5) combined with different regimes of triflusal (600 mg, 300 mg) with adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0) alone, wherein most patients consisted of previously randomised patients in the NASPEAF RCT.³⁹ As mentioned previously it was difficult to identify the specific distribution of these patients.⁵⁴ It is also important to note that patients on combined therapy had more stroke risk factors than patients on acenocoumarol alone (combination with triflusal 600 mg; greater percentage of patients with previous embolism and dyslipidaemia; combination therapy with triflusal 300 mg consisted of more patients with previous embolism and bylipidaemia).

The NASPEAF RCT³⁹ reported no difference in rates of non-fatal stroke between combination ACT plus APT and ACT alone in either a high- or intermediate-risk population.³⁹ Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported a higher proportion of patients on acenocoumarol alone suffering a stroke than in those on combination therapy with acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg, whereas a similar number of events were reported in patients on combined acenocoumarol and triflusal 300 mg than in those receiving acenocoumarol alone (see *Table 27*).

Similar rates of TIA were observed in both treatment arms in the high- and intermediate-risk population in the NASPEAF RCT.³⁹ No non-randomised evidence was identified reporting TIA for this comparison.

Very few events of non-fatal SE were observed in the NASPEAF study.³⁹ The non-randomised comparison study by Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ demonstrated fewer events of SE in patients on combined therapy (with either triflusal 600 mg or 300 mg) than in those on acenocoumarol alone.

Rates of the combined end point of stroke and SE were similar across the arms in both the high-risk group as well as the intermediate-risk group in the NASPEAF study.³⁹ Non-randomised comparisons were not identified for this end point.

No AMI events were reported in the NASPEAF study.³⁹ However, Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ demonstrated slightly fewer AMI events in patients on combined therapy (with either triflusal 600 mg or 300 mg) than in those on acenocoumarol alone.⁵⁴

The NASPEAF study³⁹ demonstrated significantly lower rates of vascular mortality in patients on combined acenocoumarol plus triflusal 600 mg than in those on acenocoumarol alone in both the high- and intermediate-risk groups.

A non-significant lower rate of all-cause mortality was reported in the high-risk group in the NASPEAF study³⁹ for the combination therapy. This difference was more pronounced in intermediate-risk patients and reached statistical significance. A lower rate of all-cause mortality was reported in patients on combined therapy than in those on acenocoumarol alone in the intermediate-risk group.³⁹ Furthermore, Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴ in their non-randomised comparison, reported a higher proportion of non-cardiac deaths in patients on combined therapy (acenocoumarol plus either triflusal 600 mg or triflusal 300 mg) than in those on acenocoumarol alone.

No significant differences in the rates of intracranial, severe, non-severe or gastrointestinal (GI) haemorrhage were reported in the randomised NASPEAF study³⁹ comparing the combination of acenocoumarol plus triflusal with acenocoumarol alone in high- and intermediate-risk patients.³⁹ Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported a smaller proportion of patients suffering a severe, fatal or a non-GI haemorrhage in the combined therapy group(s) (acenocoumarol plus either triflusal 600 mg or triflusal 300 mg) than in the acenocoumarol-alone group. However, more patients in the combination therapy group(s) demonstrated GI bleeding than those on acenocoumarol alone.

The rate of the combined end points of non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death was significantly lower in patients on combined acenocoumarol plus additional triflusal 600 mg than in those on acenocoumarol alone in both high- and intermediate-risk groups.³⁹ A similar trend was observed for the combined end point of severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death in the intermediate-risk group in the NASPEAF study.³⁹ Furthermore, Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported fewer events of composite end points (ischaemic events, and stroke, systemic events, AMI and mortality) in the combined therapy group(s) than in the acenocoumarol-alone group.

The NASPEAF study³⁹ reported slightly better TTR of acenocoumarol in the combination therapy arm than in the acenocoumarol-alone arm in the high-risk group. However, in a non-randomised comparison, Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported slightly better TTR in patients on acenocoumarol alone than in those on combination therapy of acenocoumarol plus either triflusal 300 mg or 600 mg.

Overall, there seem to be fewer negative events in the combined therapy arms, with statistically significant differences in the mortality rates and composite end points, than in the acenocoumarol-alone arms in either the high- or the intermediate-risk groups in the randomised NASPEAF study.³⁹ However, there seems to be no statistically significant difference in rate of haemorrhage between the two arms in either risk group.³⁹ A similar trend was demonstrated in the non-randomised comparison by Bover *et al.*,⁵⁴ with fewer patients suffering stroke, SE, bleeding and composite end points in the combined therapy group than in the acenocoumarol-alone group.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

	Population, design	Intervention: ACT + APT	Comparator: ACT only	Outcomes: event % i ACT alone, RR (95% (n ACT + APT vs Cl)	event % in
Name of study	Study design, stroke risk, follow-up	Dose of ACT, dose of APT (n)	Dose (n)	Stroke	TIA	SE
Warfarin + as	spirin vs warfari	in alone				
1998 (RCT – AFASAK II ⁴²)	3.5 years	Fixed dose 1.25 mg, 300 mg (171)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0, (170)	All: 6.4 vs 5.9, 1.09 (0.48 to 2.51) Non-infarct: 1.8 vs 1.8, 0.99 (0.20 to 4.86) Minor: 2.3 vs 0, 8.95 (0.49 to 164.92) Disabling: 2.3 vs 1.8, 1.33 (0.30 to 5.83) Fatal: 0 vs 0 to not estimable Haemorrhagic: 0 vs 0.6, 0.33 (0.01 to 8.08) Ischaemic: 4.7 vs 1.8, 2.65 (0.72 to 9.82) Non-disabling: 1.8 vs 2.4, 0.75 (0.17 to 3.28)	1.2 vs 0.6, 1.99 (0.18 to 21.72)	All: 0.6 vs 1.2, 0.50 (0.05 to 5.43) Fatal: 0.6 vs 0, 2.98 (0.12 to 72.70)
			Fixed dose 1.25 mg, (167)	All: 6.4 vs 7.8, 0.83 (0.38 to 1.79) Non-infarct: 1.8 vs 3.6, 0.49 (0.12 to 1.92) Minor: 2.3 vs 1.8, 1.30 (0.30 to 5.73) Disabling: 2.3 vs 1.2, 1.95 (0.36 to 10.52) Fatal: 0 vs 1.2 to 0.20 (0.01 to 4.04) Haemorrhagic: 0 vs 0, not estimable Ischaemic: 4.7 vs 2.9, 1.56 (0.52 to 4.68) Non-disabling: 1.8 vs 2.4, 0.73 (0.17 to 3.22)	1.2 vs 2.4, 0.49 (0.09 to 2.63)	All: 0.6 vs 0.6, 0.98 (0.06 to 15.49) Fatal: 0.6 vs 0.6, 0.98 (0.06 to 15.49)

TABLE 27 Outcomes reported according to the intervention and comparator

Stroke + SE	AMI	Vascular mortality	All-cause mortality	Bleeding (any)	TTR	Composite events
7.0 vs 7.1, 0 0.99 (0.46 to 0 2.15) t	0 vs 2.4, <i>0.11 (0.01</i>	vs 2.4, 1.8 vs 2.9, 11 (0.01 0.60 (0.14 2.04) to 2.46)	Total: 5.3 vs 3.6, 1.46 (0.53 to	ICH: 0 vs 1.2, 0.19 (0.01 to 4.11)	N/A	NR
	to 2.04) to 2		4.03) Non-vascular: 0.6 vs 0, 2.93 (0.12 to 71.42)	Major: 0.6 vs 2.4, 0.25 <i>(0.03 to 2.20)</i>		
				Minor: 16.4 vs 24.7, 0.66 <i>(0.43 to 1.02)</i>		
			Unknown cause: 1.2 vs 1.2, <i>0.98</i> <i>(0.14 to 6.85)</i>			

7.0 vs 8.4, 0.84 (0.40 to 1.76)	0 vs 3.6, 0.08 (0.00 to 1.32)	1.8 vs 1.2, 1.46 (0.25 to 8.66)	Total: 5.3 vs 10.0, <i>0.53 (0.24</i> <i>to 1.15)</i>	ICH: 0 vs 0.6, <i>0.33</i> (0.13 to 7.94) Major: 0.6 vs.1.8,	N/A	NR
			Non-vascular: 0.6 vs 1.2, <i>0.50</i>	0.33 (0.03 to 3.09) Minor: 16.4 vs.12.6.		
			(0.05 to 5.43) Unknown cause:	1.30 (0.77 to 2.19)		
			1.2 vs 1.8, 0.66 (0.11 to 3.92)			

continued

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

	Population, design	Intervention: ACT + APT	Comparator: ACT only	Outcomes: event % i ACT alone, RR (95% C	n ACT + APT vs [])	event % in
Name of study	Study design, stroke risk, follow-up	Dose of ACT, dose of APT (n)	Dose (n)	Stroke	TIA	SE
SPAF investigators, 1996 (RCT – SPAF III) ⁴³	Randomised, high risk,ª NR, 3.5 years	Adjusted dose INR 1.2–1.5, 325 mg (521)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (523)	Disabling: 5.9 vs 1.9, 2.83 (1.44 to 5.57) Ischaemic: 8.3 vs 2.1, 3.92 (2.05 to 7.52) Ischaemic (fatal): 0.9 vs 0.2, 5.02 (0.59 to 42.81)	4.4 vs 2.9, 1.54 (0.81 to 2.92)	0.2 vs 0, 3.01 (0.12 to 73.75)
Hansen <i>et</i> al., 2010 ⁶³	Non- randomised, risk NR, 3.3 years	NR, NR (18,345)	NR (50,919)	NR	NR	NR
Flaker <i>et al.,</i> 2006 ⁶⁹	Non- randomised, high risk, ^b 16.5 months	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0, ≤100 mg (481)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (3172)	All: 2.3 vs 2.1	NR	NR
Akins <i>et al</i> ., 2007 ⁶⁷	Non- randomised, high risk ^b , 16.5 months	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0, ≤100 mg (156)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (567)	NR	NR	NR
Warfarin + clo	opidogrel vs wa	rfarin alone				
Lidell <i>et al</i> ., 2003 ⁴⁰	Randomised, risk NR, 22 days	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0, 75 mg (20)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (23)	NR		NR
Hansen et al., 2010 ⁶³	Non- randomised, risk NR, 3.3 years	NR, NR (1430)	NR (50,919)	NR		NR
Warfarin + as	pirin + clopidog	rel vs warfarin a	alone			
Hansen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2010 ⁶³	Non- randomised, risk NR, 3.3 years	NR, NR (1261)	NR (50,919)	NR		NR

TABLE 27 Outcomes reported according to the intervention and comparator (continued)

Stroke + SE	AMI	Vascular mortality	All-cause mortality	Bleeding (any)	TTR	Composite events
8.4 vs 2.1, 4.02 (2.10 to 7.69)	1.9 vs 1.0, 2.01 (0.69 to 5.83)	5.2 vs 5.2, 1.00 (0.60 to 1.69)	Total: 8.1 vs 6.7, 1.20 (0.78 to 1.86) Non-vascular: 2.3 vs 1.5, 1.51 (0.62 to 3.65) Indeterminant: 0.6 vs 0, 7.00 (0.36 to 135.18)	ICH: 0.9 vs 0.6, 1.67 (0.40 to 6.96) Major: 2.5 vs 2.3, 1.08 (0.50 to 2.36) Minor: 1.2 vs 0.8, 1.5 (0.43 to 5.30)	54 vs 61	Stroke, SE, vascular death: 12.7 vs 7.1, 1.79 (1.22 to 2.63)
NR	NR	NR	NR	All: 6.6 vs 7.2	NR	
2.3 vs 2.2	0.8 vs 1.5	NR	3.5 vs 3.5	Major: 5.2 vs 3.2 Major/minor: 52.2 vs 37.8	NR	
6.9 vs 4.1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
NR	NR	NR	NR	Minor: 0 vs 21.8, 0.10 (0.01 to 1.77)	100 vs 100	
NR	NR	NR	NR	All: 4.8 vs 7.2	NR	
NR	NR	NR	NR	All: 5.1 vs 7.2	NR	
						continued

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

	Population, design	Intervention: ACT + APT	Comparator: ACT only	Outcomes: event % i ACT alone, RR (95% o	n ACT + APT vs Cl)	event % in
Name of study	Study design, stroke risk, follow-up	Dose of ACT, dose of APT (n)	Dose (n)	Stroke	TIA	SE
Acenocouma	rol + aspirin vs	acenocoumarol	alone			
Bover <i>et al.,</i> 2009 ⁵⁴	Non- randomised, risk NR, 4.92 years	Adjusted dose INR 1.9–2.5, 100 mg (34)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (265)	All: 2.9 vs 5.7 Haemorrhagic: 2.9 vs 1.9 Lethal: 2.9 vs 1.5	NR	0 vs 2.6
Acenocouma	rol + triflusal vs	acenocoumarol	alone			
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2004, (RCT – NASPEAF ³⁹)	Randomised, high risk, ^c 2.95 years	Adjusted dose INR 1.4–2.4, 600 mg (223)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (247)	Non-fatal: 2.7 vs 2.4, 1.11 (0.36 to 3.38)	0.9 vs 1.2, 0.74 (0.12 to 4.38)	Non-fatal: 0 vs 1.2, 0.16 (0.01 to 3.05)
	Randomised, intermediate risk, ^e 2.6 years	Adjusted dose INR 1.25–2.0, 600 mg (222)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (232)	Non-fatal: 1.4 vs 1.3, 1.05 (0.21 to 5.12)	0 vs 0, not estimable	Non-fatal: 0 vs 0.4, 0.35 (0.01 to 8.50)
Bover <i>et al</i> ., 2009 ⁵⁴	Non- randomised, risk NR, 4.92 years	Adjusted dose INR 1.9–2.5, 600 mg (155)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (265)	All: 3.2 vs 5.7 Haemorrhagic: 0.6 vs 1.9 Lethal: 1.3 vs 1.5	NR	0 vs 2.6
		Adjusted dose INR 1.9–2.5, 300 mg (120)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–3.0 (265)	All: 6.7 vs 5.7 Haemorrhagic: 0 vs 1.9 Lethal: 2.5 vs 1.5	NR	1.7 vs 2.6

TABLE 27 Outcomes reported according to the intervention and comparator (continued)
Stroke + SE	AMI	Vascular mort <u>ality</u>	All-cause mortality	Bleeding (any)	TTR	Composit <u>e events</u>
NR	0 vs 1.9	NR	Non-cardiac: 2.9 vs 1.1 Sudden: 2.9 vs 1.1	Severe: 20.6 vs 12.1 Fatal: 5.9 vs 2.6 GI: 0 vs 2.3 Non-GI: 20.6 vs 9.8	53 vs 62	Ischaemic events (all): 0 vs 8.3 Stroke, systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 8.8 vs 13.9
Stroke ^d /any embolism: 5.4 vs 8.1, 0.66 (0.33 to 1.33) Stroke ^d /fatal embolism: 1.8 vs 3.2, 0.55 (0.17 to 1.81)	0 vs 0, not estimable	2.7 vs 6.9, 0.39 (0.16 to 0.97)	Total: 5.4 vs 9.3, 0.58 (0.29 to 1.13) Non-vascular: 2.7 vs 2.4, 1.11 (0.36 to 3.38)	ICH: 0.9 vs 2.0, 0.44 (0.09 to 2.26) Severe: 5.4 vs 5.3, 1.02 (0.47 to 2.19) Severe – other: 0.9 vs 2.0, 0.44 (0.09 to 2.26) Non-severe: 8.9 vs 7.3, 1.23 (0.67 to 2.27) GI: 3.6 vs 1.2, 2.95 (0.79 to 10.99)	73 vs 67	Severe bleeding, non- fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death: 9.9 vs 13.8, 0.72 (0.43 to 1.19) Embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death: 5.8 vs.10.1, 0.58 (0.30 to 1.10) Non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death: 6.3 vs 11.7, 0.53 (0.29 to 0.99)
Stroke ^d /any embolism: 1.4 vs 3.0, 0.45 (0.12 to 1.71) Stroke ^d /fatal embolism: 0 vs 1.3, 0.15 (0.01 to 2.87)	0 vs 0, not estimable	0.9 vs 4.7, 0.19 (0.04 to 0.85)	Total: 2.7 vs 8.6, 0.31 (0.13 to 0.77) Non-vascular: 1.8 vs 3.9, 0.46 (0.15 to 1.49)	ICH: 0.5 vs 1.7, 0.48 (0.05 to 4.21) Severe: ^d 2.3 vs 4.3, 0.52 (0.18 to 1.50) Severe – other: 0.5 vs 2.2, 0.21 (0.02 to 1.77) Non-severe: 7.2 vs 6.5, 1.11 (0.56 to 2.20) GI: 1.4 vs 0.43, 3.13 (0.33 to 29.91)	66 vs 65	Severe bleeding, non- fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death: 3.6 vs 9.1 <i>to</i> 0.40 (0.18 <i>to</i> 0.88) Embolism, stroke, AMI and vascular death: 1.8 vs 3.4, 0.52 (0.16 to 1.71) Non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death: 2.3 vs 16.5, 0.35 (0.13 to 0.94)
NR	0 vs 1.9	NR	Non-cardiac: 3.9 vs 1.1 Sudden: 2.6 vs 1.1	Severe: 6.5 vs 12.1 Fatal:0 vs 2.6 GI: 5.2 vs 2.3 Non-GI: 1.3 vs 9.8	54.2 vs 62	Ischaemic events (all): 2.6 vs 8.3 Stroke, systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 5.8 vs 13.9
NR	0.8 vs 1.9	NR	Non-cardiac: 2.5 vs 1.1 Sudden: 0 vs 1.1	Severe: 5.0 vs 12.1 Fatal: 0.8 vs 2.6 Gl: 4.2 vs 2.3 Non-Gl: 0.8 vs 9.8	59.1 vs 62	Ischaemic events (all): 9.2 vs 8.3 Stroke, systemic/ coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality: 10.0 vs 13.9

	Population, design	Intervention: ACT + APT	Comparator: ACT only	Outcomes: event % i ACT alone, RR (95% C	n ACT + APT vs Cl)	event % in
Name of study	Study design, stroke risk, follow-up	Dose of ACT, dose of APT (n)	Dose (n)	Stroke	TIA	SE
Dabigatran +	aspirin vs dabi	gatran alone				
Ezekowitz <i>et al.,</i> 2007 (RCT – PETRO) ⁷³	Non- randomised, ≥ stroke risk criteria, ^f 12 weeks	300 mg, ^d 81 mg (34)	300 mg ^d (105)	NR	NR	0 vs 0
		300 mg, ^d 325 mg (30)		NR	NR	0 vs 0
		150 mg, ^d 81 mg (36)	150 mg ^d (100)	NR	NR	0 vs 0
		150 mg, ^d 325 mg (33)		NR	NR	0 vs 0
		50 mg, ^d 81 mg (21)	50 mg ^d (59)	NR	NR	4.8 vs 1.7
		50 mg, ^d 325 mg (27)		NR	NR	0 vs 1.7
Fluindione +	aspirin vs fluinc	lione alone				
Lechat <i>et al</i> ., 2001 (RCT – FFAACS ⁴¹)	Randomised, high risk, ^g 0.82 years	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–2.6, 100 mg (76)	Adjusted dose INR 2.0–2.6 (81)	NR	NR	TE: 2.6 vs 1.2, 2.13 (0.20 to 23.03)

TABLE 27 Outcomes reported according to the intervention and comparator (continued)

Stroke + SE	AMI	Vascular mortality	All-cause mortality	Bleeding (any)	TTR	Composite events
NR	NR	NR	NR	Major: 2.9 vs 0 Clinical relevant + major: 14.7 vs 5.7 All: 32.4 vs 13.3	N/A	
NR	NR	NR	NR	Major: 10.0 vs 0 Clinical relevant + major: 20.0 vs 5.7 All: 46.7 vs 13.3	N/A	
NR	NR	NR	NR	Major: 0 vs 0 clinical relevant + major: 5.6 vs 9.0 All: 22.2 vs 15.0	N/A	
NR	NR	NR	NR	Major: 0 vs 0 clinical relevant + major: 6.1 vs 9.0 All: 21.2 vs 15.0	N/A	
NR	NR	NR	NR	Major: 0 vs 0 clinical relevant + major: 4.8 vs 0 All: 9.5 vs 3.4	N/A	
NR	NR	NR	NR	Major: 0 vs 0 clinical relevant + major: 3.7 vs 0 All: 11.1 vs 3.4	N/A	
NR	NR	3.9 vs 2.5, 1.60 (0.27 to 9.31)	3.9 vs 3.7, 1.07 (0.22 to 5.12)	Severe: 3.9 vs 1.2, 3.19 (0.34 to 30.07) Non-severe: 13.2 vs 1.2, 10.66 (1.39 to 81.28) All: 17.1 vs 2.5, 6.93 (1.62 to 29.69)	NR	SE, death: 6.6 vs 2.5, 2.66 (0.53 to 13.33)

continued

	Population, design	Intervention: ACT + APT	Comparator: ACT only	Outcomes: event % i ACT alone, RR (95%	n ACT + APT vs Cl)	event % in
Name of study	Study design, stroke risk, follow-up	Dose of ACT, dose of APT (n)	Dose (n)	Stroke	TIA	SE
Ximelagatran + aspirin vs ximelagatran alone						
Flaker <i>et al.,</i> 2006 ⁶⁹	Non- randomised, high risk, ^b 16.5 months	36 mg, ^d 100 mg (531)	36 mg ^d (3120)	All: 2.1 vs 1.6	NR	NR
Akins et al., 2007 ⁶⁷	Non- randomised, high risk, ^h 16.5 months	36 mg, ^d 100 mg (157)	36 mg ^d (629)	NR	NR	NR

TABLE 27 Outcomes reported according to the intervention and comparator (continued)

CNS, central nervous system; N/A, not available; NVAF, non-valvular atrial fibrillation; NR, not reported.

a Presence of at least one of the following: impaired LV function manifested by recent (≤ 100 days) congestive heart disease, or fractional shortening $\leq 25\%$ by M-mode echocardiography; systolic blood pressure >160 mmHg at study entry; prior ischaemic stroke, TIA or SE (i.e. prior TE); female sex or aged >75 years.

b Previous stroke/TIA/SE, hypertension, left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <40% or symptomatic systolic or diastolic HF), aged ≥75 years or aged ≥65 years with known coronary disease/diabetes mellitus.

c Either NVAF with prior embolism or those with mitral stenosis with and without prior embolism.

d ACT was administered twice daily.

e NVAF with no embolism at baseline.

f CAD + at least one of the following: hypertension requiring medical treatment, diabetes mellitus (type 1 or 2), symptomatic HF or left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <40%), previous stroke or TIA, aged >75 years.

g Either one: history of TE (TIA, non-disabling ischaemic stroke or peripheral embolism) or aged >65 years and at least one of the following: history of hypertension (systolic arterial pressure of >160 mmHg or diastolic arterial pressure of >90 mmHg); recent episode (<3 months previously) of congestive HF or alteration in left ventricular function (echocardiographic left ventricular shortening fraction of <25% or LVEF <40% within 3 months before study inclusion).

h All patients with history of previous embolism.

Stroke + SE	AMI	Vascular mortality	All-cause mortality	Bleeding (any)	TTR	Composite events
2.3 vs 1.9	1.9 vs 1.3	NR	0.6 vs 3.0	Major: 0.4 vs 2.5 Major/minor: 38.0 vs 32.5	N/A	
7.0 vs 3.5	NR	NR	NR	NR	N/A	

Other anticoagulants

Dabigatran and ximelagatran do not belong to the VKA class of anticoagulant and, therefore, have been dealt with separately in the sections below.

Dabigatran plus aspirin compared with dabigatran alone

This comparison was investigated in the PETRO⁷³ study comparing different regimes of dabigatran (50/150/300 mg twice daily) plus aspirin 81 mg or 325 mg doses with adjusted-dose dabigatran (50/150/300 mg twice daily) alone.

This PETRO study⁷³ reported none or very small number of systemic embolic events in each therapy group. A higher proportion of patients on combined dabigatran (300/150/50 mg twice daily) plus aspirin (81 or 325 mg) experienced a haemorrhagic event than in those on dabigatran (300/150/50 mg twice daily) alone.

The PETRO study⁷³ was conducted on a sample of 502 antithrombotic-experienced patients with AF (82% males) at a high risk of stroke over a follow-up period of 12 weeks.⁷³ However, after entry of about half of the patients, the requirement for patients to have a history of CAD was removed to facilitate inclusion, which could have allowed inclusion of lower-risk patients as well. The numerical distribution of patients in each group (dabigatran and dabigatran plus aspirin) was uneven, and it was not clear if aspirin was administered at random or conditionally. Therefore, the benefit or harm of combined therapy over anticoagulant alone is not clear for this comparison.

Ximelagatran plus aspirin compared with ximelagatran alone

This comparison was investigated in the pooled analyses of the SPORTIF trials (SPORTIF III⁶⁴ and SPORTIF V⁶⁵) by Flaker *et al.*,⁶⁹ and Akins *et al.*,⁶⁷ comparing ximelagatran (36 mg twice daily) plus aspirin (100 mg), with ximelagatran (36 mg twice daily) alone. The study by Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ demonstrated that a higher proportion of patients on combined ximelagatran plus aspirin suffered a stroke, AMI, haemorrhage, or combined end point of stroke and SE than those on ximelagatran alone. Akins *et al.*⁶⁷ conducted an analysis on a high-risk subgroup (those with history of embolism) for the same cohort, and demonstrated a similar trend for the combined end point of stroke and SE (*Table 27*). Furthermore, Flaker *et al.*⁶⁹ demonstrated fewer major bleeding events and lower all-cause mortality in the combination arm than in those on ximelagatran alone. The SPORTIF trials^{64,65} were conducted on patients with AF with at least one risk factor for stroke over a mean follow-up of 16.5 months. Aspirin was indicated for patients with CAD, and there were significant baseline differences between patients administered combined therapy and those on anticoagulant alone.⁶⁹ There was no randomised evidence identified for this comparison. Therefore, the benefit of combination therapy over ximelagatran alone is difficult to evaluate from the available evidence.

Chapter 4 Discussion

Statement of principal findings

The purpose of this review was to assess the clinical effectiveness of adding APT to ACT compared with ACT alone in reducing vascular events in patients with AF at a high risk of TEs resulting from atrial fibrillation.

Clinical effectiveness

A total of five studies³⁹⁻⁴³ that reported randomised comparisons, and 18^{50–65,72,73} that reported non-randomised comparisons, were included in this assessment.

Overall, there were few stroke events reported with conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of ACT plus APT over ACT alone in the reduction of all stroke events, with two studies (one randomised⁴² and one non-randomised⁶⁹) reporting no differences, whereas another non-randomised study⁵⁴ reports equivocal data, demonstrating fewer strokes with two combination regimes of ACT plus APT over ACT alone.⁵⁴

Studies that differentiated between types of strokes did not report significant differences in the rates between patients on ACT plus APT and those on ACT alone. Two randomised studies^{42,43} and one non-randomised study⁵⁴ found no significant reduction in the risk of fatal stroke with ACT plus APT over ACT alone. Furthermore, combination therapy did not decrease the risk of non-fatal stroke compared with anticoagulation alone in another randomised study.³⁹ Of the few events reported in one randomised⁴² and one non-randomised⁵⁴ study, there was no evidence of an increased risk of haemorrhagic stroke with combination ACT plus APT over ACT alone. There is conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of combination therapy in the reduction of ischaemic stroke, with one randomised study⁴² demonstrating no significant difference, whereas another randomised study suggests a significantly increased risk of ischaemic stroke with combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone in the reduction of disabling stroke, with one randomised study⁴² demonstrating no significant difference, whereas another randomised study suggests a significantly increased risk of ischaemic stroke with combination therapy.⁴³ There is also conflicting evidence regarding the benefit of combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone in the reduction of disabling stroke, with one randomised study⁴² demonstrating no significant difference, whereas another randomised study⁴³ suggests a significantly increased risk of disabling stroke with combination therapy. However, given the methodological heterogeneity and study quality issues, it is difficult to comment on a clear benefit of one therapeutic regime over another.

No significant benefit of combination therapy over anticoagulation alone was observed to reduce the risk of TIAs.^{39,42,43}

The majority of included studies do not provide significant evidence of any benefit for combination therapy over ACT alone in the reduction of the combined end point of stroke and SE from two randomised^{39,42} and two non-randomised^{67,69} studies, apart from one RCT⁴³ that suggests a significant increased risk of the combined end point of stroke and SE with the combination of ACT and APT compared with ACT alone.

There is also no evidence that combination ACT plus APT is associated with a significant reduction in systemic embolic events compared with ACT alone in the included studies.

There is no clear evidence of a significant benefit of combination therapy in the reduction of AMI despite numerically lower rates of the event with combined ACT plus APT than with ACT alone.^{42,43,54,69}

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

The available evidence does not indicate a clear benefit of combination therapy in reducing the risk of vascular death compared with ACT alone.^{39,41–43} In a similar way, six studies^{39,41–43,54,69} demonstrated that combination therapy with ACT and APT did not confer a significant reduction in all-cause, non-vascular or mortality from unknown causes, over ACT alone.

Combination therapy was observed to significantly increase the risk of bleeding compared with ACT alone in two studies^{41,73} (one randomised⁴¹ and one non-randomised⁷³), whereas one large non-randomised study⁶³ reported similar levels of bleeding with combination therapy, including triple therapy, compared with anticoagulation alone.⁶³ There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone on the risk of major bleeding with no randomised evidence reporting a significant increase in the risk with combination therapy compared with ACT alone.^{39,41–43} Furthermore, the non-randomised studies reported inconsistent data, with two demonstrating higher rates of major bleeding with some combination therapy (VKAs plus aspirin)^{54,69} over ACT alone, and lower bleeding rates with other combined therapy (VKA plus triflusal⁵⁴ or ximelagatran plus aspirin⁶⁹), whereas the other study⁷³ reported an increased risk of major bleeding only with the highest dose of ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone. The rate of ICH reported in three randomised studies was very low and there was no evidence of a significantly increased risk of ICH with combination therapy over ACT alone.^{39,42,43}

No significant increased risk in minor or non-severe bleeding was observed with combination therapy compared with anticoagulation alone,^{39,40,42,43} whereas another small randomised study⁴¹ reported a significant increase in the risk of minor/non-severe bleeding with combined therapy.

Although lower major adverse event rates were observed in three studies^{39,41,54} (two randomised^{39,41} and one non-randomised⁵⁴) with combination therapy for the composite end points of severe bleeding, non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death,³⁹ non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE, and vascular death,³⁹ embolism, stroke, AMI, and vascular death,³⁹ SE and death,⁴¹ and stroke, systemic/coronary ischaemic events, AMI and mortality,⁵⁴ and all ischaemic events⁵⁴ than with anticoagulation alone, the difference between ACT plus APT and ACT alone was not significantly different in the two randomised studies.^{39,41} Combination therapy conferred a significantly increased risk of the composite end point of stroke, SE and vascular death, compared with ACT alone, in one randomised study.⁴³

Not all the randomised studies were of good quality. The mean duration of the studies varied from as low as 22 days⁴⁰ to 3.5 years,⁴² with a sample size ranging from 43 patients⁴⁰ to 1209,³⁹ and compared an antiplatelet agent (aspirin, clopidogrel, triflusal) added to an anticoagulant agent (warfarin, acenocoumarol, fluindione) with anticoagulant alone (or ACT plus placebo). Most studies furnished clear information on the randomisation design and method; however, the majority undertook therapies in an open-label fashion.^{39,42,43} No study reported a robust, randomised comparison in a high-risk AF population (with a specified CHADS₂ score of \geq 2) between combined therapy of ACT targeting a standard therapeutic INR target of 2.0–3.0 plus additional APT, and ACT alone (target INR 2.0–3.0). Only one study⁴¹ compared fluindione (target INR 2.0–2.6) plus additional aspirin with fluindione plus placebo (target INR 2.0–2.6) in a high-risk AF population. With a mean follow-up of 0.84 years and premature termination of the trial because of slow recruitment, the study results were less than adequate to be generalisable. Other studies investigated different doses of anticoagulant plus antiplatelet to anticoagulant alone in patients at variable (or unspecified) stroke risks.

The quality of those studies that reported non-randomised comparisons was generally poor. The sample size in these studies varied from 228 patients⁵⁹ to 118,606,⁶³ with follow-up periods of between 8 weeks⁶² and 7.2 years.^{52,61} Most studies were retrospective in nature, with patient data identified from a register of records, and with no or unclear information on blinding of assessors. APT was used at physicians' discretion in most studies, clearly indicated for cardiovascular diseases in a few, or for specific reasons which were not reported in others. The time of antiplatelet administration also varied across the studies or was not clearly specified.

Quality assessment of included studies was undertaken for this review. However, given the issues around heterogeneity between included studies, it was felt that extensive reporting of quality had little meaning in the context of this review. Therefore, in the results section, only summary tables of quality are provided (see *Tables 5* and *7*, and *Appendix 6*).

Methodology and issues

Several issues regarding methodological and clinical heterogeneity were encountered during the course of the review. A few are outlined in the following sections.

Population

The review aimed to assess the clinical benefit of combined therapy with ACT plus APT over ACT alone on vascular events in a population at high risk of stroke, with high risk determined either by history of AMI with PCI with or without stent, or having a $CHADS_2$ score of ≥ 2 . However, not all studies identified such a population.

Risk of stroke

None of the included studies reported data for a high-risk population with a $CHADS_2$ score of ≥ 2 . Those studies that evaluated stroke risk according to $CHADS_2$ score failed to report the outcomes for each CHADS₂ score category separately (high, moderate and low risk, respectively).^{50,72}

Of the five studies that reported randomised comparisons, three^{39,41,43} specified a high-risk AF population. However, the definition of high risk varied across the studies. None of the included studies specified diabetes mellitus as one of their stroke risk assessment criteria (diabetes mellitus being one of the risk score criteria of the CHADS₂ scheme). Of those that reported non-randomised comparisons, the majority did not specify the stroke risk of the sample, whereas the definitions of high risk varied across the studies in those that specified stroke risk.^{50,55,58,64,65,72,73}

Study setting

Almost all non-randomised studies were conducted in hospital patients. This could have included more frail patients with multiple comorbidities that might place them at a higher risk for events and, therefore, would make the results from such studies less generalisable to a wider population.⁵¹

Of the studies reporting non-randomised data, six were based on reviews of hospital records.^{56–58,60,61,63} Of these, one was a large study⁶³ on 118,606 patients over a mean follow-up of 3.3 years. It is important to note that such studies are at high risk of selection bias with less information on ethnicity and dosage and prone to poor documentation.⁹⁵ Results from these studies, therefore, need to be considered with caution.

Valvular diseases

Studies of patients with valvular diseases were included in the review. Those studies that included patients with valve replacements or mechanical heart valves were, however, excluded, despite the fact that this population is considered to be at high risk of stroke, because of different clinical target of anticoagulant INR range. If a study did not specify that subjects with valvular replacements were excluded, it was not excluded. For this reason, the studies by NASPEAF,³⁹ SPAF III⁴³ and Hansen *et al.*⁶³ were included in the review.

Intervention and comparator

The review was aimed at investigating combined ACT plus APT in comparison with ACT alone (plus placebo), with the dose of ACT adjusted to target the recommended INR range of 2.0–3.0 in both study arms.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Types of therapies

The type of both ACT and APT varied across the studies. Of the included randomised studies, three^{40,42,43} reported data for warfarin therapy in different regimes in combination with different APT (aspirin, triflusal, clopidogrel). Of the remaining two RCTs, the FFAACS⁴¹ study reported data for fluindione (ACT) and the NASPEAF study³⁹ assessed acenocoumarol (ACT) in combination with triflusal (APT). Both fluindione and triflusal are not known to be widely used in Europe and the UK. There was no further evidence available on these technologies.

Of those reporting non-randomised data, 14 studies reported data on warfarin in various regimes combined with an APT. Bover *et al.*⁵⁴ reported data for acenocoumarol plus triflusal, an APT that is not known to be widely used in the UK or Europe. This study⁵⁴ included a majority of patients enrolled in the NASPEAF trial.³⁹ The PETRO study⁷³ reported non-randomised data for dabigatran plus aspirin compared with dabigatran alone. No further evidence was available for this comparison. Ximelagatran was investigated in the two SPORTIF studies^{64,65} and their six^{66–71} supporting post hoc analyses. The AMADEUS study⁷² did not specify the specific ACT (idraparinux or VKA) used in the comparison of ACT plus aspirin compared with ACT alone, whereas another study failed to identify the ACT.⁵⁸ Three studies did not report the name of the APT in the study.^{52,59,60}

Dosage

Only two^{40,41} of the five included randomised studies investigated ACT with the recommended target INR range of 2.0–3.0 in both study arms. Both studies were conducted on a small sample size (n = 43,⁴⁰ $n = 157^{41}$) over a short period of follow-up. One did not specify either the stroke risk or the sample size calculations for the study.⁴⁰ The FFAACS study⁴¹ was terminated early because of slow recruitment, which might have resulted in an overestimation of therapeutic efficacy.⁹⁶ Most studies reporting non-randomised comparisons reported the dosage of both therapies. Most studies reporting data for patients on warfarin specified the target INR of 2.0–3.0 in both study arms.^{51,53,57,59,61,62,64,65} However, data from many of these did not add further information to the RCT data. The reasons for non-inclusion of data from these studies have been reported in *Appendix 7*.

Previous antithrombotic therapy

Of the randomised studies, two^{41,43} of the included studies consisted of an anticoagulant-experienced population. Two other included RCTs^{39,40} did not report this information and one⁴² specified an anticoagulant-naive population. The majority of non-randomised studies also reported a population with a history of antithrombotic medication, ^{53–55,58,59,61,63,69,72,73} whereas others did not report this information. Such a population group might have potential implications of lower event rates because of patients' tolerance to an ACT in comparison with those who have no prior experience of ATT.

Outcomes

The review aimed to assess the benefit of combined therapy over ACT alone on vascular events in a highrisk AF population.

The primary outcome measures assessed were stroke, TIA, SE, the composite end point of SE and stroke, MI, vascular death along with secondary outcomes of all-cause mortality, bleeding events and composite end point consisting of various primary outcomes. Composite end points of stroke and SE were not specified in the review protocol; however, it was considered clinically relevant and reported in a considerable number of included studies and, therefore, was agreed to be reported in the review. The review protocol also specified in-stent thrombosis, revascularisation procedures and quality-of-life outcome measures; however, none of the included studies was found to report these events.

Outcome definitions

The review protocol specified definitions for each of the outcomes, which were broadly comparable with those specified in individual included studies. However, many studies failed to provide precise definitions of the outcomes.

Stroke, symbolic embolism, composite of stroke/systemic embolism, transient ischaemic attack, acute myocardial infarction and composite events

The majority of the included studies did not report a significant difference in event rates between the patients on combined therapy compared with those on ACT alone. Of the studies reporting randomised comparisons, one⁴³ reported a statistically significant higher risk of events in the combined therapy arm compared with ACT alone for the number of stroke events, composite of SE or stroke, and composite of stroke, SE and vascular deaths. However, the study compared warfarin [with a lower than recommended target INR range (1.2–1.5)] in combination with aspirin 300 mg with warfarin alone, targeting an INR of 2.0–3.0 in high-risk patients with AF in an open-label RCT with no blinding.⁴³ The population risk criteria in this study did not include diabetes mellitus, contrary to the current established stroke risk schemes such as CHADS₂.²⁷ Furthermore, the NASPEAF RCT³⁹ reported fewer events of composite of non-fatal stroke, TIA, SE and vascular death in combined therapy arm than in patients on acenocoumarol alone in both intermediate- and high-risk patients.³⁹ The INR range of acenocoumarol was below the recommended target of 2.0–3.0 in this study and established stroke risk assessment schemes were not used.

Risk of these events varied across the studies that reported non-randomised comparisons with low event rates and confounding of results by indication of APT.

Mortality: all cause and vascular

Most studies did not report a significant difference in mortality rates between the two therapy groups. Of the studies reporting randomised comparisons, only one study³⁹ reported a significantly lower rate of vascular death in patients on combined acenocoumarol plus triflusal than in those with acenocoumarol alone in either high- or low-risk patients. However, the low event rates in the study warrant cautious interpretation.³⁹ Non-randomised evidence for mortality was not free from bias, as evident from the previous sections. Therefore, it is difficult to deduce the benefits of combined ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone on mortality from the evidence available.

Bleeding

Significant differences in bleeding rates were not reported in the majority of the included studies. Only one RCT⁴¹ reported significantly higher rates of bleeding in the combined therapy arm than with fluindione plus placebo.⁴¹ However, the trial was prematurely terminated because of a small sample size with slow recruitment of patients (n = 157), resulting in a low study power to detect a meaningful effect of combined therapy on embolic events. Non-randomised evidence from one study⁶⁹ reported a larger number of bleeding events in the combined therapy group of warfarin plus aspirin than with warfarin alone. However, these groups were not evenly distributed and indication of aspirin for patients with CAD confounded the results.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of the assessment

- Studies included in the assessment consisted of both randomised and non-randomised comparisons in an attempt to investigate all the available evidence around the subject.
- A comprehensive search strategy was undertaken encompassing all relevant databases.
- Robust review methodology was used.

Limitations of the assessment

It was originally intended that an IPD analysis would be undertaken to specifically address the effect
of APT added to ACT (compared with ACT alone) on various outcomes (including time to first vascular
event/first major haemorrhage or clinically relevant bleeding/death and time within therapeutic INR
range) (see Appendix 1 and Chapter 2, Changes to protocol). Predefined subgroup analyses were to
be developed to possibly include stent type; warfarin-naive versus warfarin-experienced subjects; shortand long-term outcomes; patients with diabetes mellitus; and CHADS₂ score ≥2 and <2. However,

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

it became clear from the range of included studies that the methodological heterogeneity between studies, the clinical heterogeneity within and between studies, and the relatively small number of events was against such analyses being able to appreciably add to the findings of the review. To aid explanation, we draw the reader's attention to Table 27. This table summarises the key features and findings of the included studies grouped by similar intervention and comparator. Examining the section of the table containing the five studies that investigated combination ACT plus APT compared with ACT alone reveals that the intervention and comparator regimens were heterogeneous for both elements and, furthermore, the study designs were a mix of randomised and non-randomised comparisons. As with aggregate patient data meta-analysis, clinical and methodological study homogeneity are still overriding considerations prior to undertaking IPD meta-analyses and, thus, it was not an option to pool data across all studies in this case. Only two of the studies^{67,69} had similar intervention/comparator characteristics and these were the same non-randomised comparison where aspirin was added to warfarin therapy based on clinical indication. Thus, as mentioned previously in this report, the treatment comparison in these studies was confounded by indication and IPD meta-analyses would therefore also be confounded. Where IPD analysis might have been beneficial is in possibly revealing data on outcomes previously unreported for a given study. In the current example, the greatest potential for this was with the two non-randomised comparisons with similar intervention/comparisons or for the outcome of TTR for all warfarin/aspirin studies. However, the utility of this was limited given the aforementioned limitation of combining data across studies. Similar issues also affected the value of IPD analyses for other intervention/comparator combinations (see Table 27). Thus, although the benefits of an IPD approach are well recognised⁹⁷ in the current report, the approach offered limited advantage. These issues were discussed with the NIHR and with their agreement it was decided not to undertake the planned the IPD analysis. As such, some aspirational aspects of the current work could not be achieved.

- Individual participant data analysis could not be undertaken for various reasons. Included studies
 reported low event rates, with methodological heterogeneity and ambiguity along with the fact that it
 was very difficult to identify studies with similar study designs, population characteristics, intervention
 and comparator therapies, and outcome measures. There is paucity of directly relevant randomised
 evidence to undertake a meta-analysis for the merits of one technology over another.
- The evidence was such that three stages of study selection were required, with one of these stages being unforeseen. With hindsight, this process might have been more efficiently achieved.
- Although the review initially aimed to identify high-risk patients, none of the included studies specified a high-risk group as per the established stroke risk assessment criteria. Studies were also included if stroke risk was not specified. This might have introduced studies with patients at a lower risk of stroke.
- It was intended to include only those studies that reported data for patients on combined ACT plus APT with a target INR range for ACT of between 2.0 and 3.0. However, this criterion could have been too restrictive; therefore, those studies in which no INR range was specified were also included, as it could not be ruled out that the appropriate INR was utilised.

Ongoing studies

Given the advent of novel oral anticoagulants, the direct thrombin inhibitors (e.g. dabigatran) and factor Xa inhibitors (e.g. apixaban, rivaroxaban and endoxaban), members of the steering committee are aware of planned post hoc non-randomised comparisons, between ACT plus APT and ACT alone, for the Randomized Evaluation of Long-Term Anticoagulation Therapy (RE-LY),²¹ the Apixaban for Reduction In STroke and Other ThromboemboLic Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE)²² and the Rivaroxaban Once Daily Oral Direct Factor Xa Inhibition Compared with Vitamin K Antagonism for Prevention of Stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation (ROCKET-AF).²³ Two members from the steering committee are also the co-authors of the non-randomised comparison between ACT plus APT compared with ACT only in the post hoc analysis of the AMADEUS study,⁷² which was published after the search strategy of the current review. Therefore, it is not included in this assessment.

Implications for future research

It is clear from the results of this systematic review that there are not sufficient data from the five randomised comparisons and 18 non-randomised comparisons to conclude whether or not there are high-risk patients with AF who would benefit from a reduction in vascular events with combined therapy of anticoagulation and APT compared with ACT alone.

Given the paucity of data, and the clinical and methodological heterogeneity encompassed in the studies from which the data comes, an individual participant data analysis is unlikely to prove beneficial. Likewise, it is recommended that a cost-effectiveness analysis at this point would be premature.

Given the absence of ongoing trials addressing the benefit of anticoagulation plus APT compared with anticoagulation alone in patients with AF at high-risk of TEs, it is recommended that a definitive prospective RCT needs to be undertaken. Any future trial would need to consider the following issues:

- The population would need to be clearly defined. This would mean taking into account the different risk stratification scores, which currently exist in order to allow clinicians and policy-makers to interpret any findings within their specific health economy. Any future study should consider including a population at high risk of atherosclerotic coronary artery and other vascular events (following ACS ± stenting) and those patients at high risk of AF-mediated TEs.
- 2. The intervention would need to be clearly defined. There are currently data available from studies utilising different classes of drugs with ongoing post hoc analyses becoming available for new classes of both anticoagulant and antiplatelet agents. Any future study would need to address these potential class effects. From the UK context, at the time of writing, any future trial should compare adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) plus aspirin (75–325 mg) with adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0). However, given the emergence of newer anticoagulation agents (dabigatran, rivaroxaban and apixaban) this prioritisation may need to be revisited in the future to reflect current best clinical practice.
- 3. Any future study should include a health economic analysis.
- 4. The comparator group would need to receive the same ACT as the intervention group; thus, if the anticoagulant under investigation was a VKA, then the comparator group should have the same INR target as the intervention group. Similarly, achieved INRs in terms of therapeutic time in range should be reported for both groups.
- 5. All outcomes would need to be clearly defined in order to allow clinicians and policy-makers to interpret any findings within their specific health economy.
- 6. All outcomes would need to be independently validated in line with international definitions.
- 7. Analysis of outcomes would need to be undertaken in line with contemporary methods of assessing net clinical benefit.
- Duration of follow-up needs to be sufficient to allow (1) confidence that the findings would reflect real world utilisation of the technologies and (2) a reasonable number of events. This will obviously be dependent on sample size, but should be at least 1 year.

Conclusion

This systematic review identified five randomised and 18 non-randomised studies that compared treatment with anticoagulation and APT with treatment with ACT alone in patients with AF. These studies were generally of poor quality, utilised different anticoagulant and APTs, investigated different populations of patients in terms of risk, had different follow-up periods and used different outcome measures, with various definitions of these outcomes.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

The data from these studies are not sufficient to conclude whether or not there are patients with AF in whom the addition of an antiplatelet agent to an anticoagulant is warranted in terms of benefit from reduction of vascular events compared with an increased risk of bleeding.

It is recommended that a definitive prospective RCT is undertaken, preferably in a population at high risk of atherosclerotic coronary artery and other vascular events in addition to being at high risk of AF-mediated TEs, utilising interventions and comparators that include current and emerging ACT and APT strategies, which also takes into account the findings of this review.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Joanna Hine for the administrative support and all of those who contributed to the translation of the foreign-language papers. In addition, the authors would like to thank the members of the steering committee (Matt Fay, Carl Heneghan, Sue Jowett, Lalit Kalra, Eve Knight, Gregory Lip, Jonathan Mant, Ellen Murray, Peter Rose and Rod Taylor) for their advice and support.

Contribution of authors

Deirdre A Lane, joint principal investigator, contributed to the development of the protocol, study selection, data extraction and quality assessment, writing of the report and provided clinical input.

Smriti Raichand contributed to the development of the protocol, study selection, data extraction and quality assessment, and writing of the report.

David Moore contributed to the development of the protocol, provided methodological input, and contributed to study selection and writing of the report.

Martin Connock contributed to the development of the protocol and study selection (abstract screening).

Anne Fry-Smith, devised the search strategy and carried out the searches.

David Fitzmaurice, joint principal investigator, contributed to the development of the protocol, study selection, report writing and provided clinical input.

All authors provided input to the development of the review report, commented on various drafts of the chapters and contributed to their editing.

References

- Fuster V, Ryden LE, Cannom DS, Crijns HJ, Curtis AB, Ellenbogen KA, et al. ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation - Executive summary: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for practice guidelines (Writing committee to revise the 2001 guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation). *Circulation* 2006;**114**:700–52.
- Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GY, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, et al. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2010;31:2369–429. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehq278
- Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. Stroke 1991;22:983–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.22.8.983
- Wolf PA, Mitchell JB, Baker CS, Kannel WB, D'Agostino RB. Impact of atrial fibrillation on mortality, stroke, and medical costs. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:229–34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/ archinte.158.3.229
- Benjamin EJ, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB, Levy D. Impact of atrial fibrillation on the risk of death: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 1998;**98**:946–52. http://dx.doi. org/10.1161/01.CIR.98.10.946
- Dorian P, Jung W, Newman D, Paquette M, Wood K, Ayers GM, et al. The impairment of healthrelated quality of life in patients with intermittent atrial fibrillation: implications for the assessment of investigational therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:1303–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0735-1097(00)00886-X
- Thrall G, Lane D, Carroll D, Lip GYH. Quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. Am J Med 2006;119:448. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.10.057
- Heeringa J, van der Kuip DA, Hofman A, Kors JA, van HG, Stricker BH, et al. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: the Rotterdam study. Eur Heart J 2006;27:949–53. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehi825
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, et al. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 2004;**110**:1042–6. http://dx.doi. org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000140263.20897.42
- Miyasaka Y, Barnes ME, Gersh BJ, Cha SS, Bailey KR, Abhayaratna WP, et al. Secular trends in incidence of atrial fibrillation in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1980 to 2000, and implications on the projections for future prevalence. *Circulation* 2006;**114**:119–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.105.595140
- Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby JV, et al. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. JAMA 2001;285:2370–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.285.18.2370
- Hobbs FD, Fitzmaurice DA, Mant J, Murray E, Jowett S, Bryan S, et al. A randomised controlled trial and cost-effectiveness study of systematic screening (targeted and total population screening) versus routine practice for the detection of atrial fibrillation in people aged 65 and over. The SAFE study. *Health Technol Assess* 2005;9(40).
- Jorgensen HS, Nakayama H, Reith J, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Acute stroke with atrial fibrillation. The Copenhagen Stroke Study. Stroke 1996;27:1765–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.27.10.1765

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 14. Steger C, Pratter A, Martinek-Bregel M, Avanzini M, Valentin A, Slany J, *et al.* Stroke patients with atrial fibrillation have a worse prognosis than patients without: data from the Austrian Stroke registry. *Eur Heart J* 2004;**25**:1734–40. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ehj.2004.06.030
- Lin HJ, Wolf PA, Kelly-Hayes M, Beiser AS, Kase CS, Benjamin EJ, et al. Stroke severity in atrial fibrillation. The Framingham Study. Stroke 1996;27:1760–4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01. STR.27.10.1760
- Wolfe CDA, Crichton SL, Heuschmann PU, McKevitt CJ, Toschke AM, Grieve AP, et al. Estimates of outcomes up to ten years after stroke: analysis from the prospective South London Stroke Register. PLoS Med 2011;8:e1001033. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001033
- 17. The Office of Health Economics (OHE). *Estimating the direct costs of atrial fibrillation to the NHS in the constituent countries of the UK and at SHA level in England, 2008*. London: OHE; 2009.
- Stewart S, Murphy NF, Walker A, McGuire A, McMurray JJ. Cost of an emerging epidemic: an economic analysis of atrial fibrillation in the UK. *Heart* 2004;**90**:286–92. [Erratum published in *Heart* 2007;**93**:1472.] http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2002.008748
- 19. Stroke Risk in Atrial Fibrillation Working Group. Independent predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *Neurology* 2007;**69**:546–54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000267275.68538.8d
- Hart RG, Pearce LA, Aguilar MI. Meta-analysis: antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in patients who have nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *Ann Int Med* 2007;**146**:857–67.
- Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2009;361:1139–51. http://dx.doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa0905561
- Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray JJ, Lopes RD, Hylek EM, Hanna M, et al. Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;365:981–92. http://dx.doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1107039
- Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, Pan G, Singer DE, Hacke W, et al. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;365:883–91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1009638
- 24. National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions. Atrial fibrillation: national clinical guideline for management in primary and secondary care. London: Royal College of Physicians; 2006. URL: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG36 (accessed 12 August 2010).
- Gage BF, van WC, Pearce L, Hart RG, Koudstaal PJ, Boode BS, et al. Selecting patients with atrial fibrillation for anticoagulation: stroke risk stratification in patients taking aspirin. *Circulation* 2004;**110**:2287–92. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000145172.55640.93
- Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Risk factors for stroke and efficacy of antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation. Analysis of pooled data from five randomized controlled trials. *Arch Int Med* 1994;**154**:1449–57. [Erratum published in *Arch Intern Med* 1994;**154**:2254.] http://dx.doi. org/10.1001/archinte.1994.00420130036007
- Hart RG, Pearce LA, McBride R, Rothbart RM, Asinger RW. Factors associated with ischemic stroke during aspirin therapy in atrial fibrillation: analysis of 2012 participants in the SPAF I-III clinical trials. The Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation (SPAF) Investigators. *Stroke* 1999;**30**:1223–9. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.30.6.1223
- Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. JAMA 2001;285:2864–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.285.22.2864

- Wang TJ, Massaro JM, Levy D, Vasan RS, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, et al. A risk score for predicting stroke or death in individuals with new-onset atrial fibrillation in the community: the Framingham Heart Study. JAMA 2003;290:1049–56. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.290.8.1049
- 30. Becker RC, Meade TW, Berger PB, Ezekowitz M, O'Connor CM, Vorchheimer DA, *et al.* The primary and secondary prevention of coronary artery disease: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th edn). *Chest* 2008;**133**(Suppl. 6):776–814.
- Lip GYH, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJGM. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the Euro Heart Survey on atrial fibrillation. *Chest* 2010;**137**:263–72. http://dx.doi. org/10.1378/chest.09-1584
- 32. May AE, Geisler T, Gawaz M. Individualized antithrombotic therapy in high risk patients after coronary stenting. A double-edged sword between thrombosis and bleeding. *Thromb Haemost* 2008;**99**:487–93.
- Singer DE, Albers GW, Dalen JE, Fang MC, Go AS, Halperin JL, et al. Antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th edn). Chest 2008;133(Suppl. 6):546–92.
- Rubboli A, Halperin JL. Pro: 'Antithrombotic therapy with warfarin, aspirin and clopidogrel is the recommended regime in anticoagulated patients who present with an acute coronary syndrome and/or undergo percutaneous coronary interventions'. *Thromb Haemost* 2008;**100**:752–3.
- Lip GY, Huber K, Andreotti F, Arnesen H, Airaksinen KJ, Cuisset T, et al. Management of antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome and/ or undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention/stenting. *Thromb Haemost* 2010;**103**:13–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1160/TH09-08-0580
- Rubboli A, Halperin JL, Airaksinen KE, Buerke M, Eeckhout E, Freedman SB, et al. Antithrombotic therapy in patients treated with oral anticoagulation undergoing coronary artery stenting. An expert consensus document with focus on atrial fibrillation. Ann Med 2008;40:428–36. http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/07853890802089786
- 37. Higgins JPT, Green Se. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). Copenhagen: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011.
- 38. Khan KS, ter Riet G, Popay J, Nixon J, Kleijnen J. Conducting the review, Phase 5: Study quality and assessment. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Systematic reviews: CRD's guidance for undertaking reviews in health care. York: University of York; 2001. p. 11.
- Pérez-Gómez F, Alegría E, Berjón J, Iriarte JA, Zumalde J, Salvador A, et al. Comparative effects of antiplatelet, anticoagulant, or combined therapy in patients with valvular and nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a randomized multicenter study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;44:1557–66. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jacc.2004.05.084
- Lidell C, Svedberg LE, Lindell P, Bandh S, Job B, Wallentin L. Clopidogrel and warfarin: absence of interaction in patients receiving long-term anticoagulant therapy for non-valvular atrial fibrillation. *Thromb Haemost* 2003;89:842–6.
- Lechat P, Lardoux H, Mallet A, Sanchez P, Derumeaux G, Lecompte T, et al. Anticoagulant (fluindione)-aspirin combination in patients with high-risk atrial fibrillation. A randomized trial (Fluindione, Fibrillation Auriculaire, Aspirin et Contraste Spontane; FFAACS). Cerebrovasc Dis 2001;12:245–52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000047711
- 42. Gullov AL, Koefoed BG, Petersen P, Pedersen TS, Andersen ED, Godtfredsen J, et al. Fixed minidose warfarin and aspirin alone and in combination vs adjusted-dose warfarin for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: Second Copenhagen Atrial Fibrillation, Aspirin, and Anticoagulation Study. Arch Int Med 1998;**158**:1513–21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.158.14.1513

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Adjusted-dose warfarin versus low-intensity, fixed-dose warfarin plus aspirin for high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation III randomised clinical trial. *Lancet* 1996;**348**:633–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(96)03487-3
- 44. Pérez-Gómez F, Iriarte JA, Zumalde J, Berjón J, Salvador A, Alegría E, *et al.* Antithrombotic therapy in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation: effects and bleeding complications: a stratified analysis of the NASPEAF randomized trial. *Eur Heart J* 2007;**28**:996–1003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehl364
- Pérez-Gómez F, Salvador A, Zumalde J, Iriarte JA, Berjón J, Alegría E, et al. Effect of antithrombotic therapy in patients with mitral stenosis and atrial fibrillation: a sub-analysis of NASPEAF randomized trial. Eur Heart J 2006;27:960–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehi667
- 46. Pérez-Gómez F, Fernandez C. Antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Cardiol Rev* 2006;**23**:44–8.
- 47. Gullov AL, Koefoed BG, Petersen P. Bleeding during warfarin and aspirin therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: the AFASAK 2 study. Atrial Fibrillation Aspirin and Anticoagulation. *Arch Int Med* 1999;**159**:1322–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.159.12.1322
- Hart RG, Pearce LA, Miller VT, Anderson DC, Rothrock JF, Albers GW, et al. Cardioembolic vs. noncardioembolic strokes in atrial fibrillation: frequency and effect of antithrombotic agents in the stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation studies. *Cerebrovasc Dis* 2000;**10**:39–43. http://dx.doi. org/10.1159/000016023
- Blackshear JL, Zabalgoitia M, Pennock G, Fenster P, Strauss R, Halperin J, et al. Warfarin safety and efficacy in patients with thoracic aortic plaque and atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 1999;83:453–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9149(98)00886-8
- Lopes RD, Elliott LE, White HD, Hochman JS, Van de WF, Ardissino D, et al. Antithrombotic therapy and outcomes of patients with atrial fibrillation following primary percutaneous coronary intervention: results from the APEX-AMI trial. Eur Heart J 2009;30:2019–28. http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehp213
- Abdelhafiz AH, Wheeldon NM. Risk factors for bleeding during anticoagulation of atrial fibrillation in older and younger patients in clinical practice. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother* 2008;6:1–11. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjopharm.2008.03.005
- Toda G, Akiyama K, Sakuragawa K, Iliev II, Hayano M, Yano K. Thromboembolic complication in atrial fibrillation in a long-term follow-up: the relationship with underlying disease, type of atrial fibrillation, and antithrombotic therapy. *Japanese Circ J* 1998;**62**:255–60. http://dx.doi. org/10.1253/jcj.62.255
- 53. Albers GW, Yim JM, Belew KM, Bittar N, Hattemer CR, Phillips BG, *et al.* Status of antithrombotic therapy for patients with atrial fibrillation in university hospitals. *Arch Int Med* 1996;**156**:2311–16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1996.00440190053006
- Bover R, Perez-Gomez F, Maluenda MP, Asenjo S, Perez-Saldana R, Igea A, et al. Long-term follow-up of atrial fibrillation patients in the NASPEAF study. Prospective evaluation of different antiplatelet treatments. *Rev Esp Cardiokl* 2009;62:992–1000. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S1885-5857(09)73265-7
- Hart RG, Pearce LA, Rothbart RM, McAnulty JH, Asinger RW, Halperin JL. Stroke with intermittent atrial fibrillation: incidence and predictors during aspirin therapy. Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;35:183–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0735-1097(99)00489-1

- 56. Suzuki S, Yamashita T, Kato T, Fujino T, Sagara K, Sawada H, *et al.* Incidence of major bleeding complication of warfarin therapy in Japanese patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circ J* 2007;**71**:761–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1253/circj.71.761
- 57. Burton C, Isles C, Norrie J, Hanson R, Grubb E. The safety and adequacy of antithrombotic therapy for atrial fibrillation: a regional cohort study. *Br J Gen Pract* 2006;**56**:697–702.
- Stenestrand U, Lindback J, Wallentin L, RIKS-HIA R. Anticoagulation therapy in atrial fibrillation in combination with acute myocardial infarction influences long-term outcome: a prospective cohort study from the Register of Information and Knowledge About Swedish Heart Intensive Care Admissions (RIKS-HIA). *Circulation* 2005;**112**:3225–31. [Erratum published in *Circulation* 2006;**113**:e695.] http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.552984
- 59. Johnson CE, Lim WK, Workman BS. People aged over 75 in atrial fibrillation on warfarin: the rate of major hemorrhage and stroke in more than 500 patient-years of follow-up. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2005;**53**:655–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53215.x
- 60. Shireman TI, Howard PA, Kresowik TF, Ellerbeck EF. Combined anticoagulant-antiplatelet use and major bleeding events in elderly atrial fibrillation patients. *Stroke* 2004;**35**:2362–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000141933.75462.c2
- 61. Blich M, Gross B. Thromboembolic prophylaxis in nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation: utilization patterns, efficacy, and complications in a long-term follow-up of community patients. *Int J Cardiol* 2004;**96**:89–95. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2003.06.014
- Klein AL, Murray RD, Grimm RA, Li J, Person-Hansen C, Jasper SE, et al. Bleeding complications in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing cardioversion randomized to transesophageal echocardiographically guided and conventional anticoagulation therapies. Am J Cardiol 2003;92:161–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9149(03)00531-9
- 63. Hansen ML, Sorensen R, Clausen MT, Fog-Petersen ML, Raunso J, Gadsboll N, *et al.* Risk of bleeding with single, dual, or triple therapy with warfarin, aspirin, and clopidogrel in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Arch Int Med* 2010;**170**:1433–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2010.271
- 64. Olsson SB, Executive Steering Committee of the SPORTIF III Investigators. Stroke prevention with the oral direct thrombin inhibitor ximelagatran compared with warfarin in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (SPORTIF III): randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2003;**362**:1691–8. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14841-6
- 65. Albers GW, Diener HC, Frison L, Grind M, Nevinson M, Partridge S, *et al.* Ximelagatran vs warfarin for stroke prevention in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 2005;**293**:690–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.293.6.690
- 66. Teitelbaum JS, von KR, Gjesdal K, Kristinsson A, Gahn G, Albers GW, *et al.* Effect of ximelagatran and warfarin on stroke subtypes in atrial fibrillation. *Can J Neurol Sci* 2008;**35**:160–5.
- Akins PT, Feldman HA, Zoble RG, Newman D, Spitzer SG, Diener HC, et al. Secondary stroke prevention with ximelagatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: pooled analysis of SPORTIF III and V clinical trials. Stroke 2007;38:874–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01. STR.0000258004.64840.0b
- 68. White HD, Gruber M, Feyzi J, Kaatz S, Tse HF, Husted S, *et al.* Comparison of outcomes among patients randomized to warfarin therapy according to anticoagulant control: results from SPORTIF III and V. *Arch Int Med* 2007;**167**:239–45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.167.3.239
- 69. Flaker GC, Gruber M, Connolly SJ, Goldman S, Chaparro S, Vahanian A, et al. Risks and benefits of combining aspirin with anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: an exploratory analysis of stroke prevention using an oral thrombin inhibitor in atrial fibrillation (SPORTIF) trials. *Am Heart J* 2006;**152**:967–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2006.06.024

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Douketis JD, Arneklev K, Goldhaber SZ, Spandorfer J, Halperin F, Horrow J. Comparison of bleeding in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation treated with ximelagatran or warfarin: assessment of incidence, case-fatality rate, time course and sites of bleeding, and risk factors for bleeding. *Arch Int Med* 2006;**166**:853–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.8.853
- 71. Halperin JL. Ximelagatran: oral direct thrombin inhibition as anticoagulant therapy in atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2005;**45**:1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2004.09.049
- 72. Bousser MG, Bouthier J, Buller HR, Cohen AT, Crijns H, Davidson BL, et al. Comparison of idraparinux with vitamin K antagonists for prevention of thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* 2008;**371**:315–21. [Erratum published in *Lancet* 2008;**372**:2022.] http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60168-3
- Ezekowitz MD, Reilly PA, Nehmiz G, Simmers TA, Nagarakanti R, Parcham-Azad K, et al. Dabigatran with or without concomitant aspirin compared with warfarin alone in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation (PETRO Study). Am J Cardiol 2007;**100**:1419–26. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. amjcard.2007.06.034
- Andersen LV, Vestergaard P, Deichgraeber P, Lindholt JS, Mortensen LS, Frost L. Warfarin for the prevention of systemic embolism in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis. *Heart* 2008;94:1607–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2007.135657
- 75. Garwood CL, Corbett TL. Use of anticoagulation in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation who are at risk for falls. *Ann Pharmacother* 2008;**42**:523–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1345/aph.1K498
- Hughes M, Lip GY, Guideline Development Group for the NICE national clinical guideline for management of atrial fibrillation in primary and secondary care. Risk factors for anticoagulationrelated bleeding complications in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *QJM* 2007;**100**:599–607. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcm076
- 77. Dentali F, Douketis JD, Lim W, Crowther M. Combined aspirin-oral anticoagulant therapy compared with oral anticoagulant therapy alone among patients at risk for cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Arch Int Med* 2007;**167**:117–24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.167.2.117
- Cooper NJ, Sutton AJ, Lu G, Khunti K. Mixed comparison of stroke prevention treatments in individuals with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. *Arch Int Med* 2006;**166**:1269–75. http://dx.doi. org/10.1001/archinte.166.12.1269
- 79. Lip GY, Edwards SJ. Stroke prevention with aspirin, warfarin and ximelagatran in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thrombosis Research* 2006;**118**:321–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2005.08.007
- 80. Larson RJ, Fisher ES. Should aspirin be continued in patients started on warfarin? *J Gen Int Med* 2004;**19**:879–86. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.30419.x
- Lip GY, Rothwell P, Sudlow C. Stroke prevention. *Clin Evid* 2004;**12**:253–84. [Update in *Clin Evid* 2005;**14**:173–97.]
- McNamara RL, Tamariz LJ, Segal JB, Bass EB. Management of atrial fibrillation: review of the evidence for the role of pharmacologic therapy, electrical cardioversion, and echocardiography. *Ann Int Med* 2003;**139**:1018–33.
- Perret-Guillaume C, Wahl DG. Low-dose warfarin in atrial fibrillation leads to more thromboembolic events without reducing major bleeding when compared to adjusted-dose: a meta-analysis. *Thromb Haemost* 2004;**91**:394–402.
- Sanchez-Pena P, Lechat P. [Anticoagulant treatment in non-valvular atrial fibrillation.] Méd Thér 2002;8:277–84.

- Segal JB, McNamara RL, Miller MR, Kim N, Goodman SN, Powe NR, et al. Prevention of thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation. A meta-analysis of trials of anticoagulants and antiplatelet drugs. J Gen Int Med 2000;15:56–67. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2000.04329.x
- Aronow WS. Management of the older person with atrial fibrillation. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999;47:740–8.
- 87. Ezekowitz MD, Levine JA. Preventing stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. *JAMA* 1999;**281**:1830–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.281.19.1830
- 88. Fera MS, Giovannini E. [Predictors of thromboembolic risk and role of antithrombolic prophylaxis in nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation.] *G Ital Cardiol* 1999;**29**:193–213.
- 89. Loewen P, Sunderji R, Gin K. The efficacy and safety of combination warfarin and ASA therapy: a systematic review of the literature and update of guidelines. *Can J Cardiol* 1998;**14**:717–26.
- 90. Howard PA, Duncan PW. Primary stroke prevention in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: implementing the clinical trial findings. *Ann Pharmacother* 1997;**31**:1187–96.
- Poli D, Antonucci E, Marcucci R, Mannini L, Falciani M, Abbate R, *et al.* The quality of anticoagulation on functional outcome and mortality for TIA/stroke in atrial fibrillation patients. *Int* J Cardiol 2009;**132**:109–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2007.10.041
- 92. Connolly SJ, Pogue J, Eikelboom J, Flaker G, Commerford P, Franzosi MG, et al. Benefit of oral anticoagulant over antiplatelet therapy in atrial fibrillation depends on the quality of international normalized ratio control achieved by centers and countries as measured by time in therapeutic range. *Circulation* 2008;**118**:2029–37. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.750000
- 93. Landefeld CS, Anderson PA, Goodnough LT, Moir TW, Hom DL, Rosenblatt MW, et al. The bleeding severity index: Validation and comparison to other methods for classifying bleeding complications of medical therapy. J Clin Epidemiol 1989;42:711–18. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0895-4356(89)90066-8
- 94. Wan Y, Heneghan C, Perera R, Roberts N, Hollowell J, Glasziou P, *et al.* Anticoagulation control and prediction of adverse events in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *Circ Cardiovas Qual Outcomes* 2008;**1**:84–91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.108.796185
- 95. Le-Kim L, Kerr D, Kelly A-M. Are patients on warfarin with high INR treated according to published guidelines? *Int J Hematol* 2009;**5**(1).
- 96. Singer DE, Hughes RA, Gress DR, Sheehan MA, Oertel LB, Ward MS, et al. The effect of low-dose warfarin on the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 1990;323:1505–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199011293232201
- 97. Riley RD, Lambert PC, Abo-Zaid G. Meta-analysis of individual participant data: rationale, conduct, and reporting. *BMJ* 2010;**340**(c221).

Appendix 1 Final protocol

Research question

Is there a subgroup of high risk atrial fibrillation (AF) patients receiving anticoagulation therapy (ACT), in whom adding antiplatelet therapy (APT) can be justified in terms of the balance between reducing vascular events, without increasing bleeding?

Background

Both coronary artery disease (CAD) and AF are increasing in prevalence as a consequence of the improvements in survival due to advances in medical therapy and the ageing population. Epidemiological data suggests that the lifetime risk for development of AF is 1 in 4.^{1,2} Further, between 30–40% of patients with AF have concomitant CAD,³ and some of these patients may also require percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) with stent implantation. Patients with AF and CAD are at increased risk of both stroke and further coronary events. An increasingly common antithrombotic management problem arises when faced with an anticoagulated patient with AF at high risk because of an acute coronary syndrome (ACS) or requirement for PCI with stent implantation, or because they have diabetes mellitus.⁴

For high risk AF patients receiving ACT the addition of APT may be expected to reduce the probability of a thrombotic event but may also increase the risk of haemorrhagic events.⁵⁻⁷ Thus the main problem with combination antithrombotic therapy relative to ACT alone is an increased risk of bleeding. The choice between combination therapy or ACT alone depends mainly on clinical judgment about the balance of probabilities of thrombotic and haemorrhagic events and their relative severities. This balance may differ for various high risk categories of AF patients. Recent guidelines (Appendix I) recommend that combination antithrombotic therapy should be considered as a treatment option for certain AF patients (such as those in receipt of stents). Our scoping searches have failed to identify a systematic review of the evidence that could underpin these recommendations. This project aims to address this gap as there is a perceived existence of different subgroups of high risk AF patients. It is anticipated that access to individual person data (IPD) analysis will be undertaken to try to identify the relative effectiveness of ACT alone versus combination therapy in such groups.

Objective

To perform a systematic review of studies of AF patients receiving ACT, so as to compare the effectiveness of ACT alone with that of ACT plus APT. High risk patients of special interest include AF patients with previous myocardial infarction (MI) or ACS, those undergoing PCI and stent implantation, those with diabetes mellitus, and those with a CHADS₂ score ≤ 2 .

Methods/design

Systematic review

Standard systematic review methodology will be employed consisting of searches to identify published literature, sifting and application of specific criteria to identify relevant studies, assessment of the quality of these studies and the extraction and synthesis of relevant data from them. These stages are described below.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

(i) Search strategy

The following bibliographic databases will be searched using a broad strategy: Cochrane Library (to include the Cochrane Database of Reviews, DARE, HTA Database, and CENTRAL), MEDLINE (Ovid) 1950 onwards, MEDLINE in Process (Ovid), and EMBASE (Ovid) 1980 onwards. Searches will use a range of index and text words (see Appendix II for details)

Ongoing trials will also be sought in publicly available trials registers, such as ClinicalTrials.gov, NIHR Clinical Research Network Portfolio and Current Controlled Trials (see Appendix III for ongoing trials already identified).

(ii) Screening strategy

All studies with 'anticoagulation' and 'atrial fibrillation' (or equivalent) in the title or abstract will be identified from the search.

Titles (and abstracts where available) of articles identified by the searches will be screened by two reviewers for relevance to the review question. This process will be aimed at removing non-relevant studies. Hard copies of remaining studies will be acquired for assessment independently by two reviewers against the selection criteria for the review (see below). Discrepancy between reviewers will be resolved by discussion or by referring to a third reviewer. A record of all rejected papers and the reasons for rejection will be documented.

(iii) Selection criteria for identification and inclusion of studies

- **Patient group** AF patients aged ≥18 years. Studies with a patient population requiring ACT exclusively for indications other than AF (prosthetic heart valve, etc.) will be excluded.
- Intervention group ACT (various therapies) combined with orally administered APT agents (monoor dual- therapy) (See Appendix IV for a list of specific anticoagulants and antiplatelet interventions). Only interventions employing therapeutic target INR ranges for atrial fibrillation (INR 2.0 to 3.0) will be included. For the purposes of mapping the evidence we will record studies of predominantly non-AF populations which nevertheless include subgroups of AF patients (see Appendix V).
- **Comparator group** Patients receiving ACT alone or ACT plus placebo.
- Setting Studies in any setting will be included.
- **Outcomes** Any vascular event including composite end points (for example all vascular events); all-cause mortality. Acceptable outcomes are listed in Appendix VI.
- Study design Randomised controlled trials (RCTs); non-randomised controlled trials; longitudinal and registry studies if exclusively AF patients. Data from RCTs that randomised patients to ACT alone versus ACT plus APT will be given precedence over other study designs. Studies comparing ACT alone to APT alone will be excluded.

(iv) Critical appraisal and synthesis strategy: data abstraction and quality assessment

Data abstraction and quality assessment of included studies will be conducted by one reviewer and checked by another reviewer in accordance with guidelines in Chapter 7 of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions.⁸

For each study, data will be sought in detail under explicit subheadings (see Appendix VII). Sufficient portions of non-English papers will be translated to facilitate this process.

The methodological quality of RCTs that randomised patients to ACT alone versus ACT plus APT will be assessed in terms of the randomisation process, allocation concealment (adequate, unclear, inadequate, or not used), degree of blinding, particularly of the outcome assessors, and patient attrition rate.⁸ The risk of bias in studies will be summarised using Rev Man 5 risk-of-bias tool.⁸ The quality assessment of the observational studies will use the CRD Checklist for cohort studies, case-control studies and case series.⁹ We will consider the cohort studies for quality assessment using this checklist.

Individual patient data meta-analysis

All analyses will be performed following the intention-to-treat analysis. We will use the I² statistic to assess heterogeneity.¹⁰

The individual patient meta-analysis will specifically address the effect of ACT alone versus ACT plus APT on (i) time to first vascular event; (ii) time to first major haemorrhage or clinically relevant bleed; (iii) death; and (iv) time within therapeutic INR range. Depending on data availability, predefined subgroup analyses will be developed and may include the following: (i) stent type (bare metal vs drug-eluting); and (ii) warfarin-naïve vs warfarin-established subjects; (iii) short-term and long-term outcomes; (iv) patients with diabetes mellitus.; and (v) CHADS₂ score \geq 2 and < 2.

Data will be requested either in electronic or paper form. A desired format and coding will be specified but trial authors may supply data in the most convenient way open to them, provided details of coding are included with the data. For defining adverse outcomes as major or minor, a Delphi technique will be employed using a list of all reported adverse outcomes. All contributors to the IPD will be sent a blinded list of these adverse outcomes for classification. All data emerging from this component of the work will be reviewed using the same criteria as other studies identified through the search strategy (see above).

Copies of the original data will be made to use in the analyses. Trial details and summary measures will be cross-checked against published articles by two reviewers. Consistency checks will be applied with any errors or inconsistencies discussed with the original triallist.

Methodological considerations

The scoping search has revealed a likely scarcity of RCTs that directly address the review question, especially with regard to the subgroups of special interest. We therefore have considered the methodological implications of including a wider variety of studies such as those in which the recruited population may have included some AF patients of whom a proportion received ACT alone or ACT plus APT. The problem with these types of study is that the patient groups compared are subject to severe selection bias and they do not yield a randomised comparison between the treatments. These considerations are detailed more fully in Appendix V.

When the potential sources of evidence have been obtained and categorised (i.e. mapped) an informed decision will be made regarding the appropriate and feasible analytical approach to be adopted given the time frame available. This decision will also depend on the availability of IPD. The steering group will be consulted on this decision.

Mapping exercise

It was discussed with the steering group whether to include only RCTs that directly compare ACT with combined therapy or to go beyond these and utilise the evidence by including a wider group of study designs and comparisons. It was discussed that the latter strategy would introduce confounding due to indication. The steering group decided to go beyond the scope of RCTs and include prospective observational studies and registries with an AF population receiving ACT, which might have a subgroup of patients on combined ACT plus APT. In order to make this a manageable process, it might be necessary to invoke a study characteristics cut-off. In order to inform this decision, it will be necessary to map the potentially relevant studies. Relevant studies will be identified from search results using criteria for population (AF), Intervention (ACT) and possibly other characteristics (e.g. comparator). This will be undertaken by two people independently. We will map the studies according to the study design, sample size and length of follow up, and avoid bias by ignoring the results. Based on this mapping exercise, a cut off point beyond the directly relevant RCTs will be decided.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Expected output of research

This systematic review will reveal the extent and quality of available evidence bearing on the potential harms or benefits of combination antithrombotic therapy over ACT alone for AF patients. It will also assess the amount of upcoming evidence from ongoing studies. This information can inform future research directions.

Should sufficient good quality evidence be available predictive models generated from our analysis of IPD could lead to identification of any AF patients receiving ACT that might benefit or be harmed from combination ACT plus APT. It is possible that the findings will not demonstrate either benefit or risk of ACT plus APT over ACT alone.

Project timetable and milestones

When the systematic review has mapped and categorised the weight and quality of available evidence, together with the anticipated upcoming evidence from ongoing trials, a decision about the direction and timelines for the project will be made by the whole team.

Appendix I

Clinical guideline for management of AF

Guidelines*	Risk definition ^a	Stent type ^a	Recommendations ^b	Follow-up
The UK NICE guidelines, 2005 ¹¹	Does not address this topic – acknowledge that adding aspirin to warfarin increases bleeding		Individual assessment of the risk– benefit ratio in prescribing aspirin plus warfarin in patients with associated CAD	
ACC/AHA/ESC Guidelines, 2006 ¹²	AF + PCI or revascularization surgery		Aspirin (less than 100 mg/day) and/ or Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) + Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Warfarin alone (in absence of a subsequent coronary event)
		BMS	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + Aspirin + (Clopidogrel ≥1 month)	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
		sirolimus- eluting stent	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + Aspirin + (Clopidogrel ≥3 months)	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
		paclitaxel- eluting stent	Warfarin (INR 2.0-3.0) + Aspirin + (Clopidogrel ≥6 months)	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
		selected patents	Warfarin (INR 2.0−3.0) + Aspirin + (Clopidogrel ≥12 months)	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) alone
8th ACCP, 2008 guidelines ¹³	AF + High stroke risk + ACS		Aspirin (<100 mg per day) or Clopidogrel (75 mg per day) + ACT (INR 2.0–3.0)	
ACC Guidelines, 2008 ¹⁴	AF + ACS + PCI + Low bleeding risk		Coumarins + Aspirin + Clopidogrel	
EHRA and EAPCI Guidelines, 2010 ¹⁵	AF + Elective PCI + moderate-high thromboembolic risk + low/intermediate haemorrhagic risk	BMS	Aspirin (75–100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) ≥1 month	Long term Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)
		-limus-eluting stent	Aspirin (75–100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) ≥3 months	Long term Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)
		paclitaxel- eluting stent	Aspirin (75–100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) ≥6 months	Long term Warfarin (INR 2.0—3.0)
	AF + ACS + PCI moderate-high thromboembolic risk + low/intermediate haemorrhagic risk	BMS/DES	Aspirin (75–100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) \geq 6 months OR Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) [or Aspirin (100 mg/day)] + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5 – 12 months	Long term Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)
	AF + ACS + PCI + moderate-high thromboembolic risk + high haemorrhagic risk	BMS (avoid DES)	Aspirin (75–100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) \geq 4 weeks OR Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) [or Aspirin (100 mg/day)] + Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5 – 12 months	Long term Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)

Guidelines*	Risk definition ^a	Stent type ^a	Recommendations ^b	Follow-up
AHA Updated Guidelines, 2010 ¹⁶	AF + PCI + high stroke risk (CHADS ₂ > 1) + low bleeding risk		Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + Dual APT (Aspirin 75–100 mg/d + clopidogrel 75 mg/d) [plus proton pump inhibitor for gastro intestinal bleed]	
		BMS	Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + Dual APT ≥1 month	
		sirolimus- eluting stent	Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + Dual APT ≥3 months	
		paclitaxel- eluting stent	Warfarin (INR 2.0–2.5) + Dual APT ≥6 months	
	AF + PCI + high stroke risk (CHADS ₂ >1) + high bleeding risk		Dual APT alone	
ESC Guidelines for Management of Artrial Fibrillation, 2010 ¹⁷	AF + Elective PCI + moderate-high thromboembolic risk + low/intermediate haemorrhagic risk (HAS-BLED 0-2)	BMS	1 month: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel 75 mg/day)	Long term VKA (INR 2.0–3.0)
		DES	3 (-olimus group) to 6 (paclitaxel) months: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day)	Long term VKA (INR 2.0–3.0)
			Up to 12 months: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) [or Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) with PPI if indicated] OR Aspirin (100 mg/day)	
	AF + ACS + PCI + moderate-high thromboembolic	BMS/DES	6 months: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day)	Long term VKA (INR 2.0–3.0)
	risk + low/intermediate haemorrhagic risk (HAS-BLED 0-2)		Up to 12 months: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) [or Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) with PPI if indicated] OR Aspirin (100 mg/day)	
	AF + Elective PCI + moderate-high thromboembolic risk + high haemorrhagic risk (HAS-BLED \geq 3)	BMS (avoid DES)	2–4 weeks: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5 + Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day)	Long term VKA (INR 2.0–3.0)
	AF + ACS + PCI + moderate-high thrombotic	BMS (avoid DES)	4 weeks: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Aspirin (≤100 mg/day) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day)	Long term VKA (INR 2.0–3.0)
	rısk + hıgh haemorrhagic risk (HAS-BLED ≥3)		Up to 12 months: VKA (INR 2.0–2.5) + Clopidogrel (75 mg/day) [or Aspirin (\leq 100 mg/day) with PPI if indicated] OR Aspirin (100 mg/day)	

* Acronyms used in this column: ACC: American College of Cardiology: ACCP: American College of Chest Physicians: AHA: American Heart Association: EAPCI: European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions: EHRA: European Heart Rhythm Association: ESC: European Society of Cardiology: NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.

a Acronyms used in this column: ACS: Acute Coronary Syndrome: AF: Atrial Fibrillation: BMS: Bare Metal Stent: DES Drug Eluting Stent: HAS-BLED: bleeding risk score (hypertension, abnormal renal/liver function, stroke, bleeding history or predisposition, labile INR, elderly (> 65 yrs), drugs//alcohol concomitantly): PCI, percutaneous intervention.

b Acronyms used in this column: APT: Antiplatelet Therapy: CAD Coronary Artery Disease: INR: International Normalised Ratio: VKA Vitamin K Antagonists.

Appendix II

Details of search strategy

Search words: "anticoagulants", "vitamin-K antagonists", "coumarins", "heparin", "low-molecular weight heparin", "hirudins", "oral thrombin inhibitors", "antiplatelets", "aspirin", "clopidogrel", "ticlopidine", "dipyridamole"; and the patient group: atrial fibrillation, e.g. "atrial fibrillation", "myocardial infarction", "acute coronary syndromes", "percutaneous coronary intervention", "coronary stenting". Although studies which include combined anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapy will be sought, terms representing the latter will not be included in the search strategy in order to allow a broader search to be undertaken.

No filter for study designs will be used. The search strategy will be developed in consultation with an information specialist and adapted to the individual databases. Restrictions on publication language or date will not be applied.

In addition, abstract books from key national and international cardiology (British Cardiac Society, American College of Cardiology, European Society of Cardiology, American Heart Association), and stroke (International Stroke Conference, American Stroke Association) conferences from 2009 onwards will be hand-searched. We will seek additional trials from key experts in the fields of AF, ACS and PCI/stenting. Unpublished studies that are identified will be considered in a similar way to published studies.

Study Follow Up design Comments Available	d 1 year Open Label The http://www.clinicaltria Randomised interventions gov/ct2/show/ Controlled and NCT00769938? Trial comparators term=WOEST&rank= are not of interest	9 months Open Label, The http://www.clinicaltria Active interventions gov/ct2/show/ Control and NCT00776633? Randomised comparators term=isar-triple&rank: Controlled are not of Trial interest
Outcome	Primary: composite of minor, moderate, and major bleeding Secondary: individual componenets of the primary end point: minor bleeding, and major bleeding, and also the safety and points: the combined event of death myocardial infarction, stroke, systematic embolization, target vessel revascularization and stent thrombosis	Primary: Composite of death, myocardial infarction, definite sten thrombosis, stroke or major bleeding Secondary: Ischemic complications (composite of cardiac death, myocardial infarction, stent thrombosis or ischemic stroke), and Bleeding
Comparator	Triple therapy (oral anticoagulation therapy + clopidogrel 75 mg/d + aspirin 80 mg/d)	6 months triple therapy with aspirin, clopidogrel and oral anticoagulation
Intervention	Combination oral anticoagulation therapy and clopidogrel 75 mg/d	6 weeks triple therapy with Aspirin, Clopidogrel, Oral Anticoagulation
Population	N = 496; Age: >18 yrs; At least one year of Anti- Coagulant Therapy (AF, Valvular diseases); Indication for PCI	N = 600; Age ≥ 18 Yrs; Patients with an indication for oral anticoagulation and a DES implantation.
Study (Stage)	WOEST (Currently recruiting)	ISAR-TRIPLE (Currently recruiting)

Appendix III Ongoing studies

Study (Stage)	Population	Intervention	Comparator	Outcome	Follow Up	Study design	Comments	Available
(Completed)	N = 18,113; Patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (AF), at moderate to high risk of stroke, or systemic embolism with at least one additional risk factor (i.e. previous ischemic stroke, TIA, or systemic embolism, left ventricular dysfunction, age ≥ 75 years, age ≥ 55 with either diabetes mellitus, history of coronary artery disease or hypertension)	Dabigatran (110 mg/150 mg)	Warfarin (adjusted Dose)	Primary: Incidence of stroke (including hemorrhagic) and systemic embolism Secondary: Incidence of stroke (including hemorrhagic), systemic embolism, all death Incidence of stroke (including haemorrhagic), systemic embolism, pulmonary embolism, acute myocardial infarction, or vascular deaths (including deaths from bleeding)	2 years	Prospective, Multi-centre, Parallel- group, Non- inferiority Randomised Controlled Trial	Might not be of use as Intervention is not of interest	Connolly, Ezekowitz et al; RE-LY Steering Committee and Investigators. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrian fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2009 Sep 17; 361 :1139- 51. Epub 2009 Aug 30.
ARISTOTLE (active, not recruiting)	N = 18,183; Males and females \geq 18 yrs with AF and one or more of the following risk factors for stroke. TA or Systemic Embolism, Symptomatic congestive HF or left ventricular dysfunction with LVEF \leq 40%, Diabetes mellitus or hypertension requiring pharmacological treatment	Apixaban (5.0 mg twice daily)	Warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Primary: confirmed stroke or systemic embolism Secondary: confirmed ischemic stroke, hemorrhagic stroke, systemic embolism, al cause death		Active Controlled, Randomized, Double-Blind, Parallel Arm study	The interventions and comparators are not of interest	http://clinicaltrials.gov/ show/NCT00412984

Available	http://www.clinicaltrials. gov/ ct2/show/ NCT00781391? term=ENGAGE- AF&rank=1	http://www.strokecenter. org.trialDetail. aspx?tid=951	http://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT0049676 9.?term=AVERROES&ra nk=1 nk=1
Comments	The interventions and comparators are not of interest	The interventions and comparators are not of interest	The interventions and comparators are not of interest
Study design	Randomized, Double-Blind, Double- Dummy, Parallel Group, Multi- Center, Multi- National Study	prospective, randomised, double-blind, dummy, parallel- group, active- control, non- inferiority study	Randomised, double-blind, parallel- group, active- control, study
Follow Up	24 Months	32 Months	36 months
Outcome	Primary: stroke and systemic embolic events Secondary: composite clinical outcome of stroke, SEE, and all- cause mortality; major bleeding events	Primary: Composite of major and non-major clinically relevant bleeding events; any stroke or non-CNS systemic embolism Secondary Outcome:Each category of bleeding events; and adverse events; composite of stroke, non-CNS systemic embolism, and vascular death	Primary: time (days) from first dose of study drug to first occurrence of unrefuted ischemic stroke, hemorrhagic stroke or systemic embolism Secondary: the time (days) from first dose of study drug to first occurrence of unrefuted lschemic stroke, hemorrhagic stroke, systemic embolism, myocardial infarction, or vascular death
Comparator	Warfarin	Warfarin: INR of 2.5 (range 2–3) + Rivaroxaban placebo	Acetylasalicylic Acid (ASA): Placebo Comparator
Intervention	DU-176b (High Dose) DU-176b (Low Dose)	Rivaroxaban	Apixaban (Double-Blind Phase); Apixaban (Long-Term Open-Label Phase)
Population	N = 20,500; Age 21 years; male or female; history of documented AF within the prior 12 months; moderate to high risk of stroke, as defined by CHADS2 index score of at least 2	N = 14,000; Male and female patients; Age ≥18 years; documented atrial fibrillation on 2 separate occasions with 1 year before screening; History of a prior stroke, transient ischemic attack or non-neurologic systemic embolism believed to be cardiac in origin, OR at least two of the following risk factors: HF, Hypertension, Age ≥ 75 years, Diabetes mellitus	N = 5600; AF, Age ≥50 years; At least 1 risk factor for Stroke; Have failed/ are unsuitable for Vitamin K Antagonist Treatment
Study (Stage)	ENGAGE- AFTIM148 (Currently recruiting)	ROCKET-AF (Ongoing, not recruiting)	AVERROES (Completed)

APPENDIX IV

List of Interventions

Anticoagulants:

- oral anticoagulants (warfarin, acenocoumarol, and phenindione),
- heparins,
- low-molecular-weight heparins,
- hirudins,
- idraparinux,
- direct oral thrombin inhibitors (ximelagatran, dabigatran).

Antiplatelets:

- aspirin,
- clopidogrel,
- ticlopidine,
- dipyridamole,
- triflusal.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Appendix V

Methodological considerations on types of study that might be considered for analysis

In order to systematise our approach to gathering relevant studies, below we categorise the potential sources of available and future evidence. This is done according to study design and the risk of bias in the comparison of ACT alone versus ACT plus APT. When these sources have been obtained and categorised (i.e. mapped) an informed decision can be made regarding the weight and quality of evidence that can inform the analytical approach to be adopted given the time frame available. This decision will also depend on the availability of IPD.

The following types of study might potentially yield information for the review:

1. Randomised control trials (RCTs)

RCTs with an exclusively AF population:

(i) ACT alone versus ACT plus APT (Ideal RCT)

An ideal study design will be an RCT in which the population is a group of AF patients, with or without a previous ACS, or experience of PCI (\pm stent), or with or without diabetes. This population would be randomly assigned to either ACT alone or ACT plus APT. This will allow randomised comparison of effects of the therapies. It will directly address the benefits and risks of compared treatments in AF patients including those categorised within the subgroups of special interest. It may provide aggregate data for the AF subgroups of particular interest or these subgroups can be analysed using IPD if this is available.

(ii) RCTs comparing two different ACTs

These studies may have some participants that receive APT (in addition to ACT) either from the start of the trial or beginning at some time during the trial. A post-hoc subgroup analysis comparing outcomes for ACT alone versus ACP plus APT patients could be undertaken.

It is possible, but unlikely, that aggregate data comparing ACT alone versus ACT plus APT will be in the public domain, so that availability of IPD will be a likely prerequisite determining the potential utility of these studies. Compared patients (ACT versus ACT plus APT) might have been randomised into any arm of the trial. Irrespective of whether the comparison is restricted within an arm (i.e. all patients receive the same ACT) or across arms (patients may receive different ACTs) the comparison lacks the strength of randomisation. Furthermore since patients who receive APT will be those with particular clinical indication that warranted this treatment the comparison will be systematically biased by selection. To partially mitigate the problem of selection bias it might be possible to identify ACT-only patients with the same indication as those that received APT but who did not receive APT. An alternative approach would be to stratify the combination therapy patients according to risk factors and then restrict comparison with ACT-only patients within the same strata. Bearing in mind these drawbacks it is unlikely these trials will provide robust information.

RCTs enrolling participants only some of whom are AF.

(i) RCT comparing two ACTs (e.g. warfarin versus another ACT)

In these studies, the primary indication for anticoagulant therapy may not necessarily be AF. Possibly a post-hoc subgroup analyses of AF from such trials may provide data for the comparison of interest and within the patient categories of special interest if some of these patients receive ACT as well as APT. As with a (ii) above it is unlikely aggregate data will be available and IPD would be a prerequisite; again the comparison between treatments will be non-randomised and systematically at risk of selection bias.
2. Non-randomised studies

Non-Randomised studies might exist with the following characteristics:

- a. Longitudinal studies (prospective or retrospective)
- (i) Prospective studies of AF patients given a particular ACT, some of whom at some time additionally receive APT

These studies by design may have allowed at recruitment the entry of AF patients receiving ACT alone and others receiving combination therapy. It is likely IPD would be required from these. For reasons described above a comparison of outcomes between these two groups would be subject to selection bias because of the indication that led to the adoption of the combination therapy. Alternatively the combination therapy patients may have started on APT during follow up and outcomes would be relevant only from that time rather than from the time of recruitment. Again stratification by risk factors and analysis within strata, or identification of ACT-only patients with matched indication but received no additional APT, might mitigate selection bias to some extent.

(ii) Prospective longitudinal studies that recruit AF patients receiving various ACTs

The same considerations apply as for 2.a(i)

(iii) Prospective longitudinal studies of patients receiving ACT

Subgroup analyses from studies with patients on ACT may provide information given that some of these may be AF patients and some might receive additional APT by indication. Again these studies will be unlikely to provide aggregate results for patient groups of interest and their potential utility would depend on IPD availability. Any comparisons between treatments will again be highly susceptible to selection bias.

b. Registries of AF patients on Antithrombotic therapy

Registries may collect a variety of detailed information on different categories of patients according to therapy and condition. These might provide information on outcomes for the patient subgroups of special interest. The comparison of ACT alone versus ACT plus APT would again lack the strength of randomisation and would be subject to selection bias by indication; again this might be partially mitigated if we find sub-populations very similar to each other in their characteristics. A further selection bias may be expected from registry data because of unbalanced coverage of patient categories, because of this it is possible that registry data may be insufficiently complete for data extraction to be worthwhile.

Potential advantages and disadvantages of using studies allowing nonrandomised comparisons

Advantages of including non-randomised comparisons in a review:

- increase in power
- some consider this better reflects outcomes for real-world patients as distinct from more narrowly
 defined patient groups that are enrolled in RCTs.

Disadvantages include:

- difficulties in identifying studies and registries (search strategies and existing filters have not been extensively developed);
- inherent weaknesses from lack of control over compared treatments and compared populations (especially susceptibility to selection bias)

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- probable inability to obtain IPD from all identified studies within the time frame of the project (raising a potential problem analogous to publication bias)
- difficulties in assessing the quality of the data and in cleaning it up.

Potential analytical strategies include:

- I. Pool the randomised and non-randomised comparisons together. However, this is discouraged in Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of interventions.⁸
- II. Analyse and present randomised and non-randomised data separately.
- III. Select suitable non-randomised comparisons in some manner based on quality or other study characteristics (e.g. if larger than the included RCTs; if prospective ; if data available for subgroups of special interest).
- IV. Use non-randomised comparisons as a form of sensitivity analysis for the randomised comparisons.

Appendix VI

Outcome measures

Primary outcome measures

Vascular events:

- non-fatal and fatal ischemic stroke,
- transient ischemic attack,
- systemic embolism (pulmonary embolism, peripheral arterial embolism),
- myocardial infarction,
- in-stent thrombosis,
- vascular death (from any of the always mentioned vascular events).

Secondary outcome measures

- 1. all-cause mortality;
- 2. bleeding: defined as follows according to the International Society of Haemostasis and Thrombosis:¹⁸
 - i. *Major bleeding events* if (i) fatal bleeding and/or (ii) symptomatic or in a critical area or organ, such as intracranial, intraspinal, intraocular, intraarticular or pericardial, or intramuscular with compartment syndrome, and/or bleeding causing a fall in haemoglobin level of 2 g/dl (1.6 mM) or more; or leading to a transfusion of two or more units of whole blood or red cells].
 - ii. *Clinically relevant non-major bleeding events* will be defined as acute or sub-acute clinically overt bleeding that does not satisfy the criteria of major bleeding and that leads to either (i) hospital admission for bleeding or (ii) physician guided medical or surgical treatment for bleeding or (iii) a change in antithrombotic therapy.
 - iii. *Minor bleeding* events will be defined as all acute clinically overt bleeding events not meeting the criteria for either major bleeding or clinically relevant non-major bleeding.¹⁸
- 3. health-related quality of life;
- 4. major adverse events (composite of all-cause mortality, non-fatal MI and stroke);
- 5. revascularisation procedures (e.g. percutaneous coronary intervention, CABG, embolectomy);
- 6. percentage time in INR range (where available).

Appendix VII

Data abstraction

For each study, data will be sought under the following broad headings:

- antithrombotic regimens employed (anticoagulant ± antiplatelet(s) or placebo);
- type of antithrombotic therapy used and dose;
- target INR values employed;
- indication for antithrombotic therapy (AF ± ACS or stent implantation);
- country of origin;
- study design;
- sample size;
- patient inclusion and exclusion criteria;
- patient characteristics (age, sex, type and duration of AF, anticoagulant-naïve or -established);
- comparability of patients between different arms (for RCTs and non-randomised trials);
- primary outcome measures (all vascular events, including MI, ACS, ischaemic stroke, TIA or systemic embolism, cardiovascular death);
- secondary outcome measures (all-cause mortality, quality of life, adverse events, major and minor bleeding; revascularisation; time within therapeutic INR range);
- length of follow-up;
- statistical methods employed;
- effect sizes.

References

- 1. Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, *et al.* Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 2004;**110**:1042–6.
- 2. Heeringa J, van der Kuip DA, Hofman A, Kors JA, van HG, Stricker BH, et al. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: the Rotterdam study. *Eur Heart J* 2006;**27**:949–3.
- 3. Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby JV, *et al.* Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA* 2001;**285**:2370–5.
- May AE, Geisler T, Gawaz M. Individualized antithrombotic therapy in high risk patients after coronary stenting. A double-edged sword between thrombosis and bleeding. *Thromb Haemost* 2008;**99**:487–93.
- Rubboli A, Halperin JL. Pro: 'Antithrombotic therapy with warfarin, aspirin and clopidogrel is the recommended regime in anticoagulated patients who present with an acute coronary syndrome and/or undergo percutaneous coronary interventions'. *Thromb Haemost* 2008;**100**:752–3.
- 6. Shireman TI, Howard PA, Kresowik TF, Ellerbeck EF. Combined anticoagulant-antiplatelet use and major bleeding events in elderly atrial fibrillation patients. *Stroke* 2004;**35**:2362–7.
- 7. Fang MC, Go AS, Chang Y, Hylek EM, Henault LE, Jensvold NG, et al. Death and disability from warfarin-associated intracranial and extracranial hemorrhages. Am J Med 2007;**120**:700–5.
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions [Wiley Blackwell, 2008]. www cochrane-handbook org 2009.
- 9. Khan KS, ter Riet G, Popay J, Nixon J, Kleijnen J. Conducting the review, Phase 5: Study quality and assessment. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Systematic reviews: CRD's guidance for undertaking reviews in health care. York: University of York; 2001. p. 11.
- 10. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003; **327**:557–60.
- 11. London: Royal College of Physicians. National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions. Atrial fibrillation: national clinical guideline for management in primary and secondary care. *http://www ngc gov/content aspx?id=9629* 2006.
- 12. Fuster V, Ryden LE, Cannom DS, Crijns HJ, Curtis AB, Ellenbogen KA, et al. ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 Guidelines for the Management of Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 2001 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation): developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Circulation* 2006;**114**:e257–354.
- Singer DE, Albers GW, Dalen JE, Fang MC, Go AS, Halperin JL, et al. Antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008;133(6 Suppl):546–92.
- Ruiz-Nodar JM, Marin F, Hurtado JA, Valencia J, Pinar E, Pineda J, et al. Anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapy use in 426 patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention and stent implantation implications for bleeding risk and prognosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51:818–25.
- 15. Lip GY, Huber K, Andreotti F, Arnesen H, Airaksinen JK, Cuisset T, *et al.* Antithrombotic management of atrial fibrillation patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome and/or undergoing coronary stenting: executive summary: a Consensus Document of the European Society of Cardiology

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Working Group on Thrombosis, endorsed by the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) and the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI). *Eur Heart J* 2010;**31**:1311–18.

- 16. Paikin JS, Wright DS, Crowther MA, Mehta SR, Eikelboom JW. Triple antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation and coronary artery stents. *Circulation* 2010;**121**:2067–70.
- Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA), Endorsed by the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS), Task FM, Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GYH, *et al.* Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation. *European Heart Journal* 2010;**31**:2369–429.
- 18. Schulman S, Kearon C. Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in non-surgical patients. *J Thromb Haemost* 2005;**3**:692–4.

Appendix 2 Literature search strategies

Ovid MEDLINE(R) 1950 to September week 1 2010

- 1. exp Anticoagulants/ (159,888)
- 2. (anticoagulant\$ or anticoagulation).mp. (69,316)
- 3. (anti coagulant\$ or anti coagulation).mp. (1193)
- 4. (warfarin or acenocoumarol or coumadin or coumarin or phenprocoumon or sintrom or sinthrome or jantoven or marevan or waran or nicoumalone or dicoumarol or dicumarol).mp. (24,778)
- 5. (phenindione or dabigatran or ximelagatran or apixaban or rivaroxaban or edoxaban or azd0837 or ly517717 or ym150 or betrixaban or idraparinux).mp. (1606)
- 6. or/1-5 (182,359)
- 7. atrial fibrillation.mp. (33,393)
- 8. 6 and 7 (4989)

Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations 27 September 2010

- 1. (anticoagulant\$ or anticoagulation).mp. (1463)
- 2. (anti coagulant\$ or anti coagulation).mp. (55)
- 3. (warfarin or acenocoumarol or coumadin or coumarin or phenprocoumon or sintrom or sinthrome or jantoven or marevan or waran or nicoumalone or dicoumarol or dicumarol).mp. (1003)
- 4. (phenindione or dabigatran or ximelagatran or apixaban or rivaroxaban or edoxaban or azd0837 or ly517717 or ym150 or betrixaban or idraparinux).mp. (91)
- 5. atrial fibrillation.mp. (1255)
- 6. or/1-4 (2289)
- 7. 5 and 6 (211)

EMBASE (Ovid) 1980 to September 2010

- 1. (anticoagulant\$ or anticoagulation).mp.
- 2. (anti coagulant\$ or anti coagulation).mp.
- 3. (warfarin or acenocoumarol or coumadin or coumarin or phenprocoumon or sintrom or sinthrome or jantoven or marevan or waran or nicoumalone or dicoumarol or dicumarol).mp.
- 4. (phenindione or dabigatran or ximelagatran or apixaban or rivaroxaban or edoxaban or azd0837 or ly517717 or ym150 or betrixaban or idraparinux).mp.
- 5. exp anticoagulant agent/
- 6. atrial fibrillation.mp.
- 7. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5
- 8. 6 and 7

The Cochrane Library (Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials) 2010 Issue 3

- 1. anticoagulation or anticoagulant*
- 2. (anti next coagulant*) or (anti next coagulation)
- 3. MeSH descriptor Anticoagulants explode all trees

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 4. warfarin or acenocoumarol or coumadin or coumarin or phenprocoumon or sintrom or sinthrome or jantoven or marevan or waran or nicoumalone or dicoumarol or dicumarol
- 5. phenindione or dabigatran or ximelagatran or apixaban or rivaroxaban or edoxaban or azd0837 or ly517717 or ym150 or betrixaban or idraparinux
- 6. (1 OR 2 OR 3 OR 4 OR 5)
- 7. atrial next fibrillation
- 8. MeSH descriptor Atrial Fibrillation explode all trees
- 9. (7 OR 8)
- 10. (6 AND 9)

Appendix 3 Publications not available after contacting authors

Reference	Contact method(s)
Koefoed BG, Gullov AL, Pedersen TS, Petersen P. Dropout and withdrawal from warfarin and aspirin therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 1997;(Suppl.):83–4	E-mail
Lavitola PL, Spina GS, Sampaio RO, Tarasoutchi F, Grinberg M. Bleeding during oral anticoagulant therapy: warning against a greater hazard. <i>Arq Bras Cardiol</i> 2009; 93 :174–9	Post, e-mail
Levine MN, Raskob G, Hirsh J. Risk of haemorrhage associated with long term anticoagulant therapy. <i>Drugs</i> 1985; 30 :444–60	Post, e-mail
Llobera J, Canameras N, Mas MA, Robles M, Llorach I, Miralles R, <i>et al</i> . [Atrial fibrillation and thromboembolic risk in the elderly.] <i>Rev Multidisciplin Gerontol</i> 2007; 17 :43–8	Contact details not found
Matsuo S, Nakamura Y, Kinoshita M. Warfarin reduces silent cerebral infarction in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Coron Artery Dis</i> 1998; 9 :223–6	Post, e-mail
Neutel JM, Smith DHG. A randomised crossover study to compare the efficacy and tolerability of Barr Warfarin sodium to the currently available Coumadin. <i>Cardiovasc Rev Rep</i> 1998; 19 :49–59	Post
Ortiz MR, Sanchez MA, Ortega MD, Rubio DM, Del Prado JMA, Zapata MF, et al. [Anticoagulation in patients aged less than 75 years with atrial fibrillation.] <i>Salud Cienc</i> 2008; 16 :164–7	Post, e-mail

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Appendix 4 List of excluded studies

Reasons for exclusion are defined as:

- (a) Study design (excluded if study was a commentary or letter, conference abstract published before 2008, case series, studies of bridging therapy with heparin, rationale or study design papers, ecological studies, case–control study).
- (b) Population criteria not satisfied (if paper specified the included population with a CHADS₂ score of <2, or if the study was conducted primarily on stroke patients with AF whose outcomes were retrieved retrospectively or the population consisted of those with valve replacements or mechanical heart valves).</p>
- (c) Intervention criteria not satisfied (if the study did not specify a subgroup of patients on combined ACT plus APT).
- (d) Comparator criteria not satisfied (if the paper did not specify a population on ACT alone).
- (e) Outcome criteria not satisfied (if none of the desired outcomes were reported and/or outcomes were not reported for both intervention and comparator groups and/or outcomes were retrieved retrospectively in a population of stroke patients with AF).

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Cowburn P, Cleland JG. SPAF-III results. Eur Heart J 1996;17:1129	a
Eikelboom JW, Hirsh J. Combined antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy: clinical benefits and risks. <i>J Thromb Haemost</i> 2007; 5 (Suppl. 1):225–63	a
Gómez FP. Combined anticoagulant/antithrombotic treatment for preventing embolism in atrial fibrillation in geriatrics. <i>Rev Esp Geriatr Gerontol</i> 1997; 32 :345–9	aª
Gullov AL, Koefoed BG, Petersen P, Pedersen TS, Andersen ED, Godtfredsen J, <i>et al</i> . Fixed mini-dose warfarin and aspirin alone and in combination versus adjusted-dose warfarin for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: the AFASAK 2 Study. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 1998; 19 (Suppl.):154	a
Hori M, Koretsune Y. [Multi-centre trial of anti-platelet therapy for the prevention of cerebral infarction in patients with atrial fibrillation: COOPAT (Cooperative Osaka Platelet Antiaggregation Trial) Study.] <i>Jpn Circ J</i> 1994; 58 (Suppl. 4):1313–15	aª
Janko S, Dorwarth U, Hoffmann E. Pharmacotherapy of atrial fibrillation: an old option with new possibilities. <i>Exp Opin Pharmacother</i> 2008; 9 :913–25	a
McBride R. Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation study. Final results. <i>Ann Intern Med</i> 1991; 115 (Suppl. 3):66	a
Parkash R, Wee V, Gardner MJ, Cox JL, Thompson K, Brownell B, <i>et al</i> . The impact of warfarin use on clinical outcomes in atrial fibrillation: a population-based study. <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 2007; 23 :457–61	a
Preobrazhenskii DV. [Clopidogrel in the treatment of atrial fibrillation: benefit from addition to aspirin. The results of ACTIVE A trial.] <i>Kardiologiia</i> 2009; 49 :77	aª
Preobrazhenskii DV. [Clopidogrel in the treatment of atrial fibrillation: comparison with warfarin. The results of ACTIVE W trial.] <i>Kardiologiia</i> 2009; 49 :78	aª
Singer DE, Chang Y, Fang MC, Borowsky LH, Pomernacki NK, Udaltsova N, <i>et al.</i> Should patient characteristics influence target anticoagulation intensity for stroke prevention in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation?: the ATRIA study. <i>Circulation</i> 2009; 2 :297–304	a
Wysokinski WE, McBane RD, Daniels PR, Litin SC, Hodge DO, Dowling NF, et al. Periprocedural anticoagulation management of patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Mayo Clinic Proceedings</i> 2008; 83 :639–45. [Erratum published in <i>Mayo Clin Proc</i> 2008; 83 :851]	а

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Gorin L, Fauchier L, Nonin E, de LA, Haguenoer K, Cosnay P, <i>et al.</i> Antithrombotic treatment and the risk of death and stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation and a $CHADS_2$ score = 1. <i>Thromb Haemost 2010</i> ; 103 :833–40	b
Handjani AM, Khosropanah S, Habibzadeh F. Safety and antithrombotic effects of fixed low-dose warfarin–aspirin combination in rheumatic mitral stenosis associated with atrial fibrillation. <i>Iran J Med Sci</i> 1995; 20 :93–5	b
Hart RG, Benavente O, McBride R. The sin of omission: a systematic review of antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in atrial fibrillation: Antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis. <i>J Am Geriatr Soc</i> 2001; 49 :91–4	b
Hayashi J, Nakazawa S, Oguma F, Miyamura H, Eguchi S. Combined warfarin and antiplatelet therapy after St Jude Medical valve replacement for mitral valve disease. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 1994; 23 :672–7	b
Sareli P, England MJ, Berk MR, Marcus RH, Epstein M, Driscoll J, <i>et al</i> . Maternal and fetal sequelae of anticoagulation during pregnancy in patients with mechanical heart valve prostheses. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 1989; 63 :1462–5	b
Sobrino JA, Centeno JE, Mate I, Mesa JM, Oliver JM, Silvestre J, <i>et al</i> . [Left atrial thrombus. Its evolution with oral anticoagulation.] <i>Rev Esp Cardiol</i> 1992; 45 :157–61	bª
Wolkanin-Bartnik J, Zielinski T, Pogorzelska H, Browarek A, Leszek P. [Is atrial fibrillation a risk factor for thromboembolic complications in patients treated with oral anticoagulants after valve replacement?] <i>Folia Cardiol</i> 2004; 11 :807–15	bª
Abdelhafiz AH, Wheeldon NM. Use of resources and cost implications of stroke prophylaxis with warfarin for patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Geriatr Pharmacother</i> 2003; 1 :53–60	c
Abdelhafiz AH, Myint MP, Tayek JA, Wheeldon NM. Anaemia, hypoalbuminemia, and renal impairment as predictors of bleeding complications in patients receiving anticoagulation therapy for nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a secondary analysis. <i>Clin Ther</i> 2009; 31 :1534–9	c
ACTIVE Writing Group of the ACTIVE Investigators, Connolly S, Pogue J, Hart R, Pfeffer M, Hohnloser S, <i>et al</i> . Clopidogrel plus aspirin versus oral anticoagulation for atrial fibrillation in the Atrial fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial with Irbesartan for prevention of Vascular Events (ACTIVE W): a randomised controlled trial. <i>Lancet</i> 2006; 367 :1903–12	c
ACTIVE Writing Group on behalf of the ACTIVE Investigators, Connolly S, Pogue J, Hart R, et al. Warfarin prevents more stroke than clopidogrel and aspirin in atrial fibrillation. <i>J Fam</i> <i>Pract</i> 2006; 55 :753	с
Ageno W, Ambrosini F, Nardo B, Imperiale D, Dentali F, Mera V, <i>et al</i> . Atrial fibrillation and antithrombotic treatment in Italian hospitalised patients: a prospective, observational study. <i>J Thromb Thrombolys</i> 2001; 12 :225–30	с
Aguilar MI, Hart R. Oral anticoagulants for preventing stroke in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation and no previous history of stroke or transient ischaemic attacks. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2005; 3 :CD001927	с
Aguilar MI, Hart R, Pearce LA. Oral anticoagulants versus antiplatelet therapy for preventing stroke in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation and no history of stroke or transient ischaemic attacks. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2007; 3 :CD006186	с
Al-Khadra AS, Salem DN, Rand WM, Udelson JE, Smith JJ, Konstam MA. Warfarin anticoagulation and survival: a cohort analysis from the studies of left ventricular dysfunction. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 1998; 31 :749–53	с
Algra A. Medium intensity oral anticoagulants versus aspirin after cerebral ischaemia of arterial origin (ESPRIT): a randomised controlled trial. <i>Lancet Neurol</i> 2007; 6 :115–24	C
Amabile G, Matteoli S, Fattapposta F, Lavezzari M, Trappolini M, Heiman F, et al. [Italian Study on Atrial Fibrillation (SIFA): status report.] <i>Cardiologia</i> 1993; 38 (Suppl. 1):327–32	C ^a
Amouyel P, Mismetti P, Langkilde LK, Jasso-Mosqueda G, Nelander K, Lamarque H. INR variability in atrial fibrillation: a risk model for cerebrovascular events. <i>Eur J Int Med</i> 2009; 20 :63–9	С

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Andersen KK, Olsen TS. Reduced post stroke mortality in patients with stroke and atrial fibrillation treated with anticoagulants: results from a Danish quality-control registry of 22,179 patients with ischaemic stroke. <i>Stroke</i> 2007; 38 :259–63. [Reprint in <i>Ugeskr Laeger</i> 2007; 169 :3493–5]	c
Aronow WS, Ahn C, Kronzon I, Gutstein H. Incidence of new thromboembolic stroke in persons 62 years and older with chronic atrial fibrillation treated with warfarin versus aspirin. <i>J Am Geriatr Soc</i> 1999; 47 :366–8	c
Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Risk factors for stroke and efficacy of antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation. Analysis of pooled data from five randomised controlled trials. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1994; 154 :1449–57. [Erratum published in <i>Arch Intern Med</i> 1994; 154 :2254]	c
Bechtold H, Gunzenhauser D, Sawitzki H, Fung S, Janssen D. Anticoagulation with the low-molecular-weight heparin dalteparin (Fragmin) in atrial fibrillation and TEE-guided cardioversion. <i>Z Kardiol</i> 2003; 92 :532–9	c
Besson G, Bogousslavsky J. [European atrial fibrillation trial (EAFT).] <i>Rev Med Suisse</i> 1991; 111 :49–55	C ^a
Birman-Deych E, Radford MJ, Nilasena DS, Gage BF. Use and effectiveness of warfarin in Medicare beneficiaries with atrial fibrillation. <i>Stroke</i> 2006; 37 :1070–4	c
Bordin P, Mazzone C, Pandullo C, Goldstein D, Scardi S. Morbidity and mortality in 229 elderly patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. A five-year follow-up. <i>Ital Heart J</i> 2003; 4 :537–43	c
Breen AB, Vaskinn TE, Reikvam A, Skovlund E, Lislevand H, Madsen S. [Warfarin treatment and bleeding.] <i>Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen</i> 2003; 123 :1835–7	C ^a
Brophy MT, Snyder KE, Gaehde S, Ives C, Gagnon D, Fiore LD. Anticoagulant use for atrial fibrillation in the elderly. <i>J Am Geriatr Soc</i> 2004; 52 :1151–6	c
Brotons C, Moral I, Anton JJ, Cobos M, Cucurull E, Gallego C, <i>et al.</i> [Preventative treatment of nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation: from the efficacy of clinical trials to the effectiveness of clinical practice.] <i>Aten Primaria</i> 1997; 20 :367–71. [Erratum published in <i>Aten Primaria</i> 1998; 21 :120]	C ^a
Buksinska-Lisik M. [BAFTA Study: comparison of aspirin and warfarin in preventative maintenance of stroke in the oldest persons with atrial fibrillation.] <i>Kardiol Pol</i> 2007; 65 :1399–400	C ^a
Cabral NL, Volpato D, Ogata TR, Ramirez T, Moro C, Gouveia S. [Atrial fibrillation, stroke and anticoagulation: under-use of warfarin?] <i>Arq Neuro-Psiquiatr</i> 2004; 62 :1016–21	C ^a
Caspirindo MPM, Escudero RSG, Idigoras MIR, Gonzalez JLM, Castellon JLE. [Evaluation of follow-up of anticoagulant patients in primary care in the province of Malaga (Spain).] <i>Rev Calid Asist</i> 2006; 21 :293–8	C ^a
Chamorro A, Blanc R, Ascaso C, Saiz A, Vila N. [Factors associated to aspirin failure for secondary stroke prevention.] <i>Med Clin</i> 1997; 109 :569–72	C ^a
Chen XJ, Zhang H, Zhen RL, Li W-Z, Qian HD, Lei HD, <i>et al</i> . [The prognostic effect of different warfarin anticoagulation on patients with paroxysmal non-valvular atrial fibrillation.] <i>Chin J Evid Based Med</i> 2009; 9 :517–21	C ^a
Chesebro JH, Wiebers DO, Holland AE, Bardsley WT, Litin SC, Meissner I, <i>et al</i> . Bleeding during antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1996; 156 :409–16	c
Cleland JG, Shelton R, Nikitin N, Ford S, Frison L, Grind M. Prevalence of markers of heart failure in patients with atrial fibrillation and the effects of ximelagatran compared to warfarin on the incidence of morbid and fatal events: a report from the SPORTIF III and V trials. <i>Eur J Heart Failure</i> 2007; 9 :730–9	c
Connolly SJ, Laupacis A, Gent M, Roberts RS, Cairns JA, Joyner C. Canadian Atrial Fibrillation Anticoagulation (CAFA) Study. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 1991; 18 :349–55	c

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Copland M, Walker ID, Tait RC. Oral anticoagulation and haemorrhagic complications in an elderly population with atrial fibrillation. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2001; 161 :2125–8	С
Currie CJ, McEwan P, Emmas C, Morgan CL, Peters JR. Anticoagulation in patients with non- valvular atrial fibrillation: an evaluation of stability and early factors that predict longer-term stability on warfarin in a large UK population. <i>Curr Med Res Opin</i> 2005; 21 :1905–13	c
Currie CJ, Jones M, Goodfellow J, McEwan P, Morgan CL, Emmas C, <i>et al</i> . Evaluation of survival and ischaemic and thromboembolic event rates in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation in the general population when treated and untreated with warfarin. <i>Heart</i> 2006; 92 :196–200	c
Dagres N, Nieuwlaat R, Vardas PE, Andresen D, Levy S, Cobbe S, <i>et al.</i> Gender-related differences in presentation, treatment, and outcome of patients with atrial fibrillation in Europe: a report from the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 2007; 49 :572–7	c
Di PG, Palareti G. [The BAFTA study.] G Ital Cardiol 2008;9:735–9	C ^a
Diener HC. Stroke prevention using the oral direct thrombin inhibitor ximelagatran in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: Pooled analysis from the SPORTIF III and V studies. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2006; 21 :279–93	С
DiMarco JP, Flaker G, Waldo AL, Corley SD, Greene HL, Safford RE, <i>et al</i> . Factors affecting bleeding risk during anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: observations from the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) study. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2005; 149 :650–6	с
Dolan G, Smith LA, Collins S, Plumb JM. Effect of setting, monitoring intensity and patient experience on anticoagulation control: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. <i>Curr Med Res Opin</i> 2008; 24 :1459–72	с
Doucet J, Greboval-Furstenfeld E, Tavildari A, M'bello L, Delaunay O, Pesque T, <i>et al</i> . Which parameters differ in very old patients with chronic atrial fibrillation treated by anticoagulant or aspirin? Antithrombotic treatment of atrial fibrillation in the elderly. <i>Fundam Clin Pharm</i> 2008; 22 :569–74	c
EAFT (European Atrial Fibrillation Trial) Study Group. Secondary prevention in non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation after transient ischaemic attack or minor stroke. <i>Lancet</i> 1993; 342 :1255–62	С
Ertas F, Duygu H, Acet H, Eren NK, Nazli C, Ergene AO. [Oral anticoagulant use in patients with atrial fibrillation.] <i>Turk Kardiyoloji Dernegi Arsivi</i> 2009; 37 :161–7	C ^a
Evans A, Pérez I, Yu G, Kalra L. Should stroke subtype influence anticoagulation decisions to prevent recurrence in stroke patients with atrial fibrillation? <i>Stroke</i> 2001; 32 :2828–32	С
Evans A, Kalra L. Are the results of randomised controlled trials on anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation generalisable to clinical practice? <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2001; 161 :1443–7	c
Fang MC, Singer DE, Chang Y, Hylek EM, Henault LE, Jensvold NG, <i>et al</i> . Gender differences in the risk of ischaemic stroke and peripheral embolism in atrial fibrillation: the Anticoagulation and Risk factors In Atrial fibrillation (ATRIA) study. <i>Circulation</i> 2005; 112 :1687–91	c
Ferro D, Loffredo L, Polimeni L, Violi F. Underuse of oral anticoagulants in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation in Italy. <i>Int Emerg Med</i> 2007; 2 :24–8	С
Ford GA, Choy AM, Deedwania P, Karalis DG, Lindholm CJ, Pluta W, <i>et al</i> . Direct thrombin inhibition and stroke prevention in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation: experience from the SPORTIF III and V Trials. <i>Stroke</i> 2007; 38 :2965–71	с
Friberg L, Hammar N, Rosenqvist M. Stroke in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: report from the Stockholm Cohort of Atrial Fibrillation. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2010; 31 :967–75	С
Frost L, Johnsen SP, Pedersen L, Toft E, Husted S, Sorensen HT. Atrial fibrillation or flutter and stroke: a Danish population-based study of the effectiveness of oral anticoagulation in clinical practice. <i>J Int Med</i> 2002; 252 :64–9	c

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusior
Gage BF, Boechler M, Doggette AL, Fortune G, Flaker GC, Rich MW, <i>et al.</i> Adverse outcomes and predictors of underuse of antithrombotic therapy in Medicare beneficiaries with chronic atrial fibrillation. <i>Stroke</i> 2000; 31 :822–7	c
Garcia-Escriva A, Lopez-Hernandez N, Hernandez-Lorido R, Oliver-Navarrete C, Bustos S, Carneado-Ruiz J, <i>et al.</i> [Modification of clinical profile of stroke in atrial fibrillation patients. Effect of antithrombotic treatment.] <i>Rev Neurologia</i> 2004; 38 :401–5	C ^a
Goldenberg GM, Silverstone FA, Rangu S, Leventer SL. Outcomes of long-term anticoagulation in frail elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Clin Drug Invest</i> 1999; 17 :483–8	с
Golzari H, Cebul RD, Bahler RC. Atrial fibrillation: restoration and maintenance of sinus rhythm and indications for anticoagulation therapy. <i>Ann Intern Med</i> 1996; 125 :311–23	с
Gorter JW. Major bleeding during anticoagulation after cerebral ischaemia: patterns and risk factors. Stroke Prevention In Reversible Ischaemia Trial (SPIRIT). European Atrial Fibrillation Trial (EAFT) study groups. <i>Neurology</i> 1999; 53 :1319–27	с
Gottlieb LK, Salem-Schatz S. Anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation. Does efficacy in clinical trials translate into effectiveness in practice?. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1994; 154 :1945–53	С
Green CJ, Hadorn DC, Bassett K, Kazanjian A. Anticoagulation in chronic nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a critical appraisal and meta-analysis. <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 1997; 13 :811–15	С
Guo BFG, Chang HW, Chen MC, Yang CH. Underutilization of anticoagulation therapy in chronic atrial fibrillation. <i>Jpn Heart J</i> 2001; 42 :55–65	с
Guo Y, Wu Q, Zhang L, Yang T, Zhu P, Gao W, <i>et al</i> . Antithrombotic therapy in very elderly patients with atrial fibrillation: is it enough to assess thromboembolic risk?. <i>Clin Interv Ageing</i> 2010; 5 :157–62	с
Han W, Shen DT, Wang YM. [Comparative study of warfarin and aspirin for stroke prevention in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation.] <i>Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao</i> (Journal of Southern Medical University) 855; 26 :851–2	C ^a
Han ZX, Ma GY, Ma CM. [Prevention of embolism due to chronic auricular fibrillation with persantin (dipyridamole) combined with aspirin.] <i>Zhongguo Wei Zhong Bing</i> 2007; 19 :250	C ^a
Harenberg J, Leber G, Dempfle CE, Heene DL, Zimmermann R, Kubler W. Long term anticoagulation with low molecular weight heparin in outpatients with side effects on oral anticoagulants. <i>Nouv Rev Fr Hematol</i> 1989; 31 :363–9	с
Harenberg J, Weuster B, Pfitzer M, Dempfle CE, Stehle G, Kubler W, <i>et al.</i> Prophylaxis of embolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation using low molecular weight heparin. <i>Semin Thromb Hemost</i> 1993; 19 (Suppl. 1):116–21	c
Harley CR, Riedel AA, Hauch O, Nelson M, Wygant G, Reynolds M. Anticoagulation therapy in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation: a retrospective claims data analysis. <i>Curr Med Res Opin</i> 2005; 21 :215–22	с
Hart RG, Pearce LA, Koudstaal PJ. Transient ischaemic attacks in patients with atrial fibrillation: implications for secondary prevention: the European Atrial Fibrillation Trial and Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation III trial. <i>Stroke</i> 2004; 35 :948–51	с
Healey JS, Hart RG, Pogue J, Pfeffer MA, Hohnloser SH, De CR, <i>et al.</i> Risks and benefits of oral anticoagulation compared with clopidogrel plus aspirin in patients with atrial fibrillation according to stroke risk: the atrial fibrillation clopidogrel trial with irbesartan for prevention of vascular events (ACTIVE-W). <i>Stroke</i> 2008; 39 :1482–6	с
Hellemons BS, Langenberg M, Lodder J, Vermeer F, Schouten HJ, Lemmens T, <i>et al</i> . Primary prevention of arterial thromboembolism in non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation in primary care: randomised controlled trial comparing two intensities of coumarin with aspirin. <i>BMJ</i> 1999; 319 :958–64	с
Hohnloser SH, Pajitnev D, Pogue J, Healey JS, Pfeffer MA, Yusuf S, <i>et al.</i> Incidence of stroke in paroxysmal versus sustained atrial fibrillation in patients taking oral anticoagulation or combined antiplatelet therapy: an ACTIVE W Substudy. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 2007; 50 :2156–61	c

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Holmes DR, Reddy VY, Turi ZG, Doshi SK, Sievert H, Buchbinder M, <i>et al.</i> Percutaneous closure of the left atrial appendage versus warfarin therapy for prevention of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomised non-inferiority trial. <i>Lancet</i> 2009; 374 :534–42. [Erratum published in <i>Lancet</i> 2009; 374 :1596]	c
Hu DY, Zhang HP, Sun YH, Jiang LQ, Antithrombotic Therapy in Atrial Fibrillation Study Group. [The randomised study of efficiency and safety of antithrombotic therapy in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: warfarin compared with aspirin.] <i>Chin J Cardiol</i> 2006; 34 :295–8	C ^a
Hylek EM, Go AS, Chang Y, Jensvold NG, Henault LE, Selby JV, <i>et al</i> . Effect of intensity of oral anticoagulation on stroke severity and mortality in atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 2003; 349 :1019–26	c
Inoue H. [Atrial fibrillation and thromboembolism: a multicenter cooperative study.] <i>J</i> <i>Cardiol</i> 1998; 31 :227–38	C ^a
Inoue H. [Survey of atrial fibrillation and thromboembolism in the elderly: a multicenter cooperative study.] <i>J Cardiol</i> 1999; 33 :27–35	Cª
Jakob AH. [Percutaneous intervention versus anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation: randomised, non-inferiority study.] <i>Med Klin</i> 2010; 105 :117	C ^a
Jones M, McEwan P, Morgan CL, Peters JR, Goodfellow J, Currie CJ. Evaluation of the pattern of treatment, level of anticoagulation control, and outcome of treatment with warfarin in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: a record linkage study in a large British population. <i>Heart</i> 2005; 91 :472–7	c
Kalra L, Yu G, Pérez I, Lakhani A, Donaldson N. Prospective cohort study to determine if trial efficacy of anticoagulation for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation translates into clinical effectiveness. <i>BMJ</i> 2000; 320 :1236–9	c
Katsuki T, Saito M, Noda T, Yaginuma T, Hosoda S. [Long-term follow-up in patients receiving anticoagulation therapy: potency of therapy and complications.] <i>J Cardiol</i> 1994; 24 :203–9	C ^a
Khazan M, Scheuering S, Adamson R, Mathis AS. Prescribing patterns and outcomes of enoxaparin for anticoagulation of atrial fibrillation. <i>Pharmacotherapy</i> 2003; 23 :651–8	с
Kim JH, Song YB, Shin DH, Kim JS, Choi JO, On YK, <i>et al</i> . How well does the target INR level maintain in warfarin-treated patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation? <i>Yonsei Med J</i> 2009; 50 :83–8	c
Klem I, Wehinger C, Schneider B, Hartl E, Finsterer J, Stollberger C. Diabetic atrial fibrillation patients: mortality and risk for stroke or embolism during a 10-year follow-up. <i>Diabetes Metab Res Rev</i> 2003; 19 :320–8	c
Kohn OC, Ortiz HO, Franco CJV, Acosta TI, Restrepo FAM. [The anticoagulation clinic of the Hospital Universitario San Vicente De Paul: Demography, effectiveness and complications.] <i>latreia</i> 2004; 17 :105–14	Ca
Komatsu T, Nakamura S, Suzuki O, Horiuchi D, Yomogida K, Okumura K. Long-term prognosis of patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation depends on their response to antiarrhythmic therapy. <i>Circulation J</i> 2004; 68 :729–33	c
Kowey PR, Reiffel JA, Myerburg R, Naccarelli GV, Packer DL, Pratt CM, <i>et al</i> . Warfarin and aspirin use in atrial fibrillation among practicing cardiologist (from the AFFECTS Registry). <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2010; 105 :1130–4	c
Kropacheva ES, Panchenko EP, Ataullakhanova DM. [Long-term application of warfarin or acenocoumarol in patients with fibrillating arrhythmia: the effects compared.] <i>Klin Med</i> 2005; 83 :24–7	C ^a
Lackie CL, Garbarino KA, Pruetz JA. Warfarin therapy for atrial fibrillation in the elderly. <i>Ann</i> <i>Pharmacother</i> 2002; 36 :200–4	c
Lakshminarayan K, Solid CA, Collins AJ, Anderson DC, Herzog CA. Atrial fibrillation and stroke in the general Medicare population: a 10-year perspective (1992 to 2002). <i>Stroke</i> 2006; 37 :1969–74	C

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Lee BH, Park JS, Park JH, Park JS, Kwak JJ, Hwang ES, <i>et al.</i> The effect and safety of the antithrombotic therapies in patients with atrial fibrillation and CHADS ₂ score 1. <i>J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol</i> 2010; 21 :501–7	с
Leung CS, Tam KM. Antithrombotic treatment of atrial fibrillation in a regional hospital in Hong Kong. <i>Hong Kong Med J</i> 2003; 9 :179–85	с
Leung DY, Black IW, Cranney GB, Hopkins AP, Walsh WF. Prognostic implications of left atrial spontaneous echo contrast in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 1994; 24 :755–62	c
Liakishev AA. [Long-term treatment of patients with atrial fibrillation. Results of AFFIRM.] Kardiologiia 2003; 43 :73	C ^a
Liakishev AA. [Warfarin versus aspirin for stroke prevention in an elderly community population with atrial fibrillation. Results of the BAFTA trial.] <i>Kardiologiia</i> 2008; 48 :68	C ^a
Liakishev AA. [Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. Results of the RE-LY study.] <i>Kardiologiia</i> 2009; 49 :75–6	C ^a
Lip GY, Gibbs CR. Anticoagulation for heart failure in sinus rhythm. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2001; 4 :CD003336	c
Lip GY, Gibbs CR. Anticoagulation for heart failure in sinus rhythm: a Cochrane systematic review. <i>QJM</i> 2002; 95 :451–9	с
Lip GY, Rasmussen LH, Olsson SB, Jensen EC, Persson AL, Eriksson U, <i>et al</i> . Oral direct thrombin inhibitor AZD0837 for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: a randomised dose-guiding, safety, and tolerability study of four doses of AZD0837 vs vitamin K antagonists. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2009; 30 :2897–907	c
Lip GYH, Frison L, Grind M. Stroke event rates in anticoagulated patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. <i>J Int Med</i> 2008; 264 :50–61	с
Lopes RD, Starr A, Pieper CF, Al-Khatib SM, Newby LK, Mehta RH, <i>et al</i> . Warfarin use and outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation complicating acute coronary syndromes. <i>Am J Med</i> 2010; 123 :134–40	c
Lorenzoni R, Lazzerini G, Cocci F, De CR. Short-term prevention of thromboembolic complications in patients with atrial fibrillation with aspirin plus clopidogrel: the Clopidogrel-Aspirin Atrial Fibrillation (CLAAF) pilot study. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2004; 148 :e6	c
Luo M, Xie RM, Quan HB, Hu Y, Cai YY. [A study on the recurrence of ischaemic stroke in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation.] <i>Chung-Hua Nei Ko Tsa Chih (Chin J Int Med</i>) 2007; 46 :637–40	Cª
Mant J, Hobbs FD, Fletcher K, Roalfe A, Fitzmaurice D, Lip GY, <i>et al</i> . Warfarin versus aspirin for stroke prevention in an elderly community population with atrial fibrillation (the Birmingham Atrial Fibrillation Treatment of the Aged Study, BAFTA): a randomised controlled trial. <i>Lancet</i> 2007; 370 :493–503	c
Mariscalco G, Klersy C, Zanobini M, Banach M, Ferrarese S, Borsani P, et al. Atrial fibrillation after isolated coronary surgery affects late survival. <i>Circulation</i> 2008; 118 :1612–18	с
Martinez LJ, Juan N, Julia J, Rodriguez-Carballeira M, de D, I, Soto R, <i>et al</i> . [Major closed-space bleeding in patients on anticoagulation with acenocoumarol (TAO) or non-fractionated heparin(HS): a case–control study.] <i>An Med Interna</i> 2008; 25 :9–14	C ^a
Matchar DB, McCrory DC, Barnett HJ, Feussner JR. Medical treatment for stroke prevention Ann Intern Med 1994; 121 :41–53. [Erratum published in Ann Intern Med 1994; 121 :470; erratum published in Ann Intern Med 1995; 122 :885]	c
McBride R. Warfarin versus aspirin for prevention of thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation II study. <i>Lancet</i> 1994; 343 :687–91	c
McComb JM, Gribbin GM. Chronic atrial fibrillation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, atrioventricular node ablation and pacemakers: determinants and treatment. <i>Europace</i> 1999; 1 :30–4	c
Meinertz T. [Anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation. ACTIVE Study (Arterial fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial with Irbesartan for Prevention of Vascular Events).] <i>Internist</i> 2007; 48 :874–5	C ^a

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusio
Miller VT, Pearce LA, Feinberg WM, Rothrock JF, Anderson DC, Hart RG. Differential effect of aspirin versus warfarin on clinical stroke types in patients with atrial fibrillation. Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. <i>Neurology</i> 1996; 46 :238–40	с
Moriyasu H, Yaspirinka M, Oita J, Yamaguchi T. [Warfarin therapy for secondary prevention of cardioembolic stroke with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a retrospective study.] <i>Rinsho Shinkeigaku (Clin Neurol)</i> 1993; 33 :850–5	C ^a
Morocutti C, Amabile G, Fattapposta F, Nicolosi A, Matteoli S, Trappolini M, <i>et al</i> . Indobufen versus warfarin in the secondary prevention of major vascular events in nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. SIFA (Studio Italiano Fibrillazione Atriale) Investigators. <i>Stroke</i> 1997; 28 :1015–21	c
Moser M, Bode C, Nitschmann S. [clopidogrel and aspirin in patients with atrial fibrillation: Active A study (Atrial fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial with Irbesartan for prevention of Vascular Events).] <i>Internist</i> 2010; 51 :100–2	C ^a
Nagao T, Hamamoto M, Kanda A, Miyazaki T, Terashi A. [Very low-intensity anticoagulant therapy in elderly cardioembolic stroke patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation.] <i>Nippon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi (Jpn J Geriatr)</i> 1994; 31 :711–15	C ^a
Nair CK, Holmberg MJ, Aronow WS, Shen X, Li H, Lakkireddy D. Thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation with and without left atrial thrombus documented by transesophageal echocardiography. <i>Am J Ther</i> 2009; 16 :385–92	с
Nakajima K, Ichinose M, Takada S. [Ischaemic cerebrovascular disease in patients with atrial fibrillation.] <i>Jpn J Geriatr</i> 1995; 32 :497–502	Cª
Neeser K, Erny-Albrecht K, Voller H, Weber C. [Anticoagulation with oral vitamin-K- antagonists in risk patients: Clinical and economical benefit of an adequate prevention.] <i>J Kardiol</i> 2006; 13 :313–20	C ^a
Nichol MB, Knight TK, Dow T, Wygant G, Borok G, Hauch O, <i>et al</i> . Quality of anticoagulation monitoring in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation patients: comparison of anticoagulation clinic versus usual care. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2008; 42 :62–70	c
Nieuwlaat R, Prins MH, Le Heuzey JY, Vardas PE, Aliot E, Santini M, <i>et al.</i> Prognosis, disease progression, and treatment of atrial fibrillation patients during 1 year: follow-up of the Euro Heart Survey on atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2008; 29 :1181–9	с
Nieuwlaat R, Dinh T, Olsson SB, Camm AJ, Capucci A, Tieleman RG, <i>et al</i> . Should we abandon the common practice of withholding oral anticoagulation in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation? <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2008; 29 :915–22	с
Njaastad AM, Abildgaard U, Lassen JF. Gains and losses of warfarin therapy as performed in an anticoagulation clinic. <i>J Int Med</i> 2006; 259 :296–304	С
Nozawa T, Aspirinnoi H, Inoue H, TOWARDS Investigators. Toyama warfarin Rational Dosage. Instability of anticoagulation intensity contributes to occurrence of ischaemic stroke in patients with non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>Jpn Circ J</i> 2001; 65 :404–8	с
O'Donnell MJ, Berge E, Sandset PM. Are there patients with acute ischaemic stroke and atrial fibrillation that benefit from low molecular weight heparin? <i>Stroke</i> 2006; 37 :452–5	С
Ogawa S, Yamashita T, Yamazaki T, Aizawa Y, Atarashi H, Inoue H, <i>et al</i> . Optimal treatment strategy for patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: J-RHYTHM study. <i>Circulation J</i> 2009; 73 :242–8	с
Olsson SB, Rasmussen LH, Tveit A, Jensen E, Wessman P, Panfilov S, <i>et al.</i> Safety and tolerability of an immediate-release formulation of the oral direct thrombin inhibitor AZD0837 in the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2010; 103 :604–12	c
Ono A, Fujita T. Low-intensity anticoagulation for stroke prevention in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation: efficacy and safety in actual clinical practice. <i>J Clin Neurosci</i> 2005; 12 :891–4	с
Opolski G, Torbicki A, Kosior DA, Szulc M, Wozakowska-Kaplon B, Kolodziej P, <i>et al.</i> Rate control vs rhythm control in patients with nonvalvular persistent atrial fibrillation: the results of the Polish How to Treat Chronic Atrial Fibrillation (HOT CAFE) Study. <i>Chest</i> 2004; 126 :476–86	с

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Ouirke W, Cahill M, Perera K, Sargent J, Conway J. Warfarin prevalence, indications for use and haemorrhagic events. <i>Irish Med J</i> 2007; 100 :402–4	с
Owen A. Antithrombotic treatment for the primary prevention of stroke in patients with non valvular atrial fibrillation: a reappraisal of the evidence and network meta analysis. <i>Int J Cardiol</i> 2010; 142 :218–23	с
Palareti G. [Anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: the experience of the Centres of Surveillance. Study group of the 'Italian Study on Complications of Oral Anticoagulant Therapy' (ISCOAT).] <i>Ann Ital Med Int</i> 1996; 11 (Suppl. 2):18–20	C ^a
Palomeras E, Roquer J, Pou A. [Oral anticoagulation in the secondary prevention of cerebrovascular disease. Long-term follow-up of 169 patients.] <i>Rev Neurologia</i> 1998; 27 :772–6	C ^a
Pengo V, Zasso A, Barbero F. A randomised trial of fixed mini-dose warfarin in nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation (MIWAF). <i>Thromb Res</i> 1998; 91 (Suppl. 1):50	
Pengo V, Zasso A, Barbero F, Banzato A, Nante G, Parissenti L, <i>et al</i> . Effectiveness of fixed minidose warfarin in the prevention of thromboembolism and vascular death in nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 1998; 82 :433–7	c
Pengo V, Zasso A, Barbero F, Volta SD, Spodick DH. Can mini-dose warfarin prevent stroke in atrial fibrillation? <i>Cardiol Rev</i> 1999; 16 :27–31	С
Pengo V, Legnani C, Noventa F, Palareti G, ISCOAT Study Group. Oral anticoagulant therapy in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation and risk of bleeding. A Multicenter Inception Cohort Study. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2001; 85 :418–22	с
Pengo V, Barbero F, Biasiolo A, Pegoraro C, Noventa F, Iliceto S. Prevention of thromboembolism in patients with mitral stenosis and associated atrial fibrillation: effectiveness of low intensity (INR target 2) oral anticoagulant treatment. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2003; 89 :760–4	c
Pengo V, Cucchini U, Denas G, Davidson BL, Marzot F, Jose SP, <i>et al</i> . Lower versus standard intensity oral anticoagulant therapy (OAT) in elderly warfarin-experienced patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2010; 103 :442–9	с
Perera V, Bajorek BV, Matthews S, Hilmer SN. The impact of frailty on the utilisation of antithrombotic therapy in older patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Age Ageing</i> 2009; 38 :156–62	С
Pérez MA, Serrano LF, Madruga GF, De DE, Castellote FJ, Salazar MV. [Incidence of major complications in patients over 75 initiating dicoumarinic treatment.] <i>Rev Esp Geriatr Gerontol</i> 1993; 28 :346–9	C ^a
Petersen P, Boysen G, Godtfredsen J, Andersen ED, Andersen B. Placebo-controlled, randomised trial of warfarin and aspirin for prevention of thromboembolic complications in chronic atrial fibrillation. The Copenhagen AFASAK study. <i>Lancet</i> 1989; 1 :175–9	с
Petersen P, Grind M, Adler J, SPORTIF II, I. Ximelagatran versus warfarin for stroke prevention in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. SPORTIF II: a dose-guiding, tolerability, and safety study. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 2003; 41 :1445–51	c
Poli D, Antonucci E, Lombardi A, Cecchi E, Corsini I, Gensini GF, <i>et al</i> . Low incidence of haemorrhagic complications of oral anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation in the daily practice of an anticoagulation clinic. <i>Ital Heart J</i> 2003; 4 :44–7	c
Poli D, Antonucci E, Cecchi E, Marcucci R, Liotta AA, Cellai AP, <i>et al</i> . Culprit factors for the failure of well-conducted warfarin therapy to prevent ischaemic events in patients with atrial fibrillation: the role of homocysteine. <i>Stroke</i> 2005; 36 :2159–63	c
Poli D, Antonucci E, Lombardi A, Cecchi E, Gensini GF, Abbate R, <i>et al</i> . Management of oral anticoagulant therapy in the real practice of an anticoagulation clinic: focus on atrial fibrillation. <i>Blood Coagul Fibrin</i> 2005; 16 :491–4	c
Poli D, Antonucci E, Marcucci R, Fatini C, Alterini B, Mannini L, <i>et al</i> . Risk of bleeding in very old atrial fibrillation patients on warfarin: relationship with ageing and CHADS ₂ score. <i>Thromb Res</i> 2007; 121 :347–52	c

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Poli D, Antonucci E, Marcucci R, Mannini L, Falciani M, Abbate R, <i>et al</i> . The quality of anticoagulation on functional outcome and mortality for TIA/stroke in atrial fibrillation patients. <i>Int J Cardiol</i> 2009; 132 :109–13	C
Poli D, Antonucci E, Grifoni E, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Prisco D. Stroke risk in atrial fibrillation patients on warfarin. Predictive ability of risk stratification schemes for primary and secondary prevention. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2009; 101 :367–72	c
Poungvarin N, Opartkiattikul N, Chaithiraphan S, Viriyavejakul A. A comparative study of coumadin and aspirin for primary cardioembolic stroke and thromboembolic preventions of chronic rheumatic mitral stenosis with atrial fibrillation. <i>J Med Assoc Thai</i> 1994; 77 :1–6	c
Rash A, Downes T, Portner R, Yeo WW, Morgan N, Channer KS. A randomised controlled trial of warfarin versus aspirin for stroke prevention in octogenarians with atrial fibrillation (WASPO). <i>Age Ageing</i> 2007; 36 :151–6	c
Research Group for Antiarrhythmic Drug Therapy. [Risk factors for thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation during treatment with aspirin: a multicenter, cooperative retrospective study.] <i>J Cardiol</i> 2000; 35 :373–9	C ^a
Rietbrock S, Plumb JM, Gallagher AM, van Staa TP. How effective are dose-adjusted warfarin and aspirin for the prevention of stroke in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation? An analysis of the UK General Practice Research Database. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2009; 101 :527–34	c
Rose AJ, Ozonoff A, Henault LE, Hylek EM. Anticoagulation for valvular heart disease in community-based practice. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2010; 103 :329–37	c
Rovellini A, Folli C, Cardani F, Monzani V. Thromboembolic and haemorrhagic events in permanent atrial fibrillation: Observational study in an emergency department. <i>Eur J Int Med</i> 2009; 20 :756–9	C
Roy D, Marchand E, Gagne P, Chabot M, Cartier R. Usefulness of anticoagulant therapy in the prevention of embolic complications of atrial fibrillation. <i>Am Heart J</i> 1986; 112 :1039–43	c
Ruiz Ortiz M, Romo E, Franco ZM, Mesa RD, Valles BF. [A prospective protocol of oral anticoagulation in patients with chronic nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: effectiveness and safety in daily clinical practice.] <i>Mapfre Medicina</i> 2004; 15 :233–43	C ^a
Ruiz Ortiz M, Romo-Penas E, Franco-Zapata M, Mesa-Rubio D, Inguita-Sanchez M, Gado-Ortega M, <i>et al.</i> [Oral anticoagulation for nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: are scientific recommendations effective and safe in daily clinical practice?] <i>Rev Esp Cardiol</i> 2006; 59 :688–95	C ^a
Ruiz Ortiz M, Romo E, Mesa D, Delgado M, Anguita M, Lopez GA, <i>et al</i> . Predicting embolic events in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: Evaluation of the CHADS ₂ score in a Mediterranean population.] <i>Rev Esp Cardiol</i> 2008; 61 :29–35	C ^a
Ruiz Ortiz M, Romo E, Mesa D, Delgado M, Anguita M, Castillo JC, <i>et al.</i> Oral anticoagulation in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation in clinical practice: Impact of CHADS ₂ score on outcome. <i>Cardiology</i> 2010; 115 :200–4	c
Saxena R, Koudstaal P. Anticoagulants versus antiplatelet therapy for preventing stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation and a history of stroke or transient ischaemic attack. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2004; 4 :CD000187	c
Saxena R, Koudstaal PJ. Anticoagulants for preventing stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation and a history of stroke or transient ischaemic attack. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev (Online)</i> 2004; 2 :CD000185	c
Scardi S, Mazzone C, Goldstein D, Pandullo C, Poletti A, Humar F, <i>et al.</i> [SFAAT: the study of nonrheumatic chronic atrial fibrillation in the Trieste area. Results of an enrolment study.] <i>G Ital Cardiol</i> 1995; 25 :173–82	Ca
Scardi S, Mazzone C, Pandullo C, Goldstein D, Perkan A. A longitudinal study on left atrial thrombosis in patients with non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation treated with anticoagulants. <i>G Ital Cardiol</i> 1997; 27 :1036–43	C ^a
Schauer DP, Moomaw CJ, Wess M, Webb T, Eckman MH. Psychosocial risk factors for adverse outcomes in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation receiving warfarin. <i>J Gen Intern Med</i> 2005; 20 :1114–19	c

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Shen AYJ, Yao JF, Brar SS, Jorgensen MB, Wang X, Chen W. Racial/ethnic differences in ischaemic stroke rates and the efficacy of warfarin among patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Stroke</i> 2008; 39 :2736–43	c
SIFA investigators. [Embolic complications in atrial fibrillation. Data of the Studio Italiano Fibrillation Atriale (SIFA).] <i>G Chir</i> 1995; 16 :137–9	C ^a
Singer DE, Hughes RA, Gress DR, Sheehan MA, Oertel LB, Ward MS, <i>et al</i> . The effect of low- dose warfarin on the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J</i> <i>Med</i> 1990; 323 :1505–11	c
Singer DE, Hughes RA, Gress DR, Sheehan MA, Oertel LB, Maraventano SW, <i>et al.</i> The effect of aspirin on the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation: <i>The BAATAF Study. Am Heart J</i> 1992; 124 :1567–73	c
Singer DE, Chang Y, Fang MC, Borowsky LH, Pomernacki NK, Udaltsova N, <i>et al</i> . The net clinical benefit of warfarin anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation. <i>Ann Intern Med</i> 2009; 151 :297–305. [Summary for patients in <i>Ann Intern Med</i> 2009; 151 :I36]	c
Siu CW, Pong V, Zhang X, Chan YH, Jim MH, Liu S, <i>et al</i> . Risk of ischaemic stroke after new- onset atrial fibrillation in patients with hyperthyroidism. <i>Heart Rhythm</i> 2009; 6 :169–73	С
Stellbrink C, Nixdorff U, Hofmann T, Lehmacher W, Daniel WG, Hanrath P, et al. Safety and efficacy of enoxaparin compared with unfractionated heparin and oral anticoagulants for prevention of thromboembolic complications in cardioversion of nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: the Anticoagulation in Cardioversion using Enoxaparin (ACE) trial. <i>Circulation</i> 2004; 109 :997–1003	c
Stollberger C, Chnupa P, Kronik G, Bachl C, Brainin M, Schneider B, et al. [Embolism in left-atrial thrombi (ELAT Study): are spontaneous echo contrast, thrombi in the left atrium/ appendage and size of the left atrial appendage predictors of possible embolisms?] <i>Wien Med Wochenschr</i> 1997; 147 :46–51	C ^a
Strach K, Meyer C, Hackenbroch M, Tiemann K, Haase J, Pizulli L, <i>et al</i> . Long-term fate of left atrial thrombi and incidence of cerebral embolism under continuous anticoagulation therapy. <i>RöFo</i> 2005; 177 :1706–12	C ^a
Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study. Final results. Circulation 1991;84:527-39	С
Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Warfarin versus aspirin for prevention of thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation II Study. <i>Lancet</i> 1994; 343 :687–91	c
Sun Y, Hu D, Li K, Zhou Z. Predictors of stroke risk in native Chinese with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation: retrospective investigation of hospitalised patients. <i>Clin Cardiol</i> 2009; 32 :76–81	С
Sun YH, Hu DY. [The efficiency and safety of anticoagulation therapy in atrial fibrillation in Chinese.] <i>Chung-Hua Nei Ko Tsa Chih [Chin J Int Med</i>] 2004; 43 :258–60	C ^a
Suzuki S, Yamashita T, Ohtsuka T, Sagara K, Uejima T, Oikawa Y, <i>et al</i> . Prevalence and prognosis of patients with atrial fibrillation in Japan: a prospective cohort of Shinken Database 2004. <i>Circulation J</i> 2008; 72 :914–20	c
Taniguchi T, Murai S, Ogawa S, Fumimura Y, Chida K, Kuwajima I. [A follow-up study of the elderly with atrial fibrillation (≥80 years or older).] <i>Resp Circ</i> 2004; 52 :963–8	C ^a
Taylor FC, Cohen H, Ebrahim S. Systematic review of long term anticoagulation or antiplatelet treatment in patients with non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>BMJ</i> 2001; 322 :321–6. [Erratum published in <i>BMJ</i> 2001; 322 :587]	c
Tentschert S, Parigger S, Dorda V, Bittner K, Unterbuchschachner D, Greisenegger S, <i>et al.</i> Recurrent vascular events in patients with ischaemic stroke/TIA and atrial fibrillation in relation to secondary prevention at hospital discharge. <i>Wien Klin Wochenschr</i> 2004; 116 :834–8	c
Testa L, Andreotti F, Biondi Zoccai GG, Burzotta F, Bellocci F, Crea F. Ximelagatran/melagatran against conventional anticoagulation: a meta-analysis based on 22,639 patients. <i>Int J Cardiol</i> 2007; 122 :117–24	c

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
The ACTIVE investigators. clopidogrel/aspirin combination therapy in high-risk atrial fibrillation patients: study findings suggest safer alternative to warfarin. <i>Cardiovasc J Afr</i> 2009; 20 :210	с
The European Atrial Fibrillation Trial Study Group. Optimal oral anticoagulant therapy in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation and recent cerebral ischaemia. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1995; 333 :5–10	с
The Stroke Prevention In Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Bleeding during antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1996; 156 :409–16	с
Themistoclakis S, Corrado A, Marchlinski FE, Jais P, Zado E, Rossillo A, <i>et al</i> . The risk of thromboembolism and need for oral anticoagulation after successful atrial fibrillation ablation. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 2010; 55 :735–43	с
To AC, Yehia M, Collins JF. Atrial fibrillation in haemodialysis patients: do the guidelines for anticoagulation apply? <i>Nephrology</i> 2007; 12 :441–7	С
Tomita F, Kohya T, Sakurai M, Kaji T, Yokoshiki H, Sato M, <i>et al</i> . Prevalence and clinical characteristics of patients with atrial fibrillation: analysis of 20,000 cases in Japan. <i>Jpn Circ J</i> 2000; 64 :653–8	с
Torn M, Cannegieter SC, Bollen WL, VAN DER Meer FJ, van der Wall EE, Rosendaal FR. Optimal level of oral anticoagulant therapy for the prevention of arterial thrombosis in patients with mechanical heart valve prostheses, atrial fibrillation, or myocardial infarction: a prospective study of 4202 patients. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2009; 169 :1203–9	с
Trullas-Vila JC, Bisbe-Company, Freitas-Ramirez A, Soler-Simon S, Bisbe-Company, Roncero- Vidal JM, <i>et al</i> . Ten-year experience with acenocoumarol treatment in an ambulatory cohort of Spanish patients. <i>J Thromb Thrombolys</i> 2009; 28 :436–43	c
van Geest-Daalderop JH, Sturk A, Levi M, Adriaansen HJ. [Extent and quality of anti- coagulation treatment with coumarin derivatives by the Dutch Thrombosis Services.] <i>Ned</i> <i>Tijdschr Geneeskd</i> 2004; 148 :730–5	Ca
van Latum JC. The 'European atrial fibrillation study': Secondary prevention of thromboembolic complications with oral anticoagulants or acetylsalicylic acid in patients with non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd</i> 1994; 138 :1025–31	Ca
van Latum JC, Koudstaal PJ, Venables GS, van GJ, Kappelle LJ, Algra A. Predictors of major vascular events in patients with a transient ischaemic attack or minor ischaemic stroke and with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. European Atrial Fibrillation Trial (EAFT) Study Group. <i>Stroke</i> 1995; 26 :801–6	с
Vazquez Munoz E, Gómez Cerezo J, Fernandez Pavon A. [Risk factors of a new cardio- embolic cerebral accident in non-valvular atrial fibrillation treated with acenocoumarol.] <i>Aten Primaria</i> 2001; 28 :46–9	C ^a
Vemmos KN, Tsivgoulis G, Spengos K, Manios E, Xinos K, Vassilopoulou S, <i>et al</i> . Primary prevention of arterial thromboembolism in the oldest old with atrial fibrillation: a randomised pilot trial comparing adjusted-dose and fixed low-dose coumadin with aspirin. <i>Eur J Int Med</i> 2006; 17 :48–52	с
Vinker S, Nakar S, Finkel S, Nir E, Hyam E. [Oral anticoagulation therapy in the primary care setting.] <i>Harefuah</i> 1997; 132 :753–6	C ^a
Wahbi K. [Anticoagulation therapy in atrial fibrillation in combination with acute myocardial infarction influences long-term outcome: a prospective cohort study from the Register of Information and Knowledge about Swedish Heart Intensive Care Admissions (RISKS-HIA).] <i>Méd Thér – Cardio</i> 2006; 2 :18–19	Ca
Walker AM, Bennett D. Epidemiology and outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation in the United States. <i>Heart Rhythm</i> 2008; 5 :1365–72	с
Wallentin L, Yusuf S, Ezekowitz MD, Alings M, Flather M, Franzosi MG, <i>et al</i> . Efficacy and safety of Dabigatran compared with warfarin at different levels of international normalised ratio control for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: an analysis of the RE-LY trial. <i>Lancet</i> 2010; 376 :975–83	с

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Wan Y, Heneghan C, Perera R, Roberts N, Hollowell J, Glasziou P, <i>et al</i> . Anticoagulation control and prediction of adverse events in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. <i>Circulation</i> 2008; 1 :84–91	с
Wang TJ, Massaro JM, Levy D, Vaspirinn RS, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, <i>et al</i> . A risk score for predicting stroke or death in individuals with new-onset atrial fibrillation in the community: the Framingham Heart Study. <i>JAMA</i> 2003; 290 :1049–56	с
Wehinger C, Stollberger C, Langer T, Schneider B, Finsterer J. Evaluation of risk factors for stroke/embolism and of complications due to anticoagulant therapy in atrial fibrillation. <i>Stroke</i> 2001; 32 :2246–52	с
Weibert RT, Yeager BF, Wittkowsky AK, Bussey HI, Wilson DB, Godwin JE, <i>et al</i> . A randomised, crossover comparison of warfarin products in the treatment of chronic atrial fibrillation. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2000; 34 :981–8	с
Weitz JI, Connolly SJ, Patel I, Salazar D, Rohatagi S, Mendell J, <i>et al</i> . Randomised, parallel- group, multicentre, multinational phase 2 study comparing edoxaban, an oral factor Xa inhibitor, with warfarin for stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Thromb</i> <i>Haemost</i> 2010; 104 :633–41	с
Wyse DG, Slee A, Epstein AE, Gersh BJ, Rocco J, Vidaillet H, <i>et al</i> . Alternative endpoints for mortality in studies of patients with atrial fibrillation: The AFFIRM study experience. <i>Heart Rhythm</i> 2004; 1 :531–7	с
Yamaguchi T. Optimal intensity of warfarin therapy for secondary prevention of stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a multicenter, prospective, randomised trial. Japanese Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation-Embolism Secondary Prevention Cooperative Study Group. <i>Stroke</i> 2000; 31 :817–21	с
Yigit Z. [The Turkish atrial fibrillation study.] Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars 2000;28:8–19	C ^a
Yigit Z, Kucukoglu MS, Okcun B, Sansoy V, Guzelsoy D. The safety of low-molecular weight heparins for the prevention of thromboembolic events after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. <i>Jpn Heart J</i> 2003; 44 :369–77	с
Yousef ZR, Tandy SC, Tudor V, Jishi F, Trent RJ, Watson DK, <i>et al</i> . Warfarin for non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation: five year experience in a district general hospital. <i>Heart</i> 2004; 90 :1259–62	С
Zanocchi M, Bo M, Giona E, Martinelli E, Nicola E, Corsinovi L, <i>et al</i> . [Antithrombotic therapy in the elderly.] <i>Giorn Gerontol</i> 2006; 54 :153–63	C ^a
Zuo HJ, Su JL, Zeng H, Yuan BH, Yao CH. [Anticoagulation treatment in real-life practice of patient with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation in Beijing city.] <i>Chung-Hua i Hsueh Tsa Chih [Chinese Medical Journal]</i> 2007; 87 :2328–31	C ^a
Al-Khatib SM, Pieper KS, Lee KL, Mahaffey KW, Hochman JS, Pepine CJ, <i>et al</i> . Atrial fibrillation and mortality among patients with acute coronary syndromes without ST-segment elevation: results from the PURSUIT trial. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2001; 88 :76–9	d
Connolly SJ, Pogue J, Hart RG, Hohnloser SH, Pfeffer M, Chrolavicius S, <i>et al</i> . Effect of clopidogrel added to aspirin in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 2009; 360 :2066–78	d
Edvardsson N, Juul-Moller S, Omblus R, Pehrsson K. Effects of low-dose warfarin and aspirin versus no treatment on stroke in a medium-risk patient population with atrial fibrillation. <i>J</i> Int Med 2003; 254 :95–101	d
Gao F, Zhou YJ, Wang ZJ, Shen H, Liu XL, Nie B, <i>et al</i> . Comparison of different antithrombotic regimens for patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing drug-eluting stent implantation. <i>Circulation J</i> 2010; 74 :701–8	d
Maegdefessel L, Schlitt A, Faerber J, Bond SP, Messow CM, Buerke M, <i>et al</i> . Anticoagulant and/or antiplatelet treatment in patients with atrial fibrillation after percutaneous coronary intervention. A single-centre experience. <i>Med Klin</i> 2008; 103 :628–32	d
Manzano-Fernandez S, Pastor FJ, Marin F, Cambronero F, Caro C, Pascual-Figal DA, et al. Increased major bleeding complications related to triple antithrombotic therapy usage in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary artery stenting. <i>Chest</i> 2008; 134 :559–67	d

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Okcun B, Yigit Z, Yildiz A, Uzunhaspirinn I, Orta K, Baskurt M, <i>et al</i> . What should be the primary treatment in atrial fibrillation: ventricular rate control or sinus rhythm control with long-term anticoagulation? <i>J Intern Med Res</i> 2009; 37 :464–71	d
Tangelder MJ, Frison L, Weaver D, Wilcox RG, Bylock A, Emanuelsson H, <i>et al</i> . Effect of ximelagatran on ischaemic events and death in patients with atrial fibrillation after acute myocardial infarction in the efficacy and safety of the oral direct thrombin inhibitor ximelagatran in patients with recent myocardial damage (ESTEEM) trial. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2008; 155 :382–7	d
Valencia J, Mainar V, Bordes P, Pineda J, Gómez S, Sogorb F. Observance of antiplatelet therapy after stent implantation in patients under chronic oral anticoagulant treatment. <i>J Intervent Cardiol</i> 2008; 21 :218–24	d
Abdelhafiz AH, Wheeldon NM. Results of an open-label, prospective study of anticoagulant therapy for atrial fibrillation in an outpatient anticoagulation clinic. <i>Clin Ther</i> 2004; 26 :1470–8	e
Ang SY, Peterson GM, Friesen WT, Vial JH. Review of antithrombotic drug usage in atrial fibrillation. <i>J Clin Pharm Ther</i> 1998; 23 :97–106	e
Aspirinnin MR, Vasiljevic ZM, Matic MD, Mrdovic IB, Perunicic JP, Matic DP, et al. The long- term risk of stroke in patients with acute myocardial infarction complicated with new- onset atrial fibrillation. <i>Clin Cardiol</i> 2009; 32 :467–70. [Erratum published in <i>Clin Cardiol</i> 2010; 33 :379]	e
Berge E, Sandercock P. Anticoagulants versus antiplatelet agents for acute ischaemic stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2002; 4 :CD003242	е
Beri A, Punnam SR. Anticoagulation in patients with acute ischaemic stroke and atrial fibrillation: a balance of risks and benefits. <i>Cardiovasc Drug Ther</i> 2008; 22 :419–25	е
Caro JJ, Flegel KM, Orejuela ME, Kelley HE, Speckman JL, Migliaccio-Walle K. Anticoagulant prophylaxis against stroke in atrial fibrillation: effectiveness in actual practice. <i>CMAJ</i> 1999; 161 :493–7. [Erratum published in <i>CMAJ</i> 2000; 162 :973	e
Clua Espuny JL, Mau Llorca MR, Aguilar MC, Grupo de T. [Characteristics of oral anti-coagulation treatment in high-risk chronic auricular fibrillation.] <i>Aten Primaria</i> 2004; 34 :414–19	eª
Connolly SJ, Pogue J, Eikelboom J, Flaker G, Commerford P, Franzosi MG, <i>et al</i> . Benefit of oral anticoagulant over antiplatelet therapy in atrial fibrillation depends on the quality of international normalised ratio control achieved by centres and countries as measured by time in therapeutic range. <i>Circulation</i> 2008; 118 :2029–37	e
Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, <i>et al</i> . Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 2009; 361 :1139–51	е
Connolly SJ, Crijns HJ, Torp-Pedersen C, Van EM, Gaudin C, Page RL, <i>et al</i> . Analysis of stroke in ATHENA: a placebo-controlled, double-blind, parallel-arm trial to assess the efficacy of dronedarone 400 mg BID for the prevention of cardiovascular hospitalisation or death from any cause in patients with atrial fibrillation/atrial flutter. <i>Circulation</i> 2009; 120 :1174–80	e
Darkow T, Vanderplas AM, Lew KH, Kim J, Hauch O. Treatment patterns and real-world effectiveness of warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation within a managed care system. <i>Curr Med Res Opin</i> 2005; 21 :1583–94	e
de Boer RA, Hillege HL, Tjeerdsma G, Verheugt FW, van Veldhuisen DJ. Both antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy may favourably affect outcome in patients with advanced heart failure. A retrospective analysis of the PRIME-II trial. <i>Thromb Res</i> 2005; 116 :279–85	e
Depta JP, Cannon CP, Fonarow GC, Zhao X, Peacock WF, Bhatt DL, <i>et al</i> . Patient characteristics associated with the choice of triple antithrombotic therapy in acute coronary syndromes. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2009; 104 :1171–8	e
Fang MC, Go AS, Hylek EM, Chang Y, Henault LE, Jensvold NG, et al. Age and the risk of warfarin-associated haemorrhage: the anticoagulation and risk factors in atrial fibrillation study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006; 54 :1231–6	e

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusio
Goto S, Bhatt DL, Rother J, Alberts M, Hill MD, Ikeda Y, <i>et al.</i> Prevalence, clinical profile, and cardiovascular outcomes of atrial fibrillation patients with atherothrombosis. <i>Am Heart J</i> 863; 156 :855–63	е
Hylek EM, Evans-Molina C, Shea C, Henault LE, Regan S. Major haemorrhage and tolerability of warfarin in the first year of therapy among elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Circulation</i> 2007; 115 :2689–96	e
Hylek EM, Frison L, Henault LE, Cupples A. Disparate stroke rates on warfarin among contemporaneous cohorts with atrial fibrillation: potential insights into risk from a comparative analysis of SPORTIF III versus SPORTIF V. <i>Stroke</i> 2008; 39 :3009–14	е
Inoue H, Atarashi H. Risk factors for thromboembolism in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2000; 86 :852–5	е
Jackson SL, Peterson GM, Vial JH, Daud R, Ang SY. Outcomes in the management of atrial fibrillation: clinical trial results can apply in practice. <i>Intern Med J</i> 2001; 31 :329–36	е
Jacobs LG, Billett HH, Freeman K, Dinglas C, Jumaquio L. Anticoagulation for stroke prevention in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation, including those with falls and/or early-stage dementia: a single-centre, retrospective, observational study. <i>Am J Geriatr Pharmacother</i> 2009; 7 :159–66	е
Kerr CR, Boone J, Connolly SJ, Dorian P, Green M, Klein G, <i>et al</i> . The Canadian Registry of Atrial Fibrillation: a non-interventional follow-up of patients after the first diagnosis of atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 1998; 82 :82-5N	е
Koefoed BG, Feddersen C, Gullov AL, Petersen P. Effect of fixed minidose warfarin, conventional dose warfarin and aspirin on INR and prothrombin fragment 1 + 2 in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 1997; 77 :845–8	е
Kwok L, Molckovsky D, Boucher M. Ximelagatran: a new type of oral anticoagulant. <i>Int J Technol Assess Health Care</i> 2005; 21 :480–6	е
Lu Y, Zhang J. Anticoagulant treatment on chronic non-valvular atrial fibrillation in the elderly patients.] <i>Chin J Emerg Med</i> 2006; 15 :54–6	eª
Mancini GBJ, Weinberg DM. Cardioversion of atrial fibrillation: A retrospective analysis of the safety and value of anticoagulation. <i>Cardiovasc Rev Rep</i> 1990; 11 :18–20, 23	е
Maspirinki N, Suzuki M, Matsumura A, Maruyama Y, Hashimoto Y. Quality of warfarin control affects the incidence of stroke in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Intern Med</i> 2010; 49 :1711–16	e
McAlister FA, Man-Son-Hing M, Straus SE, Ghali WA, Anderson D, Majumdar SR, <i>et al</i> . Impact of a patient decision aid on care among patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a cluster randomised trial. <i>CMAJ</i> 2005; 173 :496–501	е
Monte S, Macchia A, Pellegrini F, Romero M, Lepore V, D'Ettorre A, <i>et al</i> . Antithrombotic treatment is strongly underused despite reducing overall mortality among high-risk elderly patients hospitalised with atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2006; 27 :2217–23	е
Monte S, Macchia A, Pellegrini F, Romero M, D'Ettorre A, Tavazzi L, <i>et al</i> . Antithrombotic treatment of high-risk elderly patients hospitalised with atrial fibrillation. <i>Cardiol Rev</i> 2007; 24 :19–23	е
Ntep-Gweth M, Zimmermann M, Meiltz A, Kingue S, Ndobo P, Urban P, <i>et al</i> . Atrial fibrillation in Africa: clinical characteristics, prognosis, and adherence to guidelines in Cameroon. <i>Europace</i> 2010; 12 :482–7	е
Oden A, Fahlen M, Hart RG. Optimal INR for prevention of stroke and death in atrial fibrillation: a critical appraisal. <i>Thromb Res</i> 2006; 117 :493–9	е
Ogilvie IM, Newton N, Welner SA, Cowell W, Lip GY. Underuse of oral anticoagulants in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. <i>Am J Med</i> 2010; 123 :638–45	e

Pasceri V, Patti G, Pristipino C, Pelliccia F, Irini D, Varveri A, et al. Safety of drug eluting stents e in patients on chronic anticoagulation using long-term single antiplatelet treatment with clopidogrel. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2010;**75**:936–42

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Pearce LA, Hart RG, Halperin JL. Assessment of three schemes for stratifying stroke risk in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Med</i> 2000; 109 :45–51	е
Pérez-Gómez F, Lourenzo PI, Companion J, Escriba A, Pérez SD, Guillen M, <i>et al</i> . Platelet aggregation in different antithrombotic regimens. Possible proaggregant effect of low level oral anticoagulation. <i>Revista Portuguesa de Cardiologia</i> 2002; 21 :541–51	e
Poli D, Antonucci E, Grifoni E, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Prisco D. Gender differences in stroke risk of atrial fibrillation patients on oral anticoagulant treatment. <i>Thromb Haemost</i> 2009; 101 :938–42	e
Poli D, Antonucci E, Grifoni E, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Prisco D. Bleeding risk during oral anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation patients older than 80 years. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 2009; 54 :999–1002	e
Porter A, Konstantino Y, Lakobishvili Z, Shachar L, Battler A, Hasdai D. Short-term triple therapy with aspirin, warfarin, and a thienopyridine among patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. <i>Catheter Cardiovasc Intervent</i> 2006; 68 :56–61	e
Potpara T, Grujic M, Vujisic-Tesic B, Ostojic M, Polovina M, Arandjelovic A, <i>et al</i> . [Relationship between the type of atrial fibrillation and thromboembolic events.] <i>Vojnosanit Pregl</i> 2009; 66 :887–91	eª
Research Group for Antiarrhythmic Drug Therapy. [Survey of atrial fibrillation and thromboembolism in the elderly: a multicenter cooperative study.] <i>J Cardiol</i> 1999; 33 :27–35	e ^a
Ruiz-Nodar JM, Marin F, Hurtado JA, Valencia J, Pinar E, Pineda J, <i>et al</i> . Anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapy use in 426 patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention and stent implantation implications for bleeding risk and prognosis. <i>J Am Coll Cardiol</i> 2008; 51 :818–25	е
Sam C, Massaro JM, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Levy D, Lambert JW, Wolf PA, <i>et al</i> . Warfarin and aspirin use and the predictors of major bleeding complications in atrial fibrillation (the Framingham Heart Study). <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2004; 94 :947–51	e
Sanchez JF, Garcia L, Chiquero M, Lozano G, Pérez S, Alonso T, <i>et al</i> . [Antithrombotic treatment in non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. Do we follow the recommendations of clinical trials?] <i>An Med Interna</i> 1999; 16 :569–73	6 ₉
Sanchez-Pena P, Bouzamondo A, Lechat P. Prognostic value of INR fluctuations during anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation and a high thromboembolic risk. <i>Heart Drug</i> 2004; 4 :80–6	е
Saxena R, Lewis S, Berge E, Sandercock PA, Koudstaal PJ. Risk of early death and recurrent stroke and effect of heparin in 3169 patients with acute ischaemic stroke and atrial fibrillation in the International Stroke Trial. <i>Stroke</i> 2001; 32 :2333–7	е
Tebbe U, Oeckinghaus R, Appel KF, Heuer H, Haake H, Eggers E, <i>et al</i> . AFFECT: a prospective, open-label, multicenter trial to evaluate the feasibility and safety of a short-term treatment with subcutaneous certoparin in patients with persistent non-valvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Clin Res Cardiol</i> 2008; 97 :389–96	е
The Boston Area Anticoagulation Trial for Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. The effect of low- dose warfarin on the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J</i> <i>Med</i> 1990; 323 :1505–11	е
Tincani E, Baldini P, Crowther MA, Zanasi A, Ferrari P, Cenci AM, <i>et al</i> . Bleeding rates in patients older than 90 years of age on vitamin K antagonist therapy for nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis</i> 2009; 20 :47–51	e
Tsuyuki RT, Walters B, Yim R, Teo KK. Re: The Clinical Quality Improvement Network (CQIN) Investigators. Thromboembolic prophylaxis in 3,575 hospitalised patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 2000; 16 :99	е
Tulner LR, van Campen JP, Kuper IM, Gijsen GJ, Koks CH, Mac Gillavry MR, <i>et al.</i> Reasons for undertreatment with oral anticoagulants in frail geriatric outpatients with atrial fibrillation: a prospective, descriptive study. <i>Drugs Aging</i> 2010; 27 :39–50	е

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
van Walraven C, Hart RG, Connolly S, Austin PC, Mant J, Hobbs FD, <i>et al</i> . Effect of age on stroke prevention therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: the atrial fibrillation investigators. <i>Stroke</i> 2009; 40 :1410–16	e
van Walraven C, Hart RG, Singer DE, Laupacis A, Connolly S, Petersen P, <i>et al</i> . Oral anticoagulants vs aspirin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: an individual patient meta-analysis. <i>JAMA</i> 2002; 288 :2441–8	e
Zeng M, Wu ZY, Zheng Y, Chen J, Feng GQ, Fu XH. [Incidence and risk factors of stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation in Haikou.] <i>Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao-Yi Xue Ban</i> 2009; 40 :905–8	e
Tinmouth AH, Morrow BH, Cruickshank MK, Moore PM, Kovacs MJ. Dalteparin as periprocedure anticoagulation for patients on warfarin and at high risk of thrombosis. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2001; 35 :669–74	a, b
Abdelhafiz AH, Wheeldon NM. Anticoagulation of atrial fibrillation in older people: a clinical practice observational study. <i>J Am Geriatr Soc</i> 2006; 54 :176–7	а, с
Akdeniz B, Turker S, Ozturk V, Badak O, Okan T, Aslan O, <i>et al</i> . Cardioversion under the guidance of transesophageal echochardiograhy in persistent atrial fibrillation: results with low molecular weight heparin. <i>Int J Cardiol</i> 2005; 98 :49–55	a, c
Anderson DC. Progress report of the Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study. <i>Stroke</i> 1990; 21 (Suppl. 11):III12–17	а, с
Anderson DC, Litin SC, McBride R, on behalf of the SPAF Investigators. Intracranial haemorrhage during anticoagulation for atrial fibrillation: interim results of the second stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation (SPAF-II) trial. <i>Stroke</i> 1993; 24 :187	a, c
Beldi G, Beng L, Siegel G, Bisch-Knaden S, Candinas D. Prevention of perioperative thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Br J Surg</i> 2007; 94 :1351–5	а, с
Berry C, Norrie J, McMurray JJ. Ximelagatran compared with warfarin for the prevention of systemic embolism and stroke. An imputed placebo analysis. <i>Cardiovasc Drug Ther</i> 2005; 19 :149–51	а, с
Bui HT, Krisnaswami A, Le CU, Chan J, Shenoy BN. Comparison of safety of subcutaneous enoxaparin as outpatient anticoagulation bridging therapy in patients with a mechanical heart valve versus patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2009; 104 :1429–33	a, c
Cataldo G, on behalf of the SIFA Study Group. Warfarin vs indobufen for secondary prevention of thromboembolism in non-valvular atrial fibrillation. The SIFA (studio Italiano fibrillazione altriale) trial. <i>Circulation</i> 1995; 92 (Suppl. 1): I-485	a, c
Connolly S. Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation II Study. Lancet 1994;343:1509	а, с
Dehaene I. European atrial fibrillation trial. Acta Neurol Belg 1988;88:172-3	а, с
DeSilvey DL. Clopidogrel plus aspirin vs oral anticoagulation for atrial fibrillation: the ACTIVE W trial. <i>Am J Geriatr Cardiol</i> 2006; 15 :326–7	а, с
Executing steering committee on behalf of the SPORTIF III investigators. Ximelagatran effective in preventing stroke in a nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>J Family Pract</i> 2004; 53 :262	а, с
Ezekowitz MD, Bridgers SL, James KE, And SI. Cerebral infarction rate and effect of warfarin in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation with or without a previous stroke. <i>Circulation</i> 1992; 86 (Suppl. I):1–147	a, c
Ezekowitz MD, James KE. Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation II Study. <i>Lancet</i> 1994; 343 :1508–9	а, с
Feinberg WM, Investigators SPAF. Warfarin vs aspirin in atrial fibrillation: SPAF II study results. <i>Stroke</i> 1994; 25: 273	а, с
Feinberg WM, Miller VT, Rothrock JF, Hart RG, Pearce LA, for the Stroke Prevention In Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Differential effect of aspirin and warfarin of stroke subtypes in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Stroke</i> 1995; 26 :185	а, с

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Freestone B, Lip GY, Rothwell P, Sudlow C. Stroke prevention. Clin Evid 2003;:246–72	а, с
Gamra H, Addad F, Ben HK, Betbout F, Maatouk F, Derdabi M, <i>et al</i> . Nadroparin versus unfractionated heparin for anticoagulation of all cause atrial fibrillation: preliminary results of the NADROPAF trial. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2003; 24 (Suppl.):167	a, c
Go AS, Hylek EM, Chang Y, Phillips KA, Henault LE, Capra AM, <i>et al</i> . Anticoagulation therapy for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: how well do randomised trials translate into clinical practice? <i>JAMA</i> 2003; 290 :2685–92	a, c
Hammerstingl C, Schmitz A, Fimmers R, Omran H. Bridging of chronic oral anticoagulation with enoxaparin in patients with atrial fibrillation: results from the prospective BRAVE registry. <i>Cardiovasc Ther</i> 2009; 27 :230–8	a, c
Hobbs R. A Randomised clinical trial of warfarin versus aspirin for atrial fibrillation in an elderly (aged over 74) primary care population (BAFTA). <i>Natl Res Regist</i> 2002	a, c
Houston DS, Zarychanski R. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 2009; 361 :2671–5	а, с
Ip RJ, Korban E, Tepper D, Young C. Ximelagatran versus warfarin for stroke prevention in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. SPORTIF II: a dose-guiding, tolerability, and safety study. <i>Cardiovasc Rev Rep</i> 2003; 24 :392–3	a, c
Kovacs MJ, Kearon C, Rodger M, Anderson DR, Turpie AG, Bates SM, <i>et al</i> . Single-arm study of bridging therapy with low-molecular-weight heparin for patients at risk of arterial embolism who require temporary interruption of warfarin. <i>Circulation</i> 2004; 110 :1658–63	a, c
Kulbertus H. [SPORTIF III and V trials: a major breakthrough for long-term oral anticoagulation.] <i>Rev Med Liege</i> 2003; 58 :770–3	a, c
Lip GYH. A randomised controlled trial of warfarin versus aspirin for stroke prevention in the management of atrial fibrillation in an elderly (aged >75) primary care population. <i>Natl R Regist</i> 2001; 1	a, c
Man-Son-Hing M, Laupacis A. Balancing the risks of stroke and upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding in older patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2002; 162 :541–50	a, c
Mant J, Hobbs R, Fletcher K, Roalfe A. Is warfarin a safe alternative to aspirin in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation? <i>Cardiol Rev</i> 2008; 25 :32–6	а, с
Mastoridis P, Pryor M. New studies on aspirin and warfarin therapy for atrial fibrillation and stroke. <i>P and T</i> 1994; 19 :900–1	а, с
Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study Group Investigators. Preliminary report of the Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1990; 322 :8–868	а, с
McCall KL, MacLaughlin EJ. Ximelagatran: A new era in oral anticoagulation. <i>J Pharm</i> <i>Technol</i> 2003; 19 :222–8	а, с
Minematsu K, Yaspirinka M, Yamaguchi T, for Japanese NVAF-embolism Secondary Prevention Study Group. Optimal intensity of warfarin therapy for secondary prevention of stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomised multicentre trial. <i>Stroke</i> 1999; 30 :241	a, c
Neree C. Quality of oral anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation: a cross-sectional study in general practice. <i>Eur J Gen Pract</i> 2006; 12 :163–8	а, с
Petersen P, on behalf of the SPORTIF II and IV Investigators. A long-term follow-up of ximelagatran as a oral anticoagulant for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Blood</i> 2001; 98 :706a	a, c
Petersen P. A two-year follow-up of ximelagatran as an oral anticoagulant for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Neurology</i> 2002; 58 (Suppl. 3):A477	a, c
Rahimi AR, Wrights B, Akhondi H, Richard CM. Clinical correlation between effective anticoagulants and risk of stroke: are we using evidence-based strategies? <i>Southern Med J</i> 2004; 97 :924–31	a, c

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Robinson T. Tolerability and safety of the oral thrombin inhibitor H376/95, compared to warfarin, as stroke prophylaxis in patients with atrial fibrillation. A dose-guiding, feasibility multicentre study. <i>Nat Res Regist</i> 2001; 1	a, c
Rossillo A, Bonso A, Themistoclakis S, Riccio G, Madalosso M, Corrado A, <i>et al</i> . Role of anticoagulation therapy after pulmonary vein isolation for atrial fibrillation treatment. <i>J Cardiovasc Med</i> 2008 ;9 :51–5	а, с
Ruigomez A, Johansson S, Wallander MA, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Risk of mortality in a cohort of patients newly diagnosed with chronic atrial fibrillation. <i>BMC Cardiovasc Dis</i> 2002; 2 :5	а, с
Spyropoulos AC, Bauersachs RM, Omran H, Cohen M. Periprocedural bridging therapy in patients receiving chronic oral anticoagulation therapy. <i>Curr Med Res Opin</i> 2006; 22 :1109–22	a, c
Tay KH, Lip GY, Lane DA. Bleeding rates in elderly patients on vitamin K antagonist therapy for nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Blood Coagul Fibrin</i> 2009; 20 :392–3	a, c
Torn M, Rosendaal FR. Oral anticoagulation in surgical procedures: risks and recommendations. <i>British J Haematol</i> 2003; 123 :676–82	а, с
Viitaniemi M, Eskola K, Kurunmaki H, Latva-Nevala A, Wallin AM, Paloneva M, <i>et al.</i> Anticoagulant treatment of patients with atrial fibrillation in primary health care. <i>Scand J</i> <i>Prim Health</i> 1999; 17 :59–63	a, c
Weitz IC, Connolly SJ, Kunitada S, Jin J, Patel I. Randomised, Parallel group, multicenter, multinational study evaluating safety of DU-176b compared with warfarin in subjects with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Abstract No. 33. <i>Blood</i> 2008; 112 :18	а, с
Zabagoitia M, Gage B, Juul-Moller S, Persson M, Labovitz A, Baruch L, <i>et al.</i> Predictors of ischaemic stroke in anticoagulant-treated atrial fibrillation patients in the SPORTIF III and V trials. <i>Eur J Neurol</i> 2006; 13 (Suppl. 2):45	а, с
Pipilis A, Lazaros G, Tsakonas G, Stefanadis C. Triple antithrombotic therapy with aspirin, a thienopyridine derivative plus oral anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing coronary stenting. <i>Hellenic J Cardiol</i> 2010; 51 :330–7	a, d
Eikelboom JW, O'Donnell M, Yusuf S, Diaz R, Flaker G, Hart R, <i>et al</i> . Rationale and design of AVERROES: apixaban versus acetylsalicylic acid to prevent stroke in atrial fibrillation patients who have failed or are unsuitable for vitamin K antagonist treatment. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2010; 159 :348–53	a, e
Executive Steering Committee on behalf of ROCKET AF Study. Rivaroxaban-once daily, oral, direct factor Xa inhibition compared with vitamin K antagonism for prevention of stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation: rationale and design of the ROCKET AF study. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2010; 159 :340–7	а, е
Fang MC, Chang Y, Hylek EM, Rosand J, Greenberg SM, Go AS, <i>et al</i> . Advanced age, anticoagulation intensity, and risk for intracranial haemorrhage among patients taking warfarin for atrial fibrillation. <i>Ann Intern Med</i> 2004; 141 :745–52, I38	a, e
Gullov AL, Koefoed BG, Petersen P. The AFASAK 2 study: atrial fibrillation, aspirin- and anticoagulant-therapy. Proceedings of the seventh Scandinavian Meeting on Cerebrovascular Disease, Jyväskylä, Finland, 1993;34	a, e
Gullov AL, Koefoed BG, Petersen P, Pedersen TS, Boysen G, Godtfredsen J, <i>et al</i> . Fixed low-dose warfarin alone or combined with aspirin and aspirin alone versus adjusted-dose warfarin for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation. Second Copenhagen atrial fibrillation, aspirin and anticoagulation study (AFASAK 2). <i>J Neurol Sci</i> 1997; 150 (Suppl.):65	а, е
Gullov AL, Koefoed BG, Petersen P, Pedersen TS, Boysen G, Godfredsen J, <i>et al.</i> The AFASAK 2 study – the 2nd Copenhagen atrial fibrillation, aspirin and anticoagulant therapy study. <i>Acta Neurol Scand</i> 1998; 94 (Suppl. 167):21	a, e
Halbfass P, Janko S, Dorwarth U, Riess G, Antoni D, Hoffmann E. Dilemma of antithrombotic therapy in anticoagulated atrial fibrillation patients squeezed between thrombosis and bleeding events: a single-centre experience. <i>Europace</i> 2009; 11 :957–60	a, e

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Halperin JL, on behalf of the SPORTIF III and V investigators. Ximelagatran compared with warfarin for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolic events in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: rationale, objectives, design and organisation of two long-term clinical trials (SPORTIF III & V). <i>Blood</i> 2002; 160 :123–4b	a, e
Halperin JL, Executive Steering Committee. Ximelagatran compared with warfarin for prevention of thromboembolism in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: Rationale, objectives, and design of a pair of clinical studies and baseline patient characteristics (SPORTIF III and V). <i>Am Heart J</i> 2003; 146 :431–8	a, e
Halperin JL. Efficacy and safety study of oral direct thrombin inhibitor ximelagatran compared with dose-adjusted warfarin in the prevention of stroke and systemic embolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation (SPORTIF V). American Heart Association Annual Scientific Meeting, Orlando, FL, USA, 9-12 November 2003	a, e
Hylek EM, Evans-Molina C, Shea C, Henault LE, Regan S. Bleeding risk with warfarin is high among elderly. <i>J Fam Pract</i> 2007; 56 :709	а, е
Koefoed B, Gullov A, Petersen P. Second Copenhagen atrial fibrillation, aspirin, and anti- coagulant therapy study: Method and design. <i>Thromb Thrombolys</i> 1995; 2 :125–30	a, e
Koefoed BG, Gullov AL, Petersen P. The AFASAK 2 study. Atrial fibrillation, aspirin and anticoagulant therapy. Second International Conference on Stroke, 1993; Geneva, Switzerland:20	a, e
Koefoed BG, Gullov AL, Petersen P, Petersen T, Boysen G, Godtfredsen J, <i>et al</i> . The second Copenhagen atrial fibrillation, aspirin and anticoagulant therapy study (AFASAK 2). Progress of the study. Proceedings of the 22nd International Joint Conference on Stroke and Cerebral Circulation, Anaheim, CA, USA, 6–8 February 1997	а, е
Marin F, Kirchhof P, Lip GYH. Antithrombotic therapy use for patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: new data in an area of limited evidence. <i>Europace</i> 2009; 11 :842–3	a, e
Paikin JS, Wright DS, Crowther MA, Mehta SR, Eikelboom JW. Triple antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation and coronary artery stents. <i>Circulation</i> 2010; 121 :2067–70	a, e
Park H, Hildreth A, Thomson R, O'Connell J. Non-valvular atrial fibrillation and cognitive decline: a longitudinal cohort study. <i>Age Ageing</i> 2007; 36 :157–63	a, e
Petersen P. First experience with the oral direct thrombin inhibitor H 376/95 compared with warfarin in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (NVAF). <i>J Gen Intern Med</i> 2001; 16 (Suppl. 1):164	a, e
Petersen P. Long-term treatment of patients using the new oral direct thrombin inhibitor ximelagatran (pINN, formerly H 376/95) versus warfarin in moderate to high stroke risk patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>J Neurol Sci</i> 2001; 187 (Suppl. 1):124	a, e
Petersen P. A long-term follow-up of ximelagatran as an oral anticoagulant for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with atrial fibrillation. Proceedings of the 43rd Annual Meeting of the American Society of Haematology, Orlando, FL, USA, 2001	a, e
Petersen P. Ximelagatran: a fixed-dose, oral direct thrombin inhibitor for the long-term prevention of stroke and systematic embolism in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur J Neurol</i> 2002; 9 (Suppl. 2):165	а, е
Ruigomez A, Garcia Rodriguez LA, Johansson S, Wallander MA, Edvardsson N. Risk of cerebrovascular accident after a first diagnosis of atrial fibrillation. <i>Clin Cardiol</i> 2007; 30 :624–8	а, е
Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. The stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation III study: rationale, design, and patient features. <i>J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 1997; 6 :341–53	a, e
Cheung CM, Tsoi TH, Huang CY. The lowest effective intensity of prophylactic anticoagulation for patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2005; 20 :114–19	b, c
De Lavitola PL, Spina GS, Sampaio RO, Tarasoutchi F, Grinberg M. Bleeding during oral anticoagulant therapy: warning against a greater hazard. <i>Arq Bras Cardiol</i> 2009; 93 :174–9	b, c

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Lip GYH, Gibbs CR. Anticoagulation for heart failure in sinus rhythm: a Cochrane systematic review. <i>QJM</i> 2002; 95 :451–9	b, c
Navarro JL, Cesar JM, Fernandez MA, Fontcuberta J, Reverter JC, Gol-Freixa J. [Morbidity and mortality in patients treated with oral anticoagulants.] <i>Rev Esp Cardiol</i> 2007; 60 :1226–32	b, c
Nunez L, Aguado MG, Celemin D, Iglesias A, Larrea JL. Aspirin or coumadin as the drug of choice for valve replacement with porcine bioprosthesis. <i>Ann Thorac Surg</i> 1982; 33 :354–8	b, c
Qi WH. Retrospective investigation of hospitalised patients with atrial fibrillation in mainland China. <i>Chin Med J</i> 2004; 117 :1763–7	b, c
Torn M, Bollen WL, VAN DER Meer FJ, van der Wall EE, Rosendaal FR. Risks of oral anticoagulant therapy with increasing age. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2005; 165 :1527–32	b, c
Turpie AG, Gent M, Laupacis A, Latour Y, Gunstensen J, Basile F, <i>et al</i> . A comparison of aspirin with placebo in patients treated with warfarin after heart-valve replacement. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1993; 329 :524–9	b, c
van Walraven C, Hart RG, Wells GA, Petersen P, Koudstaal PJ, Gullov AL, <i>et al</i> . A clinical prediction rule to identify patients with atrial fibrillation and a low risk for stroke while taking aspirin. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2003; 163 :936–43	b, c
Wen-Hang QI, Society of Cardiology CMA. Retrospective investigation of hospitalised patients with atrial fibrillation in mainland China. <i>Int J Cardiol</i> 2005; 105 :283–7	b, c
Yu H-Y, Liu C-H, Chen Y-S, Wang S-S, Chu S-H, Lin F-Y. Relationship of international normalised ratio to bleeding and thromboembolism rates in Taiwanese patients receiving vitamin K antagonist after mechanical valve replacement. <i>JFMA</i> 2005; 104 :236–43	b, c
Albers GW, Bittar N, Young L, Hattemer CR, Gandhi AJ, Kemp SM, <i>et al</i> . Clinical characteristics and management of acute stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation admitted to US university hospitals. <i>Neurology</i> 1997; 48 :1598–604	b, e
Berge E, Abdelnoor M, Nakstad PH, Sandset PM. Low molecular-weight heparin versus aspirin in patients with acute ischaemic stroke and atrial fibrillation: a double-blind randomised study. HAEST Study Group. Heparin in Acute Embolic Stroke Trial. <i>Lancet</i> 2000; 355 :1205–10	b, e
Burgess C, Ingham T, Woodbridge M, Weatherall M, Nowitz M. The use of antithrombotics in patients presenting with stroke and atrial fibrillation. <i>Ther Clin Risk Manag</i> 2007; 3 :491–8	b, e
Chen ZM, Sandercock P, Pan HC, Counsell C, Collins R, Liu LS, <i>et al.</i> Indications for early aspirin use in acute ischaemic stroke: a combined analysis of 40,000 randomised patients from the Chinese acute stroke trial and the international stroke trial. On behalf of the CAST and IST collaborative groups. <i>Stroke</i> 2000; 31 :1240–9	b, e
Deplanque D, Corea F, Arquizan C, Parnetti L, Mas JL, Gallai V, <i>et al</i> . Stroke and atrial fibrillation: is stroke prevention treatment appropriate beforehand? SAFE I Study Investigators. <i>Heart</i> 1999; 82 :563–9	b, e
Deplanque D, Leys D, Parnetti L, Schmidt R, Ferro J, De RJ, <i>et al</i> . Stroke prevention and atrial fibrillation: reasons leading to an inappropriate management. Main results of the SAFE II study. <i>Br J Clin Pharmacol</i> 2004; 57 :798–806	b, e
Hermosillo AJ, Spinler SA. Aspirin, clopidogrel, and warfarin: is the combination appropriate and effective or inappropriate and too dangerous? <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2008; 42 :790–805. [Erratum published in <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2008; 42 :1521]	b, e
Mead GE, Wardlaw JM, Lewis SC, McDowall M, Dennis MS. The influence of randomised trials on the use of anticoagulants for atrial fibrillation. <i>Age Ageing</i> 1999; 28 :441–6	b, e
Miyaspirinka Y, Barnes ME, Gersh BJ, Cha SS, Seward JB, Bailey KR, <i>et al</i> . Time trends of ischaemic stroke incidence and mortality in patients diagnosed with first atrial fibrillation in 1980 to 2000: report of a community-based study. <i>Stroke</i> 2005; 36 :2362–6	b, e

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. I

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Osseby GV, Benatru I, Sochurkova D, Urbinelli R, Megherbi SE, Couvreur G, et al. Trends in utilisation of antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation before stroke onset in a community-based study, from 1985 through 1997. From scientific evidence to practice. <i>Prev Med</i> 2004; 38 :121–8	b, e
Paradowski B, Kowalczyk E, Koziorowska-Gawron EWA, Paradowski M, Kamienowski J, Maciejak A, <i>et al</i> . An analysis of primary prophylaxis in middle-aged and elderly stroke patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Adv Clin Exp Med</i> 2009; 18 :141–6	b, e
Quilliam BJ, Lapane KL. Clinical correlates and drug treatment of residents with stroke in long-term care. <i>Stroke</i> 2001; 32 :1385–93	b, e
Wada Y, Mizushige K, Ohmori K, Iwado Y, Kohno M, Matsuo H. Prevention of cerebral thromboembolism by low-dose anticoagulant therapy in atrial fibrillation with mitral regurgitation. <i>J Cardiovasc Pharmacol</i> 2001; 37 :422–6	b, e
Ansara AJ, Nisly SA, Arif SA, Koehler JM, Nordmeyer ST. Aspirin dosing for the prevention and treatment of ischaemic stroke: An indication-specific review of the literature. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2010; 44 :851–62	c, d
Hart RG, Bhatt DL, Hacke W, Fox KAA, Hankey GJ, Berger PB, <i>et al.</i> clopidogrel and aspirin versus aspirin alone for the prevention of stroke in patients with a history of atrial fibrillation: Subgroup analysis of the CHARISMA randomised trial. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2008; 25 :344–7	c, d
Lip GY, Frison L, Grind M. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor and angiotensin receptor blockade use in relation to outcomes in anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>J Int Med</i> 2007; 261 :577–86	c, d
Petronio AS, Evangelisti L, Preti R. Platelet aggregation behaviour in patients treated with ticlopidine. <i>Drug Exp Clin Res</i> 1987; 13 :43–50	c, d
Posada IS, Barriales V. Alternate-day dosing of aspirin in atrial fibrillation. LASPIRINF Pilot Study Group. <i>Am Heart J</i> 1999; 138 :137–43	c, d
Sato H, Ishikawa K, Kitabatake A, Ogawa S, Maruyama Y, Yokota Y, <i>et al.</i> Low-dose aspirin for prevention of stroke in low-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: Japan Atrial Fibrillation Stroke Trial. <i>Stroke</i> 2006; 37 :447–51	c, d
Siu CW, Jim MH, Ho HH, Miu R, Lee SW, Lau CP, <i>et al</i> . Transient atrial fibrillation complicating acute inferior myocardial infarction: implications for future risk of ischaemic stroke. <i>Chest</i> 2007; 132 :44–9	c, d
Aizawa Y, Kohsaka S, Suzuki S, Atarashi H, Kamakura S, Sakurai M, et al. Comparison of antiarrhythmics used in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: Sub analysis of J-RHYTHM study. <i>Circulation J</i> 2010; 74 :71–6	с, е
Andersson B, Abdon NJ, Hammarsten J. Arterial embolism and atrial arrhythmias. <i>Eur J Vas Surg</i> 1989; 3 :261–6	с, е
Aspirinnin M, Perunicic J, Mrdovic I, Matic M, Vujisic-Tesic B, Arandjelovic A, <i>et al</i> . Prognostic significance of new atrial fibrillation and its relation to heart failure following acute myocardial infarction. <i>Eur J Heart Failure</i> 2005; 7 :671–6	с, е
Baker WL, Cios DA, Sander SD, Coleman CI. Meta-analysis to assess the quality of warfarin control in atrial fibrillation patients in the United States. <i>J Manag Care Pharm</i> 2009; 15 :244–52	с, е
Baldasseroni S, Orso F, Fabbri G, De BA, Cirrincione V, Gonzini L, <i>et al</i> . Age-dependent prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in outpatients with chronic heart failure: data from the Italian network on congestive heart failure registry. <i>Cardiology</i> 2010; 116 :79–88	с, е
Baruch L, Gage BF, Horrow J, Juul-Moller S, Labovitz A, Persson M, <i>et al</i> . Can patients at elevated risk of stroke treated with anticoagulants be further risk stratified? <i>Stroke</i> 2007; 38 :2459–63	с, е
Bernhardt P, Schmidt H, Sommer T, Luderitz B, Omran H. Atrial fibrillation: patients at high risk for cerebral embolism. <i>Clin Res Cardiol</i> 2006; 95 :148–53	с, е

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Boulanger L, Hauch O, Friedman M, Foster T, Dixon D, Wygant G, <i>et al.</i> warfarin exposure and the risk of thromboembolic and major bleeding events among Medicaid patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2006; 40 :1024–9	с, е
Chan TY, Miu KY. Haemorrhagic complications of anticoagulant therapy in Chinese patients. JCMA 2004; 67 :55–62	с, е
Diener HC, Connolly S, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Wallentin L, Varrone J. Dabigatran compared to warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation and prior TIA or stroke: results of RE-LY. International Stroke Conference, San Antonio, TX, USA, 2010	с, е
Ezekowitz MD, Bridgers SL, James KE, Carliner NH, Colling CL, Gornick CC, <i>et al</i> . Warfarin in the prevention of stroke associated with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. Veterans Affairs Stroke Prevention in Nonrheumatic Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1992; 327 :1406–12. [Erratum published in <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1993; 328 :148]	с, е
Ezekowitz MD, James KE, Nazarian SM, Davenport J, Broderick JP, Gupta SR, <i>et al</i> . Silent cerebral infarction in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. The Veterans Affairs Stroke Prevention in Nonrheumatic Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. <i>Circulation</i> 1995; 92 :2178–82	с, е
Ferrera PC, Bartfield JM. Outcomes of anticoagulated trauma patients. <i>Am J Emerg Med</i> 1999; 17 :154–6	с, е
Fornaro G, Rossi P, Mantica PG, Caccia ME, Aralda D, Lavezzari M, <i>et al</i> . Indobufen in the prevention of thromboembolic complications in patients with heart disease: a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. <i>Circulation</i> 1993; 87 :162–4	с, е
Fumeaux T, Cornuz J, Polikar R, Blanc E, Junod A, Kappenberger L, <i>et al</i> . Guidelines for the clinical management of atrial fibrillation: a practical perspective. <i>Swiss Med Wkly</i> 2004; 134 :235–47	с, е
Gitter MJ, Jaeger TM, Petterson TM, Gersh BJ, Silverstein MD. Bleeding and thromboembolism during anticoagulant therapy: a population-based study in Rochester, Minnesota. <i>Mayo Clin Proc</i> 1995; 70 :725–33	с, е
Hughes M, Lip GY, Guideline Development Group, National Clinical Guideline for Management of Atrial Fibrillation in Primary and Secondary Care, National Institute for Health and Clinical Research. Stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review of stroke risk factors, risk stratification schema and cost effectiveness data. <i>Thromb</i> <i>Haemost</i> 2008; 99 :295–304	с, е
Janes S, Challis R, Fisher F. Safe introduction of warfarin for thrombotic prophylaxis in atrial fibrillation requiring only a weekly INR. <i>Clin Lab Haematol</i> 2004; 26 :43–7	с, е
Klein KL, Berdeaux DH, Milhollen JD, Hilden JT, Obernuefemann NJ, Koch MA, <i>et al</i> . Equal effectiveness of very-low-intensity anticoagulation and standard low-intensity anticoagulation: a pilot study. <i>Southern Med J</i> 1995; 88 :1136–9	с, е
Komatsu T, Tachibana H, Sato Y, Ozawa M, Kunugida F, Nakamura M. Efficacy of antiarrhythmic drug therapy in preventing recurrence of atrial fibrillation and long-term cardiovascular prognosis in patients with asymptomatic paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. <i>Int Heart J</i> 2010; 51 :98–104	с, е
Le-Kim L, Kerr D, Kelly A-M. Are patients on warfarin with high INR treated according to published guidelines? <i>Int J Haematol</i> 2009; 5	с, е
Lip GY, Frison L, Grind M, SPORTIF I. Stroke event rates in anticoagulated patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. <i>J Int Med</i> 2008; 264 :50–61	с, е
Man-Son-Hing M, Laupacis A. Anticoagulant-related bleeding in older persons with atrial fibrillation: physicians' fears often unfounded. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2003; 163 :1580–6	с, е
Man-Son-Hing M, Gage BF, Montgomery AA, Howitt A, Thomson R, Devereaux PJ, <i>et al</i> . Preference-based antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation: implications for clinical decision making. <i>Med Decis Mak</i> 2005; 25 :548–59	с, е
McBride R, Anderson DC, Asinger RW, Newburg SM, Farmer CC, Wang K, <i>et al</i> . Preliminary report of the stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation study. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1990; 322 :863–8	с, е

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Miller VT, Rothrock JF, Pearce LA, Feinberg WM, Hart RG, Anderson DC. Ischaemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: effect of aspirin according to stroke mechanism. Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. <i>Neurology</i> 1993; 43 :32–6	с, е
Milligan PE, Banet GA, Waterman AD, Gatchel SK, Gage BF. Substitution of generic warfarin for Coumadin in an HMO setting. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2002; 36 :764–8	с, е
Nieuwlaat R, Olsson SB, Lip GYH, Camm AJ, Breithardt G, Capucci A, <i>et al</i> . Guideline- adherent antithrombotic treatment is associated with improved outcomes compared with undertreatment in high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation. The Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2007; 153 :1006–12	с, е
Nieuwlaat R, Eurlings LW, Cleland JG, Cobbe SM, Vardas PE, Capucci A, et al. Atrial fibrillation and heart failure in cardiology practice: reciprocal impact and combined management from the perspective of atrial fibrillation: results of the Euro Heart Survey on atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 53 :1690–8	с, е
Nozawa T, Inoue H, Hirai T, Iwaspirin A, Okumura K, Lee JD, <i>et al</i> . D-dimer level influences thromboembolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Int J Cardiol</i> 2006; 109 :59–65	с, е
Ouirke W, Cahill M, Perera K, Sargent J, Conway J. Warfarin prevalence, indications for use, and haemorrhagic events. <i>Ir Med J</i> 2007; 100 :402–4	с, е
Palareti G, Leali N, Coccheri S, Poggi M, Manotti C, D'Angelo A, <i>et al</i> . [Haemorrhagic complications of oral anticoagulant therapy: results of a prospective multicenter study ISCOAT (Italian Study on Complications of Oral Anticoagulant Therapy).] <i>G Ital Cardiol</i> 1997; 27 :231–43	с, е
Raunso J, Pedersen OD, Dominguez H, Hansen ML, Moller JE, Kjaergaard J, <i>et al</i> . Atrial fibrillation in heart failure is associated with an increased risk of death only in patients with ischaemic heart disease. <i>Eur J Heart Failure</i> 2010; 12 :692–7	с, е
Rosand J, Eckman MH, Knudsen KA, Singer DE, Greenberg SM. The effect of warfarin and intensity of anticoagulation on outcome of intracerebral haemorrhage. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2004; 164 :880–4	с, е
Scardi S, Mazzone C, Pandullo C, Goldstein D, Di LA, Chersevani D. Mortality and cause of death in patients with chronic non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation after a two-year follow-up. <i>G Ital Cardiol</i> 1999; 29 :637–46	с, е
Siracuse JJ, Robich MP, Gautam S, Kasper EM, Moorman DW, Hauser CJ. Antiplatelet agents, warfarin, and epidemic intracranial haemorrhage. <i>Surgery</i> 2010; 148 :724–9	с, е
Staszewski J. Atrial fibrillation characteristics in patients with ischaemic stroke. <i>Kardiol Pol</i> 2007; 65 :751–7	с, е
The Research Group for Antiarrhythmic Drug Therapy. Cost-effectiveness of antiarrhythmic drugs for prevention of thromboembolism in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. <i>Jpn Circ J</i> 2001; 65 :765–8	с, е
Torn M, van der Meer FJ, Rosendaal FR. Lowering the intensity of oral anticoagulant therapy: effects on the risk of haemorrhage and thromboembolism. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 2004; 164 :668–73	с, е
Voller H, Glatz J, Taborski U, Bernardo A, Dovifat C, Heidinger K. Self-management of oral anticoagulation in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation (SMAAF study). <i>Z Kardiol</i> 2005; 94 :182–6	с, е
Weimar C, Benemann J, Katsarava Z, Weber R, Diener HC. Adherence and quality of oral anticoagulation in cerebrovascular disease patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur Neurol</i> 2008; 60 :142–8	с, е
You JH, Chan FW, Wong RS, Lai MW, Chan EM, Cheng G. Outcomes of long-term warfarin therapy under two ambulatory care models in Hong Kong. <i>Am J Health-Syst Pharm</i> 2003; 60 :1692–4	с, е
Yuen RW, Gutteridge DH, Thompson PL, Robinson JS. Embolism in thyrotoxic atrial fibrillation. <i>Med J Aust</i> 1979; 1 :630–1	с, е
Zaidenstein R, Eyal S, Efrati S, Akivison L, Michowitz MK, Nagornov V, <i>et al</i> . Adverse drug events in hospitalised patients treated with cardiovascular drugs and anticoagulants. <i>Pharmacoepidemiol Dr S</i> 2002; 11 :235–8	с, е

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Aguilar M, Hart R. Antiplatelet therapy for preventing stroke in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation and no previous history of stroke or transient ischaemic attacks. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2005; 4 :CD001925	d, e
Ait mokhtar O, Bonello L, Armero S, Sbragia P, Paganelli F. Early and late outcomes of clopidogrel and Coumadin combination for patients on oral anticoagulants undergoing coronary stenting. <i>CRM</i> 2010; 11 :159–62	d, e
DeEugenio D, Kolman L, DeCaro M, Andrel J, Chervoneva I, Duong P, <i>et al</i> . Risk of major bleeding with concomitant dual antiplatelet therapy after percutaneous coronary intervention in patients receiving long-term warfarin therapy. <i>Pharmacotherapy</i> 2007; 27 :691–6	d, e
Gage BF, van WC, Pearce L, Hart RG, Koudstaal PJ, Boode BS, <i>et al</i> . Selecting patients with atrial fibrillation for anticoagulation: stroke risk stratification in patients taking aspirin. <i>Circulation</i> 2004; 110 :2287–92	d, e
Hart RG, Pearce LA, McBride R, Rothbart RM, Asinger RW. Factors associated with ischaemic stroke during aspirin therapy in atrial fibrillation: analysis of 2012 participants in the SPAF I-III clinical trials. The Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation (SPAF) Investigators. <i>Stroke</i> 1999; 30 :1223–9	d, e
McBride R. Patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation at low risk of stroke during treatment with aspirin: Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation III study. <i>JAMA</i> 1998; 279 :1273–7	d, e
Rogacka R, Chieffo A, Michev I, Airoldi F, Latib A, Cosgrave J, <i>et al</i> . Dual antiplatelet therapy after percutaneous coronary intervention with stent implantation in patients taking chronic oral anticoagulation. <i>JACC</i> 2008; 1 :56–61	d, e
Rubboli A, Colletta M, Sangiorgio P, Di PG. Antithrombotic strategies in patients with an indication for long-term anticoagulation undergoing coronary artery stenting: safety and efficacy data from a single centre. <i>Ital Heart J</i> 2004; 5 :919–25	d, e
Rubboli A, Colletta M, Herzfeld J, Sangiorgio P, Di PG. Periprocedural and medium-term antithrombotic strategies in patients with an indication for long-term anticoagulation undergoing coronary angiography and intervention. <i>Coronary Artery Dis</i> 2007; 18 :193–9	d, e
Audebert HJ, Schenk B, Tietz V, Schenkel J, Heuschmann PU. Initiation of oral anticoagulation after acute ischaemic stroke or transient ischaemic attack: timing and complications of overlapping heparin or conventional treatment. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2008; 26 :171–7	a, b, c
Ruel M, Masters RG, Rubens FD, Bedard PJ, Pipe AL, Goldstein WG, <i>et al.</i> Late incidence and determinants of stroke after aortic and mitral valve replacement. <i>Ann Thorac Surg</i> 2004; 78 :77–83	a, b, c
Meurin P, Tabet JY, Weber H, Renaud N, Ben DA. Low-molecular-weight heparin as a bridging anticoagulant early after mechanical heart valve replacement. <i>Circulation</i> 2006; 113 :564–9	a, b, e
Schwammenthal Y, Bornstein N, Schwammenthal E, Schwartz R, Goldbourt U, Tsabari R, <i>et al.</i> Relation of effective anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation to stroke severity and survival (from the National Acute Stroke Israeli Survey [NASIS]). <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2010; 105 :411–16	a, b, e
Altman R, Carreras L, Diaz R, Figueroa E, Paolasso E, Parodi JC, <i>et al</i> . Collaborative overview of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy – I: Prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke by prolonged antiplatelet therapy in various categories of patients. <i>BMJ</i> 1994; 308 :81–106	a, c, d
Lee YE, DeZee KJ. Clopidogrel plus aspirin in atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 2009; 361 :1313–14	a, c, d
Sato H, Koretsune Y, Fukunami M, Kodama K, Yamada Y, Fujii K, <i>et al</i> . Aspirin attenuates the incidence of silent brain lesions in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Circulation J</i> 2004; 68 :410–16	a, c, d

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
ACTIVE Steering Committee, ACTIVE I, Connolly S, Yusuf S, Budaj A, Camm J, <i>et al</i> . Rationale and design of ACTIVE: the atrial fibrillation clopidogrel trial with irbesartan for prevention of vascular events. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2006; 151 :1187–93	a, c, e
Albers GW, Diener H-C, Petersen P. Ximelagatran compared with warfarin for stroke and systematic embolic event prevention in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: rationale, objectives, design and organisation of two long-term clinical trials (SPORTIF III & V). <i>Stroke</i> 2003; 34 :309	a, c, e
Ansell J, Hollowell J, Pengo V, Martinez-Brotons F, Caro J, Drouet L. Descriptive analysis of the process and quality of oral anticoagulation management in real-life practice in patients with chronic non-valvular atrial fibrillation: the international study of anticoagulation management (ISAM). <i>J Thromb Thrombolys</i> 2007; 23 :83–91	a, c, e
Astellas P. A study evaluating safety and tolerability of YM150 compared to warfarin in subjects with atrial fibrillation (OPAL-2). 2009. URL: ClinicalTrials.gov	a, c, e
Baggio D, Madore F, Lalonde G. Oral anticoagulant therapy for heart disease: results in actual cardiology practice. <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 2000; 16 :153–61. [Erratum published in <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 2000; 16 :537]	a, c, e
Bayer. A study comparing once daily oral rivaroxaban with adjusted-dose oral warfarin for the prevention of stroke in subjects with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. 2006. URL: ClinicalTrials gov.uk	a, c, e
Bousser MG. Antithrombotic agents in the prevention of ischaemic stroke. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2009; 27 (Suppl. 3):12–19	a, c, e
Bristol-Myers S. <i>A phase III study of apixaban in patients with atrial fibrillation (AVERROES)</i> . 2007. URL: ClinicalTrials.gov	a, c, e
Connolly SJ, on behalf of the CAFA Study Group. Canadian atrial fibrillation anticoagulation (CAFA) study. <i>Circulation</i> 1990; 82 (Suppl. III):108	a, c, e
Connolly SJ. The Atrial Fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial with irbesartan for prevention of vascular events (ACTIVE-W) – non-inferiority trial versus oral anticoagulation. <i>Circulation</i> 2005; 112 :3363	a, c, e
Dager WE, Vondracek TG, McIntosh BA, Nutescu EA. Ximelagatran: an oral direct thrombin inhibitor. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2004; 38 :1881–97	a, c, e
Daiichi Sankyo Inc. A study to assess the safety of a potential new drug in comparison to standard practice of dosing with warfarin for non-valvular atrial fibrillation. 2007. URL: ClinicalTrials.gov	a, c, e
Das AK, Willcoxson PD, Corrado OJ, West RM. The impact of long-term warfarin on the quality of life of elderly people with atrial fibrillation. <i>Age Ageing</i> 2007; 36 :95–7	a, c, e
Diener HC. Ximelagatran compared with warfarin for prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with non valvular atrial fibrillation: SPORTIF III. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2003; 16 (Suppl. 4):124	a, c, e
ENGAGE investigators. ENGAGE – AF TIMI – 48. Global study to assess the safety and effectiveness of DU-176b vs standard practice of dosing with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. Stroke Trials Registry, Internet Stroke Centre. 2008. URL: www strokecenter org/ trials	a, c, e
Ezekowitz MD, Connolly S, Parekh A, Reilly PA, Varrone J, Wang S, <i>et al</i> . Rationale and design of RE-LY: randomised evaluation of long-term anticoagulant therapy, warfarin, compared with dabigatran. <i>Am Heart J</i> 810; 157 :805–10	a, c, e
Fang MC, Singer DE. Risk of intracranial haemorrhage in atrial fibrillation. <i>Cardiol Rev</i> 2005; 22 :24–8	a, c, e
Fitzmaurice DA, Hobbs FDR, Rose PE, Murray ET. A randomised controlled trial of community versus secondary care management of atrial fibrillation thromboprophylaxis with warfarin. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 1998; 19 (Suppl.):154	a, c, e
Gage BF, Cardinalli AB, Owens DK. The effect of stroke and stroke prophylaxis with aspirin or warfarin on quality of life. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1996; 156 :1829–36	a, c, e
Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
--	-------------------------
Hellemons BS, Langenberg M, Lodder J, Vermeer F, Schouten HJ, Lemmens TG, <i>et al.</i> Primary prevention of arterial thromboembolism in nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation: the PATAF trial study design. <i>Control Clin Trials</i> 1999; 20 :386–93	a, c, e
Hidayat A. A study comparing the efficacy and safety of once-daily oral rivaroxaban with warfarin for the prevention of stroke and embolism in patients with atrial fibrillation. Australia and New Zealand Trials Registry, 2007. Trial ID: NCT00403767. URL: www.anzctr. org.au	a, c, e
Jadhav M. A clinical trial to study the safety and efficacy of a new drug biotinylated idraparinux (SSR126517E) as compared to another drug warfarin in the prevention of stroke and systemic thromboembolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation. Clinical Trials Registry India (CTRI), 2008. URL: www.ctri.in	a, c, e
Jaffer AK, Ahmed M, Brotman DJ, Bragg L, Seshadri N, Qadeer MA, et al. Low-molecular- weight-heparins as periprocedural anticoagulation for patients on long-term warfarin therapy: a standardised bridging therapy protocol. J Thromb Thrombolys 2005; 20 :11–16	a, c, e
Kellett J. How many patients in atrial fibrillation admitted to an acute medical unit will benefit from oral anticoagulation? Application of the results of the major randomised controlled trials to 141 consecutive, unselected, elderly patients using a decision support computer program. <i>Eur J Int Med</i> 2005; 16 :97–104	a, c, e
Lancaster TR, Singer DE, Sheehan MA, Oertel LB, Maraventano SW, Hughes RA, <i>et al</i> . The impact of long-term warfarin therapy on quality of life. Evidence from a randomised trial. Boston Area Anticoagulation Trial for Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1991; 151 :1944–9. [Erratum published in <i>Arch Intern Med</i> 1992; 152 :825]	a, c, e
Laupacis A. Re: CJ Green, DC Hadorn, K Bassett, A Kazanjian. Anticoagulation in chronic non valvular atrial fibrillation: a critical appraisal and meta-analysis. <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 1998; 14 :659–62	a, c, e
Lip GY, Kalra L. Stroke prevention. BMJ Clin Evid 2008	а, с, е
Lopes RD, Alexander JH, Al-Khatib SM, Ansell J, Diaz R, Easton JD, <i>et al</i> . Apixaban for reduction in stroke and other Thromboembolic events in atrial fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) trial: design and rationale. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2010; 159 :331–9	a, c, e
Mant J, Richards S, Fitzmaurice D, Murray E, Banting M, Fletcher K, <i>et al.</i> RCT of warfarin versus aspirin for stroke prevention in the management of atrial fibrillation in an elderly (aged 75 or over) primary care population. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2002; 13 (Suppl. 3):79	a, c, e
Mant J, Hobbs R, Fitzmaurice D, Lip G, Fletcher K, Roalfe A, <i>et al</i> . BAFTA: a randomised controlled trial of warfarin versus aspirin for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation in a primary care population aged over 75. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2007; 23 (Suppl. 2):10	a, c, e
Mant MJ. Re: CJ Green, DC Hadorn, K Bassett, A Kazanjian, Anticoagulation in chronic nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a critical appraisal and meta-analysis. 1997; 13 :811–5. <i>Can J Cardiol</i> 665; 14 :663	a, c, e
McKenna CJ, Galvin J, McCann HA, Sugrue DD. Risks of long-term oral anticoagulation in a non-trial medical environment. <i>Irish Med J</i> 1996; 89 :144–5	а, с, е
Murray RD, Shah A, Jasper SE, Goodman A, Deitcher SR, Katz WE, <i>et al</i> . Transesophageal echocardiography guided enoxaparin antithrombotic strategy for cardioversion of atrial fibrillation: the ACUTE II pilot study. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2000; 139 :E1–7	a, c, e
O'Brien CL, Gage BF. Costs and effectiveness of ximelagatran for stroke prophylaxis in chronic atrial fibrillation. <i>JAMA</i> 2005; 293 :699–706	a, c, e
Oswald N. Anticoagulation to prevent stroke in atrial fibrillation. Cohort was younger than many patients with atrial fibrillation in primary care. <i>BMJ</i> 2000; 321 :1156	а, с, е
Pérez-Gómez F, Zumailde J, Orriach D, Iriate JA, Berjon J, Alegria E. The role of combined antiplatelet plus moderate level of anticoagulation for prevention of embolism in atrial fibrillation. A national randomised, multicenter trial. 75th Congress of the American Heart Association Scientific Session, Chicago, IL, USA, 17–20 November 2002	a, c, e
Pérez-Gómez F, Melbourn A, Kalra L. Use of antithrombotic measures for stroke prevention	а, с, е

in atrial fibrillation. Heart 1999;82:570–4

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Petersen P, Kastrup J, Helweg-Larsen S, Boysen G, Godtfredsen J. Risk factors for thromboembolic complications in chronic atrial fibrillation. The Copenhagen AFASAK study. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1990; 150 :819–21	a, c, e
Poller L. The effect of low-dose warfarin on the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1991; 325 :129–32	a, c, e
Rash A, Downes T, Morgan N, Channer K. A randomised controlled trial of warfarin and aspirin for stroke prevention in octogenarians with atrial fibrillation (WASPO). <i>Age Ageing 2006</i> ; 35 (Suppl. 1):i75	a, c, e
Reaume KT, Regal RE, Dorsch MP. Indications for dual antiplatelet therapy with aspirin and clopidogrel: evidence-based recommendations for use. <i>Ann Pharmacother</i> 2008; 42 :550–7	a, c, e
Sallach JA, Klein AL. Subtherapeutic anticoagulation: the bane of conventional anticoagulation for cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur J Echocardiogr</i> 2004 ;5 :239–42	a, c, e
Sanofi A. Evaluation of weekly subcutaneous biotinylated idraparinux versus oral adjusted- dose warfarin to prevent stroke and systemic thromboembolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation (BOREALIS-AF). 2007. URL: ClinicalTrials.gov	a, c, e
Smith DE, Xuereb CB, Pattison HM, Lip GYH, Lane DA. Trial of an Educational intervention on patients' knowledge of Atrial fibrillation and anticoagulant therapy, INR control, and outcome of Treatment with Warfarin (TREAT). <i>BMC Cardiovasc Dis</i> 2010; 10 :21	a, c, e
The AFFIRM Investigators. Baseline characteristics of patients with atrial fibrillation: the AFFIRM (Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management) Study. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2002; 143 :991–1001	a, c, e
The AFFIRM study investigators. Atrial fibrillation follow-up investigation of rhythm management – the AFFIRM study design. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 1997; 79 :1198–202	a, c, e
The Stroke Prevention In Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Warfarin compared to aspirin for prevention of arterial thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: design and patient characteristics of the SPAF II study. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 1992; 2 :332–41	a, c, e
The Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Design of a multicenter randomised trial for the Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study. <i>Stroke</i> 1990; 21 :538–45	a, c, e
Dewilde W, Berg JT. Design and rationale of the WOEST trial: What is the Optimal antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy in patients with oral anticoagulation and coronary Stenting (WOEST). <i>Am Heart J</i> 2009; 158 :713–18	a, d, e
Nunez L, Gil AM, Larrea JL, Celemin D, Oliver J. Prevention of thromboembolism using aspirin after mitral valve replacement with porcine bioprosthesis. <i>Ann Thorac Surg</i> 1984; 37 :84–7	b, c, d
Ahmad O, Ahmad KE, Dear KB, Harvey I, Hughes A, Lueck CJ. Atrial fibrillation and anticoagulation in a stroke unit population. <i>Intern Med J</i> 2009; 39 :752–6	b, c, e
Asberg S, Henriksson KM, Farahmand B, Asplund K, Norrving B, Appelros P, et al. Ischaemic stroke and secondary prevention in clinical practice: a cohort study of 14,529 patients in the Swedish Stroke Register. <i>Stroke</i> 2010; 41 :1338–42	b, c, e
Baigent C, Sudlow C, Collins R, Peto R. Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high risk patients. <i>British Medical Journal</i> 2002; 324 :71–86	b, c, e
Bejot Y, Ben SD, Osseby GV, Couvreur G, Durier J, Marie C, <i>et al</i> . Epidemiology of ischaemic stroke from atrial fibrillation in Dijon, France, from 1985 to 2006. <i>Neurology</i> 2009; 72 :346–53	b, c, e
Benavente L, Calleja S, de la Vega V, Garcia J, Lahoz CH. Oral anticoagulation in elderly patients as secondary prevention of cardioembolic strokes. <i>Int Arch Med</i> 2010; 3 :8	b, c, e
Blacker DJ, Wijdicks EF, McClelland RL. Stroke risk in anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing endoscopy. <i>Neurology</i> 2003; 61 :964–8	b, c, e
Bogousslavsky J, Ednet-Bonte C, Regli F, Van MG, Kappenberger L. Lone atrial fibrillation and stroke. <i>Acta Neurolog Scand</i> 1990; 82 :143–6	b, c, e

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Chamorro A, Vila N, Ascaso C, Blanc R. Heparin in acute stroke with atrial fibrillation: clinical relevance of very early treatment. <i>Arch Neurol</i> 1999; 56 :1098–102	b, c, e
Cioffi G, Pozzoli M, Forni G, Franchini M, Opasich C, Cobelli F, <i>et al</i> . Systemic thromboembolism in chronic heart failure. A prospective study in 406 patients. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 1996; 17 :1381–9	b, c, e
Dahl T, Abildgaard U, Sandset PM. Long-term anticoagulant therapy in cerebrovascular disease: does bleeding outweigh the benefit? <i>J Int Med</i> 1995; 237 :323–9	b, c, e
Davis TM, Millns H, Stratton IM, Holman RR, Turner RC. Risk factors for stroke in type 2 diabetes mellitus: United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) 29. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1999; 159 :1097–103	b, c, e
Downes T, Morgan N, Rash A, Channer K. A comparison of warfarin and aspirin for stroke prevention in octogenarians in atrial fibrillation study. <i>Age Ageing</i> 2003; 32 (Suppl. 2):ii43	b, c, e
Evans A, Pérez I, Yu G, Kalra L. Secondary stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: lessons from clinical practice. <i>Stroke</i> 2000; 31 :2106–11	b, c, e
Gandolfo C, Balestrino M, Burrone A, Del SM, Finocchi C. Stroke due to atrial fibrillation and the attitude to prescribing anticoagulant prevention in Italy. A prospective study of a consecutive stroke population admitted to a comprehensive stroke unit. <i>J Neurol</i> 2008; 255 :796–802	b, c, e
Ghandehari K, Izadi MZ. Cardioembolic strokes in Eastern Iran and the importance of rheumatic valvular disease. <i>Turk J Med Sci</i> 2006; 36 :361–4	b, c, e
Glader EL, Stegmayr B, Norrving B, Terent A, Hulter-Asberg K, Wester PO, <i>et al</i> . Large variations in the use of oral anticoagulants in stroke patients with atrial fibrillation: a Swedish national perspective. <i>J Int Med</i> 2004; 255 :22–32	b, c, e
Gladstone DJ, Bui E, Fang J, Laupacis A, Lindsay MP, Tu JV, <i>et al</i> . Potentially preventable strokes in high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation who are not adequately anticoagulated. <i>Stroke</i> 2009; 40 :235–40	b, c, e
Indredavik B, Rohweder G, Lydersen S. Frequency and effect of optimal anticoagulation before onset of ischaemic stroke in patients with known atrial fibrillation. <i>J Int Med</i> 2005; 258 :133–44	b, c, e
Jorgensen HS, Nakayama H, Reith J, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Stroke recurrence: predictors, severity, and prognosis. The Copenhagen Stroke Study. <i>Neurology</i> 1997; 48 :891–5	b, c, e
Kaplan RC, Tirschwell DL, Longstreth J, Manolio TA, Heckbert SR, Lefkowitz D, <i>et al</i> . Vascular events, mortality, and preventative therapy following ischaemic stroke in the elderly. <i>Neurology</i> 2005; 65 :835–42	b, c, e
Lamassa M, Di CA, Pracucci G, Basile AM, Trefoloni G, Vanni P, <i>et al.</i> Characteristics, outcome, and care of stroke associated with atrial fibrillation in Europe: data from a multicenter multinational hospital-based registry (The European Community Stroke Project). <i>Stroke</i> 2001; 32 :392–8	b, c, e
Landefeld CS, Goldman L. Major bleeding in outpatients treated with warfarin: incidence and prediction by factors known at the start of outpatient therapy. <i>Am J Med</i> 1989; 87 :144–52	b, c, e
Lelorier P, Humphries KH, Krahn A, Connolly SJ, Talajic M, Green M, et al. Prognostic differences between atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2004; 93 :647–9	b, c, e
Lodder J, Dennis MS, Van RL, Jones LN, Warlow CP. Cooperative study on the value of long term anticoagulation in patients with stroke and non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>Br Med J</i> (<i>Clin Res Ed</i>) 1988; 296 :1435–8	b, c, e
Navia JA, Gimenez C, Meletti I, Liotta D. Thromboembolism with low profile bioprosthesis. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 1984; 5 (Suppl. D):95–100	b, c, e
O'Donnell M, Oczkowski W, Fang J, Kearon C, Silva J, Bradley C, <i>et al</i> . Pre-admission antithrombotic treatment and stroke severity in patients with atrial fibrillation and acute ischaemic stroke: an observational study. <i>Lancet Neurol</i> 2006: 5 :749–54	b, c, e

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Olsen TS, Rasmussen BH, Kammersgaard LP, Germer U. Strokes attributable to underuse of warfarin and antiplatelets. <i>J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2005; 14 :55–7	b, c, e
Paciaroni M, Agnelli G, Caso V, Venti M, Milia P, Silvestrelli G, <i>et al</i> . Atrial fibrillation in patients with first-ever stroke: frequency, antithrombotic treatment before the event and effect on clinical outcome. <i>J Thromb Haemost</i> 2005; 3 :1218–23	b, c, e
Panagiotopoulos K, Toumanidis S, Vemmos K, Saridakis N, Stamatelopoulos S. Secondary prognosis after cardioembolic stroke of atrial origin: the role of left atrial and left atrial appendage dysfunction. <i>Clin Cardiol</i> 2003; 26 :269–74	b, c, e
Partington SL, Abid S, Teo K, Oczkowski W, O'Donnell MJ. Pre-admission warfarin use in patients with acute ischaemic stroke and atrial fibrillation: The appropriate use and barriers to oral anticoagulant therapy. <i>Thromb Res</i> 2007; 120 :663–9	b, c, e
Penado S, Cano M, Acha O, Hernandez JL, Riancho JA. Atrial fibrillation as a risk factor for stroke recurrence. <i>Am J Med</i> 2003; 114 :206–10	b, c, e
Petersen P, Godtfredsen J. Risk factors for stroke in chronic atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 1988; 9 :291–4	b, c, e
Po HL, Lin Y. Antithrombotic treatment before stroke onset and stroke severity in patients with atrial fibrillation and first-ever ischaemic stroke: An observational study. <i>Neurology Asia</i> 2010; 15 :11–17	b, c, e
Schwamm LH, Reeves MJ, Pan W, Smith EE, Frankel MR, Olson D, <i>et al</i> . Race/ethnicity, quality of care, and outcomes in ischaemic stroke. <i>Circulation</i> 2010; 121 :1492–501	b, c, e
Staszewski J, Brodacki B, Tomczykiewicz K, Kotowicz J, Stepien A. Strokes in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation have more favourable outcome than in permanent atrial fibrillation. <i>Acta Neurol Scand</i> 2009; 119 :325–31	b, c, e
Thygesen SK, Frost L, Eagle KA, Johnsen SP. Atrial fibrillation in patients with ischaemic stroke: A population-based study. <i>Clin Epidemiol</i> 2009; 1 :55–65	b, c, e
Tsivgoulis G, Spengos K, Zakopoulos N, Manios E, Peppes V, Vemmos K. Efficacy of anticoagulation for secondary stroke prevention in older people with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: a prospective case series study. <i>Age Ageing</i> 2005; 34 :35–40	b, c, e
Vemmos KN, Tsivgoulis G, Spengos K, Manios E, Toumanidis S, Zakopoulos N, <i>et al.</i> Anticoagulation influences long-term outcome in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation and severe ischaemic stroke. <i>Am J Geriatr Pharmacother</i> 2004; 2 :265–73	b, c, e
Yamanouchi H, Nagura H, Ohkawa Y, Sakurai Y, Kuzuhara S, Kuramoto K, <i>et al.</i> Anticoagulant therapy in recurrent cerebral embolism: a retrospective study in non-valvular atrial fibrillation. <i>J Neurology</i> 1988; 235 :407–10	b, c, e
Yaspirinka M, Minematsu K, Yamaguchi T. Optimal intensity of international normalised ratio in warfarin therapy for secondary prevention of stroke in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. <i>Intern Med</i> 2001; 40 :1183–8	b, c, e
Coumadin Aspirin Reinfarction Study (CARS) Investigators. Randomised double-blind trial of fixed low-dose warfarin with aspirin after myocardial infarction. <i>Lancet</i> 1997; 350 :389–96	b, d, e
O'Connor CM, Gattis WA, Hellkamp AS, Langer A, Larsen J, Harrington RA, <i>et al</i> . Comparison of two aspirin doses on ischaemic stroke on post myocardial infarction patients in the warfarin (coumadin) aspirin reinfarction study (CARS). <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2001; 88 :541–6	
Behar S, Tanne D, Zion M, Reicher-Reiss H, Kaplinsky E, Caspi A, <i>et al</i> . Incidence and prognostic significance of chronic atrial fibrillation among 5,839 consecutive patients with acute myocardial infarction. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 1992; 70 :816–18	c, d, e
Kassem-Moussa H, Mahaffey KW, Graffagnino C, Tasissa G, Sila CA, Simes RJ, <i>et al.</i> Incidence and characteristics of stroke during 90-day follow-up in patients stabilised after an acute coronary syndrome. <i>Am Heart J</i> 2004; 148 :439–46	c, d, e
Khand AU, Rankin AC, Kaye GC, Cleland JG. Systematic review of the management of atrial fibrillation in patients with heart failure. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2000; 21 :614–32	c, d, e
Laupacis A. The efficacy of aspirin in patients with atrial fibrillation: Analysis of pooled data from 3 randomised trials. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1997; 157 :1237–40	c, d, e

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Levine MN, Raskob G, Hirsh J. Haemorrhagic complications of long-term anticoagulant therapy. <i>Chest</i> 1986; 89 (Suppl. 2):16–25	c, d, e
Lip GY, Patel JV, Hughes E, Hart RG. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and soluble CD40 ligand as indices of inflammation and platelet activation in 880 patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: relationship to stroke risk factors, stroke risk stratification schema, and prognosis. <i>Stroke</i> 2007; 38 :1229–37	c, d, e
Lip GY, Frison L, Grind M, SPORTIF I. Effect of hypertension on anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2007; 28 :752–9	c, d, e
Middlekauff HR, Stevenson WG, Stevenson LW. Prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in advanced heart failure. A study of 390 patients. <i>Circulation</i> 1991; 84 :40–8	c, d, e
Straus SE, Majumdar SR, McAlister FA. New evidence for stroke prevention: scientific review. JAMA 2002; 288 :1388–95	c, d, e
Wang TH, Bhatt DL, Fox KAA, Steinhubl SR, Brennan DM, Hacke W, <i>et al</i> . An analysis of mortality rates with dual-antiplatelet therapy in the primary prevention population of the CHARISMA trial. <i>Eur Heart J</i> 2007; 28 :2200–7	c, d, e
Audebert HJ, Schenk B, Schenkel J, Heuschmann PU. Impact of prestroke oral anticoagulation on severity and outcome of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2010; 29 :476–83	a, b, c, e
Bath PM, Tinzaparin in Acute Ischaemic Stroke Trial Investigators. Atrial fibrillation, stroke, and acute antithrombotic therapy. Stroke 2003; 34 :590–1	a, b, c, e
Bejot Y, Rouaud O, Jacquin A, Osseby G-V, Durier J, Manckoundia P, <i>et al</i> . Stroke in the very old: Incidence, risk factors, clinical features, outcomes and access to resources: aA 22-year population-based study. <i>Cerebrovasc Dis</i> 2010; 29 :111–21	a, b, c, e
Devereaux PJ, Anderson DR, Gardner MJ, Putnam W, Flowerdew GJ, Brownell BF, et al. Differences between perspectives of physicians and patients on anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation: observational study. <i>BMJ</i> 2001; 323 :1218–22	a, b, c, e
Hylek EM, Skates SJ, Sheehan MA, Singer DE. An analysis of the lowest effective intensity of prophylactic anticoagulation for patients with non rheumatic atrial fibrillation. <i>N Engl J Med</i> 1996; 335 :540–6	a, b, c, e
Man-Son-Hing M, Nichol G, Lau A, Laupacis A. Choosing antithrombotic therapy for elderly patients with atrial fibrillation who are at risk for falls. <i>Arch Int Med</i> 1999; 159 :677–85	a, b, c, e
Pisters R, van Oostenbrugge RJ, Knottnerus IL, de Vos CB, Boreas A, Lodder J, <i>et al.</i> The likelihood of decreasing strokes in atrial fibrillation patients by strict application of guidelines. <i>Europace</i> 2010; 12 :779–84	a, b, c, e
Sanofi Aventis. A safety and efficacy trial evaluating the use of SanOrg34006 compared to warfarin or acenocoumarol in patients with atrial fibrillation. 2004. URL: ClinicalTrials.gov	a, b, c, e
Das AK, Ahmed A, Corrado OJ, West RM. Quality of life of elderly people on warfarin for atrial fibrillation. <i>Age Ageing</i> 2009; 38 :751–4	a, c, d, e
Kirch W, Pittrow D, Bosch RF, Kohlhaussen A, Willich SN, Rosin L, <i>et al</i> . [Health-related quality of life of patients with atrial fibrillation managed by cardiologists: MOVE study.] <i>DMW</i> 2010; 135 (Suppl. 2):26–32	a, c, d, e
Menke J, Luthje L, Kastrup A, Larsen J. Thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation. <i>Am J Cardiol</i> 2010; 105 :502–10	a, c, d, e
Naglie IG, Detsky AS. Treatment of chronic nonvalvular atrial fibrillation in the elderly: a decision analysis. <i>Med Decis Mak</i> 1992; 12 :239–49	a, c, d, e
Regier DA, Sunderji R, Lynd LD, Gin K, Marra CA. Cost-effectiveness of self-managed versus physician-managed oral anticoagulation therapy. <i>CMAJ</i> 2006; 174 :1847–52	a, c, d, e
Thrall G, Lip GYH, Carroll D, Lane D. Depression, anxiety, and quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation. <i>Chest</i> 2007; 132 :1259–64	a, c, d, e

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2013. This work was produced by Lane *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Reason(s) for exclusion
Walker MD. Atrial fibrillation and antithrombotic prophylaxis: a prospective meta-analysis. Lancet 1989; 1 :325–6	a, c, d, e
Al-Shammri S, Shahid Z, Ghali A, Mehndiratta MM, Swaminathan TR, Chadha G, <i>et al</i> . Risk factors, subtypes and outcome of ischaemic stroke in Kuwait: a hospital-based study. <i>Med Princ Pract</i> 2003; 12 :218–23	b, c, d, e
Jorgensen HS, Nakayama H, Reith J, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Acute stroke with atrial fibrillation. The Copenhagen Stroke Study. <i>Stroke</i> 1996; 27 :1765–9	b, c, d, e
Thrall G, Lane D, Carroll D, Lip GYH. Quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. <i>Am J Med</i> 2006; 119 :448	b, c, d, e
Koudstaal PJ. Antiplatelet therapy for preventing stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation and a history of stroke or transient ischaemic attacks. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev (Online)</i> 2000; 2 :CD000186	Cochrane reviews withdrawn
Koudstaal PJ. WITHDRAWN: Antiplatelet therapy for preventing stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation and a history of stroke or transient ischaemic attacks. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev (Online)</i> 2007; 3 :CD000186	Cochrane reviews withdrawn
Segal JB, McNamara RL, Miller MR, Powe NR, Goodman SN, Robinson KA, <i>et al.</i> Anticoagulants or antiplatelet therapy for non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation and flutter. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2001; 1 :CD001938	Cochrane reviews withdrawn
Segal JB, McNamara RL, Miller MR, Powe NR, Goodman SN, Robinson KA, <i>et al.</i> WITHDRAWN: Anticoagulants or antiplatelet therapy for non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation and flutter. <i>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</i> 2006; 3 :CD001938	Cochrane reviews withdrawn

a Foreign-language papers: reason for exclusion reported is one of the primary reasons agreed by two reviewers.

Appendix 5 Summary of the systematic reviews and meta-analyses included in the review

Author, date	Systematic review/ meta- analysis or both?	Primary objective same as current review? If not, what was primary objective?	Reason for inclusion in current review	Randomised studies included? How many?	Non- randomised studies included? How many?	No. of studies relevant to current review : specify
Anderson 2008 ⁷⁴	Both	No Efficacy of warfarin in preventing systemic embolism in patients with AF	Systematic review: a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT vs ACT + APT	Yes 15	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Garwood and Corbett 2008 ⁷⁵	Systematic review only	No Evaluate data addressing use of anticoagulation in elderly patients with AF, in particular those at risk of falls	Systematic review: a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT vs ACT + APT	Yes 8	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Hart 2007 ²⁰	Both	No Efficacy and safety of antithrombotic agents for stroke prevention in patients with AF	Systematic review: a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT vs ACT + APT	Yes 29	No	7 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴² FFAACS ⁴¹ NASPEAF ³⁹ PETRO ⁷³ SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ and V ⁶⁵
Hughes 2007 ⁷⁶	Systematic review only	No Risk factors of anticoagulation related bleeding complications in patients with AF	Systematic review: one included study reported bleeding events in patients with AF on ACT + APT	No	Yes 1	1 Shireman 2004 ⁶⁰
Dentali 2007 ⁷⁷	Both	No Therapeutic benefits of adding aspirin to ACT in patients receiving ACT therapy	Systematic review: included studies reported events in patients on ACT + APT vs those on ACT alone Only two studies on patients with AF	Yes 10	No	2 AFASAK II ⁴² FFAACS

Population	Intervention	Comparison	Quitcomes	Meta-analysis done? Did meta-analysis include studies relevant to our review?	Comments
Patients with	Warfarin	Various: placebo.	Systemic	Yes	Search date: 2007
AF/atrial flutter	$INR \ge 2.0$	aspirin, aspirin +	embolism,	SPAF III ⁴³	RCTs only
		clopidogrel, warfarin + aspirin	bleeding	AFASAK II ⁴²	Warfarin effectiveness in preventing systemic embolism/bleeding in non- valvular AF
					Included SPAF III, ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Patients with	Warfarin	Warfarin \pm aspirin	ICH	No	Search date: 2007
AF > 65 years	INR target not	alone, placebo			RCTs only
orage	specified				Safety (bleeding) of ACT
					Included SPAF III, ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
					Reads like a narrative review
					No methods section
Patients with	ACT	Various:	Stroke	Yes	Search date: 2007
non-valvular AF		placebo, aspirin, aspirin + clopidogrel,		AFASAK II ⁴² NASPEAF	RCTs only
on long-term antithrombotic					Stroke prevention in non- valvular AF
agente		aspirin			Included SPAF III, ⁴³ AFASAK II, ⁴² FFAACS, ⁴¹ NASPEAF, ³⁹ PETRO, ⁷³ and SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ and V ⁶⁵
Patients with	ACT	Various:	Patient	No	No search date
AF receiving long-term (>4 weeks) ACT	INR ≥2.0	placebo, aspirin, aspirin + clopidogrel, warfarin + aspirin	characteristics of those experiencing a bleeding event on ACT		Risk factor identification study. Study selection on basis of occurrence/or not of an event, or presence/ absence of a risk factor
					These are case–control studies
					Does not aim to compare ACT + APT vs ACT alone
Adult patients	ACT	ACT + aspirin	Arterial TE,	Yes	Search date: 2005
receiving ACT			mortality, maior	AFASAK II ⁴²	RCTs only
No mention of AF, however, the study although identified 2 out			bleeding	FFAACS	ACT + APT vs ACT alone in patients with cardiovascular risk (wider population than AF)
of 10 studies					Include mechanical valves
with patients on AF					Included AFASAK II, ⁴² FFAACS – no separate analysis for these

Author, date	Systematic review/ meta- analysis or both?	Primary objective same as current review? If not, what was primary objective?	Reason for inclusion in current review	Randomised studies included? How many?	Non- randomised studies included? How many?	No. of studies relevant to current review : specify
Cooper 2006 ⁷⁸	Both	No Identify stroke prevention treatments for AF	Systematic review: included studies reported events in patients with AF on ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 20	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Lip and Edwards 2006 ⁷⁹	Both	No Compared effectiveness of aspirin, warfarin, and ximelagatran as thromboproprophylaxis in patients with non- valvular AF	Systematic review: included studies reported events in patients with AF on ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 13	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Larson and Fisher 2004 ⁸⁰	Both	No Efficacy and safety of adjusted-dose ACT + aspirin vs adjusted-dose ACT alone	Systematic review: a few included studies in patients with AF compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone Not all studies patients with AF	Yes 9	No	1 FFAACS ⁴¹
Lip 2004 ⁸¹	Both	No Effects of preventative ACT and APT in patients with AF with/ without prior stroke or transient ischaemic attack	Review of systematic reviews that included studies comparing ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
McNamara 2003 ⁸²	Systematic review only	No Efficacy of rate and rhythm control and antithrombotic therapies in patients with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 16 (relevant for AF and antithrombotic therapy)	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Perret- Guillaume and Wahl 2003 ⁸³	Systematic review only	No Efficacy of low intensity/mini-/ low-dose ACT for prevention of TE in patients with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 4	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²

				Meta-analysis done? Did meta-analysis include studies relevant to our	
Population	Intervention	Comparison	Outcomes	review?	Comments
Patients with non- rheumatic AF on long-term antithrombotic therapy	Warfarin	Various: Warfarin, ximelagatran, or aspirin alone Warfarin or ximelagatran + aspirin	lschaemic stroke, major/minor bleeding	Yes No – mixed- treatment comparison	Search date: 2005 RCTs only Stroke prevention in non- rheumatic AF Included AFASAK II ⁴² and SPAF III ⁴³ Extensive multiple treatment comparison
Patients with non-valvular AF	Warfarin Ximelagatran	Various: Warfarin or	lschaemic stroke,	Yes SPAF III ⁴³	Search date: 2005
on ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Amelagatian	ximelagatran alone Warfarin or	mortality, major/minor	AFASAK II ⁴²	Stroke prevention in non- valvular AF
		ximelagatran + aspirin	bleeding		Included AFASAK II ⁴² and SPAF III ⁴³
					No separate analysis for ACT + APT vs ACT alone
Adult patients	Warfarin	Warfarin (INR 2 0–3 0) + aspirin	TEs, mortality, maior/minor	Yes	Search date: 2003
ACT + aspirin No mention of AF- the systematic review	INR 2.0–3.0	2.0 5.0) i uspini	bleeding	(only one relevant study with patients with AF)	ACT + aspirin vs ACT only (population wider than just AF) Included FFAACS ⁴¹
of 9 studies with patients on AF					
Patients with AF with/	Warfarin	Warfarin + aspirin	Stroke, bleeding	No	Search date: 2003
without prior stroke			biccurry		Narrative reporting of
or transient ischaemic attack on ACT ± APT					Included SPAF III ⁴³ and AFASAK II ⁴²
Adult patients with non-post operative AF	Warfarin	Warfarin + aspirin	Stroke, bleeding	No	Search date: 1998 RCTs only Effectiveness of all
					therapies Included AFASAK II ⁴² and SPAF III; ⁴³ poor linking of studies to data
Non-rheumatic patients with	Mini-dose, low dose, low-	In two studies, ACT + APT	lschaemic stroke,	No	Search date: 2002
AF	intensity ACT	Others, ACT alone	systemic		Warfarin dosing in AF
	·		embolism, all TEs, vascular death		Included AFASAK II ⁴² and SPAF III ⁴³ – limited separate analysis for the studies

			ш		v	E
A٢	P	Εľ	М	וע	А	Э.

Author, date	Systematic review/ meta- analysis or both?	Primary objective same as current review? If not, what was primary objective?	Reason for inclusion in current review	Randomised studies included? How many?	Non- randomised studies included? How many?	No. of studies relevant to current review : specify
Sanchez- Pena and Lechat 2002 ⁸⁴	Both	No Evaluate efficacy of antithrombotic therapies in high-risk (of TEs) patients with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 3	No	3 Spaf III ⁴³ Afasak II ⁴² Ffaacs
Segal 2000 ⁸⁵	Both	No Summarises evidence regarding prevention of TE in patients with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 11	No	2 Spaf III ⁴³ Afasak II ⁴²
Aronow 1999 ⁸⁶	Systematic review only	No Review management of older people with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Ezekowitz and Levine 1999 ⁸⁷	Systematic review only	No Evaluate evidence supporting use of warfarin and/or aspirin for stroke prevention in patients with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; a few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 5	No	1 SPAF III ⁴³
Fera and Giovannini 1999 ⁸⁸	Systematic review only	No Effect of antithrombotic therapy on stroke risk in patients with AF	Systematic review: patients with AF; few included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²
Loewen 1998 ⁸⁹	Systematic review only	No Efficacy of warfarin + aspirin compared with either agent alone	Systematic review: a few included studies on AF compared effectiveness of AC T + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 5	Yes 11	One RCT SPAF III43
Howard and Duncan 1997 ⁹⁰	Systematic review only	No Review of trials evaluating warfarin for primary stroke prophylaxis in non-valvular AF to discuss relative benefits and risks of warfarin + aspirin	Systematic review: patients with AF; included studies compared effectiveness of ACT + APT vs ACT alone	Yes 6	No	2 SPAF III ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²

				Meta-analysis done? Did meta-analysis include studies relevant to our	
Population Patients with AF on antithrombotic therapy	ACT alone	Comparison Various: ACT alone, APT alone, ACT + APT	Stroke, bleeding	Yes SPAF III43 AFASAK II42 FFAACS	Search date: 2000 RCTs only Included SPAF III, ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴² and FFAACS ⁴¹
Studies addressing management of AF	ACT alone	Various: ACT alone, APT alone, ACT + APT	Stroke, major bleeding, deaths	Yes SPAF III, ⁴³ AFASAK II ⁴²	Search date: 1997 RCTs only Prevention of TE in AF Meta-analysis included SPAF III ⁴³ and AFASAK II ⁴²
Patients with AF > 60 years with any type of management	ACT	ACT + APT	Stroke, systemic TE	No	Search date: 1999 RCTs only Patients with AF Included AFASAK II ⁴² and SPAF III ⁴³ Study selection unclear
Patients with AF on antithrombotic therapy	ACT alone	Various: Warfarin or aspirin alone, warfarin + aspirin, or placebo	Ischaemic stroke	No	Search date: 1999 RCTs only Prevention of stroke in AF Included SPAF III; ⁴³ limited separate analysis
Patients with AF on antithrombotic therapy	ACT alone	Various: ACT alone, APT alone, ACT + APT	Stroke, systemic TE	No	No search date Unclear if review systematic RCTs only Included SPAF III ⁴³
Patients on combination warfarin + aspirin or either agent alone	Warfarin	Various: Warfarin or aspirin alone Warfarin + aspirin	TEs, bleeding	No	Search date: 1998 RCTs + non RCTs Warfarin + aspirin in AF Included SPAF III; ⁴³ limited separate analysis
Patients with AF on antithrombotic therapy	Warfarin	Various: Warfarin or aspirin alone Warfarin + aspirin	Stroke, systemic TE	No	Search date: 1997 RCTs only Stroke prevention in non- valvular AF Included SPAF III; ⁴³ limited separate analysis

Appendix 6 Quality assessment of randomised comparisons using the Cochrane Collaboration risk-of-bias tools

Risk-of-bias summary: review of authors' judgements about each risk-of-bias item for each included study



Risk-of-bias graph: review of authors' judgements about each risk-of-bias item, presented as percentages across all included studies



Appendix 7 Studies with data not included in the review and reasons

Author, year	Type of article: primary study/ post hoc or pooled analysis	Aim or objective	Comparison(s)	Outcomes reported	Reason for non-inclusion of data
Randomised cor	nparisons and support.	ing analyses			
Pérez-Gómez <i>et</i> al., 2006 ⁴⁵	Subanalysis of NASPEAF ³⁹	Subanalysis of high-risk group only according to presence or absence of mitral stenosis	Adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 1.4–2.4) + triflusal (600 mg) vs adjusted- dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0)	Same as NASPEAF study ³⁹	Data reported in the NASPEAF paper ³⁹ includes this subpopulation
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2007 ⁴⁴	Subanalysis of NASPEAF ³⁹	Subanalysis of according to presence or absence of previous embolism in younger and older population (< 75 years vs > 75 years)	Acenocoumarol (any INR) + triflusal (600 mg) vs adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0)	Same as NASPEAF study ³⁹	Data reported in the NASPEAF paper ³⁹ includes this subpopulation
Pérez-Gómez et al., 2007 ⁴⁶	Review of NASPEAF ³⁹	Difference in event rates for patients with valvular and non- valvular disease	Acenocoumarol (any INR) + triflusal (600 mg) vs adjusted-dose acenocoumarol (INR 2.0–3.0)	Composite of stroke + TE Bleeding (fatal ICH, GI)	Data reported in the NASPEAF paper ³⁹ includes this subpopulation
Gullov <i>et al.,</i> 1999 ⁴⁷	Primary	Analysis of AFASAK II ⁴²	Fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) + aspirin (300 mg) vs fixed-dose warfarin (1.25 mg) or adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Same as AFASAK II study ⁴²	Duplicate data as the original AFASAK II ⁴² study
Blackshear et al., 1999 ⁴⁹	Subanalysis SPAF III ⁴³	Incidence of TEE and stroke rates according to plaque presence	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.2–1.5) + aspirin (325 mg) vs adjusted dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Death, TE, bleeding (major)	No new data reported
Non-randomisec	al comparisons and sup,	porting analyses			
Lopes <i>et al.</i> , 2009 ⁵⁰	Primary	Difference in 90-day mortality rates between AF (baseline, new onset and discharge)	Warfarin + aspirin + clopidogrel vs warfarin	Stroke: 90-day rate	Follow-up 90 days Dose of warfarin or APT not specified No. of events not reported for either therapy group (outcomes reported as rate % per patient-year, but no information on patient-year data); no. of participants per therapy group (denominator) not clear
Abdelhafiz and Wheeldon, 2008 ⁵¹	Primary	Assess risk factors for bleeding during long-term anticoagulation of AF in older people (> 75 years) in comparison to young people in clinical practice	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin vs adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding (major, minor, major + minor)	Only 8 out of 504 patients on combined therapy Follow-up 19 months Dose of aspirin not specified

Author, year	Type of article: primary study/ post hoc or pooled analysis	Aim or objective	Comparison(s)	Outcomes reported	Reason for non-inclusion of data
Amadeus Investigators, 2008 ⁷²	Primary	Idraparinux was non-inferior to VKA for primary outcomes	Idraparinux or VKA + aspirin or ticlopidine/clopidogrel vs idraparinux/VKA	Bleeding (any)	No. of events not reported for combined therapy group Dose of APT not specified; events not reported separately for idraparinux and VKA in combined therapy arms
Suzuki e <i>t al.,</i> 2007 ⁵⁶	Primary	Determine incidence and risk factors of major bleeding related to warfarin therapy in Japanese patients	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.6–2.6) + aspirin vs adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 1.6–2.6)	Bleeding (ICH, major)	Dose of aspirin not specified; no. of events in either therapy group not reported (outcomes reported as rate % per patient-year)
Burton <i>et al.,</i> 2006 ⁵⁷	Primary	Compare events in warfarin-treated patients with AF in primary care, with RCT data	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin vs adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding (any)	Dose of aspirin not specified; very small number of participants on combined therapy ($n = 18$ approx.), no. of patients in either therapy group not clear
Stenestrand <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005 ⁵⁸	Primary	Probability of receiving an OAC at discharge according to background characteristics and other treatments	OAC + aspirin vs OAC	Death (1-year mortality)	Name of OAC not reported Dose of aspirin not specified Some patients received combined OAC plus aspirin with or without thienopyridine, but numbers (participants) not clear
SPORTIF V investigators, 2005 ⁶⁵	Primary	Whether or not ximelagatran was non-inferior to warfarin	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.) + aspirin (100 mg) vs ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.)	Bleeding: major + minor	No. of patients on individual therapy (denominator) – unclear Only bleeding outcome reported duplicate in another included study ⁶⁹
SPORTIF III Investigators, 2003 ⁶⁴	Primary	Whether or not ximelagatran was non-inferior to warfarin	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.) + aspirin (100 mg) vs ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.)	Bleeding: major + minor	No. of patients on individual therapy (denominator) – unclear Only bleeding outcome reported duplicate in another included study ⁶⁹

Author, year	type or article: primary study/ post hoc or pooled analysis	Aim or objective	Comparison(s)	Outcomes reported	Reason for non-inclusion of data
White <i>et al.,</i> 2007 ⁶⁸	Pooled analysis SPORTIF	Pooled analysis by anticoagulation (INR) control – only patients on warfarin reported	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding: major Death: all cause Stroke/SE: combined	No. of events not reported for any outcome; event rate % per patient- year reported with no information on either patient-year data or no. of patients (denominator); information on these outcomes also reported in other publication of same studies ⁶⁹
Halperin, 2005 ⁷¹	Review of SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ and SPORTIF V ⁶⁵	Thromboembolic risk for patients receiving concomitant aspirin therapy in SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ and V ⁶⁵ with data on SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ only	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.) + aspirin (100 mg) vs ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.)	Stroke + SE	Data on patients enrolled in SPORTIF III trial ⁶⁴ alone, also reported in another included publication ⁶⁹ reporting pooled data for SPORTIF III and V ^{64.65}
Douketis <i>et al.,</i> 2006 ⁷⁰	Pooled analysis of SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ and V ⁶⁵	Annual incidence of any (major or minor), major, and intracerebral bleeding with ximelagatran and warfarin therapy during the study period, based on the time to first bleeding episode while patients were treated	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.) + aspirin (100 mg) vs ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.)	Bleeding (major)	No. of events not reported for either therapy group; denominator not reported for combined therapy, outcomes reported as hazard ratios associated with aspirin use
Akins et al., 2007 ⁶⁷	Pooled analysis of SPORTIF III ⁶⁴ and SPORTIF V ⁵⁵	Comparison of warfarin and ximelagatran for the secondary prevention of stroke	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.) + aspirin (100 mg) vs ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.)	Bleeding, stroke- ischaemic/ haemorrhagic and SE	No. of bleeds reported only for patients with previous embolism Data in another included study ⁶⁹ envelopes this patient group
Teitelbaum <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2008 ⁶⁶	Pooled analysis of SPORTIF Ill ⁶⁴ and SPORTIF V ⁵⁵	On-treatment analysis of SPORTIF studies to evaluate if treatment with warfarin vs ximelagatran was had a differential effect on cardioembolic vs non- cardioembolic stroke	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.) + aspirin (100 mg) vs ximelagatran 36 mg (b.i.d.)	Bleeding (primary brain haemorrhage) Stroke (all – clinical types: cardioembolic, non- cardioembolic, uncertain)	No. of patients on individual therapy (denominator) – unclear; stroke outcomes reported in another included study ⁶⁹

Author, year	Type of article: primary study/ post hoc or pooled analysis	Aim or objective	Comparison(s)	Outcomes reported	Reason for non-inclusion of data
Johnson <i>et al.,</i> 2005 ⁵⁹	Primary	Annual rate of major haemorrhage in previously hospitalised patients on warfarin	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + APT vs adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding: major	Name of APT not specified; no. of participants not reported for combined therapy group; $n = 228$
Blich and Gross, 2004 ⁶¹	Primary	Incidence of thromboembolic and bleeding events in patients with AF	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin (100 mg) vs adjusted- dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding: TE	No. of participants not reported for individual therapy arms, data reported as event rate % per patient-year
Shireman <i>et al.,</i> 2004 ⁶⁰	Primary	Influence of patient-specific factors on concomitant warfarin- antiplatelet therapy and potential impact of combined therapy on bleeding risk	Warfarin + aspirin/clopidogrel/ticlopidine/ dual APT vs warfarin	Bleeding (ICH, major, Gl)	Dose of warfarin or APT not specified, outcomes not reported for combination of warfarin with individual APT separately
Klein <i>et al.,</i> 2003 ⁶²	Primary	To calculate cumulative major, minor and composite bleeding rates for the 56-day study period	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)/ heparin + aspirin vs adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding (major)	Follow-up 56 days; dose of aspirin not specified; no. of events in combined therapy group not clear; outcomes not reported separately for warfarin + aspirin and heparin + aspirin
Toda <i>et al.,</i> 1998 ⁵²	Primary	Relationship between incidence of TE in patients with AF, and (1) underlying disease; (2) type of AF; and (3) antithrombotic therapy	Warfarin + APT vs warfarin	ΤE	n = 257; dose of warfarin or APT not specified; name of APT in combined therapy arm not reported; no. of participants in individual therapy groups not clear
Albers <i>et al</i> 1996 ⁵³	Primary	Assess current status of antithrombotic therapy for patients with AF	Adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0) + aspirin vs adjusted-dose warfarin (INR 2.0–3.0)	Bleeding (per rectum)	n = 309, follow-up period not reported; dose of aspirin in combined therapy group not reported; definition of bleeding possibly different in either therapy group
b.i.d., dose admir	histered twice daily; Gl, gas	strointestinal; OT, on treatment; TEE, tra	ansoesophageal echocardiography.		

HEALIN IC

DOI: 10.3310/hta17300

Appendix 8 Forest plots (without summary estimates) for all outcomes by intervention and comparator

Warfarin plus aspirin compared with warfarin alone

v	Varfarin + aspi	rin	Warfarin	alone	Risk ratio	Risk ratio
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, random, 95% Cl	M-H, random, 95% Cl
Stroke (ischaemic)						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 8	171	3	170	2.65 (0.72 to 9.82)	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed	dose) 8	171	5	167	1.56 (0.52 to 4.68)	
SPAF III ⁴³	43	521	11	523	3.92 (2.05 to 7.52)	
SE 42 · · · · ·						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 1	171	2	170	0.50 (0.05 to 5.43)	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed o	dose) 1	171	1	167	0.98 (0.06 to 15.49)	
SPAF III ⁴³	1	521	0	523	3.01 (0.12 to /3./5)	
SF						
AEASAK 1142 (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 12	171	12	170	0 99 (0 46 to 2 15)	
AFASAK II (warfarin-fixed	dose 12	171	1/	167	0.99(0.40(0.2.15)) 0.84(0.40 to 1.76)	_
SPAF III ⁴³	1036) 12 AA	521	14	523	4 02 (2 10 to 7 69)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		521		525	4.02 (2.10 to 7.05)	
TIA						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adiust	ed dose) 2	171	1	170	1.99 (0.18 to 21.72)	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed	dose) 2	171	4	167	0.49 (0.09 to 2.63)	
SPAF III ⁴³	23	521	15	523	1.54 (0.81 to 2.92)	++-
					. ,	
Mortality – vascular						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 3	171	5	170	0.60 (0.14 to 2.46)	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed o	dose) 3	171	2	167	1.46 (0.25 to 8.66)	
SPAF III ⁴³	27	521	27	523	1.00 (0.60 to 1.69)	_
Mortality-all cause						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 9	171	6	167	1.46 (0.53 to 4.03)	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed o	dose) 9	171	17	170	0.53 (0.24 to 1.15)	
SPAF III ⁴³	42	521	35	523	1.20 (0.78 to 1.86)	
Bleeding_major						
AEASAK 1142 (warfarin adjust	ad daca) 1	171	4	170	0.25 (0.02 +0.2.20)	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin fiyed	ed dose) 1	171	4	1/0	0.25 (0.03 to 2.20)	
SPAE III43	105e) I	521	5 12	522	0.33 (0.03 to 3.10) 1.09 (0.50 to 3.26)	·
	15	J2 I	12	525	1.09 (0.30 to 2.30)	Ī
Bleeding_ICH						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 0	171	2	170	0.20 (0.01 to 4.11) +	
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed)	dose) 0	171	1	167	0.33 (0.01 to 7.94)	
SPAF III ⁴³	5	521	3	523	1.67 (0.40 to 6.96)	— — 1
Bleeding-minor						
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 28	171	42	170	0.66 (0.43 to 1.02)	-#-1
AFASAK II ⁴² (warfarin-fixed o	dose) 28	171	21	167	1.30 (0.77 to 2.20)	-++
SPAF III ⁴³	6	521	4	523	1.51 (0.43 to 5.30)	
			-			
AFASAK II* (warfarin-adjust	ed dose) 0	171	4	170	0.11 (0.01 to 2.04)	
AFASAK II** (wartarin-fixed o	dose) 0	171	6	167	0.08 (0.00 to 1.32)	
SPAF III-2	10	521	5	523	2.01 (0.69 to 5.83)	
					F	
					0.0	1 0.1 İ İO 100
					Favo	ours combined therapy Favours ACT alone

Warfarin plus clopidogrel compared with warfarin alone

	Warfarin + clop	oidogrel V	Varfarin + p	lacebo	Risk ratio		Risk ratio)	
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, random, 95% Cl	М-Н, і	random, 9	95% CI	
Bleeding-minor									
Lidell et al. ⁴⁰	0	0	20	5	Not estimable				
									
					0.005	0.1	1	10	200
					Favours	combined th	nerapy F	avours ACT	alone

Acenocoumarol plus triflusal compared with acenocoumarol alone

Ad	enocoumarol +	- triflusal	Acenocouma	arol alone	Risk ratio	Risk ratio
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, random, 95% Cl	M-H, random, 95% Cl
Stroke (non-fatal)						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	6	223	6	247	1.11 (0.36 to 3.38)	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 3	222	3	232	1.05 (0.21 to 5.12)	
SE						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	0	223	3	247	0.16 (0.01 to 3.05) —	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 0	222	1	232	0.35 (0.01 to 8.50)	
Stroke and SE						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	12	223	20	247	0.66 (0.33 to 1.33)	-++
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 3	222	7	232	0.45 (0.12 to 1.71)	
TIA						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	2	223	3	247	0.74 (0.12 to 4.38)	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 0	222	0	232	Not estimable	
Mortality – vascular						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	6	223	17	247	0.39 (0.16 to 0.97)	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 2	222	11	232	0.19 (0.04 to 0.85)	
Mortality-all cause						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	12	223	23	247	0.58 (0.29 to 1.13)	-+-
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 6	222	20	232	0.31 (0.13 to 0.77)	
Bleeding – major						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	5	222	10	232	0.52 (0.18 to 1.50)	-++-
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 12	223	13	247	1.02 (0.48 to 2.19)	
Bleeding-ICH						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	2	223	5	247	0.44 (0.09 to 2.26)	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 1	122	4	232	0.48 (0.05 to 4.21)	
Bleeding – minor						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	20	223	18	247	1.23 (0.67 to 2.27)	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 16	222	15	232	1.11 (0.56 to 2.20)	
ACI						
NASPEAF ³⁹ (high risk)	0	223	0	247	Not estimable	
NASPEAF ³⁹ (intermediate	risk) 0	222	0	232	Not estimable	

0.005 0.1 1 10 200 Favours combined therapy Favours ACT alone

Fluindione plus aspirin compared with fluindione plus placebo

	Fluindione +	aspirin	Fluindione +	placebo	Risk ratio	Risk ratio
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, random, 95% Cl	M-H, random, 95% Cl
SE						
FFAACS ⁴¹	2	76	1	81	2.13 (0.20 to 23.03)	
Mortality–vascular FFAACS ⁴¹	3	76	2	81	1.60 (0.27 to 9.31)	ı
Mortality–all cause FFAACS ⁴¹	3	76	3	81	1.07 (0.22 to 5.12)	
Bleeding – major FFAACS ⁴¹	3	76	1	81	3.20 (0.34 to 30.08)	
Bleeding – minor FFAACS ⁴¹	10	76	1	81	10.66 (1.40 to 81.28)	
					0.01	0.1 1 10 100

Favours combined therapy Favours ACT alone

EME HS&DR HTA PGfAR PHR

Part of the NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health

Published by the NIHR Journals Library